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PARK SLOPE HISTORIC DISTRICT, _Borough of Brooklyn

INTRODUCTION

The Park Slope Historic-District is a roughly L-shaped area bounded approxi-
mately by Prospect Park "lest on the east side, by Flatbush Avenue on the northeast,
Park Place on the north, Sixth Avenue on the west, and by Berkeley Place, Seventh
Avenue, Fourth Street, Eighth Avenue,and by Fourteenth Street at its southern end.

BOUIDARIES

The property bounded by the southern property line of 446 through 494 14th
Street, the eastern property line of 494 14th Street, 14th Street, Trospect Park
“lest, 10th Street, the eastern and northern property lines of 693 10th Street, part
of the northern property line of 691 10th Street, the eastern property line of 572
9th Street, 9th Street, Prospect Park Yest, 4th Street, the eastern property lines
of 587 4th Street, the eastern property line of 634 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the
eastern property line of 631 3rd Street, the southern property lines of 646 and 648
2nd Street and of 65 Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West, Ist Street, the eastern
property line of 567 lst Street, part of the southern and the eastern property lines
of 316 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the eastern property line of 323 Garfield
Place, part of the southern property line of 54 'lontgomery Place, the southern
property lines of 56 through 60 Montgomery Place and of 32 Prospect Park West,
Prospect Park West, Montgomery Place, part of the eastern property line of 59
‘lontgomery Place, the southern property line of 25 "rospect Park West, Prospect
Park “est, part of the northern property line of 13 Prospect Park "est, the
eastern property line of 946 President Street, President Street, the eastern property
line of 953 President Street, the northern property lines of 953 through 947 Presi-
dent Street, the northern and part of the western property lines of 945 President
Street, the northern property line of 943 President Street, part of the eastern and
the northern property lines of 941 President Street, the northern property lines of
939 through 933 President Street, the eastern property line of 902 Union Street,
Union Street, the eastern property lines of 71 throush 63 8th Avenue, the southern
property lines of 264 through 276 3erkeley Place, the eastern property line of 276
Berkeley Place, Berkeley Place, the eastern property lines of 49 through 27 8th
Avenue, Lincoln Place, Plaza Street, the northern property line of 5 Plaza Street,
8th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the eastern property line of 217 St. Johns Place, the
northern property lines of 217 through 179 St. Johns Place, part of the northern
property line of 31-35 7th Avenue, the eastern property line of 29 7th Avenue, the
eastern property line of 146 Sterling Place, Sterling Place, the eastern property
lines of 19 through 13 7th Avenue, the northern property line of 13 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, Park Place, the eastern property line of 133 Park Place, the northern
property lines of 133 through 95 Park Place, the western property line of 95 Park
Place, Park Place, the western and part of the northern property lines of the
stable (90 Park Place), the southern property line of the stable {90 Park Place),
part of the western property line of 92 Park Place, the southern property lines of
92 through 144 Park Place, the western property lines of 18 through 24 7th Avenue,
Sterling Place, the western property line of 130 Sterling Place, the western prop-
erty line of 34 7th Avenue, part of the northern property line of 139 St. Johns
Place, the northern property lines of 137 through 93 St. Johns Place, the eastern
property lines of 143 through 135 6th Avenue, Sterling Place, the western property
lines of 128 through 146 6th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the western property lines
of 143 through 168 6th Avenue, Lincoln Place, 6th Avenue, Berkeley Place, the
western property lines of 188 through 192-A 6th Avenue, the southern property
line of 192-A 6th Avenue, 6th Avenue, the southern property line of 199 6th Avenue,
part of the western and the southern property lines of 100 Berkeley Place, the
southern property lines of 102 through 156 Berkeley Place, part of the southern
property line of 158 Berkeley Place, the southern property line of 86 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, the southern property line of 87 7th Avenue, the western property
line of 865 Union Street, Union Street, the western and part of the southern prop-
erty lines of 320 Union Street, the western property line of 833 President Street,
President Street, the western property line of 828 President Street, the western
property line of 749 Carroll Street, Carroll Street, the western property line of
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776 Carroll Street, the western property lines of 8 through 22 Polhemus Place,

part of the northern and the western property lines of 24 Polhemus Place, the
western property line of 219 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the western and part .
of the southern property lines of 214 Garfield Place, the western property line of
465 1st Street, lst Street, the western property line of 460 lst Street, part of the
northern and the western property lines of 507 2nd Street, 2nd Street, the western
property line of 516A-516 2nd Street, the western property line of 509 3rd Street,
3rd Street, the western property line of 516 3rd Street, the western property line
of 465 4th Street, 4th Street, the western property line of 486 4th Street, the
southern property lines of 486 through 504 4th Street, the eastern property line of
504 4th Street, 4th Street, the eastern and part of the northern property lines of
513 4th Street, the eastern property line of 562 3rd Street, 3rd Street, 8th Avenue,
the southern property line of 225-227 8th Avenue, the western property line of

581 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the western property line of 592 3rd Street, the northern
and western property lines of 539 4th Street, 4th Street, the western property line
of 528 4th Street, the western property line of 557 5th Street, 5th Street, 8th
Avenue, 6th Street, the western property line of 590 6th Street, part of the north-
ern property line of 571 7th Street, the northern property lines of 569 through 553
Seventh Street, the western property line of 553 7th Street, 7th Street, the western
property line of 550 7th Street, the western property line of 511 8th Street, 8th
Street, the western property line of 502 8th Street, the western property line of
519 9th Street, 9th Street, the western property line of 526 9th Street, part of the
western property line of 643 10th Street, the northern property lines of 641 through
631-633 10th Street, 8th Avenue, 10th Street, the western and part of the southern
property lines of 642 10th Street, the western property line of 583 1lth Street,
11th Street, the western property line of 584 11th Street, part of the northern
property line of 479 12th Street, the northern property line of 1113 8th Avenue, 8th
Avenue, 14th Street, the western property line of 446 14th Strect.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARINGS

on this area which is now proposed as an Historic District (Item No. 56). The
hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law. Seven
persons spoke in favor of the proposed designation and two individuals opposed it.
The witnesses favoring designation clearly indicated that there is great support
for this Historic District from the property owners and residents of the Historic
District.

On June 23, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing .

|
On tay 26, 1970 (Item No. 29) eleven persons had testified in favor of a
slightly smaller Park Slope Historic District: the District was reheard in June to
permit the addition of the buildings on Park Place between Sixth and Seventh Avenues.

On Nov. 22, 1966 (Item No. 6), the Landmarks Preservation Commission had
held a public hearing on a proposed Historic District in the Park Slope neighbor-
hood. The Commission was not able to act upon all the proposed Historic Districts
heard during its first series of public hearings in 1965 and 1966, and so several
neighborhoods including the subject of this report, were heard in 1970, involving
areas where there continues to be great interest in preserving the fine buildings
of the community.

ii
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HISTORICAL INTRODUCT [ON

The -history and development of the Park Slope Historic District as a
. residential area is cicsely reiated to that of Prospect Park, which defines
its eastern boundary and gives the District its name and specis] character,

The area now encompassed by Prospect Park and the Histeric District was
the scene of a major part of the action during the Revoluticnary War, fought
in August 1776. AT that time, and indeed until well after the middle of the
197h century, the entire arez consisted of farmland with rolling hilis to the
east. Mount Prospect -~ for which the park was named -- was part of a chain
of wooded hills which stretched to Jameica, identified on Revolutionary War
maps as the "Woody Heights of Guana" or simply as the "Woody Heights.," These
hills, cited by an English newspaper on August |7, 776 as Yalready by Nature
vary advantageous & defensible," had been selected by Genera! Washington and
his staff in. early spring of that year tor the construction of earth-works and
lookout. posts for the defense of Brookiyn end, ultimately, of New York against
the expected British assault,

The British, under General William Howe and his brother, .Admiral Richard
Howe, had over 20,000 troops under their command, supported by .hundreds of
ships In New York Bay. On August 22, 1776, the British and the Hessians, under
General de Heister, landed st Gravesend Bay and set up ftemporary headqguarters
at New Utrecht with their encempments stretching in an arc, roughly described
by the present-day Kings Highway, to Flatlands, The American forces under
General John Sullivan, abandoned Flatbush to General de Heister on the same day
and took up positions in the hills overlooking the Fiatbush Pass which led
Through the Guana Helghts to Brooklyn, To impede the expected assault, they
felled frees here -- including the venerable Dongan 0ak, which marked the
division between the villages of Brooklyn and Fiatbush == while fighting off
intermittent attacks. :

A devasting assault came . in mid-merning on August 27, 1776, Five thousand
Hessians under General de Heister stormed the American positions above the
Flatbush Pass —- known thereafter as "Battie Pass! -~ and in bloody hand to
hand combat were driven from the hills, Sullivan and his men were forced o
beat a hasty retreat westward along the Port (Porte) Road, which ran approximately
paraiiel to the north side of the present First Street within the Historic
District, towards the Gowanus Road. |In this area, the Gowanus Road roughly
foilowed the line of the present Fifth Avenue, Farther to the south, between
kighth Street and the present site of Greenwood Cemetery, General William
Alexander Stirting, also known as Lord Stiriing, and Colonel Smatlwcod's
Maryland Regliment were attacked before dawn by British forces led by General
M. G, Grant, who had been sent by Genera! Howe along the coast road frem the
Marrows. Stirling and his men valiantly held their positions near the Vechte-
Cortelyou house, aiso known as the "0id Stone House," Greatly outnumbered,
they were eventually forced fo retreat through the marches and across the
Gowanus Creek, to the American inner iines In Brooklyn Heights. But by their
stand, they prevented the British pincer irom closing and trapping all the
American froops fleeing down the Port Road from the Flatbush Pass,

In the meantime, the major part of the British Army, led by Generals Howe,
Clinton and Corrwailis, had made a wide, sweeping flanking maneuver along
Jamaica Road and was advancing rapidly from the northwest to meet General Grant
anc de Heister, Stirling was captured by the Hessians near the 0id Stone House,
which_is focated near present-day Fifth Avenue and Third Street, just west of
the Historic District, General Sullivan was also captured by Hessians, but
toth men were later exchanged for British prisoners and continued to play
prominent roles in the war, Sterling Place, within the Historic Distriet and
northeast of Prospect Park, and Sullivan Place, east of the park, were named
in honor ot these two generals,

] Thus, the site of Prospect Park and the Park Slope Historic District was
the scene of a part of the first major battle betwsen the Continental Army under
Washington and the British Army in North America, after the Declaration of
independence. As 2 result of this massive amphibicus assaul+ upon the American

forces, Long lsland, Staten islanc and New York were occupied by the British
for the duration of the war.
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Until the 1860s, the site cf Prospect Park and the area fo the west, now
the Park Slope Historic District, remained essentially rural in character, as
is clearly shown by the large farm holdings on the M, Dripps Topographical Mep
of the City of Brooklyn of 1855 and by a bucolic photograph of Battle Pass
taken as late as 1865, The Dripps Map, made from aciual surveys and original
maps, shows the boundaries of those farms which originally comprised the Park
Slope Historic District; they are also clearly indicated on later atlases, such
as the Robinson Atlas of the City of Brookiyn of 1886. The Cortelyous, of
Huguenot extraction -- from whom Edwin Clark Litchfietd bought his property in
1852 ~- were only one of severa! early families which had holdings in the area.
Char les Hoyt, a prominent Brooklyn businessman affer whom Hoyt Street is named,
owned property within the District, extending from a point midway between
Lincoin Place and St, John's Place to Grand Army Plaza. Thomas Poole's farm,
Just south of the Hoyt land, fanned out from its western end, just north of
Lincoin Place and South of Berkeley, to reach Flatbush Avenue at Grand Army
Plaza ard President Streer at Prospect Park West, Within the District, the
south side of Union Street Markec the beginning of the property owned originatly
by tne Polhemus famiiy, Johannes Thecdorus Poilhemus, for whom Polhemus Place is
named, was the minister of the first church in Kings County: the Dutch Reformed
Church of Flatbush, built in 1654 under the auspices of Governor Stuyvesant, on
the site of the present church, The north side of First Street, the itocation of
the old Port Road =-- along which the American troops retreated during the Battle
of Long Island ~- was the southern boundary of the Polhemus land. Adrian anc
Jacques Cortelyou owned the land which lies between the south side of First
Street and the north side of Fifth Street. South of this, the land within the
confines of the District was divided info six smaller parcels of land owned by
Theodorus Polhemus; Thomas G. Talmage; Rem Adriance; Adriance van Brunt; Henry
L. Clark; and Richard Berry, whose property comprised the southern boundary of
the Bistrict,

Beginning in the late 1850s, the success of Central Park, in New York,
planned by Olmsted & Vaux, spurred interest among prominent citizens of
Brookiyn for a similar facility for their city, which untii 1898 remained a
separate entity from New York, By 1855, Brooklyn, with over 200,000 inhabitants,
was the third largest city in the United States., On Aprii {8, 1859, a commission
was established by the New York State Legislature to study the feasibility of
creating more public parks, the largest and most important one being "Mount
Prospect Park." An Act of the Legistature on April 17, 1860 inciuded, among
its provisions, funds for laying out the proposed park which was 1o encompass
350 acres, Egbert L, Viele, the engineer charged originally with the develop-
ment of Central Park, was appointed Chief Engineer by the Commissioners, He
envisaged the park as a 'rural resort, where people of all classes, escaping
from the turmoi! of the city, might find relief for the mind, and physical
recreation,” The outbreak of the Civil War paralyzed impiementation of Viele's
1861 "Plan for the improvement of Prospect Park," Successive Acts of the
Legislature from 1865 on provided funds for the acquisition of additional land,
a revision of the original boundaries and its enlargement to 562 acres -~ the
result of the replacement of Viele by the firm of Olmsted Vaux & Company,
Landscape Architects,

On May 29, 1866, Frederick Law Olmsted (1822-1903) and Calvert Qaux (1824~
1895) were officially appointed Landscape Architects of Prospect Park by an Act
of the State Legislature, Their "Design for Prospect Park" of [866-67 differed
not only in size but in conception from Viele's plan of 1861, |n the Viele pian,
the park was to be carried north and east of Flatbush Avenue and only as far
south as Ninth Street, with a jog, from Ninth Avenue (the present Prospect Park
West) to Tenth Avenue, between Thira and Ninth Streets, into what is now parkisnd,
it was not only smaller but -~ far more important -- was bisected by Fiatbush
Avenue, James S, T, Stranahan, President of the Park Commission, and some of
tha Commissioners were dissatisfied with the Viele plan and, as a consequence,
Vaux had been called upon to survey the park grounds, early in January 1865 in
the company of Stranahan, He recommended that the eastern section of the land,
included in the Viele plan, be sold and the proceeds used to acquire more land
to the west, befween Ninth and Tenth Avenues. As a result of his recommendatices.
later concurred in by Olmsted who at the time was in California, the boundaries
of Prospect Park were radically altered and redfined, Prospect Hili, near the
intersection of Flatbush Avenue and the present Eastern Parkway, which had
given its name to the park, was now oufside its boundaries. The Gimsted-Vaux
design of the following year made possible the grandiose sweep of parkland we

~jv-




PS=-HD

know today, with long, uninterrupted vistas along both sides of the park from
the main entrance at Grand Army Plaza: along Prospect Park west to Fifteenth
Street and Barte! Pritchard Plaza; thence southeast and south along Prospect
Park Southwest; continuing eastward along Parkside Avenue to the easternmost
boundar ies, Ocean Avenue and Flatbush Avenue. Oimsted recommended that the
areas to the east of the old reservoir be utilized for a museum and other
educational buildings, a plan later realized atter Eastern Parkway was taid out,
when the library and museum were buijlt there. Residents of Park Slope, Brook lyn
and, indeed, the entire city cwe a great debt to Olmsted for his anticipation

of the need for cultural as well as recreational facilities for the area.

It is now quite clear that the Vaux-0lmsted Report on Prospect Park (1868)
was concerned with much more than the creation of a sylvan retreat, with its
artful juxtapostion of thres contiguous regions of different character -- a
grand, rolling meadow, a rugged wooded section and a charming lake area, With
its provisions for a complete parkway system uninterrupted by the park, it
provided the framework for the futrue development of Brookiyn., The work Olmsted
undertook after the Civil War, inciuding the development of Prospect Park,
marked his transformation from landscape architect to city planner. Oimsted,
whose birth 150 years ago, in 1822, was celebrated last year by a spate of
books and exhibitions, is now recognized as the first and foremost American
exponent of ecological planning and regional design. Steeped in the [8th century
tradition of Jeffersonian democracy, based upon an agrarian economy, and
profoundly influenced by the Transcendentalists' worship of pature, Olmsted was
deeply concerned -- and cha!lenged -~ by the increasing industrialization and
urbanization of life, particulariy after the Civil War. He recognized the
need of providing the working people of the city, with an escape from their
day-to-day working environment. In the report which Olmsted and Vaux submitted,
the point was emphasized that there was, increasingly, a functional and physical
separation between a man's place of work and his residence. When the worker
was not engaged in business and thus had no reason to be near his place of work,
he "demands arrangements of wholly different character . . . air, space,
abundant vegetation . . . without the loss of town-privileges" -- a clear
anticipation of the rationale for the development of The suburb, A tranquil
environment and opportunities for recreation were absolutely essential, in his
view. Oimsted and his friend Henry W. Bellows, the influenfial Unitarian

clergyman, both believed that it was the obligation of a democratic society to
provide such public facilities,

A rough sketch made by Vaux, at the time of his original survey, clearly
indicates that the main entrance fto the park was to be at the intersection of
Flatbush Avenue and the present Prospect Park West. This entrance appears on
the Olmsted-Vaux "Design for Prospect Fark" of 1866-67 as a large ellipticai
plaza. The idea of a large pilaza at the main entrance, with smaller ones a¥
other points of entry, was introduced in this design and was quite different
from the Viele ptan, This new idea was enhanced by the provision of private
funds in 1867 for the erection of large statue of Lincoln at the northern end
of ihe proposed plaza, The statue was dedicated in 1869, and later moved Yo
Concert Grove, in the park. The "Plaza,”" with centra! fountain installed in
1871, became even more imposing in the 1890s, with the erection of the monumental
Memor ial Arch crowned by a quadriga and the addition of other decorative
architectural elements, including a pair of great Doric columns., These were
designed by the foremost architects and sculptors of the day in the neo-Classical
spirit of the 1893 Chicago World's Fair -- so much in evidence in the town
houses in the Park Slope Historic District, This type of formal, turn-of-the-
century design -- reflecting the infiuence of the French Beaux Arts tradition
and the "City Beautiful" movement -- stands in sharp contrast”to the design of
Prospect Park itself, based upon the romantic naturalism of the English garden,
first popularized in this counfry by A. J, Downing, under whose auspices Vaux
had come to the United States from England in 1852, The "Plaza" was renamed
"Grand Army Plaza' in 1926,

In their creation of Prospect Park, Vaux and Qimsted were greatly encouraged
by Brooklyn millionaire James S, T. Stranahan (1808-{898), whose statue stands
at the east side of Main Entrance Drive. He served for twenty-two years, from
1860 to 1882, without remuneration as president of the Park Commission. Known
as "the Father of Prospect Park, " it was he, more than anyone else, who was
credited by his contemporaries with being the real "“architect" of Brooklyn.

——
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For his espousa! of & grand system of boulevards, he wes referred Yo as "the
Baron Haussmann of Brooklyn." In addition, fthe great Atlantic Docks were
deveioped under his direction and he was a member of the Board of Directors of
the New York (later Brooklyn) Bridge Company, which was responsible for The
construction of the Brooklyn Bridge, begun in 1869 and completed in 1883, just
ninety years ago.

In sum, the develogment of Prospect Park and ihe construction of the
Brooklyn 8ridge were the two most important factors in the development of the
Park Slope Historic District before the introduction of rapid fransit facilities.
The promimity of the park and the opening of the bridge in 1883 encouraged an
infiux to The Slope of prosperous merchants, lawyers, physicians, brokers and
other professionals, many of whom commuted to and from their offices in lower
Manhattan. They began to build great mansions and impressive town houses in
the upper tier of the District in the mid-1880s. The desirability of Brooklyn
as a residential area had been clearly foreseen by George Templeton Strong, 2
wel l-known New York attorney and son-in-law of Samue! B, Ruggles, the developer
of Gramercy Park, An abridged version of his diary, published 1n three volumes
in 1952, provides a tascinating picture of the development of the city from
1835 to 1875, when he died, He provides us with a fine account of the progress
of the Brooklyn Bridge and, especiaily, of the development of Prospect Park,
Strong had served with Olmsted on ihe Sanitary Commission during the Civil War
and was quite naturally interested :n seeing the site of the park, {n October
1867, he wrote: "Had my first glimpse of the unfinished "Prospect Park'" of
Brockiyn, which will soon become a formidable rival of our "“Central Park" -- an
unequivoval expression of the rivairy between the two cities, [In (871, he was
one of 250,000 visitors to the park and his entry of July 18, which followed oy
+two weeks his wife’s visit fo The park in the company of Stranahan, provides
the following description:

Crossed at Fulton Ferry. |Inspected the Brookiyn pier of the future
bridge. It is about thirty feet high and looks }ike business, Then a
long horse raiiroad car ride up Fulton Street and Flatbush Avenue, and
reached the "Plaza," a large open place with a most lovely fountain and a
tolerable statue of Lincoln, Reservoir on left, with a kind of observatory,
The outicok ic panoramic and most striking. 11 takes in New York, Brooklyn
and its numercus suburbs, the Jersey hills, the Bay, Staten Island, the
Navesink Highlands, an expanse of ocean, Canarsie or Jamaica Bay, and the
great belt of level land that extends eastward from the Narrows to a
latitude south of Jamaica, Then explored the Park, even to "Lookout Hill,"
from which one gets a fine view to the south and west. We almost saw the
crest of the surf breaking on Coney Island beach . . .

This Park beats Central Park ten to one in trees., [Ts wealth of
forest is most enviable. | think we cannot match its undulating lawns . . .
But we beat it in rocks (and) also in water and bridges . . . But it beats
us in views and is a most lovely pleasance.

On his trip back to New York, he expressed dismay at the discomforts of
commuting:

The ferry boats coming in as we left our car were a phenomenon, Each
(six-fifteen) carried just as many men as could stand on her deck, |[f |
wanted to buy a house in Brookiyn . , , the necessity of using such an
overcrowded conveyance morning and evening would reduce the value of any
piece of Brooklyn reai estate , , . at least thirty per cent. The bridge,
if ever completed, will remove this drawback. -

As a direct result of the planning of Prospect Fark and the proposal for
the bridge, land values in the Park Slope Historic District rose precipitously
after the Civil War, The old farm holdings, which had been surveved in {854,
began to be sold off for development, One of the most far-sighted of these
early investors in Park Slope real estate was Edwin Ciark Litchfield who, in
association with his brother Electus Backus Litchfield, had made a fortune in
railroads, In 1852, he had purchased his first Brookiyn property from the
Cortelyou estate: a large tract of land which, within the Histoirc District,
lay between the south side of First Street and the north side of Fifth Street.
Four years later, his picturesque |tal isnate villa designed by A, J, Davis, one
of the foremost architects of the day, was ready for occupancy. This impressive
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mansion, located just within the western confines of Prospect Park between

Fourth and Fifth Streets, is a reminder of the semi-rural atmosphere of the

area in the mid~1850s, before the park was laid out. Since 1882, the Litchfield
villa has served as the offices of the Park Administration and today if continues
to serve as the Brooklyn headquarters of the Parks, Recreational and Cultural
Affairs Administration of the City of New York.

The actual development of the Historic District began just before the out-
break of the Civil War. Building operations came to a standstill until the
end of hostilities and then resumed in the late 1860s and early 70s, only to be
severely curtailed once again by the panic of 1873. The New York Stock Exchange
closed on September 20 for ten days. The panic left the country's financial and
commercial structure in ~uins, The disastrous effect on the building industry
is vividly illustrated by the effect on Philip |. Cootey, one of the enter-
prising early builders associated with the deve lopment of a handsome blockfront
on Seventh Avenue: unable to meet his obligations, he was forced into bank-
ruptey, Recovery ftrom tae panic was slow and it was not until the late 1870s
and early eighties that development on a wide scale was resumed, Then, block
after block of dignified rowhouses sprang up along the side streets, with large
mansions set in spacious grounds appearing for the most part in the upper tier
of the District, along Eighth Avenue and Ninth Avenue (Prospect Park West),
The major development of the District proceeded generally from west to east and
from north to south and covers the period from the Civil War to World War i,
Tne large apartment houses of later decades replaced earlier houses on the site.

Demographically, the District provides a sociological and economic cross-
section, The upper tier, and particularly the areas near +he park -~ Plaza
Street, Eighth Avenue, Prospect Park West and the "park blocks" -- developed
for the well-to-do middle class, was known as "The Gold Coast." The long block-
fronts of rowhouses and iow, walk-up apartment houses, particuiarly below
Eleventh Street, were bu:lt for peopie of more modest means, The entire District
continues to atfract those who appreciate its prime location adjoining Prospect
Park, its substantial, well~built houses and its relative tranquility. A great
many people who are prcminent in the political, judicial and cultural 1ife of
the city still reside in the District.
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ARCUITECTURAL INTRODUCTINN

An Historic District should be possessed of such a distinctive quality
that, on entering it from any side, one should at once become aware of a distinct,
separate neighborhocd. Park Slope is just such an area. The overall character
and development of the District was determined by its prime location adjacent
to Prospect Park. The Slope is almost exclusively residential, with minimal in-
roads by commerce. Its pleasant tree-lined streets and wide avenues, with houses
of relatively uniform height, punctuated by church spires, provide a living il-
lustration of the 19th century characterization of Brooklyn as "a city of homes
and churches." Park Slope retains an aura of the past to an extent which is re-
markable in New York. While there are an unusual number of fine townhouses and
other tuildings of extraordinary interest, as well as a few imposing free-standing
mansions--survivors of a greater number which once stood on Eighith Avenue and a-
long Prospect Park West--it is the long blockfronts of two-and three-story row
houses, set behind deep front yards, which gives the District its unusually har-
monious character. It is the architectural coherence of these rows and the ex-
ceptional quality of the individual townhouses and other structures, which makes
such an extraordinary impact upon the passerby.

Some of the basic features which contribute to the interest of the block-
fronts are the variations in the depths of the front yards, the variety of stone
or cast iron railings which enclose them, and- most especially-- the general
physiognomy of the buildings, whether sedately flush-fronted or given animation
by bays, oriels, turrets, towers, gables or dormer windows.

The row house, as promulgated by the Park Slope developers, is most in-
teresting as an instance of unconscious town planning, particularly where it fills
an entire block with high end houses, as often on the avenues, or, on the longer
blocks of the east-west streets, where rows of from four to twenty-six houses
lend interest and variety through their individual architectural characteristics.
Even within the rows, variety is often intentionally achieved through the alter-
nation of curved with three-sided bays, or through the use of houses of different
materials or combinations thereof. The wealth of architectural detail found in
this Historic District also plays an important part in enhancing the overall
picture and was used effectively to achieve a distinctive character or variety
within a row,

In considering the individual townhouse the question of quality is of
foremost importance as it relates to form, materials and architectural details,
as each house must stand on its own merits. Although quality is hard to define,
it is much in evidence within the Historic District due to the thought and care
expended on the design of s0 many of these houses by their builders and architects.
In some, the designers have created striking or unusual effects, but what is most
notable here is the remarkable coherence and distinction of the blockfronts

where individual houses, rows and low apartment houses have been so freely combined.

The architectural styies which found expression in the Historic District
are generally representative of those which swept the country between the Civil
Ylar and World "ar I. These styles included a late version of the Italianate,
the French Second Empire, the neo-Grec, the Romanesque Revival and the picturesque
Oueen Anne, or ‘'Free Classic'' stvle which co-existed with the late Romanesque
Revival. After the Norld's Columbian Exposition of 1893 at Chicago, a new
eclecticism swgpt the country opening up to the architect the classical styles,
ranging from the most academically correct Greek and Roman precedents to the widest
range of Renaissance styles and their very free interpretation propounded contemp-
oraneocusly by the French Ecole des Beaux Arts. Among the architects, indications
of this new Classicism were evident even before 1393, usually used in conjunction
with the more romantic styles creating houses which, in their designs, may be
considered transitional.

In style the early houses at the north end of the Historic District were
late Italianate or French Second Empire. The neo-Grec style generally superceded
the Second Empire due to the greater ease with which its ornament could be cut by
machine, with resultant decrease in cost. It was extremely popular with the
builder-developers of row houses. It is interesting to note that there was a time
lag of as much as a decade, during which this style continued to be used by the
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conservative builders in Park Slope long after the architects and Manhattan builders
had ceased to employ it.

The materials used in the construction of the houses were closely related
to the various architectural styles. The basic construction of these masonry
houses was brick, with a representative variety of masonry veneers. The earliest
Italjanate houses had face brick veneers, the French Second Empire, neo-Grec and
Romanesque Revival generally favored brownstone, the Queen Anne face brick with
narrow joints and colored mortars, decorative terra cotta and an array of slate
shingles, while the Romanesque Revival, in its late phase, introduced the warm-
colored elongated, Roman brick combined with a wealth of carved and rough-faced
stonework. The neo-Renaissance and neo-Classical styles generally favored the
use of limestone or light shades of brick with limestone trim. The later neo-
Georgian and neo-Federal returned to the use of red brick as a veneer material,
with pre-cast limestonme trim. Roof cornices with brackets were generally of wood
in the Italianate and French Second Empire houses and in the later styles were
constructed of sheetmetal. The use of cast iron for handrailings and newel posts
at stoops, and for yard railings, was general throughout the area until wrought
iron was reintroduced with the Queen Anne and Romanesque Revival, a material which
was also espoused by the architects of the new Classicism which followed them.

ARCHITECTURAL STYLES REPRESENTED IN THE DISTRICT
Italianate

This was the style of the earliest Park Slope row houses which persisted
into the mid-1870s, or about a decade beyond the time when it had generally ceased
to be an influence. It was characterized by flush-fronted houses of brick in the
earliest houses, later superceded by brownstone. Round-arched doorways entered
through double doors, generally had low-arched pediments or full entablatures
above them, carried on foliate console brackets. Segmental arches were often
used over windows and round or segmental arches over basement windows. Windowsills
were usually supported on small corbel blocks, one at each end. The brownstone
basements and stoop sidewalls were usually rusticated and the cast iron stoop
handrailings and yard railings were ~onerally balustered. Roof cornices were
carried on foliate brackets, widely spaced, and often arched to relate to the win-
dows below them, with panels in ths fascias between them. The earliest houses in
the District, Nos. 8-16 Seventh Avenue, erected in 1860 by the builder-developer
Charles S. Scribner, were Italianate in style, as were row houses by his brother
James H. Scribner, Robert S. Bussing, John Magilligan and George lhite.

Prench Second Empire

This style came into prominence here in the north with the post Civil War
prosperity. Although it appeared only briefly in Park Slope, its typical feature
was the slate mansard roof with iron crestings. Other distinguishing character-
istics were the formality evidenced by the enframement of windows by moldings,
often crowned by imposing cornices, and in the enrichment of the double front
doors by the addition*of horizontal panels at knob height and kickplates at the
bottom. The arched doorway, however, was often almost indistinguishable from its
Italianate predecessor and was crowned by a low arched or triangular pediment.
The windows, by this time, were generally of plate glass for both the upper
and lower sash, while the only difference in the balustered handrailings of the
stoop were the more massive newel posts. The most notable example of the French
Second Empire style on The Slope is the blockfront on the east
side of Seventh Avenue, between St. John's Place and Lincoln Place, developed by
the speculative builders Philip I. Cootey and Robert S. Bussing in 18371-72.

Li%e Seribmer. ‘~-illi-an and “hite. cntioned above, Cootey and Bussing were
neighborhood builders.
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This style also came to us via France and was first used here by some of the
architects who studied at the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris. Introduced to the
District by the Parfitt Brothers in the 1870s, it became extremely popular with the
sneculative builders of brownstone row houses who found the stylized incised
ornament cheaper to reproduce than the rich foliate forms of the Italianate and
French Second Empire. As a result, the style lingered on into the late 1880s and
even into the nineties in the Park Slope area. The Greek influence is seen in
the curvilinear incised ornament -- a far cry from the original forms- however,
the pedimented door and window lintels with “ears', or acroteria, were greatly
simplified versions of the originals, as were the three parallel grooves used on
brackets (reminiscent of triglyphs) and on pilasters. In design this style was
typified by a Inld angularity, whether in the use of three-sided, full-height bays,
echoed in the animated roof cornices that crowned them, or in the striking, massive
newel posts at the high straight stoops. It was a case whers a foreign style found
such favor with us that it was actually duplicated on the side streets of New York
in far greater pronortion than on the boulevards of Paris. Among the Park Slope
and neighborhood builder-developers and architects whose work best exemplifies the
style are John Gordon, working with architects Robert Dixon and *1.J. Morrill-

John ‘lonas and Thomas Fagan, also associated with Dixon: 'Jilliam Gubbins, who worked
with architect Charles '"erner- the prolific John Magilligan- J. Doherty & Sons:

and "illiam Flanagan, whose long career on The Slope, from 1867 to 1906, illustrates
the rise of a humble Irish imnigrant from carpenter's apprentice to the vice-
presidency of the Speculative Builders Association of Brooklyn.

Victorirn Gothic

The most representative exanples of this picturesque, generally polychro- |
matic style, which was very much influenced by British prototypes, are four
churches in the District. §St. John's (P.E.) Church, begun in 1869, and its rectory
are charming examples. Buiit of rough-faced, random ashlar saidstone, they have
pointed-arch windows and doors. The arches are, quite characteristically, composed
of varicolored stones. The Sixth Avenue Baptist Church (1280), designed by the
New York architect Lawrence B. Vall is another example of the style. Grace (M.E.)
Church (1832) on Seventh Avenue, designed by the English-born Brooklyn architects,
Parfitt Bros., best illustrates the mature Victorian Gothic style. 'ith its tall ;
corner tower and picturesque profile, it is a landmark on The Slope (together |
with 5t. Augustine's Church which is outside the Historic District), also by the
same architectural firm. A late phase of Victorian Gothic is represented by
Pugin § "alter's llemorial Presbyterian Church, on Seventh Avenue, begun in 1882.

Romanesque Revival

The Romanesque Revival house was primarily a masonry structure. Its fortress-
like character was largely the result of the use of rough-faced stone and its
picturesque composition. It was introduced to this country in the 1870s by Henry
Hobson Richardson, who had studied at the Ecole des Beaux Arts where the regener-
ated medievalism of Viollet-le-Duc was just as important as classicism. For wide
spans, such as main entrances, a low broad arch was characteristic, as were round-
arched window heads. Dwarf columns, used singly or in clusters, usually supvorted
the great arches. Occasionzlly bands of windows, separated by stone piers, had
continuous lintels above, and transom bars were used in the upper section of the
windows. Horizontal bandcourses of smooth stone often relieved the expanse of
rough-faced walls of random stonework. Elaborate foliate carvings were used
expressively as capitals and impost blocks, to terminate and otherwise define ga-
bles and to ornament the wing-walls of th. characteristic, —assive, L-shaped or
curved stoops. Although the neo-classicism of the Chicago Fair generally super-
ceded all the romantic styles, including the Nueen Anne, the Romanesque Revival was
a hardy survivor which lasted to the turn-of-the-century on The Slope. In its
later phase, it became rore refined and sophisticated, with smooth walls of Roman
brick, set off by limestone or terra cotta bandcourses, window enframements and
ornamental trim. Colors changed from sombre earth tones tr li~*t hues, such as
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ochre, buff, orange and cray. There are a remarkable number o architect-designed
residences 1n this style on The Slope -- so ourstanding in guality that they may
be considered a significant contribution to our national architectural heritage.

The most distinguished example in the District of this rugged and highly
expressive style is the Hulbert mansion (now the Lthical Culture School), designed
by the young “ontrose !. lorris at the outset of his career. The essence of the
later phase of the Romanesque Revival is exemplified by C.P.H. Gilbert's Adams
residence, at the cormer of Eighth Avenue and Carroll Street, and in the extra-
ordinarv array of houses he designed on Montgomery Place, developed entirely by
Harvey Murdock. Other architects who used the Romanesaue Revival style with
great success in the District were' Henry 0. Avery: the Parfitt Bros. Laurence
C. Val, Charles Werner Frederick B. Langston, George P. Chappell and Magpus
NDahlander, all of whom also worked in the Stuyvesant Heights Historic District at
about the same time. Among the builder-developers who worked in the Romanesque
Revival style were "illiam Gubbins, John lagillinan, Peter Collins, Martin & Lee
and Fred Griswald -- to name only a few. It is interesting to note that these
builders often retained elements of a preceding style -- the neo-Grec in this case--
and combined them with the currently popular style. Indeed, for every recogniza-
tle style, there are transitional buildings which bridged the gaps between styles,
borrowing a littie from both the preceding and the new. This remained true
o€ the architectural development of the District through ‘orld 'ar I.

Queen Anne or Free Classic

This picturesque style, which relied on asymmetry and the combination of a
variety of materials, textures and colors to achieve its effect was a great
novelty when it first appeared in this country. It was derived from slightly
earlier British examnles’ typified by architects such as R. MNorman Shaw, who wished
to return to an honest, expressive use of materials based on an earlier phase of
brick architecture from the 18th century Queen Anne period. The end product was
quite different from the architecture of the good Queen, combining elements of the
Flemish Renaissance, classic traditions and, in America, Colonial Revival features.
Althouch it was not as widely used in the Park Slope area as the contemporaneous
late Romanesque Revival, some of the finest examples in the five boroughs exist
in the District. It was a predominantly brick architecture. embellished with
stone and terra cotta. Although the ornament was strongly influenced by classical
traditions, swags, urns, etc., its favorite motif was the sunflover. Green corper
bays, and oriels, shingled red roofs with gables, dorners and chimneys lend a
whimsical cozy quality to the houses in this style. Since it co-existed with
the Romanesque Revival, the arched entranceway was often a prominent and inviting
feature. The windows had, typically, double-hung sash with many small square
panes in the upper half and clear plate glass in the lower. The Colcnial tradition
of wrought iron reappeared for the first time since early in the century, al-
thoush it was twisted and latticed in ways unknown to the early period. Painted
or natural wood doors, varnished or oiled, often with small panels, displayed a
wealth of wrourht iron hardware including strap hinres. Althourh this style was
occasionally used for public buildings, it was in the residential field that it
achieved its greatest popularity, as is well illustra*ed by 2 number of charming
individual and row houses on The Slope, notably by William B. Tubby, R. L. Daus,
Laurence B. Valk and Charles llerner. In common with the other styles in the Dis-
trict, the Nueen Anne or Free Classic was often used in combination with the
Romanesque Revival.

The 1880s had been the heyday of romanticism and the picturesque, with
the Romanesque Revival ani Queen Amnc styles predominating. The Montauk Club,
designed in 1889 by Francis E. Ximball, a prominent New York architect, is the
culmination of the cvocative romanticism of the decade. Combining Venstian Gothic
architectural traditions with American Indian decorative themes, 1t is the archi-
tectural treasurc of The Slope.

Among the knowledgeable architects a new ferment was in the air--a
gradual reawakening interest in a correct classicism. This was nlready cvident
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in certain details which began to appear in late Romanesque Revival work, as,

for example, in two distinguished residences on Lincoln Place and Berkeley Place

by the New York firm of Lamb § Rich, which heralded the new Classicism., The World's
Columbian Exposition of 1893 in Chicago awakened Americans, notably architects,

to the orandeur of the architecturc and planning of the ancient world and of the
Renaissance; which resulted in a return to classicism and in the 'City Beautiful’
movement. The Age of Eclectism was born. The whole spirit of the times, the Ec-
lectic approach to architecture, was one of borrowing from any and all styles. This
was achicved by the wide distribution of architectural books and periodicals, study
at architectural schocls in the United States and 2zt the Beaux Arts in Paris and,
still later, at the Americen Academy in Rome. Banks, railroad stations and commercic:
buildings suddenly appeared, adorned with all the typical classical features.

This influence made itself felt in the nineties in Park Slope and rathered
rmomentum in the first decade of the 20th century. In the preat houses which begon
to line the upper part of Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park West, the pervading neo-
Renaissance and neo-Classical spirit achieved a splendor worthy of ianhattan's
Fifth Avenue. Among the most notable are several by Montrose V. Morris on Eighth
Avenue and on Prospect Park West and the Tracy residence by Frank J. Helmle.
Temnle Beth Elohim on Eighth Avenue is a monumental example of the neo-Classicism. ¢
In the individual and row houses of the east-west streets, the Renaissance and
classical influences are evident in the predominance of limestone or light-colored
brick and in the replacement of high stoops by the English basement type entrance,
at or near street level. In row houses, the popularity of the masonry bay, now
gently curved or three-sided and echoed at the roof cornice line, gave an undu-
lating rhythm to the streetscape. Most of the ornament was concentrated at the
doorways, window enframements and in carved panels. Sheetmetal roof cornices,
carried on console brackets, were embellished with friezes displaying floral swags
and wreaths. Porches were given distinction by Ionic, Composite or Corinthian
columns, pilasters and other classical or Renaissance details. Some of the im-
portant architects who availed themselves of the neo-Renaissance and neo-Classical
traditions were: Eisenla § Carlson* ™illiam Debus; Magnus Dahlander- Peter Delaney:
Axel S. Hedman; Arthur Koch' the Parfitt Bros.: Henry Pohlman- Thomas Bennett: and
"illiam Flanagan, who was still hard at work... .

The architects and builders of the numbered streets toward the southern
end of the Mistoric District adapted the classical formula with avidity and long
rows of small two-and three-story, neo-Classical and neo-Renaissance houses appeared
there, usually retaining the full-height bays which had originated with the much
earlier neo-Grec style. The low, four-story apartment houses of the turn-of-the-
century and its first decade were conceived on a scale which was completelv in
harmony with the general buiiding heights in the District. Among the proninent 1rer-
" ¢ts ° d¢valo,ore in the lower tier were Thomas Brown, Thomas Benneic, Alexander
G. Calder and his son, William Musgrave Calder. The younger Calder started his
career as a carpenter's apprentice and eventually became Commissioner of Buildings
for the Borough of Brooklyn (1902-03), New York State Representative to Congress
(19n5-15) and U. S. Senator (1917-23). He lived in the District on First Street.

* number of residences, row houses and apartment houses in the entire
District show the influence of the Ecole de Beaux Arts, particularly in the free
interpretation of early French Renaissance and the later classic traditions: a
handsome town house by J. Garfield Kennedy on Second Street near the park- two houses
on Eighth Avenue by architect Peter Collins which have a truly Parisian elegance;
and some fine apartment houses of the early 20th century, notcbly one by flontrose
11, Morris on Eighth Avenue, corner of llontgomery Place. Mention should be made
o° the Childs mansion on Prospect Park “est (now the Meeting House of The Ethical
Culture Society), designed by William B, Tubby, an early and extremely fine example
of neo-Jacobean style--yet another manifestation of the Eclectic approach.

Neo-Georrian and Neo-Fecderal

Another exnrcssion of this return to classicism was the renewed interest
in our own architectural heritage, already manifested in the Colonial Revival of
the late 1880s and nineties. After the turn-of-the-century, 2 brick architecture
recalling neo-Georgian and neo-Federal prccedents was introduced. This was evident .
in both reside.ces and apartment houses in the District. A particularly fine nco-
Federal town house on ‘lontgomery Place, with brickworlk laid up in Flemish bond,
was designed by the tiew York firm of ‘lowbray § Uffinger: the introduction of
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certain neo-Georgian decorative motifs here is typical of the architectural freedon
of the architects of the period. A notable example of neo-Ceorgian, designed by
Daus & "tto, is the building now occupied by the Unity Club on Eicshth Avenue. Doth
row houses and apartment houses designed in these styles, are scatterced through-
out the District. 1In the effort to conform to the prevailing traditions on The
Slone, a number of early 20th century apartment houses were designed to give the
appearance of individually owned town houses, such as o row by "“illiam Debus on
Fifth Street. The neo-Federal style was povular with architects and their clients
for decades, as illustrated by a2 handsome residence on Carroll Street, designed

in 1922 by the noted llanhattan architect ‘fott B. Schmidt, and as late as 1937,

in an apartment house on Lincoln Place.

'tfodern

One of the most interesting buildings of a later period in the District
is the Temple House, reflecting the influerce of the 'Art Deco style of the late
1920s -~ a foil for the austere neo~Classical grandeur of Tempie Beth Eloham,
erected two Jecades earlier. They are both on opposite corners of Garfield Place
and Eighth Avenue. ° scven-story ~»rri-ent house, 'uilt in 1°25 -~ ‘2si-aed by
“l~e 4 Rrvson, which occumii s mart »F t°  site of the 77 np1Ticert Txvell mansion,
is n:>~Tud>r in stvic and built of red brick with precast stone trim. Slee §
Bryson followed the example set in 1910 by 'lann § "facNeille 1in their handsome
long row of apartment houses on the south side of Third Street, near the park.
This style was also used for smaller residences, notably a pair at the northernmost
boundary of the District on Prospect Park West, with an arched entranceway leading
to garaces at the rear -- testimony to the growing importance and popularity of
the automibile in the early 1920s. The taller apartment houses of later decades,
designed in a variety of styles, reflected the changing taste and modes of living.

It is obvious from this stylistic development that the Park Slope Historic
District was developed largely by local and neighborhood buiiders and architects,
with a fair representation of well-known ‘lanhattan architects.

LATER DEVELNPMENTS

'orld Yar I was the high point in the develonment of Park Slope over
five decades or more. It also marked the beginning of the Automobile Age, which
spawned huge suburbs that could compete successfully with the city for residential
populations. It marked a time of special vulnerability for brownstones--niddle-
aged, but not old enough to have acquired an aura of the nast. The era brought
an end to the abundant supply of servants necessary to staff them. But, above all,
brownstones were becoming unfashionable and, after "orld 'lar 11, a major exodus
to the suburbs began.

In the 1920s builders appeared on the scene and began to raze sone
of the oreat, freestanding rmansions, replacinc them with apartment houses. Among
the first to go, in 1923, was the Maxwell mansion on the southwest corner of Union
Street and Eishth Avenue although its carriacse house still stands on Union Street.
Nther mansions along the west side of Fishth Avenue that have given way to apartment
houses were those of the Luckenbach, llanan and the Feltman families. This stretch
of tall npartment houses alono [irhth Avenue represents the only major incursion
alone this avenue in recent decades. DPIrospect Park "est, once known as the
the "Gold Coast,' has also lost several notable mansions tc apartment houses.
Although the larse houses have disappeared alone Plaza Street, an extension of
the Gold Coast, the magnificent Venetian Gothic 'fontauk Club and a short row of
limestone-fronted houses, between Lincoln Place and Flatbush Avenue, remain to
give some idea of the former magnificence of this street.

Fortunately, the basic quality of Park Slope has been largely undisturbed.
“treet after street presents vistas unchanged since the turn-of-the-century.
Nespite social and technological changes, the Historic District has thus far
larsely aveoided the rapid pace of rebuilding and alteration so tyoical of much of
the City. ‘lany of the fine old houses have been preserved with little change.
The fact that the present tall apartment houses have, by and large, not destroyed
the character of the District is responsible for the charning, low-lying quality
and human scale of this neighborhood.
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Events within the last ten years give hope that these houses will be pre-
scrved far into the future as & major urban asset. But the real cause for alarm
today is the 'modernization’ of houses by the application of spurious veneers. The
occnsional addition of a roof parapet has almost invariably resulted in the loss
o€ a fine cornice. Stoops have sometimes been removed to provide basement
entrances. All these changes and 'improvements create jarrina notes 1n otherwise
harmonious rows of houses. These renovations, inten'ed to increase property values
have an exactly opposite effect in liistoric Nistricts. The thinn that attracts
many buvers to these neirhborhoods is the homoseneous intesritv of their orisinal
architecture. Ill-conceived improvements almost always result in an erosion of
its quality.

Designation of the Park Slope !listoric District will strengthen the communitv
by preventins this needliess loss throuch the review of future alterations and con-
struction. Designation is a major step towards insuring protection and enhancement
of the qu-lity and character of an entire neighborhood.

Like a2 number of other 19th century communities in the City, Park Slcpe has
attracted 2 wave of renovators who have not only restored hundreds of old houses
to their former splendor but, by their presence, create a stable family community
that should insure both the physical and social character of the neighborhood.
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DOCUIEFTATION AHD ARRANGE TIT

This report has been written to describe an arees of the City that deserves to
be better known and has bean compiled with great care. It should prove educational
and informative to architectural historians and property owners. The followving
notes cover the sources used to obtain the information for the report.

Historical Documentation. The documentation cf the buildings has been based
on primary sources, mainly official records of the City of Nev York and of Kings
County. These have ltieen supplemented by maps, directories, biographical sources,
newspapers, and published histories of Brooklyn and Kings County, of certain
buildings and of the nlanning and develovment of Prospect Park. For these we
have dravn on the collections of such institutions es the Long Island Historical
Society and the New York Public Library. Of primary assistance in establishing
the historical documentation of buildings were:

A. Tax Assessment Records for this ward, recorded under ilo. 22 (Real Property
Assessment Department, Brooklyn faunicipal Building, sub-basement) .

B. liev Building and Alteration Plans, starting in 1873 (Department of Buildings,
Borough of Brooklyn, Brocklyn lHunicipal Building, Tth floor).

C. Convevances (City Register, Kings County Clerk's office, 2nd floor), Block
Abstracts and ¢ld maps (Lorng Island Historical Society).

D. Commercial maps such as M. Dripps Map of 1855 and 1869, J.B. Beers Farm
Line ''aps of the City of Brooklyn, 187k, Robinson's Atlas of the City of Brooklyn,
1886; E. Belcher Hyde Atlas of the Borough of Brooklym, 1912: Sanborn Maps of
1926, updated.

E. Directories of Brooklyn and Wew York City (available at the New York Public
Libary and the Long Islend Historical Society).

F. Recent publications:

Elizabeth Barlow and William Alex, Frederick Law Olmsted's New York
(New York: Braziller, 1972)

Albert Fein, Frederick Law Olmsted and the American Environmental
Tradition ({New York: Braziller, 1972)

Clay Lancaster, Prospect Park Handbook (Nev York: Rawls, 1967)

David McCullough, The Great Bridge (lNew York: Simom & Schuster, 1972)

William Lee Younger, 6 articles in The Gaslight Gazette, 1971-T2.

Intensive steff work on the Park Slope Historic District began in 1972
and vas completed in 1973. The documentatidn is now recorded in ten volumes
with photograrhs and & file containing research notes.

Arrangement. The mein text of this report consists of a block-by-block
description. For ease of reference, avenues are arranged in numerical order,
named streets in alphabetical sequence &and nurmbered streets in numerical order,
Each street and avenue is considered one block at a time-— running from the lowest
Lo the highest house numbers. Within each block, each side of a street or avenue i
discusscd separately- first south, then north, or east and west, as the case
may be. Houses which are krown by a single number but which occupy more than one
lot may show the tull range of numbers within parentheses or brackets. Corner
buildings which are known by composite numbers are generally indicated by the
number closest to the corner. Corner hduses are cross-referenced under both the
street and the avenue on which they face.
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THE AVTNUES

SIXTH AVENUE TC PROSPECT PARK WEST

SIXTH AVENUL

Coming east alcng Flatbush Avenue and turning south into Sixth Avenue, one
is immediately struck by the homogeneous quality of this street. It still embodies,
today, the distinction that Brooklyn had, in the 19th century, as a city of homes
and churches. The vista along the avenue between Sterling Place and Union Street
has an understated regulerity dramatically accented by the spires of two churches,
St. Augustine's at Sterling Place and St. Francis Xavier At Carroll Street, both of
vhich are just outside the Historic District. There is virtually no change in
elevation in the part of ithe avenue included in the district: block after block
displays a handsome uniform roof line, which unites the relatively short block-
fronts into a single composition with occasional special treatments, such as man-
sard roofs for the corner houses. Although Sixth Avenue is only now beginning to
recover from a long period of decline, during which houses were converted into
multiple dwellings, most of the exterior detail, including the mansard roofs and
cornices, remains remarkably intact.

SIXTH AVENUE Between Sterling Place & St. John's Place
EAST SIDE (Nos. 135-153)

This blockfront of ten three-story brownstone houses between Sterling Place and
St. John's Place is among Park Slope's earliest, erected between 1869 and 1871
in the late Italianate style. Development began at the northern end in 1869-70,
when Daniel M. Wells, a builder and real estate investor, erected Ios. 135-143,
and was completed by builder James H. Scribner with Nos. 145-153 in 1870-T1.
Scribner was a brother of Charles S. Scribner, who had built Nos. 8-16 Seventh
Avenue a decade earlier. Many of these flush-fronted houses have retained their
original details, stoops and rusticated basements. The original wooden roof
cornice has been preserved intact along the entire blockfront. No. 14T is prac-
tically untouched, and <hows what the others were like originally. Above the
windows are prominent stone cornice slabs supported on brackets., The consoles
supporting the triangular doorway pediment have carved acanthus decoration. Ex-
pressive of the substantial quality of these houses are the balustered hand-
railings and newels at the stoop. The brick sides of the end houses have the
broad low, end gables with central arched windows, so typical of this area.

WEST SIDE {Nos. 128 -146) .

Nos. 128 -146 1s a complete blockfront of houses built in 1876 for the neigh-
borhood owner -builder, Jonn Gordon. They were designed by Brooklyn architect
M, J. "orrill. Mensard roofed houses at the ends of the block emphasize the
Victorian verticality of these brownstone rowhouses. Three stories in height, set
above high basements, the entrance doorvays are approached by steep stoops, many
of which retain their original cast iron balustered handrailings. Yard railings
and gates enclose most of the front yards. These houses present excellent example:
of the neo Grec style, best seen at No. 132 which has a mansard roof above 1its
roof cornice. Full height two-sided bhays contrast with the flush-fronted houses
across the street. A bracketed roof cornice, wvhich reflects the profiles of the
bays, enlivens the skyline. The brick side walls of the end houses of this row
have two--story bay windows, constructed of wood.
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SIXTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place 4 Lincoln Place
EAST SIDE (Nos. 155-17%)

Nos. 1°5-163. The corner house at St. John's Place MNo. 155 s
hicher than the rest of the row due to its mansard roof. 7Tt is part of a
row of five similar three-story hrownstones with high hasements. Erected
in 1884 by builder .John Monas, they are of a typme characteristic of the
north portion of Park Slope. with brownstone fronts and two-sided hays
running the full three-story height above high basements. On all five
houses, the incised neo-Grec decoration and the bracketed roof cornice
dramatically accent their angularity. Framine the doorway are halustraded
halconies resting on deep brackets and emhellished with urns. The corner
house, with mansard roof and nedimented dormer windows, reneats the angu-
lar profile of the main cornice line at hicher level providing an
effective emphasis at the corner. The end wall, on St. John's Place,
is almost entirely of red brick, virtually uninterrupted except for a
three-sided bay window at the center which is topped with a prominent
cornice ahove the third floor. identical to‘the roof cornice.

Nos. 165 and 167, the remaining two houses on the hlock, were
completed in 1874 hy Henry Samuel, huilder. and are related to the
adjoining later houses hy a uniform roof cornice line. The hovses are
enclosed by handsome iron yard railings with cates. Hish stoops, with
balustered hand railings and heavy newel posts, lead un to the front doors.
These three-story brownstones have flush fronts rusticated hasements
and typically late Ftalianate detail- prominent cornices over segmental-
arched window heads and strongly modeled arched nediments over deeply
recessed round-arched doorways. The fine detail of the doorway of No.
165 has been retained inclndine the hich original doors, now partially
alazed.

The Sixth Avenue Baptist Church at the corner of T.incoln Place is
Viectorian Gothic in inspiration and is executed in red face hrick with
horizontal stone band courses. 7Tt was desicned by Laurence B. Valk a
New York architect in 18R0. The massing of the main tower -- the
steeple was lost in the hurricane of 1938 -- the small polyconal turret
engaved to the tower on the Sixth Avenue front, and the cupola over the
crossin: are picturesque features which contrast with the flatness and
austerity of the similar gabled walls facing the Avenue and the Street.
Horizontal bands of sandstone., perfectly flush with the bhrickwork, serve
as sills or impos: blocks for the arches of the windows. The window
jambs abut the brickwork. Bullresees with stened shoulders of sandstone
are interestine compouents of the construction. Ovunameul emliellisheg
the stone arches over the doors and the cortel's of the main sables.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 148-168)

This blockfront, unlike most others in the area, was develoned from
south to north and shows an interestine contrast hetween late Ttalianate
and neo-Grec styles,

Nos. 1u48-160. Reiaghhorhood builder .John Gordon and his wife
Isabella, developned this row of seven in two stages- Nos. 1UB-154 were
built in 1875 and Nos. 158 and 160 in 1880. The houses are very similar
to his row of ahout the same period at Nos. 128-146, in the hrlock to the
north between Sterling Place and St. John's Place designed hy M, J.
Morrill. Both Morrill and John Dixon, the architect associated with
Nos. 148-160, made use of the "French roof" or mansard to give emphasis
to corner buildings. Both architects wor<ed in the neo-Grec style, which
continued to dominate huilder-constricted houses in Park Slope well into
the 1880s. WNo. 152 retains most of the original decorative elements and
at No. 156 the handsome oricinal doors can still bhe seen. A notable
feature is the round-arched, two-story hay on the brick end wall on St.
John's Place, similar to the two-story hay on the end wall across the
street, at No. 1H6. WNos. 158 and 160 although huilt five years later
than the other houses of the row, are essentially similar to them
differine only in minor respects. The rectilinear detail displaved here
is typical of Dixon's (eont'q next pane’

—u-
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SIXTH AVENUE  ~etween St. Jchn's lace § Lincoln “lace

work in the neo-Grec stylc eclscwherc in the District, as are the billet moldings
which am~mear at the heals of 2ll the windows.

Nns. 162-16% were th2 first houses t~ o0 un cn this tlackfront. HNo.
162, the resilence nf Abrzham Knox, a conrer, was erected first, in 1769
MNos. 162-186 were built for him in 1962. They arc in thc late Italianate stylc
so pepular on Sixth Avenuc at that time. These flush-fronted brownstones provide
a contrast to their morc animated neightors to the north, with their full-
heirht, two-sidel masonry bays an' jorred rooflines. No. 162 most nearly retains
all its orieinal features: the hnllly pedimente! dcorway and window lintels
on carve!! corlel hrackets arc noteworthy. The corner housc, tlo. 162, where
Abraham Knox lived, still displays its cast iron halustere? hanrlrailines, comnlete
with newcls, and yard railines which continue ar~und to the Linceln Tlace side.
Here, its brick end wall has thc typical low ;mable with central arched wincdow
an! word bay windows at the rarler flonr with carve’ cornice rrackets.

SIXTH AVENUE Detween Lincoln PMlace § Cerkeley "lace
EAST SIDE (Nos. 175-191)

Nos. 175-123 provilde the only examnles of the ilomanesrue Revival style on
Sixth Avenue within the District. They were “wuilt for James /.. Bills 1n 1878
an' were Jdesiened by “ronklyn architect F. 7. Lansst~n. Lanaston alsc workel
in the Stuyvesant Hcirhts aren. Stylisticnlly they are similar t~ Nos. 96-110
Lincoln Place around the corncr, Adesirmed by Lanrston at the same time. Like
the houses on Linceln Tlace, these risc fronm rcugh-facel randsm.ashlar bascments
to the sills of thc sec~nd floor windows. Leshape! stoons, with risers and
treads defined on r~uvh-facedl winr-walls lead un t- the I~ulle doors with
carved lintels. Carved ornament 2lso aprears in the front face ~f the snlid
wina walls of the stoops at Mes. 177, 131 and 123. HNn, 175 has a straight stoop
with pire railinss terminatin~ in fanciful ~riffins. Th-ush the same heirht
en' style as its ncighbr~rs, the corner buil-in~, No. 175, is treate® “ifferently
from the nthers. It has scuare-healed omeninss at the first floor, whercas
they have r~unl-archel rarl~r floor winlows an' “eorways. Contrasts in c¢nlnr of
the trick ccrner house with thc ~ther stone houses ~ive character to the rew.
The roush-faced windcw lintels c-ntrest with the smeoth brickwork ~f the secontd
an' thir.) stories. Crowning these five houses are shectmetal roof cornices
with vortical shafts ~n corbels senaratine them. Nunins, in stenes of ceontrastine
colors, separate nn' ’efinc the houses.

Nos. 175 -177-~177 1/2-172 an' 191. Tn c’ntr*;t t the ~'jacent Tromanesque

Revival houscs arc these five lote Italianatc style 'rrwnstones which complete
this Llockfront frem Linc.ln tn “erkeley Tlace. Fuilt in 17°74-75 £-r %William
Maguire, of 343 DeKalh Avenue, they were dosine’ “y a Procklyn architect-
uilter, Gerroe Vhite. They arce nuite simil-ar t~ the ~ther late Italianrte
houses »f the same —eri~' on the Slere. OF these five lirmnified reowhcuses,
Nr. 1{7 test retains its ~ri~inzl features inclu'inc mnst of its ircnwerk.
The stoop, above a rusticate? hasement, lea's t- a pedimente? -doorway with
clarorately carve? c¢~ns~le “rackets. Unifyin. thc five houses arce the roof
crrnices with Classical m~1lin~s, entils ~n! cons~le brackets. The c rner
house, No. 191, has two oriels sumnerted on carve? brackets on the Terkeley
Place sile.

VIEST SIDE

(The entire rlrckfroat tetween Lincnln Place and [erkeley Tlace ~n Sixth
‘venue 1S rutsilc the Historic District. It is the site ~f '.S. No. 2°2,
the Park Slope Schonl).
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SIXTH AVENUE Betwecn Berkeley Place and Union Street

EAST SIDE (Nos. 193-189)

Mos  153-195-195A-197. These four btrownstone hcuses, built between 1172
an' 1873 for *bel F. Groln~w were the first houses built on this hlockfront, and
are typically late Italianatc in desisn. N~s. 195A and 197 prescrve characteristic
Jdecorative features  rusticated bascments, pedimented Aoorways. parloer floor
winiow lintels suprorted on carvel conscle brackets anl windowsills at the
urper stories resting on small corbel blecks. The ironwerk which nnce ~raced
all these houses remains intact at the stoop an?d yar? railinss ~f 'In. 175, "he
hnuses are crnwned by lentille? roof corniccs with e¢~nscle brackets. Nn. 195 was
the home of Thomas Green, a prolific builder assnciatied with the early development
nf "ark Slope, who ray alsn have crected this row.

Mn. 199. This mid-blnck brownstone of 1°86-27, is one of n rew of three
nen-Grec hnuscs, of which Nes. 201 ant 201A 2re outside the Historic District,
and reflects the chan~e in architcctural fashinn of the follewinn decade. The
angularity »f the full-height, tw -sided bay is cchoed in the ro~f cornice,
which contrasts in heieh* and »rofile with these of the earlier, flush-frentel
houses ~f the rest of the blockfr nt. Nes. 199-201% were 'uilt by the heirs of
Th nas Skelly, a builfer. A notable feature of N~. 199, which is very similar
to the row at Nes, 155-163 Sixth Avenue nearby, is the lcw “alustrade above the
cntrance 4oorway.

WEST SIDE (183-1924)

The five houses frem the corner ~f Zerkeley Mlacce to the middle of the
hlock were built as part ~f a rew »f six (inclu’ing No. 194) Ly owner-builier
Th~mas Fasgen of 262 Granl Avenue, Crooklyn. The ‘esisns were furnished by
Lronklyn azrchitect Robert Dixen in 1377. These lirmified flush-frented brown-
stones have twn wide cpenings ner story in their narrow sixteen foot widths,
Althrugh the averall feeling of the row is late Italinnate, neo-frec Adetails
are evident in the consoles suprortine the trianmular pediments over-the decrways
an? in the triangular corbel st-nes under the winiowsills. The basement walls are
decornted by horizontal bandinc with vertical “lutin~. The corner hruse has a
charming weod bay window carriald on carved brackets at the marlor floor ~n the
Derkeley Place side. This brick en? wall hos tw~ tiers of blind wind-ws sym-
metrically place’ nt the ends.

(The hcuses on the snuth half of the blockfront toward Union Street, on
bnth the east and west si’ecs of Sixth Avenue, arc outsile the Histrric District.)

SEVENTH AVENUE

The four tlocks within the Histeric District, at the nnrth end of Seventh
Avenue notween 'ark "lace and Union Strect, nrovide a dinonified appearance and
an interestins cross-scction of architectural styles of the second half of
the 19th century. Sesinnins with row houses built in 1261 in the porular
Italianate style, residonces built in the decades which follewed nresent fine
examnles of the neo-Grec, Victrrian Gothic, French Second Empire, Queen Anne and
Rrmanesque Revival stylos.

This secticn cf Seventh Avenue still retains its -ririnal residential
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SEVENTH AVENUE

character with conly minnr commercial incursions, in contrast to the aspect of the .
avenue at its north enl and below lerkcley Place to the south. The transition

from residential tn crmmercial architecture, which fcllowed the economic upturn

~f the late 1570s, beains just above Derkeley Place and extends southward.

Prier tn that time, the process nf residential levelomnent had tbeen quite similar

t~ that of Sixth Avenue. Durine the 1989s, while handsome resi-ential and

relirious structures were still beinr bwilt at the northern end of the avenue,

the tendency was te more modest aportment hruscs and commercial crnstructinsn

at the south end.

SEVEMTH AVENUE Detwcen Park Place & Sterling Mloace

EAST SIDE (Nos. 13-19)
(The northern half of this blockfront is outside the Historic District.)

Mas. 13-19, a2 row of threc-st~ry ne~-Grec houses, was built in 1782 by
owner-builder William Gubbins, acenrdang to the desirns of Bronklyn architect
Thrmas F. Hourhtrn, whn also worked in Stuyvesant Heights. Full heisht, two-
sited bays produce an undulant rhythm at the linc of the brackete! ceornices.
These houses are all anpreached by hich stooms which lead up to seamental-arched
Aorrways. The cornice slahs at three of these hruscs retain their handseme
orisinal ir~n crestings abeove the deorways. The terder of naln leaves in the
cornice alove the marlor flror windrws is esnecinlly attractive and is distantly
relate! to the Eoyptian cavetto meldine,

WEST SIDE (Nos. 8-22)

Mos. ¢-16 Seventh Avenue, a row of five houses crectel in 1860, arc the ‘
carliest in the District. The five lots were oucht from the Edmund K. Bussin~
estate in January 13860 by the builder-developer Charles S. Scribner, of 300
Dean Street in the Doerum Hill section. These mndest hruses! are three stories in
heisht over a hish basement and are constructed of brick cver\rusticated stene
basements. They are basically Italianate, as may e scen in the bracketed
rerf cornices and the 2rche” stoop and yard railings at Nes. 10 and 12, No.
12 alsc retains the brncket-sunynrted stone slabs htencath the lon~, well-propor-
ticned parl~r floor winlows. The house at the corner of Park Place (Ne. 3)
had a greenhnuse adled in 1297, at the rcar ~f the lot, when it became the
residence and store of florist, William H. Fndly. The crecnhouse was .lem~lished )
in 1928 tn make way for the rresent adlition. The addition is clearly seen
in the difference htetween the windows at the rear of thc Luilding and thase
at the frent. The brick lintels echr the Italianate style of the brownstone
oririnals, which are tynicclly Italianote with shouldered seomental arches and
cap nmoldinas., Althnurh 211 the hnuscs have teen altere? in varying deprees,
the row retains 2 sensc of harmrnious unity.

Nns, 18-22. The hruses in the southern half of this blockfront were nnt
built until almnst twenty ycars after these to the north, a difference which
is irmediately amrarent in their sreater heisht. This row of 1079 orivinally
c~nsiste? of five similar houses: No. 24 wes demrlished in December 1960 as
the result ~f a plane crash which also destoyed the Pillar of Fire Church to
the west ~f it, later rerlaced by a one-story funeral home.

The criginal appearancce of the row can best he judred by No. 10 which still
retains its stoop, doorway, handsome ronf cornice, and neo-Grec details., {n
unusual rrund-arched Joorway,  of crisp ant elaborate desien, is ceppel hy a central
crnsnle with cnrnice slab supported on hipghly stylized, vertical, neo-Grec con-
snoles. This slab serves as a support for the two-sidel oriel window above it
that was nrobably an addition to the .ouse. Similar to the furmiturc decrratinon
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SEVENTH AVENUE Between Park Place & Sterling Place

of the period are the decorative panels beneath each parlor floor window and the
brackets which support the windowsills. These brackets, which end in teardrop
forms, recall the pendants often seen on Victoraian furniture.

SEVENTH AVENUE Between Sterling Place & St. John's Place

LAST SIDL (Nos. 21-35)

The east side of this block presents & picturesque appeasrance. At the north
end, four brick and brownstone houses with a multiplicity of peaked dormers accord
well with the lighter colored brownstone church to the south, with the finials of
its tower silhouetted against the sky. On the west side' of the avenue more con-
ventional rows of rowhouses and another brownstone church with high corner tower
occupy tiie blockfront.

Nos. 21 -27 Seventh Avenue, an exceptionally handsome row of four Romanesque
Revival residences, vere erected for Charles Pied in 1887 according to designs by
architect Laurence B. Valk of New York, who had designed the Sixth Avenue Baptist
Church at the corner of Lincoln Place, nearby. The house at the corner of Steriliing
Place (No. 21 Seventh Avenue) was well known as the Lillian Verd mansion, as it
was at one time the home of that famous singer. Dr. Heber H. Ward built a sarage
in 1925. The Vard mansion and the three houses to the south (Nos. 23, 25, and 27)
were all built in the same architectural style, utilizing the same materials. This
gives the row a remasrkable: unity of effect, despite the diversity of its detail.
In designing these houses, Valk called into play every resource of the Romanesque
Revival style, including contrasts in color, details and materials, making this
one of the most effective rous in the District. Brick, brownstone, slate and terra
cotta vere all employed with their wide range of varm ruted colors. Signalizing
the corner of the Vard mansion, a turret vith curvilinear peaked roof rests on a
corbel at the second floor. On the avenue side, set on ornamented brackets above
a low basement, there is a wide bow window which serves the parlior floor. The
entrance on Sterling Place has a handsome arched porch with dwarf columns shelter-
ing the beautiful original doorway with sidelights and transom embellished with
wrought iron work. An offset stoop enters the side of this porch and has a low
stone wing-wall surmounted by an iron railing terminated by a rampant mythological
animal figure as newel post. Just below the roof, the influence of the Queen Anne
style emerges: an ornamental terra cotta bandcourse forms a frieze and dormer win-
dows of verious sizes and shapes enhance the }icturesque 1rofile of the
steeply hipped slate roof. A second floor blind window, between the corner turret
and the entrance porch, displays & richly ornamented terra cotta panel in low
relief. Except for a part of the first floor of the Ward mansion and the entrance
porches of all these houses, which are of rough-faced brownstone, they are con-
structed of brick. DNos. 23, 25 and 27 have srched porches of different designs and
further variety is achieved in the design of their dormer windows which have gables
projecting over the windows. Some of the gables of the narrow dormers display the
Mueen Anne sunburst motif.

No. 29. Making the transition from the Romanesque Revival row to the north,
and the church to the south, this rough-faced stone parsonage was built for Grace
United (M.E.) Church in 1887 and was designed by the prominent Brooklyn architec-
tural firm of Parfitt Brothers, the architects of the adjoining church. An inter-
estinz example of late Romanesque Revival architecture, this parsonage has a curve-
ended, two-story bay with stone mullions and transom bars at both floors. The
transoms above the first fléor windows are of stathed glpss and the original front
door with its small square lights in the upper half is still in place. The third
floor has a double window above the bay surmounted by a stone gable flanked by
pilasters resting on corbels at either side of the windov. Echoing the turret of
the Ward mansion, the parsonage has a third floor sheetmetal oricl at its south
corner, thus completing the residential blockfront.

8-
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SEVENTH AVENUE Detwecn Stexlin~ Mlace & St. J-hn's Place

Nos. 31-35. The impressive stone froce Unite” (1. E.) Church an! Sunday
Scherl dnminates the northeast corner of St. John's Tlace and Sixth Avenue.
In style it is Victorian fiothic, with vari-colrrcl stene and picturesque »refile.
A larec winlow and cahble, expressive ~f the end of the nave, faces the avenue.
A corner tower makes the transition to the lons side on St. John's DPlace, with
naire”’ side aisle winlows separated hy buttresses. An exceptionally hanlsome
lianer natterne! terra cotta cenframes the circular windnws of the nave. The
win'rws of the silde aisle have ban-ded columns with folinte capitals. The Sunday
Schrnl tuilding facing the avenuc, to the left of the nave, is very picturesque,
with its cahlet flankel! by finials. To the left nf the entronce there is an
intercsting squat, nointesd arch window, which has an inscription in the lerth
~f its terra cntta veussoirs. The church, like the rectrry, wns desiened by
"~rfitt Prothers but was biilt five years earlier, in 1032,

YWEST SIDE (MNns. 26-44)

The chrner let was originally the site of Ne. 26, dem~lishe! in 1960 as
2 rosult of the airplane cotastrerhe. This hnuse was part of a row of five
Awellines erected in 1573 for Edmun! Kinesleonl. They show the transition from
the French Secnn! Emnire to the neo-Gree. It may well te that they rerrcsent
the intrrluction of the nen-Grec style in Park Slome. The nrnamental etnil
of thc huildin-~s is nen-Groc, whereas the hasic lines »f the buildings are
French Secon! Empire. Tymicol nen-firec elements ~re the treatnment of the JAsorways,
the r~~f cornices an' even such snmall details as the corhel hlecks unler the
winlowsills and facetel keystrnes of the hascment windows. Three ~f these
houses retain their stnnps,

Mos. 36-44. In 1251 when these brownstnnes were constructc! by owner-
builder Thomas Fazan, the Drcoklyn architect, Dnbert Dixsn, mnde full use of the
neo-Grec style which was still in the ascendance in Park Slope at that tire.
Nos. 42 and 44, at the Sterliny Mlace corner, are taller than their neishhors
since they have a full-heivht fourth story, whereas the nthers have low attic
stories. However, all five heuses arc basicnlly of the same Yesien. Charac-
teristic of the neo-Grec style are the full-hcicht, twr-side! mas-nry bays,
which lemart fram the typically flat planc ~f the earlier Italianate reriod. FEach
bay is articulated by a flct pilaster element at its apex. The ansular cornice
linc reflects the shape of the brys below in a ~ramatic “ashiorn. In the attic
strries ~f the three-story houses, the fenestration chances frem laree sinsle
tn sm11l lcuble windows, set in the fascia bLelow the r~of cornice an?
Adividel bty mellicns, except nt No. 36. The interesting orininal donrways
retained at four of the houses have segmental arches flanke! by erncve’ nilasters
terminatine in bnld convex brackets with tyrical neo-Grec l!ctail. These, in
turn, sup»nrt the cnrnice slabs crowned ty delicate cast iren crestings. The
sills of the parlor floor windows provide examnles ~f thnt curi-us nen-Grec
featurc, the slicel-nff mnlline, where the cross-section ~f the moldine rather
than the £~rms of the rrlling itself Lecome the ‘ecorative features. At seme
~f the hruses the ~ri~inal handrailings of the st~ors and the yard railings
arc rctaine?. The hi~h corner house, Ne. 44, was the residence € "fHllianm
Enanan, Crney Island Jdeveloper, on' Georee Enmman, realtor.

SEVENTS_}VEVUE Petwecen St J~hn's "lace § iincnln Pl-oce.

EAST SIDE (Nos. 37-57)

The eleven houses between St. John's Flace an' Lincoln Place nrescnt a
dirmificd hlockfront ~f French Second Empire lesion. This is the ~nly comrlcte
blnckfront of mansar! rocfed houses in Park  Simve and ates from 1371-72,

The hnuses were built rouchly to the same basic desirn ty Robert Sricer Lussine,
whn had —~urchasc? the lanl! in 1869, in asscciatirn with Philin I. Contey.
Znth men were speculative builders an? bussing, clcarly overextende”, went
bankrupt in 1374, Thilip Cootey an' nther members ~f his fanily lived -t
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SEVENTH AVEMUE etwecn St. John's Place § Linccln "lace

No. 17. These residences were cnerally built for a prosperous nerchant class,
hest cxemplified by Anthony Holenpyl, a MNew York Yiamnnd merchant who iivel

at No. 43. This row of brownstene houses is a tall, rucust ~nc an? produces

an imnosing vista that is highly visihle al~no the nvenue.

The hnuses are unified Ly the alicnnent of ‘lrorways and windows ant,
most esnecially, by mansard ronfs with nedimented dormers. The donrways cf the
five n~rthernmost houses, Nos. 37-45, all ori~inally had arched pediments sun-
~orte? nn carved consonle brackets, n~w best seen At Nos. 39 andl 41. Ry ¢ ntrast,
Nas, 47-53, four ~f the row of six te the Lincoln llace corner, still have
triaular pedimented (~nrways flanked by enmased columns., HNns. 39 and 45
retain their orieinal balusterel cast ir~n han'railings at the stoop an’ their
yar! railinvs. The rusticated hasements arc intact at some nf the hnuses, and
twe retain their impressive full-heipht double ’rars. The orisinnl ronf crestines
which rnce extended azlon7 the entire block frrnt, remain at Mo, 45, At Mo, 55,
the marler floor and hasement have bLeen renodeled in nen- Gothic styvle which
until recently h-used a funeral charel. The corner hruse (No. 57) has been
remndeled for commercial use ot street lcvel, with a secon! flacr additen
above 1it.

WEST SIDE (Nas. 42-60)

The bl~ckfront between St. Jeohn's Place nnt Linceln {"lace bLeaoins with
considerable style with the Hemorial Treshyterian Church 2t Nos. 42-45. Drara-
tizing its corner site at St. John's Place on' Seventh Avenuce is the imposin~
Prnach spire of st~ne. The church is » hanlsnme cxample of late Victorinn
Gothic ecclesiastical architecture. Designed by the New Ynrk architectural
firm of Pugin § Walter, it was beoun in 1882. The church is constructed «f
random ashlar belleville brownstone from 1ts lnowliest bleck to the mesk of its
t21l spire, in contrast tr the polychromy usunlly associated with Victrrian
fnthic. One nf the few touches of ceolor in the composition is 1 crestang of
rust-colored terrs cnttn tile alone the ridres of the slate roff, * “r-wnst~oe Fim
cmbellish the tops of the buttresses and a beld prraret rierced with quatrefrils,
which runs alona both facades at the level of the eaves, is a pronounce? Jecora-
tive fenture. The pointed arch windews have narrew drip molstings which, at the
belfry, cone tr rest on bnsses carved with human heads.

In 1285 a chapel and Sunday Schoel was a'de” to the west on the St. John's
Place sile. 1t was designed by Marshall & Walter, usine the same materials
as the church. Over thc lonrway t~ the chapel is a charmin~ quatrefeil containims
a carvinrt of a winged ancel comfortin~ three children. The chapel is well
interrated into the Jesign of the earlier church ap! the twn now annear to
te cne structurc. Both the church ant the chapel have some very fine stained
rlass wind~ws by Tiffany Studins.

N-+s. 50 ant 52 Seventh Avenue were built in 1770 by Rohert S. fussine
ant were n~riginally twin hrewnstones Jdesimmed in the lote Italianate style.
They, like their neirhbors, Mos. 54 an' 56, are veterans »f a long cammairn
of renovatirn an' commercial alteratinn. The nrisinal unper flonr windows at
Mo, 52 have typically Ita2lian~te scomental-orche? lintels suprnorted on cons~le
hrackets and the fascia Lelow the hanisrme ronf cornice is arched hetween
brackcts to reflcct the arch of the windows. Nn. 50 retains 1ts stoep and
kalustered handrailines.

Hos. 54-56 were built later in the 1370s. They are twin houses and were
b~th cccupied by ministers, Reveren' John S. Lott and Reverend Abraham Quick,
resnectively. At the upper floors, No. 54 renmains close te its oricinal
appearance, with handsmmely enframed windows which reflect French influence.
Joth houses retain their roof cornices with dentils an! modilliens between
the carved brackets.
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SEVENTH AVEWUE Tetwecen St. Jehn's Place § Linenin Place

Nos. 58-60. This imdosine corner mansion was built in 1371 for Mr. M. Drasher
by the architect S. F. Evelette, of 213 Montasue Street. The Erasher Mansicn
later served as the Park Slope Mas~nic Club and 1s now the 3rcnklyn Conservatory
of Music. The buil.lins is Victorian Gnthic in snirit with elements ~f the
Queen Anne style. 1t is constructed of red brick nn a2 l~w Lasement ~f hrnwnstone,
with handcourses anu trim of brownstrn: ond terra cotta ornament. The entrance
d~orway, flanked by nancled pilasters with scrclls suprorting a cornice slab
with low stenc parapet, is set in a preojectine btay which, at ronf level, is
accentuated with a rable crowned by a carved finial. A full-height, dia>-nal
c~rner hay surmounted by a nyramidal roof makes the transition from the front
tn the Lincoln Plac¢ side  Handsome cast iron crestines ahove the first floor
projection of the bay provide an effective dec~rative feature. A three-sided
bay rises mid-way aleng the Lincoln Tlace side and extends up two stories
where it is terminated by a handsome corbelled brownstcne ~rnament ~n the blind
front. The gable above it, dormer windews, and the chimney all lenl interest
at the roofline.

SEVENTH AVENUE Between Linccln Place § Berkeley Place
EAST SIDE (Nos. 59-73)

Nos. 59-71. Of the ten houses, erected in 1850 as a rcw Ly owner-arhitect-
builder William Flanagan c¢xtendine te the Terkeley Place corner, Nes. 61 anl
Nes. 63 to €9 retain their orieinal appearance. The houses are in the neo-

Grec style with shallow, two-sided masmnry bays. The lintels ~ver windows

and dnors have lelicately incised desipns of foliarce anl r~settes. The

charnin~ ~ririnal roof crestinss remain at Mo, 69, Twe buildin~s at the ncrth
cnl ( Nns. 59 and 61A) have new fronts to a heicht of five steries. Until
recently, Ne. 61 was partinlly hid’en by a one-story sterefront, but this has
now hcen removed, revealina thc ~ricinal front of the house. At the south

end, Nos. 694 an! 71 have also been cxtemled forward for commercial use, hut
these additions have only becn carriel ur te~ a heirht ~f two strries. The
southernmast house (No. 73) has heen renlaced by a twn-story commercial builrding.

WEST SIDE (Mos. 62-72)

N~. 62 was r~riecinally built s a lar-e druble trwnhnuse in 1391 with a
second entrance a2t MNrn. 163 Linc:ln Place. 3oth h~uses were occunie? succes-
sively by Hnsner fBuckineham Parscns, general arent an'! cashier for lWells,

Farco § C>. and a prominent memter of the M-ntauk Club. It 1s n three-stery

red brick structure with stone trim. A smell squire terra cotta fecorative nanel
nf fnliate desien has been set into the center of the setback porticn of the
scernd story. This substantisl builling has hrickwork of fine quality and

n W serves as 2n apartment hcuse with three c~mmercial enternrises at arnund
floor level.

s, 64, 60 and 70 (No. €3 has Leen omittel from the nunberine scquence)
were beoun in 1309 for F. M. Faircloth, Jr., and were lesigned by architect
Thonas Stent of Mew York. These three handsrme iatc “rnancsque PRevival apart-
ment houses, four stories in heisht, werc all built to the sane “esirn* a
first st~ry in routh-faced brownstone, still preservet at lin, 64, an? three
umner stories in rel hrick. Completely symmetrical in nlan, cach huilAdin~
ori7inally had a round-arched central entrance flankes! by twn-siled bays
cmrhasized by interlockina brickwork at the an~rles. These bays, frur stories
in heirht, risc to meet a handsome array of !rick coriels surmounte’ by a erntinu-
~us sheetmet1l roof cornice which is effectively terminate! 'y round hesses,
The nriginal stoon with iron railin-~s rermains at No. 64,
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SEVENTH AVENUE Between Lincoln Place § Berkeley Place

No. 74 (Nos. 72-74) is a four-story apartment house of brownstone designed
in the neo-Grec style. It was built in 1888 by Cevedra B. Sheldon, a local
builder. The original entranceway and ground floor facade have been replaced
by a new commercial front. The design of the building is basically symmetrical
with two-sided masonry bay at either side of the facade. The left-hand bay
has one side advanced to meet the wall plane of the adjoining building, thus
making a smooth transition. The enframed windows are surmounted by pedimental
lintels with "ears" and incised decoration. A handsome roof cornice with
deep stylized brackets completes the elevation.

No. 76 Seventh Avenue, also built in 1888 by Cevedra B. Sheldon, is a
four-story apartment house with a brownstone facade on Seventh Avenue and a
red brick one on Berkeley Place. At the juncture of these two facades is a
rectangular sheet metal bay, supported on large brackets, which rises three
stories to the top of the building and is crowned by a triangular pediment. The
corner entrance of the ground floor store is under this bay and preserves
most of its original appearance. The Berkeley Place side is described under
No. 161 Berkeley Place.

SEVENTH AVENUE Between Berkeley Place § Union Street

EAST SIDE (Nos. 75-87)

No. 75-77. This four-story stone and brick apartment house is described
under No. 180 Berkeley Place, where the main entrance is located.

Nos. 79-81 are one-story commercial establishments serving the community.

Nos. 83-87. These three brick apartment houses with stone trim and
stores at the first floor were built in 1901 for Leo W. Winkelman and were
designed as a unit in a modified classical style by architect M. J. Morrill.
The entrances to the apartment houses are all set to the left-hand side of
wide store fronts enframed in stonework. The brickwork above is unified by
horizontal bandcourses and bay windows flanking a flat-arched window providing
an interesting off-center symmetry.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 78-86)

Nos. 78-82. No. 78, on the southwest corner of Berkeley Place and Seventh
Avenue, is almost a mirror image of the building across from it on the northwest
corner, No. 76 Seventh Avenue, but the corner sheet metal bay has no pediment.
Colonettes support the roof cornice, whereas across the street it is carried
on brackets. No. 78 displays neo-Grec detail in its "'eared" window lintels.
This building was erected in 1886 as one of a row of three by C. B. Sheldon,
and designed by architect George Buser. Both Sheldon and Buser lived just
west of the Historic District.

Nos. 84 and 86. These two four-story brownstones were erected as a pair
of one-family residences in 1874. They were designed by Lewis § Newton, of
370 Union Street nearby. The window enframements of the upper two stories and
the roof cornices suggest French influence. The first and second floors have
been altered for commercial use serving the neighborhood.

(The houses on the southern half of the blockfront toward Union Street,
on both the east and west sides of Seventh Avenue, are outside the Historic
District.)
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EIGHTH AVENUE

In the last decade of the 19th century, Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park
West vied with each other in the grandeur of their houses and in the prestige
of their residents., The importance of Eighth Avenue was reinforced by the
building of the HMontauk Club in the early 1890s at the corner of Lincoln
Place. Eighth Avenue is & lovely tree-lined thoroughfare running from north
to south, except for a slight change of direction at Carroll Street. In scale
the buildings are larger than those on the side streets. There is considerable
variety in the residential rows and, most particularly, in the individual town
houses, The northern part of the avenue is still notable for several fine
old mansions, in spits of the replacement of several with spacious grounds
by 20th century apartment houses. These large modern apartment houses indicate,
nonetheless, the continued vitality of Rrk Slope as a residential area into the
20th century. Among the outstanding architects whose work is represented
along Eighth Avenue are C. P, H, Gilbert, Francis H. Kimball, Helmle & Huberty,
Montrose W. Morris and the Parfitt Brothers.

While some regrettable alterations have been made along the avenue, it
still retains to a remarkable degree its late 19th and early 20th century
flavor. .mong latter-day changes have becen the replacenent of stoops by
basement entrances, the smooth-stuccoing of facades, requiring the removal
of window enframements and decorative ornament, and the replacement of ornamental
roof cornices by plain masonry parapets. A most inappropriate garage has
been constructed, replacing the garden north of a fine neo-Federal corner house,

EIGHTE AVENUE Between St. John's Place & Lincoln Place
EAST SIDE (Nos, 7-25)

Nos. 7-15. The rear lcts of the handsome residences at Nos. 5-11 Plaza
Street are included in the Historac District,.

No, 17. This is an emgty lot adjacent to and lying just north of the
Montauk Club.

Nos, 19-25. A truly remarkable expression of the social forces at work at
the end of the 19th century is the Montauk Club, incorporated March 11, 1889.
Ground was broken for the structure on October 2, 1889 and a gala opening
reception was held on May 23, 1891. With its elaborate decoration, it is an
architectural treasure on the Siope. It is one of the few surviving Brooklyn
private clubs, which once abounded. The affluence of its founders and the import-
ance of its members are manifested in the architectural expression of this
Venetian Gothic palazzo.

The tiontauk Club was designed by Francis H, Kimball (1845-1919), a prominent
architect of churches, theatres and office buildings in Manhattan and
Fmmanuel Baptist Church in tne Clinton Hill section of Brooklyn. As a young
man, Kimball had been engaged in 1875 to supervise the construction of Trinity
College in Hartford, Connecticut, designed by the English architect William
Burges. Kimball had spent several months in London, studying noted examples of
Gothic and Victorian Gothiec architecture. 1In those days, Ruskin's Stones of
Venice, published in 1851, was still re.d by young architects and interested
laymen, 'hile the Montauk Club was clearly inspired by the late Gothic style
of Venetian palaces built in the early Renaissance period -- notably the
15th century Ca d'Oro cn the Grand Canal -- it is not a slavish copy of any
particular one. The architect has endowed it with its own intrinsically bold
character and, in theme and splendor, it is a reflection of the spirit and
pride of its owners,

~13~




PS-HD
EIGHTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place & Lincoln Place

A wealth of extravagant detail is displayed on three sides of this fine. )
building. The north side 1s unadorned, leaving the wall free for future additions.
The sensative blendiig of a variety of building materials -- brownstone, a
tawny-colored brick and a reddish~brown brick -- produces & warm golden color,

The innovative use of terra cotta during the last part of the 19th century

made it both practical and economical to produce the most intricate ornamentation,
its virtue being flexibility in color and form. The masonh in charge of this
superbly constructed edifice was Charles T. 1iills of New York City.

One of the most striking aspects of the design of the liontauk Club is the
deliberate contrast of solids and voids. The traceried openirgs are massed
to the right of the entrance on the kighth avenue side, where the main entrance
is located, as part of an asymmetrical couposition. These openings are an
introduction to the equally elaborate traceried fenestration of the south and
east facades, which are more symmetrical. Many waindows on the Eighth avenue
side are grouped at the third and fourth stories brainging abundant light
into the interior, but they also give an airy effect o the upper portion
of this elevation,

The separate ladies' entrance to the left of the ertrance to the left of
the main entrance is an historical curiosity today. The Montauk Club was one
of the first men's clubs to extend the use of 1ts facilities to women. Through
this entrance, ladies could ascend to the dining room floor without traversing
the main lobby. The square-headed main entrunce is ornamented &t the top
with a carved stone band of american Indian heads. #above this, at the second
floor, is a round-arched window sei 1n a panel of terra cotta ornament. In the
spandrels classicelly inspired trophies bear imerican Indian motifs. #bove
this arch and resting on 1t is « terra cotta frieze representing the founders
and builders laylng the cornerstone. lLhen installed, this frieze became a
matter of controversy, discussed in Brooklyn Life of September 20, 1890, The
pointed-arch windows are all set in deep reveals with columns between them,
adding an interesting dimension. At the second floor Gothic arches, with
quatrefoils above them, screen leaded-glass windows., The tile roof and dormers
are hipped.

An impressive view of the Montauk Club is from the east side of Plaza
Street, opposite the end of Lincoln Place, where the full impact of its Venetian
Gothic architecture i1s most apparent. From this point, one can see itwo superb
facades cortrasting in form and arrangement, The projecting rectangular bay
at the first floor of the lLincoln Place facade has a series of windows recessed
bemind Gothic arches supported by slender columns, conveying the impression )
of a loggia. The shadowy effect of a logria is created in part by the overhanging
second floor balcony above it supported on handsome lion-head brackets. This
balcony has a true log.ia behind it, enhanced by a screen of ogival CGothic
arches supporting quatrefoils and resting on columns decorated with a basketweave
pattern. The capitals feature American Indian masks on all four sides, and hers
and there in the spandrels are charming reliefs of small animals: chickadees,
bats, owls amd other examples of smerican flora and fauna. Above the second
floor balcony is an historical panel illustrating the inseription: "1659
Wyandance Sachame of Pauanack, his wife and his son ‘.iankabone giving a deed
to Lion Gardiner of Saybrook, Easthampton, Long Island, July 14, 1659". The
history of the Hontauk Indians is resarkably depicted in the continuous narrative
frieze which runs around the three principal facades above the thard story.

Alsc seen from this vantage point is the dramatic curved two-story bay
on the Plaza Street side which creates a balcony for the third story dining
roon. The same general pattern is seen here in the fenestration. One gets the
full effect of the soaring chimney stacks, copper dormers, and steep tile
roof with American eagles crowning the summit. An important element in the
overall design is the magnificent cast iron railing enclosing the property. Tt
is stepped on the Lincoln Place side in keeping with the downward slope of the
Street. The square posts have American Indian heads in bas-relief and are
linked by a series of small arches. At the corners are winged lions rampant
holding shields with the cipher of the Montauk Club.

Architecturally the Montauk Club is unique in the City. It is a remarkable
amalgam of Eurvpean tradition comhined with ornament based on American Indian
themes.,
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EIGITH AVEMUE cCetwecen St. Jrhn's Tlace ¢ Linc-In Plnace
'IEST SIDE (Mos. 7-2C)

Nes. O and 10 Eiohth Avenue at the crrner of St. John's Mlace arz = nair
~f hrownstone resilences, imoressive in their unity and heicht, which ‘ominates
the nei~hbarin~ rrwhnuses. The hnuscs were huilt in 1891-92 and lesianed in
the Nomanesque Revival style by Iroacklyn architect Jehn Mumforl, of 16 Court
Street, f~r Philin J. Dwyer who live!' nearby in I'rosnect Heirhts. Martin'§ Lec,
the Aevelrpers of mnst of Garfield! Place between Scov nt- and i Lts Svenuls
were the carmenter-contractors. These hcuses have carvet stonc rabled lormers
crovme’ with fininls set ot the ends of the steer slate ronf, which has screlle’
corine stones at c~ch end. The Jormers are flanked by cnraced shafts carried
~n lechrative corbels. The colonnaded lo~~ia, 2t “he firct floor, conneccts two
st~ry bay wiml~ws bLeneath the en! gables. The raire?l centrel entrances are
just telow Sidewalk lcevel. linrizental *rownstone tandcrurses relate the
hrick si'c wall »n St. John's T'lace t» the avenue front.

Nrs, 12-1C were built in 1730 by rwner-huil ‘er Yilliam Guhbins, cne of
the errlicst ‘‘evelnmers o this scctinn ~f the Slepe. They were desicned ty
architect J. J. Gilli~en, wh~ live' at 92 Park Tlace in the District. Gubhins
later move!” inte Nn. 16 hinsclf. These three-an'-a-half story houses are
‘irnifie? Pomanesque evival brownstones, most notahle for the unity create?
by an interesting treatment of the fascia beneath the ro~f cornice- here,
small rectanoular wind-ws are set between horizentally-orn~ved -anels. All
the houses have three-siie?, full-heisht mas-nry bays nn* are armrrached hy
L-shaned stoops. The Joorways of Nes. 12 and 14 arc square-heried with full
entahlatures, wherecas thnse at Has. 16 an' 12 have Romanesque Revival arches
rastino on nairs of Jwerf columns. At Mo, 16 the marlor £f1-r windows have
stone transon hars beneath stained aglass transconms.

The earliest row houses in this bleckfront are the four neo Grec hrownstones
at Nos. 20-26, built in 1203 by owner-architect William Flanazan) an early
develoner on the Slore, who lived at 46 Nerkeley Tlace, just west »f the
District. These wide hruscs, with threc-side) tnys risin~ four full stories
ar~ve hi~h basercnts, are €fine cxonrles of the ne~-Grec style. The mrominent
ronf cornices cerried on grooveld hrackets with 2 verticnlly ernoved foscia
hetween them provile 2 picturesque silhouette a-ainst the sky. Wile stoors,
with nco-Grec newel nnsts at M-, 24, lead te the elabnrate entrances still
crowne?! by balconies with balustrzdes nnd urns 1t-tw~ ~f the hruses. Alnve
them, the win'lows of the upper floors arc unified vertically ty the ranels
b“encath them. A varicty ~f non-Gree nrnament erhbellishes these fine residences.
1"{1liar Caynor was Mayer ~f New York when he live' at Mo, 20, He diel in
office in 1913. No. 22 was the resi‘ence of ichard Hyde, a “rrrklyn theatre
owner 4n? minacer, martner of Louis C. Iehman ~f Hyde & 3chman. HNo. 26 has
st~nc aunins sirm1lizineg the Lineoln Tlace crrner  (see MNos. 2/1-251 Lincrlin
Tlace).

EIGHTH \VENUE Tectween Linc~1ln Mlace § “erkecley "l-cc
EAST SIDE (Mns 27-49)

Mns. 27-37 (No. 35 has heen omitted from the strcet nunhering system).
These five houses were built in 1777 an? desiecned Ty the neishborheo? architect
Charles Werner, whe resiled at 50 Sterline ! lace just ~utsi’e the District.
vYierner was ~ versatile architect, much in <ecman’ in Park Slnope. The owner-
tuilder was "illiam Gu'bins, who at that timc live! at 20 Scventh Avenuc.
Stylistically thcy are Romanesque Revivel and massive in scale. Mn the Linerln
"lace (Mr. 251%) side »f the crrner house, M. 27, the simlicity of rel
Frick rroviles a plensant £0il £or the richly detniled frcade nf the Montauk
Cluk ~rrasite it. An clabtorate ~ablel tor story «n the Ei~th Avenue sile
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EIGHTH AVENUE Tetween Lincoln Pl-ce & Terkeley Tlace

cives smecial importance to this corner hnuse. In contrast, the other houses
in this row have lower hcriznntal rcof cornices with small attic windnws set
in the fascia bencath the cornice, excent at No. 33, where the attic has been
raisel te a full story. The materials, Fucli? stone, brownstone, and red brick
len? consicderable variety to the row. Except for the corner and end houses,
the other three are basically of the same desien. At the head of the L-shaped
sto~ps are lonrways with arches supporte’ by —airs of 'warf celurms €lankine
handsome double doors. Stone transem hars “ivi“e the -arler €leo-~r wind-ws,
The arch of the entrance is repeated at the secrnd story window above it.

Nno. 37, althourh built as part of this orcup, is quite different. In centrast
to the two-story, three-sided bay common te the ~ther four huildines, it has a
shallow, flush-frented masonry bay extenlins  full heicht an’ naired archeld
winlows. A broad horizental banlcourse exten's ncrnss the builling, restin-
rn a rair of console brackets over the arched dorrway. Carved detail with
cherub heads forms a tand of crnament beneath the parlor floor windews.

The next four houses, *ns. 39-49, were nlanned late in 1872 'y owner-
architect J. Drherty § Ston, the amhtitirus bhuilders ~f nany hcouses on the
ormnsite side »f the street. Nos. 32 and 43 (No. 41 has becn omitted from he
street nunberins system ), built in 1026 are -enmerally French neco-Grec in
style, with full-heisht, threce-sidel Fays which are exmressed Ly the janped
silhouette of the brackete! ro~f enrnices. The wide imnrsin~ storps are
flared 2t the bottom to receive strikine nen-Grec newel nosts whose anrularity
contrasts with the rounded balusters of the handirailines. The impressive
entrances, best preservel at No. 43, arc enhanced by prrticoes supported on
banded c¢olumns with nco-Grec -rnament at their bases. The herizontal ranels
~f foliate ornament above the parlrr flo~r win'irws of No. 39 enrich this facade,
as 4~ the hanlsome entrance docrs.

ruilt hetween 1372 and 1736, Nns., #5 ant 49 (N-. 47 h-as l.cen omitted frenm
the strect numhering systen) orc distincuishe’ by hi~h French Second Empire
mansar.! roofs. Excent for the removal of its stoor, No. 45 retzins nuch ¥
its original arpearance. The decorative letnil ‘enred” windrw lintels, incise”’
carvines and shell ornament,is tynically nen-Grec. An interestin~ touch 1s
the use nf faceted pancls unler the parlor florr winlows “thich Donerty
alsc used cn No. 41 across the strect. He. 19, the corner nnusc, retains
a lacy ircn crestin~ which crowns the mansar? r~~f. Quocins -lefine the corners
<f oth houses, in the French traditinn. On the “erkcley Tlace sile (No. 253},
the rel brick facade features a central twn-story, three-siled hay.

WEST SIDE (Nes. 25-50)

This blockfreont of 17°1-72 was larocly eveloped by awner-architect-builfer
J. Dcherty, of 230 Flathush .venue. In contrast t- the blockfront to the north,
huilt o few years iater, these houses 211 have flush fronts, excent Nn. 44
which h~s a charmin~ two-story sheetmental ~riel. Qurins definc the en's
~f the block{r nt.

N-s, 23 35. The ¢ rner housc, N~. 2, the first hnuse =f this fine neo-
Grec row nf 1901, retains 2 han'sone rusticate: toasement with arched windows
an! its hei~ht nrivides an effective termination for the lower aljoinine row.
NH~s. 30-32 (Nr. 36 has “cen onitted from the street numl erin~» system) arc crowned
by a hantsomc wrousht iren reeof crestine at~ve the uniform cornice linc.
The hruses are listincuished My a -aclth of neo-frec orninent «nl a cadence of
fenestration strikine in its remularity. Herizentel Mands of stylized ornament
at the bascment form 2 unifyin~ accent. 1n. 32 retains its n~rivanal stoen with
cast ir~n '=2lustercti hanir-ilinss and newel »osts.

Nn, 40, a dirnified 2xamrle ~f the nec Grec, 1s the werk F Amzi Hill,
~n architcct who wis very active in the development of the Stuyvesant Hei~hts
Historic District. It w-os built in 1721 €~r Janmos Beverid-~c of [ r-aklyn and
is hirher ant wider than its nei~h®ors tr the north. The front «ail is Asfipa:
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FIGHTH AVENUE Between Lincoln Place § Derkélay Tlace

on each side by quoins. The roof cornice of this brownstone residence is
exceptionally rich in detail. The wide arched window, rctained at the parlor floor.
was originally the entrance. It has an elegant, turn-of-the-century wrought iron
grille in the transom in character with the glass and iron doors installed in the
ncew basement entrance. The windows above the original entrance are unusually

wide for the period of the 1880s.

Nos. 44-50 (vo. 48 has been omitted from the street numbering system). No. 44
preserves best the original appearance of a three-housc row (44-50) built by
owner-architect J. Doherty § Son in 1881-82. All the houscs rctain their original
slate mansard roofs and cormers. No. 44 has typically neo-Grec ornament at the
door and window enframements with incised decoration, anpgular brackets, and extensiy
use of the shell motif ir the lintels. A two-story oricl of seemingly later date
displays classical detail with swags, demtils, and egg and dart moldings. The
cast iron handrailing of the stoop, with its square sectioned-balusters and newel
posts, is the same that Doherty used at No. 32. Nos. 46 and 50 now comprise the
Ardwell Apartments.

EIGHTH AVENUE Betwzen Berkeley Place § Union Strect
EAST SIDE (Nos. 51-71)

Seven of the nine houses on this bleckfront were built by William Gubbins.
with Charles Werner acting as his architect. The five-house row at Nos. 51-61
was built in 1886. These tall brownstones with high stoops arc basically neo-
Grec with some Romanesque Revival detail. The prominent repetitive feature is the
full-height, three-sided bay forming an angular silhouette 2gainst the sky. Below
the ronf cornice, set in the fascina. are small attic windows flanked by pilasters.
An unusual feature, similar tn the Gubbins-Werner row across the strect,is the '
rather shallow entrance porch consisting of an extended crrnice slab resting on
vertical consnle brackets which are supported by columms. These columns and the
pilasters of the parlor floor bay windows have crisply carved Romanesque Revival
capitals. Under the windowsills of the bay are veried fnliatc decorationms. \
Originally there were small balconies over the cornice slabs, still retained at
No. 61,

i0s. 63 u 65 are o rnar of iposine four-story -brownstones, huilt in 1887
which are hivher than the a‘jacent Gubbins-"erner hnuscs. They are stylistically
sirilar to Nos. 51-61, althouch considerably morc ornate. Bascrient entrances
have been »nrovided just below street level.

3

Hos, 69 and 71 are twn very irnressive lirestone townhouses with brown-
stone basement walls. They are + full four stories nbnave hivh basements and
were built in 1895-96 hy local owner-builder William Flannsan, They are cood
exarples of the neo-Classical style of the 1890s, best seen in the fnlinte
ornament with huran masks above the narlor floor winliews. The Union Street side!
of No. 71 prescnts an interestiny, completely symnetrical face in 1lisht buff-
colored brick. A shnllow central bay has trirle winiows, seoarated bf columns
at the parlor floor and arnune’ under a common enframcment at the sccond.

The transition fron this frame to the narrower nair of third floor windows is
made by a carved stonc nancl with scrolled shoulders. Strons horizontal accents
arc provided by bands of mnlding at ecach floor, '

[

EST SIDE (Nos. 52-72)

] At the corner of Berkeley Place is an outstandine ramsion, ios. 52-54, built
in 1886 fer l'cnry E. Bcguelin, a jeweler, with offices at 24 Maiden Lane in

N .

New York City. (eontinued on next page)
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EIGITH AVENUL Between Berkcley Place § Union Stract

His New York architect, F. Carles “Merry, incorncrates! clements of the Queen

Annc in this mansion which in its massing and form, is basically a Romanesque
Revival builling. !e was alsc the architect of No., 240 Berkeley Place adjacent
to the Besuelin house. This mansi~n was originally No. 52 Eishth Avenue. but as 2
result of a Christmas trce fire which caused sericus damage, it was diviled in
1914 by William Flanacan into two residences (Nos., 52 an 54), with separate
entrances of classical design at the basement. Aririnally it had a central
entrance with o stnop sweepins un to the front Aoorway. It displays 1n intercs-
tinz varicty of building materinls- Fuclid stone at the basement and parlor
floor, red brick at the upper twe steries, terra cotta ornament, and réd Spanish
tile at the r~~f. The excellent mascnry was the work »f James Ashfield Son,
8ro~klyn. At the corner a curved bay rises from the basement to the roofs. Each
story is defincd by a different toexture or desisn: at the bascnent level the
Euclid stone is laid in rough-faced random ashlar; above the parlor flcor
wind~ws the same stonc forms 2 checkerbrard nattern: above the next floor is a
wile brick band of diaconal stuldin~. This corner bay is tenped with a truncated,
cone-shaped tile ronf. In contrast t~ the treatment of the corner, the Eighth
Avenue sisle is Aomainated by a nulti-sided bay risinc twe stories above the
bascment. ibove the delicately ornamenteld terra cotta cornice of this bay is a
balustrade of Icnic dwarf columns. Thc Berkeley Place side of the building is a
well-exccuted composition, dominate! by the sreat chimmey stack of melded brick
and the curvel bay surmounte! by ~ semi-circular, triple window. The curvilinear
wroutht irnn work of the windnw puards at the basement and of the l1ow yard
railine is of excentional intcrest. The mansinn now serves as a small apartment
house.

Nes., 56-62 are thrge nec-Grec brownstone h~uses built in 1885 by owner-
buil’er William Gubbins an! desimme! by Charles Ycrner. They are almrst identical
with their houses acreoss the street (described under Nes. 51-61 Eighth Avenue),
except that these houses retain the balustraded balcnnies above the doorways.
No. 56 retains its criginal cast iron hanlrailings at the stron and its yard ra;l-
inss.

Nos. 64 and 66. This ma~"nificent pair of late Romanesque Revival townhouses,
built in 1889 for Stephen Underhill, was the work »f the Brooklyn ~rchitectural,
firm of the Parfitt Brethers. The architects displayed their usual skill in
design and sensitivity in the handlin~ of materinls. Althourh No. 64 is ~nly
19 feet wide ant Nn. 66 is 23 fect wi‘le, one is not nwarc of this 2iffercnce due
to the masterful handlinc of the nroportinns and fenestration of each building.:
The houses arc built of Fuclid stone and granite. The facine for the top twe ‘
stories anl sables is rough-face) random sshlar. The beld character »f the stone-
work proviles an effective foil for the lelicatc gquality of the beautifully carved
srnamcnt. Other unusual features ~re the nnlished ~ranite cnlumns with ;
Romanesque Revival capitals between the windows at the top st-ry, the L-shaped ©
stonps with their carved posts and the ~riginal street numbers hidlen in the !
crnanent atove the doorways. ;

Nn. 70-72. This large corner nansion at Uniosn Street, built in 1887, i
complements the mansinn at the Berkeley Place corner of this blockfront. Tt was
tuilt for Mrs. M. V. Phillips, wh» mrved tn this aldress from 251 Washinmton
Avenue in Clintnon Hill. The architect was L. C. F~lden of New York City. ‘n |

impesing structure, such as this, was nften intende’ to be free-stanlin~, surround-

cd by spacious Trounds. The buildinrn is interesting fronm any anrle and furnishes
a study in the massint ~f the Romanesque Revival style mndificd Ly some pictu-
resque ‘etails of the Qucen Annc. 7€ particular nrte are the Jacohean gable on the
Union Street side, with the brickwork si nalizin- the chimney €lues. The pictu- .
resque corner turret has a wide bhand of stulded trick, renmeated at the front
-n the laroc pahle abnve the dormer windews. The tower has terra cotta sunflower
nanels and a snub-nosed roof. Terra contta crestins crowns the ridres ~f the
slate rocf. Thewi'--arche' strne entrance has now heen filled in teo receive a
single dnor. In the years of the Denressicn, houses of this size werce ~ften
converted to institutional use, and this one became a hridee clul and restaurant
in the early 1930s.
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ZIGHTH AVENUE Between Union & President Streets
EAST SIDE (ibs, 73-93)

Nos. 73-83 (No. 79 has been omitted from the street numbering system). The
first five houses on this blockfront were designed by the Brooklyn architect
Magnus Dahlander for builder W. L. Dowling who erected them in 1892-93. These
robust brownstones are deeply set back from the street with wide L-shaped stoops
and rough-faced basements.,

The corner house, No. 73, is strongly defined with a curved corner bay
marking the transition from the front to the Union Street side,vhich is dominated
by a bowed central bay. Contrasting cudrry and smooth-faced stone bands give the
side elevation considerable vigor. 4 great deal of care was also given to the
design and texture of the corner bay, alternating smooth-faced wasonry with the
rusticated base, a wide band of foliate carving uith masks, simulated balconies
formed by en_aged balusters, and the richly ornamented cornice. In Nos. 75 and 81,
two suwdilar houses, the same contrasts have been worked out in the masonry inclu-
ding the decorated panels at the parlor floor windows. Shallow oriels, three win-
dows wide and extending up tlirough the second ard third stories, are supported on
elaborately carved corbels. The center house, No. 77, is handsome in 1ts simpli-
city and has a shallow, three-story curved bay. Refiied ornamental moldings en-
frame the windows and door a2t the parlor floor. Its role as ihe center house cf
the row i1s emphasized by th2 use of arched wandows at the top story. They are
served by the top of the bay as a balcony with a loir cast iron railing. No. 83,
the end house of the row, makes a successful transition to the earlier row of
houses to the south, t is different 1n design from the rov of which it 1s a part,
but 1s skillfully related to it by means of an identical roof cornice. The door-
way has & vertical elegance, with cornice slab resting on elong-ted brackets sup-
ported on slender columns. Here, the doorway was designed to harmonize with the
adjoining earlier houses, in contrust to Nos. 73-81, where the dooruays are an
unobtrusive part of the facades,

Nos. 85-93 (No. €9 has been omi.ted from the street numbering syster). These
four houses, slightly taller than the neighboraing row, were built by William
Gubbins 1n 1883, They were designed by Breoklyn architect Charles Werner and
are Irench neo-Grec in style with full-height, two-sided bays and stoops. This is
the only place two-sided bays appear on Eighth avenue within the Distraict, An
unusual feature is the battered wall panel beneath the second and third story
windows of the bays, aAbove the cornice slab of the doorway, lierner originally
used a solad parapet wall with ball fanials, preserved at two of the houses,

These houses are crouned by unusua ly handsome wood roof cornices with vertical
spindles between the panels, .roducing a staccato effect in contrast to the
smoother classical cornices to the north, (continued on next page)
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Union & President Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 78-90)

The blockfront between Union and President Streets is occupied entirely by
two large apartment houses, Nos. 78 and 90, both built in the 1920s,

No. 78 occupies the site of the imposing mansion built for John Rogers
Maxwell, the senior member of Maxwell & Graves, bankers and brokers, and the
president of the Atlas lortland Cement Company. The house, demolished in 1922,
had its own stable widch still stands at No. 860 Union Street. No. 78, built in
1928, is a six-story apartment house of red tapestry brick with terra cotta
ornament., The architects, Sugarman & Berger, were inspired by the Tudor tradition.
Typical of this style are the central bay window flanked by knights in armor,
set in niches above the Tudor-style arched doorway, and the crenellations and

gables vith finials at the roof, lMost of the detail is concentrated in the central

bay over the deeply recessed entrance.

No. 90 was designed in 1927 by the architectural firm of Sugarman & Berger
of New York and constructiocn was begun the following year. The ground floor, or
base, is of limestone ashlar, with buff-colored brick above and terra cotta
ornament. The terra cotte design elements are concentrated a2t the second and
third floors and at the top two stories. These elements consist of terra cotta
enframements, tying two floors of windows together vertically at both top and
bottom, and the panels end arches which embellish the parapet above the top flocr
windows,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between President & Carroll Streets
EAST SIDE (Nos. 97-119)

Fortunately this blockfront remains intact, as it convains some of the most
notable houses on Eighth Avenue,

No. 101 (97-101) was built in 1909 for John W. Weber, President of the Ulmer
Brewing Company, and was designed by the Brooklyn architectural firm of Daus &
Otto, It 1s a wide rectangular corner house, approached by a low stoop, and is an
interesting example of the neo-Georgian style. There is an imposing quality in
the perfectly symmetrical character of both the avenue and screet sides. The jow
basement of limestone is crowned by a continucus classical wave motif molding
with bands of fascia below it., A dignified and handsomely detailed entablature
at the roof offers a pleasant contrast to the wide-jointed, Flewish bond brick-
work., Above the roof cornice there is a balustrade with panels., The windowsills
and keystones are all of limestone and the corbel blocks beneath the first floor
windows1lls display guttae. The central doorway has fluted Doric columns suppori-
ing an entablature and 1s flanked by windows wihich have blind arches of limestone
with carved swags. The small front and side yards are enclosed by a wrought irca
fence with granive posts, and & wrought iron marquee appears above the front
entrance, The building is row the home of the Unity Club, which moved here in
1944 from the former Union League Club on Grant Square,

No., 105 (103-107), a marble mansion worthy of Fifth avenue, was built in 1912
for M. and J. Tracy from plans by Frank J. Helme, a member of the firm which had
previously designed the Boathouse on the Lullwater and the Tennis Pavillion in
Prospect Park, as well as innumerable banks, The Tracy family was engaged in
lighterage in New York harbor. This building is the most notable example of a
neo-Classical townhouse in the District. It 1s a wide, syumetrical house with an
imposing, curved central bay resembling a two-story portico. Four fluted, modi-
fied Corinthian columns support the entablature,which has a hendsome frieze with
rmodillions, mevopes and triglyphs. The wall plane behind the central bay is
elegantly rusticated at the first two stories, extending up te ithe intermediate
handsome cornice, which forms the sills of the third story uindows.
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Atove this the stonewerk is smocth-faced, crontrastine with the rich frieze ~f

the rcof cornice. Completing this clezant crvmosition is o Balustrale with pancls.
Baiancinrs the central arch »f the 'nrrway with its conscle keystenc, the flankine
parlor floor windows arc recesse! in shallew arches ~n' arc crowned hy trianaylar
~climents. The main entrance has a pair ~f brenze an' alass dorrs, with arched
trans~n 2bave. They are of exceptirnally €inc quality- * wrrurht iron fence
with 7qates encl~ses the front -r’en.

Ne. 106.- This brownstons was Puilt in 1887 for Henry Irwin. It was desi~ned
hy Tro~klyn architect J. C. Glrver and is an impesine housc in the Queen Anne
manner. A curved twn-story bay, terminate? at the third floer by a trirle window,
is crrwnel! 'y a hieh sheetmetal nc'iment carried on brackets. This popular building
material was alss use?! for the unusual recf cornice, behind the pediment, which
simulates a halustrade. Smzll lirhts in the up-er sash of the winlrws, a hallmark
~f the fween \nne style, are intnct 1t the unprer stories. The ‘n~rway and hich
L-shape! stoop are Remcnesjue Revivel in character. Elnnrated, sweernins consoles with
Queen /Anne sunbursts rest ~n Remanesque Revival Awar€ cclumns at the drorway, an
interestinv examnle of the nereing -f two co-existent styles.

Nn. 111 was erected in 1892 for F. J. Finch an! was desicned by Brooklyn
architect J. D. Reynolds. “r. Finch m>ed here from 896 Union Strect in the
District. This Romanesque “evival limestone residence, the hivhest in the hleck-
froent, 'isnlays a wenlth »f decnrative detail. It is a stuly in 2verwindow treat-
ments, varying from floor to fle~r. In the full-heisht nr~jectine bay, between
blind, stene-naneled transoms, ar2 ~rrune? dwarf celumns at the narlor flenr, At
the sccond £lonr, a simple eng-ani-Jart nnlline -‘ofines the heods, while the twoe
top stories have a carvel trianquiar pediment at the thir! fla~r ani, at the
tor fleor, a pair ~f pilasters suprorting a simpic ontablature. At the secons
fleor, above the basement entrance, 1 checkerbrard pattern surrrunds a strikina
arche! winiow. X rich ban! of carvine apnears »eneath the seconi~story windeows nf
the bay.

Iins. 115-119 This imnosin~ mansi~n at the corner of Carrell Street is very
nrssib? the finest examrle of resilential architecturc in the "omanesque Revival
style within the city. It was built in 1388 an? “csi~nel as a <n~uble house by the
proninent architect . P. H. Gilbert. Gilkert wns the architect ~€ m~st of the
houses on Mentromery Place and of many Fifth Avenue mansicns in Manhattan. The
hnuse was cormmissioned by Thomas \dams, Jr., the inventor of the Alams Chiclets
automatic ven'iny machine, of naticnwi‘e fame. After the Adams Family moved t»
Riversilde Drive at the turn ~f the century, the mansion was occupied for many
years by Alvin Llaar Ivie, who married a relative of F. M., "»olworth and' served
f~r many ycars as a huyer and officer ~f F. ", Wnolworth Comnony. He was alse
a Jircctor of the East Brocklyn Savinas Dark.

This truly remarkahle mansi~n has a ricturesque missinc ant bnld prefile,
with its corner tower, dermers anl vnrejecting mlile-roofed Tay. In the dynamic
traditi~n ~f Richardsonian Renenesque architecture, C. P. H. Gilbert rlaycd the
elements of onec elevati~n ayrainst the cther. The twn ~utstandin~s survivers of this
tralition, in the District, are this residence an' the liulbert nansi~n ~n Prosnect
Patk ‘lest. The ullert house, desimmel by Montrese V. Morris, is bhuilt of licht
crey limestone, whereas the Alams house is Jominated 'y warm earth t~nes.
Gilbert's hanlling of the masonry -- terrs c~tta, san'stone and salnon-colored
brick -- is masterful. Snonth Fronan brick provides an effective textural contrast
to the rusticated brownstons base.

The Eiechth Jwenue facale, <ominated ™y the corner tawer, has a twi-story
curve' hay tn the left, crowne! with an ~men-work Lrick raranet. Set in the rusti-
catel first flr~r, the centrance has an arch with rouch-face' vouss~irs, merfectly
!alance’ ™y a win'-w te the richt which has the same arch. This Eichth /wvenuc
entronce to the *ouble house scrved the resi‘ence of an~ther merker € the
Atams fanily. J~hn Duntar Adams. A hi-nel Anrmer with trirle windrws atiwve the
curve” hay - ffscts and balances thce iominance »~f the corner trwer.
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There is ncar symmetry in the Carrnll Street elevatinn, with enrurh difference
to make 7 excitine commnsition exrrcsse’ in the subtle ‘'iffcrence hetween the end
towers an” the rair of ‘crmers. & “~minant central bhay crrwne! by a ~able stan's
hetween the towers. Centercd in this bay is the main entrance, ab~ve a low stoon
with sweerin wina-w~lls.The -'eep Syrian entrance »rch, with swirlin~ fnliate
c rvinjy, rests on clustercd 'warf celumns an! is a mastermiece in itsclf. Comple-
mentine the !ivnifie' entrance is the trinle winlow abeve it, enframed ty a wide
band utilizing the sane swirline leaf pattern, an! susported ~n unusunl columns
with htasketwhrk conitals. At the third flonr, a nair ~fF breal windows are defined
by arches formed by brick healers anl ~rofile’ in terra c~tta. The arches also rest
on clusters of iwarf cnlumns. Foliate carving acain m—mears at the neak of the
sable, under which a qroup of four narrow wintows lirhts the attic story. The crrner
tower, in its ~rominent vosition, has an interestin~ shape -.toun? at the first
flnor an' rely~cnal abeve, with ~ hi~h octaronal tile rcof. The open-work brick
balcrny, attache! to the east si'e nf the teower, creates a deminant horizental
at the thir?! fleoer. The ansularity nf the nnlyoonal nrrtion of the tower is
accentucrted hv ornamental strine crurses. At the first floor all windows have stone
transon hars, an! the transcms ab~ve them crntain staine? ~lass »¥ excentinnal
quality. East of the housc, extendine alon~ Carrnll Street, is 1 lrvely 7ar’ien wall
with saalstene ™osts an” square, ~ranmenttl wrrudht iron -anels ! etween them.

WEST SIDL (Nns. 100-118)

Nn. 10C is a six-st~ry apartment house in bhuff-colorel brick, built in
1949-50. It replace’ the Lewis Lucken! ach mansion, desioned by Montrose W. Morris,
which ~nce ston! here in spacinus greunls. The Luckenbachs were in the shirming
business, with niers in Crnoklyn. In contrast to the tall, ornnte ~nartment
hnuse across the street, this bLuilline is severely simple, relyint for its
interest ~n its curvel bays with ribb~n windews rather th-on on any ao—lie?d
architecturnl detail. It was btuiit for the De Jreis Istates by architect
Y. E. Unoarleider.

The clevant pair of limestone terwnhouses at Mos. 106 and 108 were built in
1900 by cwner-builder Louis Donert, of 487 Fourth Street in the District. His
architcct was Thomas Dennett of Dbre~klyn. Like many impressive resi‘ences on the
Uprper East Sidc of Manhattan at the turn ~f the century, thesc houses attest to
the strength ~f the French Renaissance tra’iti~n anl Beaux Arts influence in this
cruntry. A wealth of leceration embellishes the faca'es ~f the threc-story howed
frents, crowne? by handsome balustrnles, contrastine with the simnle recessed riane
of the frurth stery, surmunte' 'y c~pner cornices with conscle brackets.
Fest~nne! varlands flank the carved entablatures of the central entrances, which
rise » fcw steps abnve the strect and contnin han'some slass Annrs with wroucht
iron grilles. The ornnte quality of these rarlends is set ~ff »y the ele-ant
simlicity of the Francnis I lozenses in the pilesters of the ~arlor flonr.
Panels with richly carved cornament teneath an' rctween the winlews Araw the eye tn
the thir! fl-or.

M. 118. A red Yrick ~-artment house of eleven stories, at the corner of
Carroll Street, towers ntove the surrmun'ine townhouses — Berun in 1936 for the
Corroll Eishth Helline Correration, it was desioned by M. E. Unearleider, the
srme architect as Ijo. 100. It was crecte? on the site of the larre, imnesine
Romanesaue Revival mansion Jesime” by C. P. H. Gilbert €or F. ', Hanan, a
wealthy shoe manufacturer. The present tuilline has a sinple stone innrway with -
“broken " redliment and urn in the nen-Genrsian tradition. Steel casenent win'ows,
s~ rorular with builders in the 1830s, nre used threuvhout.
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EIGUTH AVINUE Detween Carr-1ll Strect & Monteecmery Vlace

EAST SIBF (Mns. 123-135)

This is 2 short hlock.S ronty little more than half the usunl two hunire? feet,
tecause 1t 1s interrupted on the cast sil'e ~f Eirhth avenuc by "rntponery Tlace,
which 1s cnly one bleck lona.

T, 123, the handseme non-Classical residence 2t the c~rner, was huilt in
1394 ar’ ‘esime? by Montrose Y. Merris for Mrs. L. K. Greenmtn. t that time
there was 2 bursesnine interest in classical forms and nesr-monochromatic cnler
schemes for “uildin~s. This resi’ence, constructe! of nff-white f~man brick with
limestene and -atchins terra crtta trim, has heen hanllel with cle~ant restraint.
Groot attenticon wes pei' te Jetail, most effectively ¢ ncentrate’ at the Jimnific
entrance, crowne! Ly an arche! tynmanum *isvlayins Renaissance netifs anld corried
an ¢ mwsite columns, Bencath it 1s a frieze with antheninn “ecoration extendins
acr ss the Ei~hth Avenue front an’ ar~und the corner alen~ the Carrnll Street
sile. ‘t the left -f the entrance, n nair ~f winlrws at the parler anl secon!
fla~rs ~re han'sonely sct off My crlumns 2n' pilasters, 7iving the comprsition the
cffect »f - shnllow tay. The enframements <€ the attic sterv winiows hove classical
‘errs  ~t 2ll frur corners. The ror £ cornice hos a2 convex (tulvinate!l) frieze with
A Yeun! carlan! natif ) provi Ying an approerriaste crownins nem' er. v han'sore, low
vr~u-ht ircn fence enclnses the »romerty »n' terminates 2t the 1ow linestone steoop,

The tws neishtorine t wnhouses, Nos. 1230 an’ 125, were built in 1902 hy the
1o¢ai architect-'uilier "eter C-llins. Theose clecant hruscs are heth ~f limestone
2nl, stylistically, sre Fronch Lenux Arts ~f the Felectic nerin'. Buildines simila
ts those mav still Le scen in upper Manhattan. Mut these are ancn~ the few ~f this
style an the District. There 1s -reat verve in the corve' st-re nrnanent, which
seerns t~ literally ' 7r~w r~ut nf the material ~f the wnlls an! sives these houses
2 lively, three-linensienal quality. The mast notable features ~f No. 1234 are its
tall mansar! r~oFf and its hishly ~rnanentel, central stone nricl at the sec ni
fleoar, This an! the three wirlows sbove it are flankesdl by tu~-stery rusticated
milasters at the corners. It 1s the loninant house ~f the pair and contrasts with
the quiet ele-ance =f No. 125. lUere, the rusticate’ walls ~f the first story
arovide A fail for the snecth wall surfaces of the two uprer strories. There is @
Farisisn c¢le~ance in thne vair of arche’ windnws at the scend st ry, embellishe?
with -arlan’s which ensca'e '~wn from the projectiny sills f tte windews akbrve.
3AS roof cornices, suprorted ~n brackets lisplayin cuttnc, have pararets of
stonc ai sve them which arc e unifvine c¢lement for these tws handscne huildinrs.

N~. 135. This ner-Feleral Trick residence with stone trim was huilt an 1910
ani is enterel at No. 1 Montormery Tlace, where it is «describe!. A two-car oarane
Fetween Nos. 125 an' 125 was recently Luilt in what was gnce @ charming garten
encleose? by 2 hish iron Fence.

EIGHT!' AVEMUE DJetween Montgomery Mlace # Garfiel” Tllace
EAST SIDE (Nns. 143-165)

Ma, 113 (142-153) 1s o lar-e frur-strry apartment h~usc ~ccunyine over half
the bleckfrent. It was built in 1910-11 €or Gesreoc E. Lovett on' was desirned by
HMontrose Y. M-rris. It has red an' crein-colered brick with terrs cotta trin an! a
rusticatel limestene first story, sinilar to No. 10 Monte~mery Place arnund the
corner, als~ huilt from nlans by the same architect. The first stery is very Benux
*rts in feclin- with its central archod entrance and wildc--2rche?' 'nuble winleows,
which have curve! transom bars an” circles atove them. The windows at the secon
an' thirl strries, serarated Hy ~raanented ranels, arc unifiel ty ¢ommen enfrome-
ments with conscle keystones an' have wrourht iren halconics at the sec-nt st-ry.
Cream-celored hrick quoins above the €irst story :lefine the ends ~f the buildine.
A continucus roof crrnice, with »a2ire’ crnsnle brackets and modilliens, lends
Airnity t~ this buildzine.



PS-HD
EIGHTH AVENUE Between Montgomery Place & Garfieid Place

A simple classical doorway separates the apartmeni house from the imposing
Temple Beth Eleohim, erected in 1909-10 from plans of 1908 by Simon Eisendrath in
association with B. Horwitz., Because of the diagonal cornsr entrance of ths templs,
the building is pentagonal in plan, perhaps symbolizing the Pentateuch. The cornsr
is further emphasized by & large dome with lantern sel on a polygonal drum 2bove
the entrance, Approachad by a three-sided stairway, the entrance is fianked by &
pair of colossal Ionic columns in antis, and surmounted by an arched pediment with
modillions. Subordinate to this, the triple entrance doors have a central double
door with trizngular pediment, surmounted by a great stained glass window, similar
to t he round-arched windows in the side facades, The symmetrical side elevations,
radiating from the diagonal corner entrance, are identical with & wide pedimented
central bay crowning an arched stained glass window, flanked by subordinate
windows with arched pediments., The dentiled roof cornice at the sides is modulated
to modillions above the diagonal main entrance bo accord with its great scale.

4 low stone parapet rises above the rocf cornice. On both sides of the temple a
pipe railing featurss the Menorah, or seven-brenched candelabrum, a symbol of
Chanukah.

BIGHTH AVENUE Betwesn Carroll Street & Garfield Place
WEST SIDE  (Nos. 130-166)

No. 130, an unedorned brick apartment house, was bullt in 1950 for the Park
Carroll Corporaticn and was designed by architect Rollin A, Caughey. The first
floor has smooth white stone facing with brick above. Fach end is chemfered and
has corner windows, typical of the pericd. The palatial Homsnesque Hevival Feltman
mansion, designed by Montrose W. Morris, was originally located on this corner,
Charles L. Feltman was the invenmtor of the merican "hot-dog-on-a-bun® of Coney
Tsland fame, and Hontrose W, Morris was the most popular architect among the
wealthy residents on The Slope.

Fe. 140, built by the Gerfield Censtruction Corporation, is located on the
site of the Feltman gerden. It was crected in 1935-36 of brick with an Art Deco
entrance in a recessed central section. The architect, Martyn N, Weinsteln,
has effectively contrasted the cranpe-colored brick with the limestone trim, The
smootbh vertical of the walls is further contrasted with horizontal brick band-
courses between the steel casements at the corners,

Nos, 152-156 were built in 1889 by owner-architect William Flanagan as three
identical brownstone residences, They are four-story brownstones abave a full
basement story. Polygonal masonry bays, with molded cornices at each floor,
extend from the basement %o the roof cornices ard the firsi story windows all
have transom bars. The differences in the siyle of their basement entrances

are due to later alterations; Nos. 154 and 156 are interesting expressions of the
irt Deco style,

No. 162 (MNos. 162-166), "The BelvedsreY is a buff-colored, Homan brick
apartment house with limestone base and trim. It was built in 1903 for Peter Lar-
sen ag part of a complex including Nes. 253-26) Garfield Place, all designed by New
York architeect Henry Pohiman. The front of the Belevedere shows a well-balanced
four-stery building with curved corner bays and & central entrance porch, in the
nec-0lassical tradition, approached by a low stoop. A turn-of-the-century classi-
cal roof cornpice crowns the entire group of apartment houses,




w-rs
EIGHTH AVENUE etween Garficl' Piace § First Street
EAST SIDE (Mrs. 169-103)

The Temple House, No. 175 (Nns. 169-177), wns huilt in 1228 an' ‘lesiene! hy
architccts Mertimer Frechof and Davi? Levy. Crnstructed ~f »rc-cast stone in a
warm ran~c of huffs an' erays, this fcur-stery builline is an cffective foil for the
stark srandeur ~f the synarceue 2cross the street. In 1ts €fenestration it is neo-
R-manesque. Texturc is created thrrush the use ~f symbolic~ ornament at the talcc-
nies, windews, deors, an! rocf poraret. The talconies lend adled lepth to the
recessc? entrances bene~th them. One of the most interestin~ features, reflectince
the Art deccr style of the rerind, is the €i1mure ~f *inses an! the Tohlets of the
Lo, em~hasizing the corner ~f the r~of ~orarct. The -etairl ~f the Garfiel! Tlacc
facale is alnest identical t~ that on Eiehth Avenue.

N's. 181 an! 183. /Architect Albert E. Parfitt, the y~uncest partner <f the
architectural firm, Tarfitt Br-others, lesivne!l thesc twh residences £~r the John
*ssip C~mpany. They nre threc-story laimestone houscs, Luilt in 1602, No. 181
has o full-heicht, three-sided masqcnry bay ~fferino 4 contrast to the two-siie!
hay ~t Mo, 183. The entrance Jrorways are paire' ant are aoproache! by aticining
1~w st~oms with 2 commn win~-well between them.  The ornament ~f these houses
1s ~cnerally ned-Classical.  Shectmetal roof cornices 'isplay a floral motif at
Mo, 181 and 2 Greek fret mtif at No, 183,

No. 183, “The \stor 1s a four-story snartment house built in 1906 for the
Lester Realty Company an' lesine!l Ly Sro~klyn architect Th~nas Bennctt. This
huil 'in~ is typical of nany anartment heuses crecte’ in the District after the turn-
~f-the-century. They art well scale', with a restrrine’ hanlline of architectural
ctail an?! are harmeninus with the 2'jo1nin~ ~rivote resi'ences on the side streets.
The entrance »f this bhuillin- is recesse” hotween curvet en”' hays. It has o
classical porch with v~lashe!. sray ~ranite I-nic c~lumms, surmrunted Iy 2
“alustra'e. There is arleasin contrrst Yeencen the snoothlimestene facing of
the -~round flocr and the bandot, sairen-crlore! Neman brickwork ~f the upper
stories. Horizental emphasis 1s achicved by the usc of limestrne bandcourses at
win'owsill level which unify the lone facacde on First Street with the Eishth
Avenue front. Reunt-arched winlous len! listinction te the fourth story which is

1

cr~wnci by a sheetmetal c rnice with swa’s an’ console hrackets.

r

VEST CIDE (Ns. 174-120)

Nos. 174 anl 176 are nec-Penaissance linestone residences built in 1909.
st ~f the handscne carvel orpament is concentrated al~ve the entrances an' the
sim)ly enfrancd windows at the parlor floors. The center parler floor window of
Ne.. 176 has a reound medallicn with o basketweave rattern set ~ff Ly laurel branches.
Deep cornices, with a series of consele hrackets nver lentils an! frieze, unify
the two houses. MNo. 174 has 2 hed :e-enclrsed ~ar‘en ~n the vacant cerner 1ot at
Garfield llace.

N~s, 178-181. The next row »f four "r~manesauc Revival. brownstene hruses were
tuilt in 1893 by architect-nwner Frelerick J. Griswnll, nf 447 First Street in the
Historic Distract. He also Puilt ~ther h~ruses in the District, inclu’inr Nes. 238-
294 Sarfiell Tlace an' hnuses nn First Street -- all in the s~ne style. Incises!
scr~11 ‘csiens in wide panels at the top st~ry. hetween arche! windows, 2re
reniniscent of the earlier nen-Grec »rnament. At cach house, the low wall of the
balustrale, abnve the secon' story bay wind~w, crnsists ~f a series ~f unusual
Awarf crlumns with block-1like rlinths an! caritals. 1in interesting featurce is
the usc of carveld rilasters ot the upner twe stories, 'efinine the zives of these

acales. Dencath the ornately carve! corbels of the hays are “eer brackets, sunmnrt
~n three-quarter cnparcel cnlumns at the parler flror. The archesd entrances are
a~roached by L-shaped stoens.
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EIGITI “VEMUE DBetween Garfiz2l’' Tlnce  Farst Strect

Mas. 186-150. These three picturesque houses, ins»ire' by the French
Tenaiss~nce tradition of Frong~is I weve tuilt in 13%7-28 # r owner-architect
Hii1liam J. Dilthey, whe live a2t 315 Jay Street, v~ Xlyn, on' ha) offices ~n
Uni~n Scuarc, Mwenhattan. They were tesi~ne’ as ~ uniforn r~vn t which the nic-
turcsque nhles cnwve lefinition.,  The white Prman Drick, cch-e' %y the limestone
h~uses 1t the ~ther oen' of the Llnckfrnt, »rwide » fine c-ntrast to the brown-
st~ne rw berween them. Tall lorrweys, crowmel? by cartouches, are anwreache? by
stea~ st~ems ahove rusticnte!l limestone bosements. These '»orways an' the windows
sre cnfranc' Ly ‘rnamontel terra crtte.  Crownine the facn'es ~re stee ~ahles with
elahnr~te finials, coatainine trinle win'~ws with Rennissonce ficures cerve' in the
nanels ~f the nullisns., Ab-~ve them, » ¢oneave ~val shell lends ‘ramatic ¢m-hasis,
The e~rner hruse. (n, 130, is now enterce? at basement level an' has t vellew hrick
thir' st~ry »n' "rranet re—lscin~ the slate ror€ ani ~ahle.

FIGUTE “VEMJE 'ctween First & Sccon' Streets

E.ST SIDE {¥'~s. 105-215)

This blnackfront rresents 2 unifie’ proun of arartnent uil’ines Yesisomed in the
Classicnl tratition —omuler ~t the turn-of-the-century. The unity is echieve!l
throuth remetitinn nf the curve® bays flankine the central classical Hdorches, the
arche? windrws at the fourch stories, and roof cornices ~f i'entical desirn.
Full-heicht, multi-si1-'e’ biys at the en! bhuildincs, an' their al'e! height,
effectively terminate the hleckfront.

No. 105, with its main cntrance 2t 530 First Strcet, wns huilt in 1506 for
Thrmas Corrigan an' fdesisnct by Geerre F. Resen.  Nos. 109-211, crecte? in
1605-N6, were -csione’ Ly architect Yenry P~hlman for Corriran & J~hnsen of
456 Seventh /wenuc, scuth of the District, Neo. 215 | with 2ts min ontrance 2t
573 Sce~n’ Street, was built in 1705 for Corrican & Johnseon and alsn Jdesiecned hy
Henry Pohlman.  This Luilstin: was aran'cned €or 2 l-ns time an?, throu~h neichbor-
heet effrrts, woas rehakilitate! in 1067%.

WEQT STDE (Mrs. 106-216)

The blackfr-nt betwecen First an' Socont Streets is cvenly ‘trvitel! otwecn

limestone and br-wastone fronts.

N~s, 176 ant 178 four stnries hivh abrve tascnents, were built in 1896 by
~mer-architeet-builler Peter C~1lins, whe live! nt 67 Clerm~nt Avenuce in nearby
Fart Greonc. The divnificd limestone fronts with threc-story masonry tays, ~isplay
an intercstin-~ juxtopositicn f classicnl on' R-manesque Revival ornament. No. 10¢
is entirely classical in its letail. Aprreache! by an L-shane’ st-or with lions!
heais, it has a pedimente! lcarwny with central cart~uche in the entablature,
which 1s surmnrted cn ¢nnsole brackets. The ronf cornice alove the fourth story
win'ews is unusual in hoving classicnl rosettes hetween the consrmle hrackets.

At N»o. 168 the oririnal 4oorway, now a winlow, has a prominent Domanescue arch, can
with foliate pattern, svrinzine from naire! en~are’ cnlumns. The marlrr floor bay
winicws have stone transcm hare an! there are Remanesaue Revival arched winlows a
the fourth flonr,

Nms. 200-20% were bLuilt in 1072 as a row Dy rwner-architect Jereminh Gilli-an
~f §45 First Strcet in the Histrric District. It is evident in these houses that
Gilli -an reneate’ the lesigns of Collins' a'jeinine pair. Nes. 200 an' 204 displny
the classical Jletail «f do. 106, while No, 202 recalls the ~nanesaue of No. 127,
The h~uses arc, however, »ne full story lrwer than fiellins' mair. Nes. 200 and 202
hove -~ very lew attic f1-~x, ant Mr. 224 h~s a steer slate r~of with trinle, meli-
mente! ~rmer winlew 2lled 1n 1505, An interestine feature nt Ne., 204, now
cntere! at the tascment. 1s the rval win'~w within a richly ‘ccrrate! enframerent
~t the second strry.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between First & Second Streets

Nos. 206-216 (No. 210 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
Jeremiah Gilligan built this row of neo-Renaissance brownstones in 1894. It has
two-story, curved masonry bays, of which two are constructed of limestone, an
unusual featuwre., ittenuated, engaged colonettes flank the two story bays. At.the
ccrner of Second Street, the row terminates in a full~-height bay, with a striking
window enframement at the second story, crowned by a conical roof creating the
effect of a tower. 4 variety of cerved floral and animsl themes are interestingly
introduced into the ornament fron house to house. There is a delightful squirrel
carved in the band below the sillcourse of the second story at No. 212.° The
doorways, approeched by L-shaped stoops, are suriounted by panels flanked by
colonettes with finials, The double doors at No. 206 have beautifully carved
panels with bird motifs, At the second story, above the doorways, are high-silled
windows of a type often introduced at this period. The roof cornices have classi-
cal swags unifying the row. No., 216 serves as the rectory of the Church of the
Virgin Mary across the street,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Second & Third Streets
EAST SIDE (Nos. 217-227)

The corner four-story apartment house, No. 217 Eighth Avenue, is entered at
582 Second Street, and is one of three similar apartment buildings erected in 1909
for Thomas G. Carlin, Inc., of 297 Garfield Flace, and designed by Brooklyn
architect Thomas Bennett.  Unlike the mass produced character of so many of the
multiple dwellings of the period, these three buildings have a distinctly conti-
nental flaver. Built in a pleasing co bination of limestone and cream~colored
brick, they have elegant rusticated walls at the first floor, crowned by a Greek
fret bandecourse. The handsome ertrance porches are likewise classical in
character. A transition to the more Renaissance character of the upper stories is
provided by the console bracket keystones above the first floor windows. The tall
double windows at the second story have been emphasized with segmental-arched
pediments carried on brackets, with central cartouches, adding dignity to this
fleor. The wrought iron balcomies at the fourth story and the modillioned and
dentiled roof cornice, carried on end brackets, are further distinctive features.

(The apartment house at the northeast corner of Third Street is outside
the Historic District.)

(The two blockfronts between Third and Fifth Streets are also oubside the
Historic District.)

WEST SIDE (Nos. 218-234)

No. 218, The Church of the Virgin Mary, of the Byzantine Melkite Rite,
stands at the southwest corner of Second Street. It was built in 1903-04 and
designed by archiitects George 1/, Kramer and C. C, Hamilton, of New York, for the
Park Congregational Church. Since 1952 it has served the present congregaticn,
Completely filling its site, the church has a modified cruciform plan with a
ridged slate roof running the length of the nave., Its powerful asymmetry rslies
on volume, massing and the tall corner tower., In its broad treatment, it is neo-~
Remenesque. The austere sl plicity of its design 1s enriched by the texture and
warm color of its granite, Rough-hewn blocks are laid 1in a random ashlar pattern
and represent a masterful use of materials. The east end of the shallow gabled
tiansept is dominated by e large arched window wath stained glass. Beneath it is
a bank of windows, i hich together with the larger window above, form & complete
unit of deisgn, Complementing the east transept is & smaller gabled bay at the
south end which repeats its theme, The corner tower, crowned by a pyramidal roof,
has a belfry with large Romanesque arched openings, each with a drip mouldang,
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PS-HD
EICHTH AVENUE Between Second & Third Streets

i
1
On the Second Street side, the tover has three tell, slender openings, reinforce?
by horizontal stonework at the third points, which pierce the stone wall. The
apsidal gable of this facade shelters a large round-arched wi dow with quatrefoil
tracery. {
No. 234, the last building in the District on the west side of Eighth avenué¢,
occupies the south half of the blockfront below the church. It was built in l91§
and designed by the well-krown architect Aymar Embury, 132 liadison sve., New York,
as a private residence for Charles F. Neergaard. His grandfather, John V. Neer-
saard, was a founder of the New York College of Pharmacy. The House is neo-
Federal in style end introduces a notably suburban quality which contrasts with the
very urban character of the rest of the Historic District. Built of dark red
brack, with a slate shingled roof, it hos neo-Federal trim, painted white, In
keening with its character, the central entrance porch has delicately proportioned
paired columms, and all the windows have shutters. There is a simple fanlight over
the entrance door and this motif is repeated in the three peaked dormer windows.
A high wrought iron railing separates the house and its grounds from the street.

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Fifth & Sixth Streets
EAST SIDE ONLY (Nos. 501-519)

Tnis entire blockfront is an architectural unit, with its four-story apartment
houses arranged with paired doorways and straight stoops. It was built in 1909-10
for Nathan and Leo N. Levy and was designed by Brooklyn architect ¥illiam Debus,
who also worked in Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. With their flush facades
of Roman brick, they are unified at first floor level by alternating bands of
limestone and buff-colored srick and by modillioned roof cornices. The openings
are all square-headed, except at the third floor, where the windows are surmounted
by curved blind arches of stone set on diminutive corbel blocks. The entrance
porches, carried on columns irith low balustrades above the entablatures, give the
buildings a neo-Classical flavor. The end house at the south, No. 519, is slightly
higher than the rest of the row, with a raised stoop and roof cornice. Its facade
on Sixth Street is quite samilar to that of No. 501 at the north end of the row
facing Fifth Street,

(The blockfronts between the south side of Sixth Street and a point mid-way
between Ninth and Tenth Streets are outside the District.)

EIGHTH AVENUE Betieen Ninth & Tenth Streets
EAST SIDE ONLY (Ne. 917)

No. 917, 2 four-story residence at the northeast corner of Tenth Street, has
its principal entrance at Nos, 631-633 Tenth Street, where it is described.

(The blockfronts between the south side of Tenth Street and a point mid-wey
between Eleventh and Twelfth Streets are outside the Historic District.)

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Eleventh & Twelfth Streets

AST SIDE ONLY (Nos. 1113-1123)

(The north half of the blockfront is outside the Historic District.)

Nos. 1113-1123, This row of four apartment houses was builit in 1898 for
Thomas Holt, who lived just south of the District, and designed by Brooklyn
architect Thomas Bennett. (coutimied on next page)

28~



EIGHTH AVENUE DBetween Eleventh & Twclfth Strects

Although the buildings are only four stories high, the full-height curved b9ys
flanking the central vrir~:c-s, «i1ve ~r i~nrcsc: n oF -Tott vertichlivy.

are ¢ pstructe '~ of buff- colerel brick (Nos. 1115 and 1117) and red brick (Nﬂs 1121
an?® 1123). FHorizontal stonc bandcrurses scrve as imprst blecks for the window
lintels at the upper flenrs. The Jo~rways, with their entablaturcs supporte! ~n
hrackets abrve columns, 2ant the b~11 ronf cornices, sumnnrte' »n c~ns~le hrackets
with ornamantal friezes below, sive these apartrment hnuses 1 ~enerally neo-
Cilassical anrearance, althruch the curve! hays recall the earlier Ronanesque
Revival. The entrances are appreached by low stoops with masenry wine-wz2lls.  The
Fuil lin~ at the south end ~f the row, o, 1123 (We. 471 Twelfth Street), is 2 »si’ r-
~*1y narrower than the others on' has a roun! tower which 1s lecate? at the corner.
These anartment hruses arc sinilar to Fthers~py Bennett ~n Elceventh -~7 0 1724
Strects.

EIGHTI" A\VENUE Retween Twelfth & Thartecnth Strcets
FAST SINDE NHLY (Woes. 1201-1215)

Ums, 1201 anl 1203. These tw~ anartment heuscs arc almost i'cntical with
Nos. 1113-1123. They were 1s» huilt f~r Thomas PPnlt, but three years later, in
1901. Brr~oklyn architect Thomas Rennett als» Jdesiwned then, thus accountins €or
their similarity. No. 1201 1s cntere!d ot N>, 468 Twelfth Street, where a 1ow
cnlumar entrance parch 1s avproached by steps fron toth sides which are parallel
tn the buil-ing.

Nos. 1205-1215. W%With the excention of the = ut™ »~ st uillin 0 . 17215},
these anartment hnuses are quite similar to N-s., 1201 an?' 1203 in the same
blockfront. They were Puilt in 1900 Ly owncr-architect '"illiam Muserave Calder,
who built s wany ~f the rsi'ohdéss n “hivtcanth Stroct en' wbe was Tuperine o
tenient ~f the Trooklyn Juildings Derartment from 1002-93.  Althourk they have
full-heisht, curved bays flankine~ the central entrances an? almnst i‘entic-l
classical cornices with swaas on the friczes, they 'iffer in that the horizental
stone bandcourses run straioht acr~ss the win‘~when's, servino as lintels, an’ the
Annrways have 'Lrnken’ cntablatures with the cernices arche? at the centers.

These arc carried ~n stonc brockets sct in the brickwork which frame the nnrways.
The corner anartment housc presents ~ flush front to Eichth Avenuc but has a
curved corner bay. It is of intcrest t- note that here Cnller rartially revived
Sennett's schene fron the ~thcr en' ~f the hlnckfront, usina ban'courses 2s irmost
blocks for the windew lintels ot the second and fourth flrnrs..The first floerr is
used commercially, serving the adjacent neighbtarhond.

EIGHTH AVENUE Petween Thirteenth & Fourtcenth Strects
FAST SIDE ONLY ({iéS. 1301-1323)

Nos. 1301-1323. This cntire blockfront 1s ~ccupied by the John W. Kimball
Schzol (P.S. No. 107) and its grounlds. This handssme T-shaped brick scheolhouse
was built by P.J. Carlin § Company in 1894 for the "~ar! of E'ucation and was
Jdesimmed, in a basically late Ronanesque Revival style, by architect J. . Nauchtrn.
The Eipghth Avenue clevatinn is divided intc five bays: a central mreojecting bay,
containing the arched entrance an! crowne? by a hirh brick cable, flankeld by bays
in the main wall nlanc of the buildins, ~n' terninated at cach en! by projecting
»avilli~ns. The brick is rusticated at the first story ~nl is carrie” around the
north end onto Thirteenth Street. Excent for the front sable an' the rear wing,
the r7~f is hirmel. The to floor windows of the front an'! ends are arche? with
continucus drip moldings crownine the tops of the arches. The front nable is
cnhancel by a Palladian type window, detailel in a Romanesque nanner, =2ni is
flanke' by small pelimented Jdermer windows. (continued on rext page
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EIGHTH AVENUE Letween Thirtzenth & Frurteenth Strects

!

The c¢l-sc soncin~ ~f the windows at the urper flrnor sives the necessary light for
the school building. The scheol has yards on three sides with the principal one,
a playeround at the south sile, extendinm through t» Fourteenth Street.

PRNSPECT PARK WEST

The srand sweep of Prospect Park West, masnificently situatel opnmnsite the
park, extends from Grand Army Plaza tn Bartel Pritchard Square--almnst a mile--and
nrovides one nf the most beautiful vistas in the city. This fine examrle of urban
wlannins was a result of the vision of Frederick L7 Olmsted and Calvert Vaux, who
1r14 out Prnspect Park. The substitution nf their 1866-67 ~lan for the carlier nlan
by Eghert L. Viele led to the creatinn of a monumental plaza at the northern end,
now known as Grand Army Tlaza, and the exnansion cf the “sun'aries of the park:
westwar] ta Minth Avenue, ncw Prospect Park West, anl southward to Fifteenth Strect,
the present 3artel Pritchare Square an! Prosnect Park Southwest. Ninth Avenue was
7¥ficially renamed Prospect Tark West in 1895, when qrand resi-'ences in the Fifth
\venue tradition were just beginning to spring up alone its northern rortimn. This
section nf The flnpe, incluling Prosrect Park “est, Plaza Strect and Ei~hth Avenue,
hocame known as '"The Gnld' Coast'.

PRASTECT PARK WEST Retween President § Carroll Streets

"TST SIDE (Nos. 13-17)

(The n~rthern part of this blockfront is nutside the Histeric District.) ,

Nos. 13 an? 15. The first tho hcouses in the District, on Trosnect Park West,
are cxanrles of the neo-Tulor style which was so nonular after Wnrld War I. They .
were built as a pair in 1919 for Yalter Kraslow and were desioned by Bronklvn
architect ¥illian T. “McCarthy. A central Tulor archway lea’s t- the rear courtyard
and ~arage aret. Above the archway, a horizental nini-brlustrade »f limestone ties
these pabled houses trgether. Heraldic animals surmount rlinths ahove the stone
halustrale. Laid in Flemish bon? brickwork with limestone trim, No. 13 is .
unalterel, with 1ts cririnal doorway an! mulli~ne' windows, unifiel by continuous
Arip meldings at secon! and third flonrs.

Nns. 16 and 17. These two onulent limestcne residences, desione’ by the
nrominent 3recklyn architect Montrose Y. Morris, were built in 1899 for
“aruel Goodstein. Arani residences such a2s thesc are fine exammies of the nen-
Classical style that swent the country after the Chicnro Exnositien of 1893,
Althourh rich and clenant in Zetnil, they arce nevertheless subtly discinlined and
screne in their lesign. The prototypes for these houses also insrired more mndest
versions in limestonc, which prealiferated alon~ the blncks a'joinine Trosrect Park
West nt the turn-of-the-century. N». 16 Aisplays a restrained use of the I~nic
nrder enframing the do~rway and secnnd story windows. The windows with stone
transom bars at all flcors are unusual in a classically insnires builling such as
this. A graceful, tall wrought iron railing separates the hause from the street.
The common pitch of the tile roofs unifies these two houses, as Jd~ rrof cornices
and the window alignments at all floors. At the first floor of No. 17 the
architect has masterfully sclved the nroblem of maintaining symmetry by the use of
zqual-sizel trivle arches, which include two windows 2n' the donr. Like Nn. 16,
this house has a low stoon, flanked by wing-wnlls, herc embellished with inverse,
carved consnle brackets. (c~ntinuec’ 0 raxt cn~c)
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PROSTECT DARK “EST Tetween Presislent & Carroll Sirects

ft the sec~nd flarr - shallow swell-Fr-nt 'ay with three curve! nlate slass winlows,
scoaratet by pilasters, is crewne’ by 1 1aw tolustrale’ baleony which serves a
Fandsane 1.7~1a with Icnic coluwns at the thir® fl~~r. The Corr~ll Strcet clevation
echres many ~f the same themes, while the .~1" prrjecti~n of the rocf cernice, which
is returnc! at the sile, rccalls an It~linn -al-zzo.

PROSTECT TARK 'EST Netween Carroll Street & Montronery Tlace

WEST SIDE (N-s. 18-25)

Nes. 18 anl 19, At the snuthwest ¢ rner ¢« £ Carrell Street an' Trospect Mark

¥Yest arc a natchins poir of nen-Italicn Tenaissence limestone resitences, huilt in

858 for Sylvester Ross an' als- lesimed by Montrose '), Morris. They conrlement
the pa2ir on the northwest corner--provilin; an umnsin- cntrancc t~ Carrcll Strect.
The first flocrs »re emphasize' by rustication. The arch of » fine Palladian
winlw accoris with the arch ~f the entranc. J~crwiy at cech housc, whaere the
rustic-tion is carriel ower to fourm the veusscairs of the arches. Flute'! Innic
pilasters, sct acainst qurins, extent un throwuch the twh upner st-rices. The olass
and tronze cannpy with anthemion crestine cver the ontronce of Ho. 18 has o
Mirisian elesance, with matchine hantrailiin~ abeve the flare! winec-walls ~f a ~ra-
cinus low st>n. The winm-walls are repcated 2t M, 19. Talustradeld balconies
ab~ve the Pall~lion winlews serve the sce~n’! floor wind-ws. An effective unity
is rchicve' throurh the usc ~f a sincle, unbroken tile rorf,  An cextreer’inarily
handscme, hish wroucht irn rr1lin-~, suprorte! by ~renw~rk newcl-ty—e »nsts, anes
fr-m the front of Ne 18 a2roun' te the Carrll Street si'c.

No. 20, 2 trick ond limestone resi'‘ence, wos huilt in 1900-01 for Jerrme
Levine. It was desiconed bty \1fred Frecman in Lasicnlly ncn-Federal stvle with
tnll French windows at the sccen' flror., McXim, lenld an! White nlayce! a rreminent
r~le in the revival of this style, which they werc usine in the 1890s. The red
trick is set in Flemish brn® with <~lazed headers. Carve! pancls abrve the scconl
flonr winlows have urns 2nd rarlands in lew relicf. The urn notif is repested in
the ir~nwork ~f the beleonies an' the entrance Anny with its fonlicht. Above the
dentiled ronf cornice is a stcep slate roof with arche' corper dermers.

No. 22. This handsome neo-Zlassical house 1s the work of *entrose W. Mcrris
an' was commissicned by E. L. Snyler in 1899. In this residence of nristine
limestone with a strikine rc¢! tile ro~f, the precisi~n of the absolutely symmetric-l
lesign is immediately armarent. The only off-set element is the entrancc oorway,
vhere the symmetry has ar~in becn maintainc' By the usc ~f cqual-sized trirle arches,
separate! by Innic pilasters at the first floer level. 7t the sceen! floer, hand-
scmely pedimente. windous with shell nntifs flank an unusually widfe central plate
zlass winlow, cnframe! by pilasters and an entoblature, with halustrade! baleony
Leneath it.  UWide quoins extend throurh the sccond and thir! storics. The small
Teared™ windiows of the thir) story arc carefully rclate! t~ thrse beneath. The roof
ccornice is crowned Dy a steep tile rocf with o =c¢linented Jderner window.,

Nos. 24 and 25. In strikin- contrast t> the 2'3~inine hruses is this pair,ﬁlth
yollow Roman brick, limestone base and trim, an! rc! tile rcof. They were huilt at
the turn-cf-thc-century, and were first nccuried in 1901 hy "illiam G. Gilmere at
Mo. 24 and by Desmond Dunne, an advertisin~ cxecutive, ot Me, 25, In their ¢nlor,
textural contrasts and picturesque massine, they are reminiscent »f the Roranesque
Revival. Classical infiuence nay be sccn in a Greek fret m-1dino, which tics the
tw" buil Yin~s tovether abrve the first floor win'ows. renerted! 1n Inar-er scale as
the enfromement for the secrnd floor windows at Ne, 2435 a bhesutiful =anthemi~n and
ralnette fricze appears at the seconl! flnor cornice just heneath the pitche? tile
r~~f. Contrihbuting to the ~icturesque cffect ~f the pair is the pnly»~nal tower
at the left side ~f NMo. 25, crowne! by a steen tile rcnaf. A balustraled balcony
cr-~wns the curve! cne-strry Lay winlew an! therce is an ele~ant wrought iron anl
-lass front Joor at No. 24.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Rctween Carrnll Street § Montgomery Place

(The rest nf the tlockfront to the M-ntsomery Tlace ¢ tner is not incluied in
the lizstoric District.)

PROSPECT PAPK WEST Retween Montarmery "loc2 £ Grr®ikl’ "lace

WEST SIDE (Nos. 23-32)

Nn. 28. At the scuthwest c~rner of Prespect Park West and Monteomery Tlace
stands one cf the fine mansions of Park Slepe, built in 1901 for Horace Pratt, of
8§84 Carroll Street. It was desine! hy Doston architect Charles Pricham, nf
Stur~is & Prigham, & Tostor firm best known for their masnificent Albert C. lurrage
mansion on Commonwealth Avenue. The Pratt hcuse, althouch smaller in scale and less
elabnrate than socme of the nther mansions, has interestins detail and a quiet dirnity
~f its ~wn. The picturesque ronfline with its stecp aables is in strikine contrast
tr the reposeful quality of the smonth walls. Desnite its basically French
Renaissance character and ~rnamentation, this housc Adisplays some arche? windows
in the Womanesque Revival tradition. The Indiann limestene walls hove a hammered
surface and lisplay some fascinatinz sculptural inventinns-: srotesque animals,
human masks, stone relief p~nels, and heral”ic nimels servine as finials, Tell
mnsenry chimneys, flankine the central nable abnve the two-story hay on Montgomery
Tlace, rive dramatic vertical emrhasis. Twn Flemish Inrmers at each side of this
mable lend a highly ornamertal quality. Crownine the curved two-story hay at the
front is a steep cable with 2 "allalian win'sw. A\ fancifull ¢~11 '~rmer win'ow, to
the left of the gatle, has a copper finial. A deeply recessc’' arche? Jdnorway is
surmorunted by a balcony with richly ornamente! panels an! rampant lions. This
residence is best apnreciated from across the avenuc where hoth clevations may be
seen at once.

Nas, 29 and 31, constructed in 1919, are a pair of tax-exemnt huildings,
erected at a time when the City wishel t~ encrurare new construction. These red’
brick buildings 12id up in Flemish bond, built frr Walter Xraslow anl “esipgned by
Lronklyn architect W. J. McCarthy, are nco-Federal. Typical of this style are the
muntined arched winlows, stone pancls with swaes anl! the arche! d~rmer windows in
the steerly ritched r~nf. The splnyed flat arches of the secon’ story windows with
keystones recall Georgian yrecedent an’' are typical ~Ff the combination of styles
usel so freely by architects at this perind. Tuilt as a unit, they share z low
arched entrance to parares at the rear, similar to the arrancement at Nns. 13 and
15.

No. 32, This ruvge! Romanesque Revival housc, N~, 32 was huilt in 1888 as a
ceevanion t~ Ne. 33 (since razel) for Frank Sauier, a paper rmerchant in New York
an'! a Trocklyn Park Conmissioner. It was lesicned by Treonklyn architect
Geonrpe 1. Chanell. The walls are of roush-facel !clleville brownstone combined
with brickwnrk at the upper flsa~rs. Thac twe materials are harmonious in color.
The house is anrr~ached by an impressive L-sharet stonn, which leals un to a -Acernly
recessed arched docrway enfrome! by a br~1” bhan? ~f carve' ornament carried an
nanele’' pilasters. 3tnne transem bars qive articul~tion to the windows at both
stcories of the threc-siled bay. The stecrly mitche! brick 7»~ble, with twe arche’
winéews an? an arched slct win'ow, is ‘clinente’ My a keye! stone coring which is
swent ur at the t to form ~ finial.

(The remainlter ~f this street and the bBlockfrent hetwecen Garfield Tlace and
First Strcet arc outsi'c the Histeric District.)
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PROSPECT PARK WEST retween First § Secon!' Ctreets

WEST SIDE (Nns. 48-57)

Mo. 49 (48-51). The monumental stone mansinn at 49 Trospect Tark West -- the
Hulhert hnuse, now the Tronklyn Ethical Culture Scho~l -- is the mnst imposing
survivor of the many frec-standing mansicns that werc once nrominently featured
alona T'rosmect ark Mest. It was Puilt for Henry Carlten Hulltert (1331-1312), noted
financier and inlustrinlist who was in the parer suprly “usiness ani st on the
brards nf countless prominent comranies, inclu'ins the New York Life Imsurance §
Trust Cmmany and the [ullman "alace Car Connany »~f Chicar . lle called uron the
nrominent Trooklyn architect Mentrose !J. Morris t~ lesi~n a resilencc which woull
fittinaly symbolize his successful carcer. The mansion, huilt in 1892, is an out-
stan'ing exannle of the Romanesque Revivel style. Many of its elements were un-
A~uktelly insnirel by the work of Henry Hebson Richar 'son, but were combine? in a
quite ~risinal way. One of the most dramatic features ~f the mansi~n is its
nicturesque castellated rrcfile at the skyline, created by the renctration of the
r~nfline by bays, towers, sables, lormer win’ows, ant tall chimneys arrar-e’ in the
vertical clusters representin~ the flues withan. The entire huil'in~ is niven
coherence hy the usc of a “hitish-"ravy limestrne -- an unusual moterial for the
Remanesauce Revival. The Jarker eray slate nf the tall renfs iffer only slichtly
in ¢»1or. Lven the limestone retainine walls alon~ the si'ewalk are a carcfully
c~nsilere! continuation of the mon~chromatic compositincn.

The Palance', almost sy™metricel organizetisn of the Prosvect Park West front
reflects the fact that the Iulbert mansicn wes orisinally twe resilences jrine!
torether  the larqer one ~n the corner wns the home of Henry C. lulbert, and the
slichtly smaller ~ne t~ the south was occuprel! by his cdoushter Susie an! his son-
in~law, Joseyn H. Sutphin, 1 partner in the firm of H. C. Hulbert & Comnany.

“arely a- this phrent-nffspring arrangenent of houses, anparently common in the
rer1n ', been handle? morc skillfully. Thc duality is auite »laninly expressed in the
tw~ caual, but subtly 'ifferent, corner towers; in the pairs ~f dorners on’ Yays
tetween them; end in the superb rair »f arches nver the entrance 'cors, so heauti-

fully joined by a sinsle robust cclumn that they form a point of fncus for the front.

Nther unifyine elenents are the thir! flrer 1o7~ia a2nl the sharce! entrance stens,
s~ ~ran? in crnception.

The differences between the tw~ corner towers are subtle. The nerth tower is
the more strikine, larsely hecause of its prlye~nal shane® however, it is roun? at
the first flecr, with corhbels provilin: the tramsition tn the molyeonal upper
floers an' ruof. The scuth tower, 'y contrast, is wlyronal at strect level an”
round above, terminating in a steen conical ro~f.  In other ‘ctails, the towers
are similar, with particularly nntihle, arcade! wile-arche! winlrws with stone
trans~m bars senarate! by Jdwarf cclumns at the thir! fleors. Detween the towers
there are two dormer windows with stone trans-m bars anl mullions, crowne!l by
fi1lials and richly carve! rables, which repeat the hanisnme fnlinte enframement nf
the 1noeia belw. An interestin~ feature of the columns in the lcrgia is the
contrast between the swirled arcovine f the unper nortion ~f the shaft and the
smysth treatment »f the lonper, lower prrtion.

The senernlly rouch-face', random ashlar stonew rk at the front is eciven
interest by the usc ~f alternatinec lan's of Lroa! an’ narr~w stonewnrk in the
towers “nd at the sile walls. Intricate and teautiful foliate reliefs 2nt! bands
~f nrnanent, 1n flowing patterns, provide a remarkably cffective contrast to the
ru 'g¢d character »f the walls. The extranrdinary nrnament comiines Romancsque
an' Tyzentine traditions. The ban' ~f corved stone ot the s»rinrline ~f the
entrance arches has a ’iffcrent pattern in each seement, but all of the patterns
are relnted t~ the masnificent carving of the capital on the contral column
hetveen the 4nors.  Another especially strikint fenture is the carve’® enframerent
cf the third story loroia,

The exterinr of the minsirn is amazanrly well-rreserve! 2n’ has been usel for
almost half a century as a private schonl. Comparison with carly rublisheld views
inticates virtually no alteration, The hcuse remnins one of the ~utstandins sichts
of Tresrect Park West and contributes sipnificantly t~ its imposins character.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between First § Second Streets

No. 53. This mansion, now the Brooklyn Ethical Culture Society's Meeting
lHouse, is the only other house on the blockfront and is separated from the school
by a yard. It was constructed in 1900-01 for Williarm H. Childs, the originator of
Bon Ami Cleansing powder. This magnificent residence, approached by a broad flight
of steps flanked by heraldic lions, is the work of the well-known architect, William
B. Tubby of Manhattan. It is one of the best examples of the rare neo-Jacobean
style in New York City. The dark red brick, laid up in Flemish bond, and the red
tile roof, contrast effectively with the white limestone bay window enframements and
gargoyles. Architecturzlly the emphasis is concentrated at the symmetrical street
facade which is crowned by a stepped, curved gable. The symmetry is further main-
tained by the equal treatment of the front door and arched window and by the paired
pilasters flanking them. The wide second floor bay is surmounted by a stone bai-
ustrade forming a balcony for the handsomely enframed windows of the third story.
In the upper part of the gable, an interesting window is tied to the top of the
third floor windows below by a panel, a stone drip molding and a carved medallion.
A finial crowns the bold gable and completes this fine composition. The south
wall is dominated by a single steep gable and two tall chimneys. Projecting out
from this wall, at first floor level, is a low balustraded wing added by Tubby in
1907 to house a sunny morning room with a basement billard room below--all set in
a spacious yard (Yos. 55-57) which extends to Second Street and is enclosed by a
handsome wrought iron railing with brick piers.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Second & Third Streets

WEST SIDE {MNos. 61-65)

No. 61, at the southwest corner of Second Street, was also designed by
#'illiam B. Tubby and built in 1910 for %William H. Childs' married daughter Mary,
YMrs. Ernest G. Draper. This brick residence, with a tile roof and boldly pro-
jecting copper cornice carried omn brackets, contrasts stylistically with the
earlier house designed by Tubby across the street. Shallow pr¢jecting bays, hor-
izontal stone bandcourses and panels at the top story lend further interest to ths
English crossband brick walls. In general, the design is reminiscent of North
Italian provincial architecture which enjoyed a brief vogue in this country. Al-
though the house has a Prospect Park 'lest address, the entrance is on Second Street,
an arrangement which is typical of many cornmer buildings.

MNos. 63, 64 and 65, the three adjoining houses, were built in 1919-20 for
Vialter Kraslow, of Brooklyn Heights, and desipned by Brooklyn architect William
T. McCarthy, with City tax abatement privileges. The growing importance of the
automobile is reflected ir the driveways between these houses leading to rear
garages, as at Nos. 13 and 15 and at Mos. 29 and 31. Each driveway is entered
beneath a brick archway erclosed by wrought iron gates. These symmetrical houses,
modified Georgian in style, are constructed of brick laid up in Flemish bond with
double stretchers. Interesting features are the loggias at the second stories,
arched at the center house, and the trellised sundecks at the top floors of the
end houses.

{The remainder of this blockfront to Third Street and the blockfront between
Third and Fourth Streets zre outside of the Historic District.)

PROSPECT PARX 'EST Retween Fourth § Fifth Streets

VEST SIDE (Nos. 84-93)

The blockfront between Fourth and Fifth Streets is occupied by four apartrent
houses known as Mos. 86, 88, 90 and 92. Each is four stories high, with shallow
curved bays flanking central prejecting stairwells. They were built in 1508-09
for the Roundtree Realty Company, the owmer-architect. The rusticated first floors
and the stairuell projections are precast stonework, also used as lintels,quoins,
and bandcourses with dark red brick walls at the upper stories.
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PROSPECT PsRK 1.B3T Between Fourth & Fifth Strects

A deeply embossed sheetuet.l architrave is crowned by a well-proportioned classical
roof cornice, carried on conscle brackets. The style is generally nco-Classical
with scme neo~Federal detail, although the central projecting stairwells with their
curved sides and rich detcil suggest the influence of the French Beawx Arts style,
Since the vindows in the stairwell are at the landings, they do not align with
those on either side. The second story landing windows above the doorways have
miniature balustrades flanked by Ionic columns, carried eon lion's head brackets,
which support arched pediments, The bas relief panels in the pediments above the
windows display female figures. The two uppermost stairwell windows share common
enframements with panels between t hem. These are crowned by low parapets with
carved openwork panels. Projecting iron-framed vestibules with Greek details are
connected to the wrought iron fences in front of all the houses. The regular
rhythm of the curved bays, punctuated by richly detailed stairwells, produces a
uniformly dignified blockfront.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Fifth & Sixth Streets

wEST SIDE (Nos. 94-107)

Nos. 94, 99, 100, 101 and 102. (Nos. 95, 96, 97 are omitted from the street
nuzbering sequence.) Of this row of five neo-Italian Renaissance apartment houses,
built as townhouses, No, 102 retains still its original L-shaped stoop while the
others have been converted for basement entrances. They were built in 1899 for
Charles Hart. The handsolme brownstone facades display a wealth of ornament. They
have three-story curved bays surmounted by balustrades which serve as decks for the
recessed fourth floor loggias behind them. The first floors are rusticated with®
arched doorways; the keystones support the fluted corbeled sills of the windows
above them. Crowning these windows, in turn, are oval windows with flowing floral
enframements. The top floors provide a powerful unifying element for the row with
their loggias, horizontally banded stonework, and boldly projected cornices. Nc.9%4
has another entrance on Fifth Street, and this elevation continues both the first
floor rustication and banded stonework of the top floor. The tiered windows are |
asymmetrically arranged and have "broken" pediments at the third story.

Nos. 103-107. These five handsome buildings were also built in 1899 as one-
family dwellings, Charles G. Peterson, who lived nearby on Seventh Street, com-
missioned Brocklyn architect Axel S. Hedman to design them. All these houses re-
tain their handsome L-shaped stoops, except No. 103, where a basement entrance has
been provided. Iike their neighbors to the north, they are neo-Italian Renais-
sance in design, with light-colored sandstone facades above rusticated basements.
They displey some fine ornament and have three~story bays, curved alternating with
three-sided, The corner house, No. 107, which is entered on Sixth Street, has a ,
full-width, swell-front end facing the park, Oval-shaped windows alternate with °
square-headed onas at the top floors in tlias row and the ornament of the walls at)
this level and of the roof cornices give these houses a certain feeling of opulence,
The long side of No. 107 on Sixth Street has a columhar entrance porch surmounted
by a low balustrade behind which there is a triple window with = pediment in the .
center. A three-story wing at the rear of the building repeats the swell-front
design at its west end,

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Sixth & Seventh Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 108-117)

!

This blockfront is typical of an architectural scheme used in many Brooklyn
residential areas to unify the street visually: a long row of three-story houses
is enframed by higher four-story resiiences at the ends. (Continued on next page).
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PROSPLCT PrRK WEST Between Sixth & Seventh Streets

It was built in 1896 by ovmer-builder~architect Charles G. Peterson, the same

owner who, in 1899, hired architect axel Hedman to design the row to the north for
him, PFunctionally this scheme is a good arrangement, with the row houses facing
the avenue -- in this case, the park ~— and the higher terminal houses facing the
side streets, It is interesting to note that the higher four-story end house is.
rno wider than the three-story row houses between them, Uhat makes this block par-
ticularly fine is its relatively simple treatrent, wherein the brick fronts accord
so well with the brick ends while the cornices, supported on evenly spaced console
brackets, are sisilar throughout and practically continuous but, nonetheless, still
returned 1n profile ai the ands to make clear the individuality of each row house,
While the row houses have alternating curved and three-sided, two-story bays, the
end houses, entered al the side streets, have full-width, swell-front bays facing
the park, further emphasizing the terwinal quality of these buildings. Buildings
such as these, taken collectively, were the town-planners dream and, with regard

to unity and coherence, fitted right into the new "City Beautiful" scheme promulga-
ted by the planners of the Cnicago Fair of 1893. Handsome L-shaped stoops lead up
to the entranceways and what little Jdetail tnere 1s could best be described as neo-
Renaissance, What is noteble here is that the houses have style, bul not so much
individually as collectively where the vhole blockfront shows us thoit this ovmer-
builder-architect was striving for something better than the average -- 2 solution
for the problem of ho's to handle the row house 2nd of how to lend it both interest
and distinction, Nos. 108 and 117 have the lonr sides, fromwlach they are entered,
on the side streets. These facades, though a block apart, are prectically identi-
cal. They have low curved porches at the entrances and feature symmetrically
placed chimney-type projections, which begin «t the third floors and are carried on
cornice projectors at thi:s same level,

PROSPECT PARK WLST Between Seventh & Righth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 118-130)

Nos., 118-120. Build in 1899 as private residences, tnese three neo-Italian
Renaissance buildings are very sinilar in design to Nos. 94-102, which were buxlt
in the same year, for the same owner Charles Hart. Uuilliam J. Ryan, of Brooklyn,
was the architect. The houses are of brounstone with rusticated first floors which
are carried around the side elevation, as are the handsome paneled cornices and the
banded stonework of tne fourth floor. Loggia~like wondows at the fourth floor are
set behind Ionic columns and surmount the three-story curved bays. The bay at the
corner house (No. 118) extends the full width of the end and is curve-sided, re-
flecting the fact that tias building is entered on Eignth Street at No. 610, Here,
a handsome porch with colurns, at first floor level, is approached by an cffset
flight of steps parallel to this side of the house.

Nos. 121-122, This pair of houses, built as one-~family dwellings, is remark-
ably similar tc the row in the block to the north. The houses were built in 1896
for trilliam Fuller and designed by Brooklyn Heights architect George Miller, With
their curved one-story bays and doorways flanked by columns, they are influenced
inthalr detail by the Italian Renaissance, despite the rough-faced stonework
of the bays which recalls Romanesque Revival prototypes. The upper flecors are of
brick and each house is crowned by individual ccrmces carried on console brackets
with dentils beneath,

No. 125 (Nos 123-130) "The Hillhurst Lpartments" is a large brick corner
building with central entrance court facing the park, tuilt in 1916 for Richard
Bridgette and aesigned by arc.itect Harry Moore. It is dignified in its simplicity,
relying for its effect on a rusticated limestone first floor quoins and a top
story set off by a bandcourse which forus the sills of the sixth floor windows, It
is crowned by a cornice carried on evenly spaced console brackets. The side eleva-
tion on kighth Street i1s quite simalar, but is co.pletely flush and without entry,

—36~
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Letwecn Eighth § Ninth Strccts

WEST SIDE (Nos. 131-140) ,

No. 131 (131-135) and No. 136 (13¢-137) arc twn six-story apartment houscs
built in 1903 for Ballerson and Wexler and Jesigneld Ly architect-builders Sass &
Smallheiser. With their two-story, hizh rusticated Ynses anl elalonrate entrance-
ways, they are typical of the leaux Arts style of the Eclectric period. The pro
jectins twn-story high arched entrance of No. 131 has a concave profilce through
which the rustication lines arc carried. It is surmounte! by a cornice slab carried
on large diapgonally placed brackets crowne' hy urns. Above this, a thrce-steory
ticr of winlows is enframed Ly masonry keyel to the brackwork -- a thene which 1s
repeate! at the corners of the huilding, both at the front an! the sile. The fifth
story is crowned by a dentiled bandcourse, which serves as sills for the t~p floor
winlows. This building, and presumably No. 136, were byth once crowned by the hands.-
cornice which remains intact along the north side of No. 131, No., 136 is identical
in trectment except that its frent ‘oor 1s surmcunted by a 'broken' peliment, em-
phasize! by an arched window above it an! a balcony at the third floor.

No. 147 (No. 133-1i2). This hanlsomc four-story anartment house, "The
Litchfiell,” is listinctly nco-Italian Renaissance in style. The imposing entrance
is at No. 573 Ninth Street. It was built in 1503 for Theodore Jenkins and Herman
Galitzka and was .lesigned by the Farfitt “rothers. It has = rusticate: stone base-
ment ani first floor, with Romnn brick above. The winlows have terra cotta en-
framements thosc at the top flo-r have ornate nilasters between them. The long
Ninth Strcet sile has zn entrance pcrch supporte® on Tonic columns and crownel by
a heavy archel peliment, decorate? by a richly enframel shield. Above this central
Joorway, recesses at cach floor inseni~usly acermmo late the fire escape. The
nrcportions, qusins, escutcheons an' crnate reof cornice give this building its
neo-Italian Renaissance character. The chimney At the southcast corner is carriel
on an n~rnate corbel at the sccond floer,

(The blockfront betwecn Ninth and Tenth Street is outsile the Historic District)

FROSPECT PARK WEST setwecen Tenth & Elcventh Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 152-161)

Nos. 152-156. This umformly designe? row of threc apartment houscs, <esipn-
el by Zrooklyn architect Thomes Tunnctt, was built in 1899 fcr Teter Larson. In
style, these four-story builldints reflect, classicel influence. No. 152, the
corner buil‘'ing, has a sno~th-face! limestone first floor with brick above and a »
curve corner bay making the transition t~ the Tenth Strect Si‘e, where the cen-
tral entrance peorch is lecated. The adjoining apartment houses facing the park
(Nos. 154 and 156) arc identical, with full-heicht, curvel bays flankiny central en-
trances, both cf which have porches with Isnic columns sumountea! by low balustradcs.
Above these porches there is a singlc pedimentel window. Horizontal stone bani-
crurses at cach flocr and arched windows at the top fluors lenl unity to these
three apartment houses, which are constructed ~f Poman trick. They arce further
linke'! by a continuous roof cornice carriel on cemsnle brackets with classical
swags an the fascia.

=77 -
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PROSPECT PARK 'EST Tetween Tenth and Eleventh Strects

Nos. 157-161. This aroup of five four-story apartment houses, built in 1899,
15 interestine because they still show traces »f Romanesaue Revival styic,
in spite of their renerally classical character. They were built by owner-builder
Christian Drenccke nnd werc desiened hy Procklyn architect Frank Holmberg. The
four anartment hnuses facing the park frrm a unified aroup, with full-heirht,
curveld end hays and pairet three-story bays 2t the center. In cach case, the bays
flank rairet doorways. The first flenrs are of smonth-faced linestone and the
unper flonrs of Roran brick. All of the windnws are squarc-headed, but thnse at
the first and second flears have stone transom bars which are repeated over the
Jrorways. The classical roof cernices have swars and Jefine each buildin~. The
corner amartment house (No. 161), entered »~n Eleventh Street, althouch alivned in
its flonr heights with the row facin-s the rark, 1s treated quite differently, with
a rusticated base of li~ht-colored. mnlded brick. The Raman brick ibove this basc
is similar to that in the adjoininc row, except that it is made to simulate rust-
icatinon at the first floor, wncrc~s the r » U this level is € 1a~ st no
In the corner building, the scuare-hended windows are all enframed in terra cotta

at the upper floors and the prime unifying feature i1s thd similer clessical rorf ey

The apartment house is entered on 1ts lonc side, at N~. 649 Eleventh Street. Thas
facade is completely symmetrical. The dnorway, flanked by columns, is set in a
full-heinht, projectine bay flanked by flush bays, of about the same width. These,
in turn, are enframed by brcal projected bays, twn wind~ws wide, and flanked by
curved corner bays at the ends. The central bay, above the doorway, has arched,
windows crowned at the top by a bull's eye win'ow.

PRCSNPECT PARK WEST Between Eleventh § Twelfth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos 162-169)

No. 162-163 is a larpe four-story corner apartment house of brick with its
entrance on the side street. It is described under No. 642 Eleventh Street.

Nes. 164 and 165 are two four-story apartment houses built for William Murphy,
according to rlans by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. In Jesign they are pract-
ically identical tc Nos. 154 and 156 in the block to the north, which were also

desined by DBennett for annther owner. Again, they reflect classical influence, the

only noticeable difference beine one of detail. The windows above the entrance
porches have ornamented blocks of stone in lieu of pediments

a motif which is repeated above the parloar floor and the third story windows, which
is not the case at Nos. 154 and 156. It is interesting to note how archltectural

desinns, readily identifiaeble with certain architects, rccur throughout the District.

repardless of their ownership.

¢

No. 166-169. With an unusually long frontare on Prospect Park West, thls
four-story apartment house of brick was built in 1500 for Thomas Crawford and’
designed, like the apartment adjoininr 1t tc the north, by Thomas Dennett. This
apartment house is entered both from Prospect Mart Mest and from Twelfth Street!
The entire front facing the park has a strona sense of horizontality, produced by
many ornamental bands of terra cotta at each floor. In addition, stone bandcourses
serve as sills for the windows at each floor. All of these herizontal lines are
interrupted by a full-heisht, vertical bay above the off-center donrway, edred by
similar terra cotta bands and enclosing arched stair landing windows and decorative
terra cotta panels. A handsome entrance porch supnorted on columns, with two-sided
apprcaches, shelters the donrway. The top floor is unified by the intreoduction of
arched windows and by an unusual classical cornice cerried on deep brackets with
conventional console brackets in between them. Full-height, curved bays are los
cated at each end of the park facade of the buildines, with shallow curved hays )

flanking the main entrance. By comparison, the Tweclfth Street side is quite narrow,

and features an entrance at No. 525 with an L-sharel stor~p enframed hy columns

su~nrtines an entablature. hove it, as on the front, are arched stair windows with

ornamental terra cotta panels above and below them. An interesting tier of blind
windows and panels of brick appears just behind the curved corner bay. :

s
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PROSPICT PARK WEST Cetween Twelfth & Thirteenth Strcets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 170--178)

g0 17 =171 This l1°r ¢ ¢ Tacr S, vt et heuss C 1003, 'The Yallerf , is des-
cribe’ un'er No. 524 (Mu. 520-520) Twelfth Street

Nes. 172-178.  These feur dienificd limestone aportment houscs show the in-
fluence ~f the Ecnle Jdes Deaux Arts in the rather frec handlin, of their Fronch
lenaissance design elements. They were built in 1901 for Jacnb Livinrsston ant,
like No. 131 to the north, were desipnel by architect-builders Sass & Smallheiser.
Nns. 172, 174 and 176, the threc apartment hcuses facin~ the tark have a comprehens-
ive symmetry of their own. The center buildinr, Fo. 174, has full-heicht, shallow
curved bays flanking the central entrance, whercis the two (ut T ones, Nos. 172 and
176, h~ve full-height, three-sided bﬂys. The first floors arc rusticated and all
three Jnorways arce similer, with nscu'o-balennies carried on vertically placed
consn~le brackets. The vertical console bracket theme recurs at the thlrﬂ floor:

bay windcews. A continuous cornice supported on censole brackets has unusual pairoed
dwarf rilasters set under cvery fourth or fifth bracket with swars in the fascia
between them. Althouph it is entered frem Thirtcenth Street, No. 178, the corner
arartment house, blends with the row facinr the nark. It has a flush facalde, |
broken only by a tower at the ccrner. The lons side on Thirteenth Street, is of
brick, cxcept that the rusticated first flnor of the adjoininc hcuses 1s repeated
here. The entrance has a balcony carried on vertical console brackets with naired
windnws above, separatcd by a carved panel [y ., the windows of the third story.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Thirtcenth § Fourtecenth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nns. 179-186)

Nes, 179-186. This row, like the onc between Sixth and Seventh Strects, is
interestin~ because it has a similar rlannin~ concept. The entire blockfront is
architecturally uniform, with the end apartment houses carried slightly forward,
thc diarenal breaks in the front wall ‘1nk1nn them to the row facing the rark. The
row was built for Louis Deer in 1901, according to plans by Irocklyn architect
William Debus, who also desipned some fine hcuses in the Stuyvesant Heichts arsa.
The DProspect Plrk West row is lesioned in a2 uniform style of architecture, showing
the influence of the French Eccle des Deaux Arts. This is most apparent in the
full-height rustication of the limcstone facadcs and in their archel doorways
which interrupt the line of the cornice »t sceend flcor level. The end apartment
hnuses, entered from the side streets, are the same heicht as the row facin~ the
rark, but unlike them have rusticated brickwork ahove the rusticated limestone’ j
first floors. They have identical arched entrances, fianked by oval windows, énd
are crowned by an unusual two-stery feature, in which the second and third story
paired windows are joined vertically by carved stone panels. The third story [
parred window is arched, with the lines of the Tusticatinns carried in to meet-,
the 2rch as stone voussoirs. This cntire central scction is set ff "y ﬂﬂnc1‘§
rilastcrs, set or corbels, extendinv throuch the second and third flonrs and {
surmounted by short fluted cnes at the fourth flonr. The pilasters are repeated
at either side of the curvel corner bay and near the breaks 1v the frent w-ll facinm
the park. The handsome rocf cornice, which once crowned all these buildinos, m$y
still be seen at the south facade of the apartment house nn Fourteenth Street.

The doorways are approached by two-sided stonps, with handsome wrought iron handrzail

¢

inrts running parallel to the fronts of the buildings. iy
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NAMED STREETS

JCWEELEY TLACL TO UrInet o7 RET
DJERKELEV PLACE
Berkeley ["lace extends from Fifth Avenuc east to Plaza Strect. UWest of Fifth

Avenue 1t becomes Sackett S:ireet, the oririnal nome for Nerkeley Tlace. Sackett
Strcet was chanped to Derkeley I'lace in 1881, in honor of Georae Derkeley, an
Episcopal Minister and educator who spent the years 1728-31 in the American Colonies.
The curriculum at Kinr's Collerec (Columbia Collere) was base' upon many of his
Jucational princinles. The development of Nerkeley Mlace, within the District,
began in the early 1370s, and was completed by the early ninetics. Two frame houses
in the block from Sixth Avenue tn Seventh Avenue date back to the early 1£60s and
were the only buildinss on Sackett Street, cast of Fifth Avenue, which appear on
the Drinps Map of 1868. Terkeley Mace is nne of the handsomest residential streets
in the District.

BERKELLY "LACE Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 74-84)

No. 74-84. This corner house is described under Nn. 188 Sixth Avenue.
The rest of the street to the west is not included in the Historic District.

BERKELEY PLACE Cetween Sixth § Seventh Avenues
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 86-168)

No. 86-96. This corner house with parage behind it is described under No.
193 Sixth Avenue.

Nos. 100 (98-100) anl 102. Thesc two unusual houses, east of the corner housg,
rise three full stories above low basements, have nen-Grec "¢tail and are crowned
with mansard ronfs. They were built in 1879-80 for John S. Brooks and were de-’
signed by the architectural firm of Parfitt Brothers, architects of the nearby St.
Augustine's Church on Sixth Avenue (outside the Historic District), Grace Methodist
Church on Seventh Avenue and numerous houses within the District. To the west of
No. 98-100 therc is a ten-fcot accessway which leads bhack to a stable at the rear
of the lot. 1In 1887 a two-story addition for a private school was made at No. 102.
Of this pair of flush-fronted brownstones, No. 100 retains its original doorway and
window trim of Mova Scotia stone, replete with nen-Grec ornament, while Neo. 102
retrins the original handscme detailing of its mansard roof with dormer windows.
Three steps lead up to the main entrance.of No. 100, which is flanked by nrilasters
with craisply carved capitals, above which two console brackets support the cornice
slab. At the level of the capitals there is a wide band, of floral design, which
intersects the parlor floor windows at impost block level of this unusual house.
Neo-Gree detail is much in evidence at the window enframements. The third floor
windows arc tied tonether by floral bandcourses, similar to those at the parlor floor

Nos. 104 and 106. This pair of nen-Grec hrownstone dwellines, with typical
incised Jecoration, was berun in 1332 for M. M. Vail from desians by Brooklyn.
architect M. J. Morrill. The fronts have full-heicht, two-sided bays, the right
side of which at No. 104, advances to meet the end wall of No. 102. The rcof
cornice follows the angular profile of the fronts and 1s divided by wnoden brackets
with nancls betwecen them. The windows and deorways are enframed in the neo-Grec
manner with incised ornament. 1Iron crestines crown the cornice slabs of the en-
trances. The original entrance tn No. 106 has been replaced Ly onc at bascment level
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BERKELEY I'LACE  Retween Sixth & Seventh Avenucs

Nos. 108, 110, 112. This row of threc nen-Crec brownstoncs, hepun in 1383
ty owner-builder-architect Van Voast and Ward, of Lrooklyn, 1s similar to Nns. 104
and 106. They have iacised -lecoration and acrnteria at the window pediments. The
iron cresting over the doorway cornice slabs ant the ironwork ~f the stoops are
preserved at two of the houses. As a row, taken tneether with Nos. 184 and 106,
the sharp angularity of the bays accented by the roof cornice, makes an interesting
silhouettc apainst the sky.

Nes. 116 and 118 (No. 114 is —nitte’ from the street numbering systen).

The ncxt two houses, of frame construction, are the oldest on Derkeley V'lacce and
amons the rldest in the Park Slope area. James DBrady sold the land on which No.
116 now stands to Brocklyn architect M.J. Morrill in May 1862, and also owned the
adjoinine property. 1In 2ll likelihood, Morrill was associated with the construc-
tion of both houses in 1862. Althoupgh both of these frame hcuses have been re-
surfaced, No. 118 retains mwuch of 1ts original appearance, and is approached by 2
low wood stoop with wrought iron railings. The doorway is sheltere! by a pr--
jectin® heod, also of wnod, restins on a pair of laree wood brackets. A simple
bhracketed wood roof cornice crowns this interestine little house.

Nos. 120, 124, 126 (No. 122 is ~nittce' frem the strect numberine systen),
This row of three brownstones was built in 13978 by ~wner-builder-architect Albert
Wilkinson of Brooklyn Heirhts. The stoops have been remnved and entrances are now
provided at basement level. The evenly bracketed cornice nf No. 126 remains, as
do the wroucht iron window ~uards at the basements of all three. The scale and
rroportions of this row are quite harmonious with those of their meighbors to the
east.

Nos. 128-140. These scven houses, likc their neichbrrs acress the street, Nos.
127-135, were planncld to accemndate three families each and were built by Themas A
Brush of Fort Greene. Crooklyn architect Frederick E. Lockwand desisned Nos. 128-
1190 1n 1882. They are threce-story, nco-Grec brownstones with bracketed roof
cornices and hirh stoops. All the steops an! handrailings are nreserved, except at
No. 136 where winr-walls, surmounted 'y a pair of unusual stonc sphinxes, have been
ad“ed. The hanlsome nco-Grec enframements of the broad doorways are repeated on a
smaller scale at the windows. Thesc enframements have been removed at twn of the

houscs.

(Nos. 142 and 144 have been oriatted from the street numberine syster.)

Nos. 146, 145, 150. These three French Second Cmpire brownstrnes are
three stories above hirh rusticatel basements. Thev were built on lots soll late
in 1875 by Penjamin Estes to builler Samuel lenry, and are remarkably similar to
the row non the east side cof Scventh Avenue between St. John's Place and Lincoln Place
Iackine only the nmansard r>efs. Only 16'8° wile, they have sinele large rarlor floor
windows and seamental-arched windows at hasement level. There are two windlews at
ench ~f the upper floors, all arc squarc-heale! and have handsome enframements.
cntrances, approache! by hish stoops, are archied and arc surmounted by low arche!l
pe'iments carried on acanthus leaf console brackets. The orierinal dcuble doors,
twe of which remain, ~re exceptionally tall and have heavy moldinas framine the panel
The curved ton panel of cach /loor 1s slazed to allow liecht in the vestibule. The
ronf cornices rest on a series of closely snaced nes -Grec brackets.

o
1

ae

No. 152 is a rarace, with chauffeur's quarters above, built in 3925 for
Alfred E£. Clenn, who then lived at No. 104 Eichth Avenue, the former Luckenb-ch
nansien, which he had brucht 1n 1929. Cle~n was a2 vice-president of the Kerr
Stesmship Company. The raraece was desicned by the Lrooklyn architectural firm of
Murphy § Lehmann. This charmine, small twn-story buildine, wnspired by Tudor
architecture, is constructed of tapestry brick with limestonc trim. The arnound
flnor contains a wide sermental-arched entrance to the eoarare, with nancled wool
dnors. To the left is the cntrance to the unper floors, sheltered by a penke! hont
The well o~hove the entrance 1s recesse! 1 few fect to meet a chimney stoack which,
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PERKELEY PLACE  Between Si<th § Seventh Avenues

together with a high peaked pable, pives a picturesque silhouctte tn the buildine.
Sct in the ¢able, above the rarage door, is a three-sided oriel with casement windows
crowned by a crenellated piarapet.

Nos. 154, 156, 158. DReoun in 1886, this row of three neo-Grec brick houscs
have threc-story, two-sided bays rising full height which are crowned, except at
No, 158, by unusually steep slate roofs of polygonal form giving the effect of towers
The main rocf cornices, just below these steep roofs, are supported on colonettes
and crowned by small archel pediments at the apexes of the bays. To the left of
the bays, lower mansard roofs contain single dormer windows. The stone window
lintels display an unusual fan-shapel detail at their upper corners. The front
entrances, approachel by hagh stoops, are surmounted by lintels carried on brackets.
The balustered handrailinss, the newel posts and the yard railing at No. 154 are
the originals.

Ne. 158A. This building, with a store at street level and apartments above,
was Jlesigned by Drooklyn architect J. G. Glover in 1892 for M.H. Kern. The wall
rlane of the building is advance:d and then carried back diaronally to mcet the
end wall of No. 160, thus effectins a smonth transitiocn betwecen the two. The store
front, with two display windows beneath a bracketed rooflet, preserves its orininal
appearance. The facade is treated with diamon” patterned bands of brickwork be-
low the cornice and third flcor windowsills. It occupies the former rear yard of
No. 78 Seventh Avenue.

No. 160-168 has beeén ‘cscril.cl unler No. 78 Seventh Avenuc. It has a roof
cornice which is very similar to those of Nos. 154-158, thus relating this corner
apartment house to the thrce neo-Grec residences to the west.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 85-167)

No. 85-95(97). This corner house has been described under Ne. 191 Sixth
Avenue.

Nos. 99-109. These six Romanesque Revival apartment houses appear from the
strcet to be three buildings, since they share entrances under cavernnus stone
arches located at the cenzer of each pair. These cntrances are flanked by full
heicht shallow curved bays. The buildings were berun in 1888 for Messrs. Hill §
Sharp of Precklyn and were desisned by the well-known Manhattan architect C.P.H.
Gilbert who was active elsewhere in the District. Each pair of units has a complete
ly symmetrical four-story brick facade with random ashlar basement. Terra cotta
panels with Landsome and unusual floral patterns adorn the walls and the bays
beneath the third floor windows. With the exception of the end bays, all the bays
arc crowned by peakel slate pables which are set at cornice level, just above the
actual roofs of the bays. Just below the bracketed ccrnice, hetween the bays,
there are sections of patterned brickwork. Therc is a bols! sill course with cor-
belled brackwork supportine the rouch-faced stone windowsills at the second floor
which runs the entire lenoth of the row.

Nos. 111-117. Tuilt in 1873 by architect-owner-carpenter F, W. Swirm of
Brooklyn, these four brownstone houses are each three storics eabcve a hich base-
ment. Less than sixteen feet wide, they have only two windows at each upper floor,
the sin7le parlor and basement windows being unusually wide. The original entries
have triangular pediments supported on neo-Grec console brackets enframina arches
which are embellished with faceted keystones. The bracketed roof cornices repeat
the neo-Grec theme, except at No. 117, where the cornice has been remcved.
flandseme balustered handrailines remain at the stocps of Nos. 115 and 117. A
basement ertrance has been provided at No. 113.

~13-
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DERKELEY PLACE Detween Sixth § Scventh Avenues

Nos. 119, 123, 125 (No. 121 has heen omitted from the strccet numberinn system.)
Thesc three brownstones display certain neo-Grec features. Nuilt in 1874 by the
builder-developer Robert S. Bussinm, they risc three stories above hirh rusticated
basements. [Droad stoops, with the oriqinal balustered handrailines and newel pnsts
At Nos. 123 and 125 lead up to arched dnorways with pecdiments carried on brackets
above engaged columns. Reminiscent of the Italianate style, the cornices of the
tall parlior floor windows are carried on carved consocle brackets. Further em- :,
bellishing these windows are narrow panels bencath the sills which display circular
“otifs at their centers. All three houses retain their uniformly bracketed roof ,
cornices. i

L

Nos. 127-135. 1In 1880 these five brownstones were built by owner-architect-
builder T. H. DBrush of DBrooklyn. They were planned to accomodate three families
each, a radical departure in this area of single family Jwellings. With their .
full-heirht, two-sided bays, heavy bracketed cornices and incised ornament, they
are typically neo-Grec. Their agitated cornice line contrasts pleasingly with ¢
the flush fronts of the houses to the west. The low stoops are unusual for neo-
Grec houses in the Park Slope area, and, with their low wing-walls with wrousht iron
railings, they are very open in character. N

Dt

Nos. 137-147. These six brownstones with full-hei~ht, two-sided bays were
built by Park Slope architect-carpenter J. J. Gilligan in association with the
developer-builder John Monas. Nos. 143-147 were built in 1885 and Nos. 137-1419‘
were built in 1888. Neo-Grec in style, they have three stories above high basemepts,
approached by stoops at all the houses. Snme of them retain their original balus-
tered cast iron handrailings and their yard railines, best seen at No. 143. The !
neo-Grec pediments of the lintels above the entrances are repeated, on a smaller
scale, at all the windows with their characteristic "ears" and incised decoration.
These two groups of houses differ only in their roof cornices. The earlier rroup
has heavy brackets beneath which there is a series of closely spaced spindles set,
into the fascia. The later 7roup is less elaborate and has brackets with a series
of horizontal moldings telcw then. )

Nos. 149-153. These three ''flat houses', for four families each, were becun
in 1893 for owner Delanns of Derkeley Place. The desien of the buildings is late
Romanesque Revival with rough-faced limestone at thc first floor and lircht-colored
brick above. Limestone arches crown the windows above the arched entrances, which
are flanked by colonettes with basketwork czpitals. The squareheaded triple windows
at the first floor are divided by wood mullions and have transom bars with stained-
glass transoms. Above these triple windows, shallow three-story bay windows, resting
on ornamented corbels, rise up three floors. The roof cornice is supported on even-
ly spaced brackets above a row of dentils. o
i
[}

No. 155-157 is a one-story garace which fills the former rear yard of No. 7G
Seventh Avenue. ;'
T
No. (159-) 167 is the long side of the corner building, which is described
under No. 76 Seventh Avcnue. ’

H
i

DERKELEY PLACE Letween Seventh § Eichth Avenues

et v

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 170-252)

bt S TR

“n. 130(170-132) is t12 entraace of the apartment house which has a store . |
at No. 75-77 Seventh Avenue. This symmetrical four-story Romanesque Revival P
facade has a series of arches with flush voussoirs set in rough-faced stonework%j
at the first floor. One of these arches has a small door beneath it and the &
easternmost arch serves as the entranceway to the apartments above. 1

i
h
¢
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BERXELEY PLACE Retween Seventh § Eighth Avenues

.

A display window of the store occupies the westernmost arch. The fenestration 1s
conventional along the center section of the upper floors, with scomental arches

at the third floor and full arches at the fourth. At the ends of the facale

are threce-sided metal bay windows, which extend throush the second and third floors,
crowned by triple windows with arches at the fourth. A terra cotta cornice, sur-
mounted by a low parapet, displays an ornamental frieze in low relief. A dcep open
lot at the rear, east side, has permitted the inclusion of windows alon~ this sidc.

Nos. 184-202. Thesc ten nco-Grec brownstones were built during the years
1882-83 by owners Edward S. Sturces and John Magilligan, in associatinn with arch-
itect Amzi Hill. These houses form a unified row although certain variations in
detailine appear. They are three stories hipgh above basements, have full-height,
two-sided bays and all oripinally had high stoceps. At three houses the stoops
have been replaced by basement entrances. The orisinal Jdoorways have segmental
arches, cxcept for those at Nos. 138¢ and 136 which are squarc-headed. All the
doorways are flanked by grooved pilasters and brackets supporting simple cernice slab
which are still crowned by dclicate iron crestinpgs with corner finials at many of
the houses. Typical neo-Grec incised ornament adorns the winlow enframements and
many of the windows are surmcunte? by "eared" pedimental lintels. The roof cornices,
which follow the profiles of the bays, have panels between the brackets at MNos.
190-202 and are decorated with low relief ornament at Nos. 144-133. .

No. 204, completely d¢ifferent from its angular neighbers, has a flush face
with two-story, three-sidec masonry oriel set on a heavy bracketed corbel above the
basement windows. It was published in 1885 in The Architect and Puilding Weekly,

an architectural magazine, and was described as s being cwned by D. A. Boodry an-
tesimned by J. Y. Yalter, zrchitect. Althoush the housc has a rourh-faced evenly
coursel front wall, up throunh the first floor, with round arched entry, the brick
walls of the upper flonrs, crowned with a cornice decorated with swaps and a Flemish
rable above the dormer, show the influence of the then popular Queen Anne style.
There is a refreshing simplicity in the delicate letail of this house as contrasted
with the scale of the brownstones to the west. s

Nn. 206 is a six-story brick apartment hecusc with limestone facing at the!
first floor. It was built in 1923 for the Neiel Co., Inc..and was desipned by,
Lrooklyn architcet William C. Winter. The brickwork cf the upper floors is of -
Enclish bond and a brick panel, with vertically placed diamonds, appears on the
front face of the parapet, the top of which forms a low pediment.

V-

Nos. 208-212. These three brownstone houses are designe! to form an interesting
almost symmetrical, whole. They were berun in 1386. At the cnd hcuses, full-heicht,
two-sided bays are carried forward to meet their more advanced neighbors, whilé the
central hcuse, No. 203, has a two-sided bay to the rirht of the front door. These
houses are very rectilinear, with horizontal bandcourses interrupted by vertical
pilasters which form panels beneath the windows. The cornices are cnlivened by
bas-relief ornament and small panels. That at No. 208 retains its orieinal roof cros
ing cf cast iron, while No. 210 has becn surmounted by a low mansard roof with dorme:
The dormer window with broken peliment emphasizes the bay. .\ basemcnt entrance has
been provided 1t No. 212.

No. 220 (No. 214-232). This scven-story brick apartment house is symmetrical-
1y desirned around a shallow central entrance court. It was built in 1955 for the
Pumar Development Corporation and was desicned by the architectural firm of Kavy §
Kavoritt. Flanking the entrance court are two tiers of sinsle double-huno windnws,
the stone sills and lintels of which nre carried in toward the break in the wall at
the court to give the effect of corner windows., All the other windows are paired
and have horizontal zuntins and stone sills. A brick parapet crowns the buildin~.

v
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Nos. 234-238. These three handsome brownstones were begun in 1887 by owner-
builder William Gubbins, who also erected a number of houses on nearby Eighth
Avenue. They were designed by the well-known Brooklyn architect Charles Werner,
who often worked in association with Gubbins. Although seemingly quite conven-
tional, with full-height, three-sided bays, they have some very unusual detail:
colonettes set in the angles of the bays, vertical grooving in the panels
beneath the second and third floor windows and small squat pilasters between
the attic windows. All retain their original paired doors, approached by high
stoops with low wing-walls surmounted by handrailings terminating in newel
posts. The enframement of the entrance at No. 234 has carved ornament and a
curved molding which harmonizes with the colonettes of the bays.

No. 240 is a fine Romanesque Revival town house built for James Foster in
1187-88 and designed by Manhattan architect F. Carles Merry. It is remarkably
similar stylistically to the corner house, No. 52 Eighth Avenue, also designed
by Merry. The first floor and basement are faced with Euclid stone, set in
random ashlar. The arch of the main entrance is flanked by columns of unusual
design’ they seem to grow from the stone. Faces peer from the foliate carving
which surrounds this entrance. A two-story curved bay is crowned by a low wrought
iron railirng and by a large triple window set in a terra cotta enframed arch.

In a broad band of brickwork, between the lintels of the first floors windows
and the sills of those at the second, a diamond-shaped overall pattern is
created through the use of molded brick with bosses. The wall above this level
is brick and the three second story windows of the bay are set under a contin-
uous drip molding. To the left of these windows, an ornamental colored glass
window with arched top lends a dramatic emphasis to the front door below.

The roof cornice, supported on curved brackets, has three small, square attic
windows set in the band of the frieze below. An L-shaped stoop, with curved
sweep at the bottom, has random ashlar stone wing-walls leading up to the arched
doorway .

No. 242-252 is the long side of the mansion which is described under
No. 52-52 Eighth Avenue. A one-story brick addition now occupies the former
rear yard.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 169-251)

No. 169-179 is the long side of the two-story building, with extension
behind it, described under No. 73 Seventh Avenue.

No. 181, a one-family brownstone, was built in 1881-82 by neighborhood
owner-architect William Flanagan. A two-sided masonry bay rises full-height.
Neo-Grec in style, it has characteristic incised decoration and preserves its orig-
inal cast iron stoop, yard railings and bracketed roof cornice.

Nos. 183-195 (No. 189 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This row of six French Second Empire dwellings is very similar to the blockfront
of 1871-72 on the east side of Seventh Avenue between St. John's Place and Lincoln
Place, and was erected by the same two speculative builders, Robert S. Bussing
and Philip I. Cootey. No. 193 retains most of its original features and has,
as do the others in this row, three full stories above a high rusticated basement
and a mansard roof with dormers. Originally, each of the arched entranceways,
approached by a high stoop, was flanked by consoles supporting the pediment.
These consoles, carved with acanthus, are repeated on a reduced scale at the
long parlor floor windows where they support cornice slabs. New entrances at
basement level have been provided at some of the houses. At No. 193 the original
cast iron handrailings and yard railings have been retained. Charles Moore,
president of the Montauk Club at the time when it was being built, lived at No. 195.

Nos. 197-221 (Nos. 201 and 209 have been omitted from the street numbering
system). These eleven houses are the first of two long rows of neo-Grec brownstones
begun in 1883 by Brooklyn owner-architect J. Dougherty § Son. They are three
stories above high basements which are distinguished by horizontal grooves just
below the tops of the windows. Horizontal molded bandcourses define and emphasize
the two-sided masonry bays at cach floor. Most of the houses ratain their original
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TERKELEY PLACE Tetween Seventh § Eichth Avenues

hich stoops leading up to scamental-arched or squarce-headed deorways, which arc
flanked by eronve? pilasters and brackets supporting cornice slabs crowned by
iron crestings. The stone jambs of the windows, above the hasement, have unusu
chanfering at the edges. The left side of the bay at MNo. 197 is carrie! over
to meet the end wall of No. 185, making a smooth transition from the flush fronts

nf the French Second Empire houses to the more aritated nen-Grec row. The wond, !

ronf cornices display an interesting combination of fleurs e 1lis and rosettes and
follrw the ancular profiles of the bays. The rraceful cast iron roof cresting remains
at Nr. 211 and the oriminal cast irnn handrailings anl yard railings are best seen at

No. 217. At No. 221 an entrance has been provided at basement level. T3
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lNos. 223-235, This rcw of seven neo-fGrec brewnstones, erccted in 1£883-84,:was
built by the same owner-architect, Pasically, it is very similar tn the adjcining.
crour.  The entrance deoorweys, however, are different, with concave manels beneath
the m~rc ornate cornice slabs. Nns. 229, 231 ant 235 retain their nrivinal cast
ir~n handrazlilzs at the stnops and seme houses in this row retain their crestinss

~ver the entrance cornice slabs. :

(Mos. 237 and 239 have Leen rmitte’ from the strcct numbering system). [
No. 241-251 1s the len~ si1dc of the mansar '-rnnfed corner Muildine, deseribed
unicr Ne, 50 Eighth Avenue.

“ERKELFY PLACE ietween LEishth Avenue § Plaza Strect }1

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 254-276)
"
N>, 254-262 is the lono side ~f the corner hruse, with rear lot, ﬂcscribcﬂq
under Mo, 51 Eichth fvenuc. .
Nos. 264-272. This row ~f five handsome brownstene resicences in the shfrEI
rark block presents a distinpuishe? oppearance. These three-story houses abﬁve;hiqh
hasements were all huilt in 1836-57 by owner-builder William Gubbins, accordina;,
te the plans nf architect Charles "crner. The tw~ men were active torether else-
where ~n Lerkeley an! in the District. The three-sited tays of the houses are full-
height with bold bracketed an! pancled cornices which make an interestins profile
arainst the sky. Approachel by high stoors, with balustered cast iron han'railings
ant massive newel pests, the louble front doers are flanked by pilasters. Above
these rilasters, brackets carry stone balconies with nrnamental panels. Pasement
entrances have been provided at Nos. 264 and 270. The overall effect of these houses
is severcly rectilinear. This is perticularly noticeable in thoe tiered windows’
above the entrance cdnrrs, where the enframements are mode vertically continucus
and in the severely simple treatment ~f the smonth stonew~rk of the hays which
are relicved by herizental orocovin~ and Ly eare” ornamental pancls heneath the! windo
i,
No. 274-27¢. This lerre house was built fer George ". Tanaeman in 1890-91
and desiane! by the well-known Manhattan architectural firm of Lamb § Rich.
Tangenan was 2 re~klyn capitalist whase fortune was macde through the Royal and}
Cleveland Daking Powder Company. A son-in-law cf the noted Hnagland family, he
served 25 a trustee of the Hea~land Laboratory in Cobble Hill. The house was so
mch - admired by architects that it was illustrated in one of the very few helipchromn
prints of the "Impecrial Edition™ of the American Architect § Cuildinc News. (Plate
No. 844, Feb. 27, 1392). Dasically Romanesque Revival in 1ts picturesque asymmetry,
it nonetheless heralded the new Classicism in many of its details. Two and onch
half stories hich, it has a two-story curved bay to the left of the entrance. The
Pomanesque Revival features include the massive roush-faced rranite wall which en-
frames the open terrace in front, the Roman brick used at the sccond floor, the,
1ngria-like window with columns between the windows above the front door and the
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great central dormer window, with cherub brackets, set in the tile roof with smaill
lights in the upper sash of its windows. The roof 1s a quaintly designed gam~
brel with copper-faced Dutch steps running up the sides to meet the high paneled
chimneys near the apex of the roof. The emerging Classicism is at once evident:
in the front door enframement, where a handsome egg and dart frame is surmounted
by an entablature with the anthemion honeysuckle motif in the frieze; in the de-
tails of the loggia-likc window above it, including the Ionic capitals of the
columns and the shell motifs centered in each of the lintel-blocks: and .
in the very delicate cornice at the eaves which also extends around the top of
the curved bay. A recessed window, with boldly patterned stained glass, appears
to the right of the entrance. A narrow alley to the left of the house serves':
the rcar of the lot.

|
(No. 278-234 is the short side of the "Berkelcy Plaza Apartments 'V,
Mo. 39-41 Prospect Park West, which is outside the Historic District.) 14
{
NORTH SIDE (No. 253-263) i
No. 253-263 1s thc long side of the corner house, with rear lot, t

described under Mo. 49 Cighth \venue.
(No. 265-279 is the large corner apartment housc, No. 25 Plaza i
Street, which 1s outside the Historic District.) ;
b
CARRNLL STREET {
éu
One of the most sercne and charming streets in the District is 5
Carroll Street, named in 1869 for Charles Carroll of Carrollton, Maryland, a §
signer of the Declaration of Independence. Tall London planc trees line the {%

blockfronts between Seventh and Eighth Avenues. The blockfronts west of Elgh h
Avenuc are visually unified: in contrast, thnsc to the east contain an in- .
teresting variety of architcct-designed re51dcnccs and some highly lnlelduﬁlh
groups. Brownstones with rhythmically repeated full-height bays and high f
stoops dominate the western blockfronts, whilc a strikingly harmonious blend !

of materials, textures, colors and styles appcars towards the east. Terminating
this handsome strect at the Prospect Park West end arc two grand limestone
mansions which face each other.

K
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EQBROLL STREET Between Seventh Avenue § Polhernus Placce
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SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 776-784) f

-

Nos. 776-782, the first four houses within the District on this
side of the strcet, were begun in 1895 by Brooklyn nrchitect-owner Edward
S. Betts. These four houses were decsigned to create a unified street facade,
using Roman brick, limestone trim and a continuous copper roof cornice. The
two ccnter houses are unusually arranged with a stone enframement which
originally surrounded the two entrance door ways and the windows between them.:
Separated only by mullions with pilasters, these windows are horizontally
unified by their cnframement, their stone transom bars and their
continucus sills. The “v»rﬂll cffect of symnecry is maintaine’
hy the throe-siled c~pper-covercl nricls at the sccond floor level of the two ,
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enl houses. Another oriel, probably an ailitien, appears nt No. 730 and provides
the only note of asymmetry in the entire compesition. The treatment of the door
and winlcw enframements at the end houses intcpgrates the clements in a manner '
akin to the innovative style emerpinc at the same time in Chicago, with Frank
Llnyd Wrigsht its most notable practitioner.

No. 764, at the cerner of Polhemus Place, was berun in 1739 and desigmed by
"rorklyn architect Charles ‘Yerner for William A. Hall. It is constructed of brick
with rouch-faced brownstone trim. iasically Romanesque Revival in style, it has
an unusual horseshoe-arched entrance porch, surmounted by a deck with an openwork
stone parapet. A striking featurc is the nolyponal bay at the corner, now raised
one floor above the original roofline, the diagenal of which may be seen from
Polhemus Place. The side elevation on Polhemus Place has an interesting brick
chimney stack, expressing the flues within, carried on a brick corbel, ani arched
windows and recessed bay winlows. Romanecsque carving apnears in the hlocks at
the ends of the ra&king eave li-eas-2n~ in the coritals &f thewcolametics at the . roat
entrance porch. .

[
l

CARROLL STREET DRetwecen Polhemus Place § Fiske Place

1

P

cAyTI! SIDE (Nos. 706-£04) }
{
Ly
This row of nine houscs occupies this entire blockfront. It was begun in i
1829 by builder John Marillipan of Terkcley Place. They are three-story brownstones
above high basements, with full-height, three-sided masonry bays. Moldings provide
horizontal accents and interestins shadows at each flpoor of the bays. With only,one
exceptirn, all have retained their cripinal roush-faced hrownstone stoops and alsc
their handsome, original double doors ant doorways. The usc of the rouqh-faced}§tonc
is repeated in broad bands beneath all the windows. These houscs are typical Park
Slope brownstones of the late 1827s, with masenry transom bars and stained glass;
transcms at some of the parlor floor windows. In the work that Magilliran did pn
this block in the late 1330s, we see a stylistic prosression typical of that follow-
ed by sn many other builders in the area. Gralually the neo-Grec was supersedeég
by the increasingly popular, morc formal classical styles and by the Queen Anne%:

style. No. 802-304 has a long hrick facade with full-heisht bay and corbelle? :{
chimneys on Fiske {lace. No. 786 has an entrance »nn olhemus lace. H
i
CARROLL STREET Cetween Fiske Place § Eirhth Avenue fé
o L
i
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. £06-824) %,
£

i
H

Nos. 806-312. This row of four residences was built in 1391-92 and was déq
sipgned by architect Jchn C. Turne of Manhattan for William Irvine who lived west’
of the District. Romanesque in their overall desi~n, they nonetheless herald the
new Classicism in some of their detail. These thrce-story brownstones are an § |
interesting contrast to the hcuses built twoe years earlier on the bhlaockfront td'
the west. While the effect of that blockfront was one of shar) angularity, these
dirnified residences have a combinatinon »f flush walls with curved two-story bay§.
Proad banis of foliate carvel ornament, interspersed with human masks and animali
figures, contrast with the rtherwise smooth stonework of the bays. The entrancy
doorways arc approached by l-shaped stoops, except at No. 8§06, where a basemengf
entrance has been nrovided. These decorways have semi-circular arches with carvedd
spanirel panels at Nos. C10 and 812. The flanking rilasters, surmcunted by carve!?
capitals and brackets, suppnrt unusual stonc-roofed entablatures. The windows
above the docrways have arched reliments, with human heads and carving in the !
tynpina, supported on Zecp brackets. The sheetmetal roof cornices are classical

'
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in detail with dentils and brackets. Paneled stone wing-walls are striking features

of the L-shaped stoops, which have arched openings with grilles at sidewalk level.
The brick side of No. 806 is described under No. 1-7 Fiske Place.

The red brick apartment house at the corner, No. 814-824, which closes
the blockfront, is described under No. 130 Eighth Avenue. 3

CARROLL STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues s
NORTH SIDE (Nos.749-801) ¥

Two local builders who lived within the District, John Magilligan and )
William Flanagan, developed this entire blockfront between 1886 and 1889, with the
exception of only one house. {

b

Nos. 749-763, the first eight hnuses within the District on this side were
begun in 1886 by the neighborhood architect-builder John Magilligan. These
brownstones with full-height, two-sided bays arc typical examples of the French,
neo-Grec style more fully described at Nos. 115-137 on the north side of
St. John's Place. Of this three-story row above high basements, only two retain
the cast iron handrailings, balusters, newels and yard railings of their stoops.
It is likely that they all had small balustrades above the cornice slabs of the
entrances, but only one remains, at No. 753. The roof cornices have moldings :
and panels, ’ e

Nos. 765-775. 1In-1887 John Magilligan began building these six brownstones,
introducing to the blockfront full-height, three-sided masonry bays. In prac-
tically all respects, these buildings are similar to Nos. 927-941 President
Street and have some neo-Grec detail. Many of the original cast iron balustered,
yard railings and handrailings with sturdy newel posts remain at the stoops. At
No. 765 and No. 769 the charming carved panels, beneath the central parior !
fioor windows, and the capitals of the pilasters of the bays are enlivened by .
cherub heads depicted in various moods. The roof cornices are similar to those:
of Magilligan's row to the west, with the addition of brackets. :

Nos. 777-789. This row of seven brownstones was also built by owner-
architect John Magilligan but was begun a year later, in 1888. Stylistically, the
houses are similar to those he built across the street in 1889 (Nos. 786-794),
with full-height bays with curved sides. These houses are approached by high, .
L-shaped stoops with low, rough-faced stone wing-walls. This rough-faced stonewprk
reappears in bands beneath all the windows. i

Nos. 791-797. William Flanagan, onc of the principal developers of the I;
District, was the owner-architect of this masonry row begun in 1902. The orna-,
ment of these handsome houses alternates in an ABAB pattern. Nos. 795 and 797 are
of brownstone; the other two are limestone which became more popular after the -
turn-of-the-century as the neo-Classical influence increased. These houses have
full-height curved bays, accented by horizontal moldings and panels of ornament’’
At Nos. 791 and 795 the piers of the bays and the pilasters flanking the
donrways are rusticated and these entrances are crowned by triangular pediments:
enframing cartouches. Nos. 793 and 797 have pilasters with ornate capitals
separating the windows at the parlor floors, Ionic at No. 793 and Corinthian at.
No. 797. These orders, repeated at the semi-engaged fluted columns flanking .
the entrances, support entablatures crowned by ornate crestings. The L-shaped
stoops of these houses have square, fluted posts at Nos. 793 and 797, carved ;
panels in bas-relief and small segmental-arched openings with iron-grilles .
on the street side. ’

i
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No. 799 is the only house on the blockfront not built by either Magilligan’
or Flanagan. It was built in 1889 and designed by Brooklyn architect Albert E.’
White for James C. Jewett. White also designed Nos. 876 and 878 President Street.
Originally it may have resembled the President Street houses, but in 1918 the house
was altered to its present neo-Federal appearance by arch1tect George Chappell of
Manhattan who had a long and distinguished career in the history of Brookliyn
architecture. It is faced with Flemish bond, buff-colored brick and has an English
basement. The basement (first floor) walls are faced with stone in random ashlar.
The main feature of the facade is the handsome copper-clad oriel, centered at the
parlor floor, with arched central window set in a pediment. The second story
paneled window lintels are also typical of the neo-Federal style. A paneled brick
and stone parapet crowns the stone roof cornice.

No. 801, the red brick apartment building at the end of the blockfront, is
described under No. 118 Eighth Avenue. '

CARROLL STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park West :

Nos. 115 and 123 Eighth Avenue provide a fine introduction to this handsome
street. The Carroll Street side of No. 123 Eighth Avenue has a refined, urbane !
quality when compared with the robust vigor of the great Romanesque Revival house,
No. 115, on the opposite corner. The blockfronts between Eighth Avenue and Pros-
pect Park West contain some of the most notable houses in the District, many de-

signed by prominent Manhattan architects.

i

T

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 826-898) 4

e

Nos. 826-836 is the long side of No. 123 Eighth Avenue. It is crisply
handled in a perfectly symmetrical manner, and is neo-Italian Renaissance in char-
acter. The formal vertical grouping of the windows at the center is enlivened -
by the ornate enframements of the oval and square windows which flank it. Tiers
of windows at the ends of this side elevation lend further emphasis to this walli
The high wrought iron yard railing is open, airy and elegant. .

No. 838 {No. 840 has been omitted from the street numbering system). Thisi is
unusually fine Romanesque Revival brownstone residence probably designed by the.:
noted Manhattan architect Charles P.H. Gilbert at the same time as the neighboring
houses, Nos. 842 and 846. No. 838 was commissioned by James H. Remington, a dik-
tinguished lawyer, a president of the United States Law Association, a member of
the Montauk Club, and a well-known collector of books and pictures. The corner ;
tower crowned by a conical slate roof is the most striking feature of this p1ctur—
esque asymmetrical house, providing a dramatic contrast to the lower, symmetrically
organized classical elevation of the house to the west. It is balanced by a strong
vertical composition at the left. The arched doorway, with dwarf columns, is paired
with its adjoining window and forms a frame for the curved corbel of the three-
sided bay window above., This bay window is in turn surmounted by four arched win-
dows in the plane of the wall, the whole being crowned by a triple-window dormer,
with richly ornamented peaked gable and finials. Low stone walls enclosing the'
areaways sweep up to form the wing-walls of the stoop. The house is surfaced al-
most entirely with rough-faced stone laid up in random ashlar, with smooth-faced
trim at doors and windows. _

No. 842. This wide handsome residence, designed in 1887 by C.P.H. Gilbert
in late Romanesque Revival style, was built for George W. Kenyon. Three stories in
height, the house is constructed of buff-colored Roman brick with brownstone trim.
In design, the house echoes the asymmetrical composition of No. 838, with its tier
of square-headed, mullioned windows with masonry transom bars at the right, crowned
by a gable enriched by chevron-patterned brickwork and four slit windows. The
left side of the house is dominated by a curved bay at the second story and the
entrance doorway, which is slightly off center and has unusual V-shaped stonework
in the arch. Like its neighbor, No. 846, the arched entrance is approached
by a low stone stoop.

Mo. 846 (No. 844 has been omitted from the street numbering system). This
fine residence of 1887 is quite individual in the subtle quality of its design,
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perhaps reflecting the taste of 1ts owner, Charles Robinson Smith. It was also
built according to plans by C.P.H. Gilbert. In style, it is transitional from
late Romanesque Revival to neo-Italian Renaissance. The light-colored, rough- .,
faced stonework at the first floor, typical of the Romanesque Revival, is effec-
tively contrasted with the smooth, deep orange-colored brick used at the upper i
floors, It has an unusual asymmetrical arrangement at the parlor floor, with ..
an exceptionally wide, Romanesque Revival arched docrway balanced by the square-
headed mullioned window at the left. A low stone stoop with curved wing-walls,
similar to No. 838, sweeps up to the entrance. The fenestration of the upper
stories, equally well-handled, and the roof cornice presage the newly awakened
interest in Italian Renaissance architecture. The roof cornice is extremely

unusual, with a deep overhans carried on projecting rafters and carved end brackets

terminating in animal heads. The wall between the brackets displays a modified
fret design beneath dentils, all in brick.

{Continued on the next page)
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M, 843 was built in 1905 and 1s a narrow four-story housc reflecting .
the popularity of red brick with limestone trim at the turn-nf-the-century. The |
architect was "illiam B. Greenman, who lived at Nmo. 9 Prospect Park "est at that

time. It 1s an interesting example of the free combination nf styles of the

Eclectic period. The two-story, central, three-sidel bay is carried on fluted

¢nlumns set on low steps in front of the first-fleor entrance doorway. The stone

bay is cmphasized where 1t 1s keyed to the brickwork between the wide stone bands

at the sceond and third story levels, which repeat the material of the smooth wall

below. The windows have muntins terminated by small pointed arches, repeating the

mnt1f found in the 1ironwork at the first floor.

Ilo. 850-52. This residence, built in 1922 for Mrs. Emily Dalzell
whose family was engaged in the lighterage business, was desianed by the noted
architect 'iott B. Schmidt, »f Manhattan. In style it is neo-Federal, and comstruct-
ed of buff-colored Flemish bSond brickwork. It was onec of the last great,
private residences built in the District. The housc has an English basement (first
flnnr) entcered just above strect level. The arched dnorway, with leaded lunette
and fluted columns, is complemented by the two arched windows with muntins at
the left, set in shallow arched recesses with stone roscttes between them. Sepa-
ratine the Enpclish bascment from the floor above is a stone bandcourse providine
a base for the brick quoins. The rectanpular upper story windows with muntins
have splayed brick flat arches. . delicate cornice separates the third floer from
the nen-Federal attic story.

(No. 854 has beern omitted from the street numbering system.)

N~. 856 and 858. This exceptionally handsome, unified pair of houses,
three and one-half stories high, was built in 1889 for Ford, Hamen § Grant. ‘'hile
the arches of the first floor are Romanesque Pevival, the houses arec basically
neo-Colonial in character. Random, rough-faced brownstone was used for the
basement and for the high, divided stoop, providin~ an effective contrast in
color anv texture to the smooth-faced, orange-cclored Roman brick above. The
design of the first floor is skillfully handled, with the paired doorways and ‘
wide flanking windows unified by the rhythm of their arches. The Colonial features
are esnccially evident in the fan desisn of the arched lunettes above these doors
and windows, althouch the stained glass is in the Romanesque "evival tradition.

The double-huny windows have twelve lishts in the upper sash, with plate slass
below, the muntins _eine 4 no-Col-ninl ievival featurce. The flat arches at the
heads have slender carved keystones. DPedinented dormers and tall corbelled
chimneys are set in the slate roof above the garlanded sheetmetal cornice.

Mo. 860. The picturesque combination of PRomanesque Revival and Oueen
Annc elements is exemplified by this house built at about the same time as the
adioinin~ houses. This narrow residence of Roman brick and brownstone has creat
charm and susgests the influence of ™ilson Lyre of Philadelphia. This is es-
necially annarent in the large arched windnw next to the doorway and in the stecep
aable with its paired arched windows and the delichtful hnoded dormers set high
in the roof.

tlo. 862 was built in 1839 for Abby J. Brills, and designed by the
Prooklyn architect F.B. Laneston in a style combinine Romanesque Revival and
Renaissance elements. [isine from a fluted corbel resting on an ornate console
1s a two-story, shallow bay with curved corners. The use of a two-story bay at
the upner floors and of light-colored brick abnve a rough-faced basement and
limestnne trim gives a character tn this housc which is similar to Langston's worl
0f the same period on Lincoln Place near Sixth Avenue. An cntrance has been
provided at the basement level.

‘los. 864-372. ‘lilliam B. Tubby, a well-known ‘tanhattan architect, de-
signed this picturesque row of five houses, which was built in 13S7. Tubby was
the architect of the later, handsome Jacobean style townhouse at Mo. 53 Prospect
Park ‘lest. Fine examples of the Nueen Anne style, these five houses display
a broad range of contrasts in the materials used: rough-faced brownstonc,
brick, tile, wood and sheectmetal. The e¢roup has a rambling character with
a picturesaque profile above the cornice recallinec the work of the English .
architect Richard Norman Shaw, with whom the style is generally associaterl.

The low-lyina horizontality is achieved nrimarily by extendine the tile

of the slopina roofs down over the vertical third floor wall to a line just
above the second story windows. This is further erphasized Ly the continupus
bandcourse above the first story, the shape and nairina of the windows and
bays and the broad low arches of the entrances. Characteristically Oueen Anne,
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the upper sash of the windows and bays is divided into many small lights while the
lower half is generally of plate glass. The paired Romancsque Revival arched
entrances are arranged so skillfully that one is unaware that there are five units.
The subtle variations in design are nowhere more apparent than at the red tile
roofs: at No. 864 the roof is slightly convex with a broad, low dormer at the
center; at Nos. 868 and 870 pseudo-hipped roofs are set against the incline of

the main roof, flanked by hooded dormers at No. 868 and with a distinctive central
veyebrow' window at No. 870. The crowning terminal feature of the row is the

high Flemish gable which rises directly out of the third floor at No. 872. Another
Flemish feature appears in the stepped party walls at the roofs, separating the
houses. The entrances of Nos. 870 and 872 are still set back behind the great
archway. No. 872 retains most of its original features including the fascinating
iron work at the shared stoop with high central wing-wall.

No. 874. The neo-Georgian residence at No. 874, was designed in 1904 by
the firm of Mowbray § Uffinger and was built for the senior partner, Louis M.
Mowbray. Red brick is laid up in Flemish bond with contrasting stone used at the
English basement (first floor) and in the trim. The Palladian window, with blind
arch centered over the columnar entrance porch, is the dominant feature. A brick
parapet with balusters, rising above a classical cornice, gives appropriate
finish to this handsomely proportioned building.

Nos. 876 and 878. This pair of houses designed by the Brooklyn architectural
firm of Chappell & Bosworth in 1911, was built for Arthur and Edward Beggs. They
are alike except for differences between their entrance porches and the two-story
limestone bay at No. 876. The handling of the red brick and stone and the details
is somewhat akin to the neo-Georgian of the period, but more original in concept.
Horizontal bands of stone at the second and fourth story sill levels and a contin-
uous modillioned roof cornice unify the houses. The windows of the second and
third floors have enframements of stone and are linked by brick panels at the
fourth floor. The windows are divided by pointed muntins at the top, similar
to those at No. 848.

Nos. 880-888. 1In 1894, this group of five late Romanesque Revival houses
was built for E. W. Ford. They are very different in style from the later neigh-
boring houses on the block. These houses have high straight stoops, but the roof
cornices are approximately level with those of the houses to the west. A robust
group, with rough-faced limestone and light-colored Roman brick, these five houses
present generally flat, chunky facades with an emphasis on the horizontal. Inter-
rupting their massive walls are two-story rounded bays at Nos. 882 and 888, the
latter defining the eastern end of the group. Within the vocabulary of the
Romanesque Revival there is a great variety of window treatments: round arches,
filat arches, paired and triple windows, some with stone mullions and transom
bars. Nos. 880, 882 and 888 best reflect the qualities of the late Romanesque
Revival, while the cornice of No. 886, with its swags and dentils, illustrates
influence of the new classicism of the World's Fair of 1893.

In contrast to the Romanesque Revival houses to the west, the side of 890-898,
(also described under No. 18 Prospect Park West), has an elegant neo-Italian
Renaissance refinement expressed in the rusticated first floor with smooth-faced
limestone above. Two pairs of fluted Ionic pilasters, one at each end of the
building extend up to the roof cornice from above the rusticated first floor. The
outstanding feature of this perfectly balanced elevation is the handsome Palladian
window at the center of the first floor. Emphasizing this high point of the Park
Slope area are the two great chimney stacks.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 803-873)

Nos. 803-813. This extremely handsome large double Romanesque Revival
house at the corner is described under 115-119 Eighth Avenue.
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N~ 815 was built in 1388 feor the Charles . Chapan family which moved here
frem o Secend Place in Chrroll Gardens. The heusc was Yesignet in Romonesque
tevival stylc by 'ronklyn erchitect H, L. Harris. There is 2n intcrestins ccntrast
hetween the brick upper floers an' the brownstone teloaw.  Larae Dlacks ~F roush-fac-
¢! stone in the hasement an! l-ower half ~f the rorlor flo~r »rovi'e 2 foil for the
sm11ll scale ranlon ~shlar in the uprer hnlf. Two bel?d arches enframe the wile win-
Y ws of the parlor ficor, sne ~f which was the oririnal entrance. The arches,
mectin~ 1t tho cunter below the sceon’ story criel, have roush-face! v-ussicrrs
sprin~ing fr<=a deerr~tel ban'crurses servine os inmost Blocks. This curve! oricl,
with unusuclly heavy steone wullinns between histh, narrow windews, rests on ¢ ~race-
fully curve! ccrbel which fellnws the line o~f the arche' windows helew, A Jeerly
recesscl entrance has been prowvile! it hasement lovel.

N~s, 817-831. This row of cicht drmanesque Cevivel hnuscs was huilt in 1896
fcr €. P, Dearing an! ‘csivne! My Trasklyn architect Thoras Mcldah n, both from the
Ccbble i1l arca. The houscs arc Prownstone at the first floors an® baserments,
with Remen brick abcve. The en' resilences of the arrup, Mas. 817 an’ 031, have
full-hei~ht, shallew brw fronts which pr-vile cffective terninations for the row.
The six houscs between then, Nos. $519-927, »ricinally ha' paire' stoops vivinge
cmrhisis t~ the cntrances.  Tnsenent entrances have been provile! at seme of the
hruses. The repetitinm ¢f the rrund-arched winlews in the tep story is an unifyin
feature of mnst nf the coenter heuses. 1t Nes. 819, £21, 827 an' 529 there are in-
terestingly enfrane’ triplc wind-ws at the thir! €leor level. There are shallow,
curve:, two-story bays in the niddlie pair contrastine with the nelyosnal biwys f
the pairs flanking then. Carve! Remanesnue ornament enbellishes the prarinr flc-rs
and stoops.

(Ne. 333 has been onitte’ fron the strect numbering systcon.)

Nes. 835-851. The next nine hrusces were built by the meighberhe-4 ~wner-
builder-architect, Yilliam Flonacan., Nos. 332-945, a r~w of six, were built in
155€, two years after Nos., 317-851., Their hei~ht an! aer-Tennissance character,
so typical of the m11-13%0s, contrast with the weranesnue Revival heusos atjoinine
them t~ the west. They also proviie an in'icatinn »f Flanaran's Jevel~nment, as
secn six years later in his row at Pos. 721-797 Carr~ll Street, between Scventh and
Eithth Avenues. Herce he has usc™ br~wnstonc an' limost-ne for the hnusvus. In
basic Jdesimn they arce 211 <like, with three-story ellintical rasonry hays, three-
s1del at their tor fl-nrs. Crlenettes separating the winlows nf these Lnys extend
up through two stories. The parl-r floer win'ows hove masenry transor bars with
strine?d alass transoms ~bove them and carve' ornonent in the wile ban's appears
abrve the parlor flonr win'ows and at thce entrances. The entrance at Mo, 45 re-
nlace! by 2 win'ow at Hn. 8547, ha-. carved! mnal’in~ onframenents in c-ntrast t~ the
colunnar enframements at the ~ther heusces. The lcuble 'acrs at Ma, 745 have six
lichts decrrate! with wrourht iron rrillcs with 2 lion mask in the center ~f cach
li~ht. Nos. 377-551 have flush wnlls at the top stories as appose” t> the wall
treaks above the bays ~7 the later houses te the west., The sheetrictal roof crrnices
~f the entire row hnave flersl lesions in the friezes an! continunus ‘cep bracket
surrarts.,

No. 853 was crccrs) in 1988 by builler Horvey Muriock, the “evel sper of Mont-
wwmery lace. This han’'some Renancsque evival house was designe’ by Charles
Werner. It offers a study in the picturesquc massing characteristic ~f this style.
There is a variety at each floor in texturc and coler, nrovided Ly brownstone,
lrick anc the ornanental treatment. The house is arpreache by an L-shaped stonp
with a2 rently curve?, low stene railine facc?) with rou-h-face? random ~shlar mas-
nry. The kasenent wall, cxtending up te the parlar fleer winlowsills, has the
sme stonework. L deeply recessesd entrance nerch is spanne® by 1 wile arch rest-
inc on squat columns with carvel capitals. An emenwork stene baleony well sur-
n~unts the porch. At the right of this porch, a three-side! bay riscs two stories
terminatine in a balcony with brick parapet at the thir! fleor. The nnin wall
plone of trick is cruwne! by a neake! aahle with stone finial an” copine on either
si'c of which riscs 2 steep slate roof. The rohlc is flanked by pseude-bavtizans,
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linked by a pebble-surfaced horizontal band which serves as a lintel for the third
floor band of windows. This treatment is used again in the voussoirs of the three
arched windows in the gable.

Mos. 855-861. This four house row was built in 1892 for Allan Rrothers £ Com-
pany, Arbuckle Building, Brooklyn, and was designed by Brooklyn architect Stanley
M. Holden. This handsome row is skillfully designed as a unit, in which one 1s
not so much aware of the individual houses as the group. Although basically
Zomanesque Revival in style.  the houses display much Italian Renaissance detail.
Interest is achieved by an alternating ARAB pattern, anl by a colorful use of
materials- lirmestone, rough-cast brick, orange Roman brick, copper and dark red
tile. All the residences have straight limestone stoops and rough-cast brickwork
at the basement walls extending up to the limestone belt course at »narlor floor
windowsill level. The A type buildings have vyramidal roofs above deeply pro-
jecting eaves with ornate arching copper brackets and wreaths below. The ‘B type
houses have similarly placed pseudo-hipped ronfs set asainst the slopes of the nain
roofs. The 'A' type houses have large triple waindows at the third floors, with
columns crowned by Byzantine corbel blocks supporting the lirtels, creating the
effect of open loggias and enhancing the apparent width of the buildines. Richly
ornamented copper oriels with tiled hipned roofs, at the second floors, are the
dominant feature of these houses. The arches above the entrance doorways and win-
dows are unusual in having ribs of molded brick which spring from carved capitals
set above curved limestone jambs. The large window at Mo. 855 has a graceful
stained glass lunette set in the arch. The B type houses have Renaissance panels
above the doorways and arched windows are similar to those of the 'A' type, with
the addition of charming heads in the impost blocks and stained glass at No. 857,

A more conventional fenestration obtains ahove.

No. 863. This handsome bu:lding was designed by the well-knowm firm of
r'apoleon LeBrun § Sons, of “Manhattan, best remembersd for the Metrovolitan Life
Insurance Building and Tower on ‘adison Square. It was built in 1890 for ‘filliam
R. llebster, a civil engineer. This residence has an elegant simplicity and a full-
height curved bay. The materials--brownstone and a reddish Roman brick--produce a
mellow overall effect. A low brownstone stoop with iron handrailings has stone
nevel posts with laurel wreaths in the front panels. The basement and first floor
are handsomely rusticated and the rustications are carried into the voussoirs at tlec
arched doorway. This stonewcrk l:as a finely hammerel textured surface. A Greek
fret in a horizontal bandcourse onncars below the second story windowsills. Brown-
stone enframeirents enhance the virdows in the brick walls of the upver flocrs.

The most unusual features of this fine residence are the {rieze of the entablature
with 1ts pierced windows and dentils and the graceful balustrade at roof level.

Nes. 865-873. There is a classic serenity in the broad wall expanses of the
Iimestone residence at the corner of Carroll Street and Prospect Pavk lest (also
described under i'o. 17 Prospect Park "“est). The dominant features of the Carroll
Street facade are the charming Ionic loggia at the third story and the arched
windows at the first floor level.

FISKE PLACL

This short street provides a great contrast between the east side, with two
modern apartment houses anl an earlier one of the early 1900s, and the west side,
which has a single apartment house and a row of townhouses, of the 1880s and 1890s,
on the west side. The generally low character of the row houses is in scale with
this short street. Represented among the styles are some fine examples of late
neo-firec, Romanesque 1evival and neo-Italian Renaissance.
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EAST SIDE (Wos. 1-7) . \

No. 1-7 is the long side of the corner house described under No. 806 Carroll
Street.

No. 9-17 is the rear portion of the large apartment house described under
No. 140 Eighth Avenue.

No. 19 (llo. 19-21) 1s a five-story, cight-family apartment house, built
in 1923, for the Fiske Realty Corporation, and designed by the architectural
firm of Slee § Boyson. It is built of Flemish bond brickwork and has flat brick
arches. splayed, with keystones. A central doorway with neo-Georgian enframement
has fluted pilasters supporting an entablature surmounted by a2 dentiled pediment.

Mo. 23 1s a small four-story brick apartment house built in 1904 for owner-
builder Murtagh of 133 Garfield Place. It has a full-height, curved bay to the
right of the doorway and rough-faced stonework at the first floor and window
lintels. Despite these Romanesque Revival survivals at this late date, the roof
cornice with shells and console brackets reflects the influence of the Classicism
of the Fclectic period.

No. (25)-31 1is the long side of the corner house described under No. 251-
253 Garfield Place.

“EST SIDE (Nos. 2-30) ~
No. 2-10 is the long side, and deep rear yard, of the corner house described

under No. 802-804 Carroll Street. .
Nos. 12-16. This group of three late Romanesque Revival houses was built
before 1897 for owner-builder Gilford R. Bartaux. The three houses form a
basically uniform symmetrical composition, with the exception of the differing
sccond floor bay windows of Nos. 12 and 16. At No., 16 the bay is crowned by a
triangular gable and has a single window; No, 1Z has a double window divided by
a mullion and a pitched roof resembling stonework. The center house has a
Palladian-type window at the second floor, but executed in the Romanesque Revival
mapner, with heavy masonry mullions and an arch of brick headers terminating at
its base in foliate carving. The third floor windows are all arched, with three
at the center residence and two at the flanking houses. The basements are of
rough-faced stonework while the upper floors are of Roman brick trimmed with
stone. The first floor, above the high basements, 1s treated with narrow bands
of stone alternating with wide bands of brickwork. Above this floor, and serving
as lintels for doors and windows, is a wide unifying band of carved foliate
design, interrupted by the ornate vertical keystone of the arched front door
of the ccenter house. Beneath the eaves of the roof a textured effect is |
achieved by a band of Flemish bond brickwork in which the headers are aill
recessed. Carved rafter ends support the eaves and small heads punctuate the
cornice line between the houses. The center house has an attic story with three
windows flanked by pilasters. These houses are back-to-back with three houses of
similar design on Polhemus Place (Nos. 11, 15 and 17) and present a remarkably
unified appearance to the street.

No. 18-20. These two handsome but dissimilar townhouses were built in 1889-
90 for J. F. Ranson and were both designed by the well-known Brooklyn architectural
firm of Parfitt Bros. Both houses display Romanesque Revival and neo-Italian
Renaissance features. Although the basements and the roof parapets are aligned,
these houses each have a distinct individuality established by their designs.
No. 18 has a two-story, three-sided bay decorated at mid-height by an ornamental
band. An arched doorway, to the right of the bay, is surmounted by a handsome
carved corbel, which serves as a deep windowsill for the single window above the
door. The third floor wall is flush above the bay and is crowned by a high gable .
with a low quadruple attic window along its base, and decorated by evenly spaced
bosses above. Mo. 20, despite its Romanesque Revival arched windows and parapet
above the doorway, has a Renaissance character, with 1ts severely rectilinear
thrce-sided bay and porch with pilasters framing the paired windous. This bay is
crovwned by a triangular pediment with floral ornament.
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Mos. 22 and 24. These two neo-Grec apartment houses were built in 1888 for
J. F. Ransom of 244 13th Street, Brooklyn, and were designed by Brooklyn architect
J. D. Reynolds, who also was active in the Stuyvesant lleights Historic District.
They are four-stories high and are symmetrically comnosed, as a pair, with their
arched doorways side by side at the center, flanked by full-height, three-sided
bays. The low stoops retain their cast iron hand-railings and newel posts. A
heavy bracketed cornice crowns each building.

No. 26-30 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, described
under No. 249 Garfield Place.

GARFIELD PLACE

Garfield Place was originally called Macomb Street, but the name was changed
two years after the assassination of President Jares A. Garfield, in 1881, to honor
him. On the south side, the block between Seventh and Eighth Avenues is a long
one with predominantly brownstone-front rows of substantial uniformity with poly-
gonal masonry bays, which give a pleasant rhythmic flow. On the north side, how-
ever, there are pleasant and unexpected interruptions in the length of the block,
where two short but charming Streets, Polhemus Place and Fiske Place, intersect
Garfield Place. At their north ends, they intersect Carroll Street in the same
manner.

GARFIELD PLACE Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

SAUT!! SIDE (Nos. 214-(266))

(Mos. 204-212 are outside of the Historic District)

Nos. 214-220. These four neo-Grec brownstones with full-height, two-sided
bays were built in 1884 by owner-builders Martin § Lee of 440 Clermont Avenue,
Brooklyn, who were responsible for much of the development of Garfield Place.

They built many houses within the District and Charles !"erner, the Brooklyn
architect, whose office was in the Garfield Building, did much of their architect-
ural work. These houses are all similar and have a full-height pilaster at the
apex of the bay, intercepted at each floor by horizontal moldings. The bracketed
cornices follow the line of the bays and reflect them. Ornament is kept to a
ninimum but appears in the brackets above the doorways and in the full-height
pilasters, with the pilasters flanking the windows grooved at the top half. The
original iron handrailings at the stoops may be seen at all of these houses except
Mo. 214.

Mos. 222-228. Six years later, in 1890, the same builders, Martin § Lee,
constructed the next row. These houses reflect a trend on the part of the build-
ers to create variety within the traditional city row 1in contrast to Mos. 214-
220 adjoining. This is evidenced in the combination of naterials, contrasted with
smooth-faced masonry, and in the planning of the facades. The wide rectangular
bay of Mo. 222 breaks the pattern of angularity between the two-sided bays to the
west and the three-sided bays of these houses to the east. Here one notes subtle
variations in the capitals of the columns flanking the doorways. Surmounting the
columns, elongated consoles support the cornice slabs of the doorways. All retain
their handsome original double doors. There is just a hint of the Romanesque Re-
vival in the rough-faced stone at the basement level, repeated in bands below the
sills of the upper floor windows: in the use of transom bars, with stained glass
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above, at the parlor floor windows of Nos. 222, 224 and 228: and in the door en-
framements. Beginning with No. 222, the heavy L-shaped type of masonry stoop
continues eastward for the rest of the block.

Mos. 230-238. These five houses were built in 1891 and are essentially
similar to Nos. 224-228, with certain subtle variations. The doorways, for in-
stance, are simply enframed with grooved moldings surmounted by handsome cornices,
in lieu of the columnar treatment with brackets.

Mos. 240-246 were built in 1891 by Jeremiah J. Gilliocan, a local architect-
builder of 97 Sterling Place. The four houses are quite similar in appearance to
llos. 230-238, except that transom bars have been omitted at the parlor floor win-
dows and the rough-faced stonework beneath them has been laid up in courses.
Alfred P. Sloane, of General Motors fame, resided at No. 240 as a young man. His
sister, lirs. Pratt, also lived in the Park Slope area, at 125 Lincoln Place.

Mos. 248-256. This charming group of twenty-foot wide brownstones is the
creation, basically Romanesque Revival 1in style, of architect Helmer Westeen.
They were built in 1891 for L. Anderson § Bro., c2rpenters on Dean Street, in an
alternate ABABA pattern. There is an abundant exuberance of detail at the en-
trances and panels beneath the parlor floor windows including human masks, lions,
reptiles and cornucopias with fruit, some hidden in the foliate scrolls which term-
inate the stoop railings. The "A' house has a full-height polygonal bay, while
the "B’ house has a two-story bay forming a balcony for the third story, above which
1s a modified Palladian window. Many interesting details are repeated throughout
including triangular pediments above windows and round-arched windows outlined
with rough-faced voussoirs and drip molds. Catved corbels, beneath the second
floor windows of the “A* houses, offer pleasant contrast to the sharp angularity
of the surrounding windows. The doorways of the 'A™ and '""B" houses are flanked
by columns with basket capitals, crowned by curvilinear crestings of floral design
at the "A'" houses and by entablatures with curved brackets and richly carved
convex friezes at the “B' houses. The roof cornices with their widely spaced
console brackets and classical detail are typical of the freedom of the Jueen
Annec style.

los. 258-264. The next group of four houses was begun in 1894 by John J.
Magilligan, owner-builder. Ile lived on Berkeley Place and did a great deal of
building in the north end of the District, originally favoring the neo-Grec style.
Stylistically, these browns:ione houses are similar to Nos. 230-238, except for the
calvanized iron cornice with 1ts Classical swag motif. A basement entrance has
been provided at No. 260.

The corner site (Mo. 266) is occupied by the garden of No. 174 Eighth Avenue-
NORTIl SIDE (Nos. 219-269)
GARFIELD PLACE Between Seventh Avenue % Polhemus Place

(The buildings to the west of No. 219 are outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 219 to 229 were designed by Brooklyn architect Charles ‘lerner and built
in 1890. The masons and owners were Martin § Lee. No. 219 and No. 229 have pro-
jecting full-height bays framing thas small blockfront, and the rest of the hnuses,
Mos. 221-227, are flat-fronted. Architecturally these brownstones, with the
exception of Mo. 229, are quite simple with vestiges of neo-Grec detailing in the
1ncised motifs on the parlor and second story windows. There is rudimentary
fluting in the pilasters. An attempt at individuality can be noted in the dif-
ferent motifs on the galvanized iron cornices on each house. No. 229 is distinct
from the others in the group, being larger in scale and similar in design to Mos.
222-228 across the street, by the same builders in the same year. A low stone wall
topped with an oven wroucht iron cresting curves around the corner into Polhemus
Place, providing a pleasant termination to this short blockfront.
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Nos. 231-239 were desipgned by Brooklyn architect J.D. Arcliffe, again
for Martin & Lee who developed this row in 1892. These simplified Romanesgue
Revival buildings alternate curved, full-height bays with flat fronts. A
definite effort was made here to make each house different yet completely harmonious
as a group: in the two houses with flat fronts, Nos.233 and 237, the parlor floor
windows and main entrances are arched, but at No. 233 the elongated foliated
terra cotta keystones, reaching to sill height of the second story windows, are
a suitable balancing detail and accent for the arches. The same arched openings
at No. 237 are accented with bold voussoirs of rough-faced stonework. The
corner house, No. 231, has an interesting drip molding over its main entrance and
above this, where one might expect to find a balcony in a larger house, it is
merely suggested with a row of dwarf columns, this 'railing" being simply the
height of the adjoining string course. The cornices are also individual to
each house.

Nos. 241-249, were built in 1888 for H. Lansdell from designs by
Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon, who had his offices at 219 Montague Street.
It was Dixon, working with builders John and Isabella Gordon, who was responsible
for much of the development in the 1870s of the west side of Sixth Avenue and of
many of the houses on Lincoln Place between Sixth and Seventh Avenues. These five
almost identical brownstone houses with three-sided bays rising full-height are
very restrained neo-Grec in style and serve to illustrate the 'last gasp" of that
style before it gave way to the Romanesque and Classical Revivals which were to
become so popular for this type of row house. A basement entrance has been provided
at No. 247.

GARFIELD PLACE Between Fiske Place § Eighth Avenue

More than a decade later, the ubiquitous eight-family apartment house
which one finds in profusion in the southern part of the District and on Eighth
Avenue, started appearing. Three such buildings are Nos. 251-253, 259 and 261
Garfield Place. Built in 1903 by Henry Pohlmann of 1235 Third Avenue, Manhattan,
they bear such romantic rames as ""Serine”, "Lillian'' and '"Ontrinue''. The fronts
are of buff-colored Roman brick with limestone facing at the first floor and
trim. The central entrances, with small porches, rise a few steps above the
street and are flanked by shallow bow fronts. With subtle variations, the three
buildings are more or less identical, designed in the popular turn-of-the-century
neo-Italian Renaissance style.

The corner apartment house (Nos. 263-269), '"The Belvedere", is
described under No. 162 Eighth Avenue,

GARFIELD PLACE Between Lighth Avenue § Prospect Park Vest
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 266-~316)

No. 276 (266-276). The Temple House at the southeast corner belongs
to Temple Beth Elohim across the street. Begun in 1928, the Temple House
(also described under No. 175 Eighth Avenue) was built to provide space for
the temple school, with recreational facilities which are now shared with
the Ethical Culture School at 49 Prospect Park West. This is one of the
few buildings of the late 1920s within the District. However, its height,
the variegated gray and ochre colors in the stone and the restraint in the
overall design do not strike a discordant note with the neighboring
residences on Garfield Place. Compared with the elegant classical lines
of the temple it serves, it affords an excellent study in changing
architectural tastes during the first quarter of the 20th century. Above a first
story banding, round arches rise two stories surrounding the windows in a vertical
run. Decoration is seen in heraldic devices with religious motifs carved in
shields. The entrance doorway and balcony above, at the extreme east end of the
building, have a distinctly Moorish flavor, featuring symbolic ornament- the Star
of David, the Menorah and the Lion of Judah.
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GARTJELD PLACE BRetween Eighth Avenue & Prosmect Parh Vest

SOUfH SIDE (Nos. 266-3106)

Nos. 278. 280, 287. These thrce-story hrownstones with low hascments
and L-shaned stoops wer2 huilt in 1910 hv Cohen Bros for the Arwin Realtv
Company. The vse of hrownstone as late as 1910. is anachronistic here.
The full-height an=led bay and cornice line of No, 278 provides a contrast
to the howed forms at Nos. 200 and 282 The centor house Ias vmisual
detail: above the parlor windows vertical panels disnlav floral motifs
and hetween them are elonrated pancls carried on carved corhels with female
heads. At No. 282 the windows of the bay are separated hy wide fluted
pilasters with low carved capitals. The double doors are indicative of
the change in taste of the period from wood to iron and ¢lass.

Nos, 284 and 286. This pair of handsome vesidences was evected in
1700 and desioned by owner-architect Peter Delaney for Abraham Sterzelbach,
whose son Lester still lives at No. 2806 Their hiah  L-shaped stoops wirh
lions heads afford impressive approaches to the front doors. The houscs
are practically identical except that Me. 28U is hrownstone and No. 280
is limestone. At both houses the rouvh-faced stone at basement level
gives the impression that the full-heicht curved havs are solely sunported
by stone piers. The curve of the smooth-faced hay is empbasized *y the
quarry-faced stone of the main wall nlane and by hands of fine ovnament
at each story. Sbeetmetal roof cornices with classical swars crown the
houses.

Nog. 2R8-294. This row of four brownstones was desioncd hy owner-
architect Fred Griswold and erccted in 1871, Stylistically they arve
similar to Nos. U77-501 on the north side of First Strect hetween Seventh
and Eighth Avenues by the same avehicect, who lived at 4197 [irst Street
Thesc houses on Garfield Place however are a frrll storv taller with
Lijagh lL-shaped. masonry stoops while those on First Street have ivon
railines and newels., The Garfield Place liouses have Romanesgue Revival
features. including the arched openinas, the stone carvine and the low
wnlls pierced by diminutive aiches at the stoons and third floor halconies
above the oriels. UWell-nroportioned consoles carried on pilasters
support these oriels. Kevstoies over arched doorways arce cavved with a
variety of animal motifls No. 290 is a one story higher than the others,
but has the same elaborate cornice.

Nos. 296 and 298 ave one story hiaher than the ncichhors to the west
and this i1ncreased height cantinues to the ond of the street They were
built accordina to desiuns of owner-architect Peter Delany. No. 296 *n
189" and No. 298 in 18179 at the same time as the row adioinine to the
east. These residences ave identical except that No. 296 has a limestone
front while No. 298 1s a hrownstone. The interspersin~ of the limestone
in the brownstone row is ¢ harlinger of the increased use and predominance
of this material after the turn-of-the-certury. Both bhave chree-sided
bays rising three stories, with triple-arcled windows above them., set in

the main wall planes which are crowned hy classical cornices. Stylistically

the carved details are Romnnesaue Revival. hest seen at the doorway of No.
296 with its aracefully elonmared leaf fouvms at the hases of the arch.
Hiech L-shaped stoops with lions heads lead vn to the entrances.

Nos. 300-30R. This classically inspired row of five houses also
designed by owner-architect Peter Delaney, was built in 1899, alternating
brownstone and limestone, as at Nos 28t and 286. The end houses terminate
the row with similar curved three-story bhays. All the houses retain their
high ruscicated hasements and stoops at Nos 302 and 308. Classical swa-rs
are thc decorative theme atv Mo 302, where a swall vyichly enframed window
surmounts che doorway At No. 30! the most notahle features are the two-
story pilasters in tbe upper floors of the curved-sided hay. Engaced Tonic

columns handsomely divide the windows of the First two floors of the hay at

No. 30G. A noteworthy element is the oval window ahove the entrance of No.
308, well related to the carving of the doorway helow.
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GARFIELD PLACE Between Ei~hth Avenue & Prospect Park West

Nos. 310-314. These three hrownstones were hnilt in 1900 by William
Flanagan. a prolific developer on the Slone for over twenty years. They
are a sedate expression of the Classical and Renaissance traditions popular
at the turn-of-the-century. Like the adjoining rows to the west these
houses have three-story masonry bays and high basements., Mo. 312 retains
its stoop and semi-engaged Corinthian columns flanking the doorway. The
carved ornament is interestingly varied from house to house.

No. 316 is the last residence on this side of Garfield Place. This
striking house has the "new look™ for 1911. with its larse expanses of
Flemish bond brickwork, its tiered windows and its studied uvse of ornament.
A spacious hrickwalled garden adjoins it to the east, overlooked by a
handsome carden facade. The heitht of this town house harmonizes with the
neighboring brownstones to the west. The flat front, with its champfered
corners crowned by terra cotta cartouches, is surmounted by boldly over-
hanging pitched copper eaves subported on conper-clad beams sucresting
North Italian prototypes. The Italian influence is also evident in the
loigia heneath the front pahle and in the tower-l1like hay on the garden
side which rises slithtly alove the tiled roof. It 1s similar to No. 61
Prospect Park West built by William Tubby a year earlier. The very fine
brickworl. is inset with decorative vari-colored ~lazed tile and colored
hrick. The dark red hrick is further set off hy white marhle trim around
the central entrance and the small windows flanking it. A terra cotta
cornice slab with lions' heads, over the main door supports a delicate
wrought iron halcony railing. similar to that on the carden side. The
wrought iron work railing ahove the garden wall and enclosing the front
yard is also a fine example of the type used at thjs period.

(The apartment house at the corner No. 40 Prospect Park West. is
outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 271-323)

No. 271-281. On the northeast corner of Garfield Place and Eighth
Avenue is one of the monumental edifices in the Historic District, Temple
Beth Elohim (described vnder No. 165 Eichth Avenue). The Garfield Place
side of this limestone structure is dominated by the imposing arched
central window. flanked by the high, narrow windows with arched nediments.
Further emphasis is given to the central bay by the triangular pediment
ahove it. A classical side door leads into the low section of the temple
at the east, separatinc the massive temple from the neicshhorine rowhouses.

Nos. 283-289, a vrow of four narrow Romanesque Revival houses with
stoops, was erecred In 1RP9 by builder Augustus C. Walbridge of Now York
City. and designed hy George P. Chanpell of 2u State Street, N.Y.C. A
compositional symmetry unifies this row of three-story houses. of
variegated Roman brick, brownstone and tile. The end houses have neaked
gables and are flanked by chimneys risin~ ahove the roofline, while the
two center houses are in a slichtly recessed plane with a pair of gahled
masonry dormers set in the steeo tiled roof. Features of the Romanesque
Revival include windows with stane transom hars, arched windmnws with
drip moldings, foliated stonecarvine, dwarf colwwns and guarry faced
rustication. An interesting detail is the use of stoune lazenues in the
brickwork of the uvahles which terwminate in foliale carvrving.

Nos 291-299 are five rowhouses which are a full four stories ahove
high basements. They were built in 1899 hy Park Slope builder-architect
William Flanagan, of 69 Seventh Avenue. He was a prolific builder using
brownstone and neo-Grec ornament for his earlier houses in the northern
part of the District. These houses give evidence that he moved with the
times: they are in the turn-of-the~century neo-Classical style, alternatel:
faced with hrownstone and limestone. The bays also alternate elliptical
with three-sided hays rising three stories above the hasements. The too
stories, like the houses across the street (Nos. 300-308), are in the
main wall nlane of the houses, hut the height of this row does not over-
whelm the pleasant residential scale of the street. The end house No.291
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has an entrance norch with round arch surmounted by a two-sided hay at
the second story, brought forward to meet the plane of the houses at the
west. Carved ornament appears at the first and second floors ard at the
stooups, and stained ~lass at the parlor floor windows.

Nos. 301-311. These six houses were designed hy Brooklyn architect
Macgnus Dahlander, who desiocned some of the finest houses in the Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District. Built in 1892 for Wesley C. Bush, who lived in
nearhy Prospect Heights, they are Romanesque Revival in style and composed
in a ABCBCD pattern. Nos. 301, 303 and 305 are three stories over hish
hasements, unified hy an ornate sheetmctal cornice and hy L-shaped stoops
of rouch-faced stonework. Between the two Flushk-fronted houses, Nos. 301
and 305, is No. 303 with a full-height, rounded hay. At the center, an
engaged, handed stone shaft, set above a handsome circular ornament.
rises two stories and is crowned hy a Romanesg.e capital. The transom
bars at parlor floor level have stone mullions or a canital ahove them,
set between two small stained class windows. The transoms ahove the
richly enframed doorways are separated Ty dwarf columns. Nos. 307-311 are
a continuation of the same themes, with an additional attic story
suggesting a loguia. The center house, No. 309, has a two-story oriel of
limestone. similar to tbe one-story oriel at No. 305. The use of lime-
stone, starting at the second floor of Mos. 301 and 309, is another
attemnt to create individvality. This ¢roum is terminated by No. 311
with its deeper bay which advances to meet the end wall of the next
house. This bay is topped with a stone parapet of dwarf columns at the
fourth floor. The group is unified by an ornate sheetmetal cornice.

No. 313, huilt in 1889, is Romanesque Revival in style, with the
walls now smooth-stuccoed and lined to simulate stone. 't has a high
gable at the left side and a pcaked dormer set in the steep tile roof.

The broken roof line contrasts with the wide smooth curve of the two-story
bay. The parlor floor windows are deeply recessed and divided bv stone
mullions. The second story windows in the bay are also divided by
mullions.

No 315, also huilt in 1889, is totally different in style Tt
recalls many of the London terrace houses of the Rerency period. with
rusticated Enclish basement. Tt has a two-story. three-sided hay crowned
by a halecony with wrought iron railing. Tre entrance is anproached hv a
wide, low stoop. There is a handsome arched fanlight in the doorway. The
triple-sashed windows, which one expects to find at the parlor floor. are
placed at the thard floor level., two of which aive access tc the halcony.
Low windows at the fourth floor are surmounted by a simnle dentiled molding
heneath a low parapet.

No. 319 was built in 1889 for Redney Allen Ward the hrother-in-law
of Timothy L. Woodruff. Lt. Governor of New York State. who also lived in
the District. 7Ti was designed by the distin~uished architect C. P. H.
Gilhert, whose worx in the District is concentrated mainly on Mgntgomery
Place and in the handsome Richardsonian Romanesqie house on the northeast
corner of Carroll Street and Eighth Avenue (No. 117 Eishth Avenue). No.
319, a suhstantial Romanesque Revival house. has smooth wall planes of
orange-colored Roman brick with rourth-faced random stonework at the parlor
floor and basement levels. The arched windows and entranceway are
delineated with rouch-faced limestone voussoirs. There is a low, broad
stoop. An elliptical bay extending up three stories is crowned hy a trinle
window with colonettes. A handsome classical cornice crowns the huildin~s

Nos. 321-323. A charming matching pair are these residences in the
picturesque and romantic Qneen Anne style of the late 1880s. Thev are
beautifully preserved, even to the small lishts in the upper sash of the
second and third story windows at No. 323. They have a pair of peaked
shingled zahles with oval windows. There is a nleasant rhythm in the
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arches of the windows and deeply recessed paired entranceways, repeated
again in the small windows on the second story, which have fanlights. The
houses are of orange brick with sandstone trim. Rising above the slate
roof are chimneys crowned by charming swirled chimney pots.

No. 35 Prospect Park West a fifteen-story apartment house which
terminates this side of Garfield Place,is out side of the Historic
District. It occupies the site of the former George C. Tiiyou mansion.
Mr. Tilyou, an entertainment impresario, was the creator of the world
famous Steeplechase Park in Coney Tsland.

LINCOIN PLACE

The striking feature of this street is the wide variety of huilding
types and architectural styles to be found here including a club house, a
school, a church and several architect-designed individual houses, two of
which have spacious grounds, set among groups of row houses and apartment
houses. The latter, bhuilt after the turn-of-the-century. attest to the
continued popularity of Park Slope as a residential district. The contrast
between the north and-south sides of the street is striking: the nortb
side contains the wide range and variety of building types described above,
contrasting with the uniformity of row houses on the south side. The
section of Degraw Street east of Fifth Avenue was renamed Lincoln Place
in 1873, in memory of Abraham Lincoln.

LINCOLN PLACE, Between Sixth & Seventh Avenues
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 86-168)

No. 86-94 is the long side of the house described under No. 175 Sixth
Avenue. On this side, it displays a sheetmetal bay window at the parlor
floor crowned hy an ornamental arched pediment. A chimney of grooved
brickwork rests on a carved stone corhel block. A two-story structure
with garage heneath now fills the rear yard (No. 94}.

Nos. 96-110. This row of eight houses provides a fascinating and
rather romantic comhination of the Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne
styles. Designed by Brooklyn architect F. B. Laneston for James A. Bills,
they were built in 1888-89, tovether with the houses around the corner on
Sixth Avenue. The row as a whole has great dicnity. With its heavy, L-
shaped stoops and massive, Richardsonian. rough-hewn stonework at the
basement and parlor floors and defining the large round-arched windows.

An interesting contrast, which is both original and varied. is provided by
the delicate ornament on the lintels above the doors. All bhut two houses
retain their multi-paneled doors. Elahorate two-story oriels of sheetmetal
show the Queen Anne influence. They are adorned with classical details

and have pilasters supporting arched pediments at the third story portiaons
of the oriels. The contrast in color and texture of the stone, brickwork
and metal gave each house in this group an element of individuality which
still survives. No. 108 was once the home of Frank Montgomery Avery, a
prominent lawyer and early memher of the Montauk Cluh. He boused his
valuable library and art collection here.

(Nos. 112, 120 and 138 have heen omitted from the street numhering
system).
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Nos. 114-154., This lona row of hrownstones in the neo-Grec style. of
which all but Nos. 124 and 1u4b retain their high stoops, is the work of
three enterprising developers and huilders of the 1880s: John Gordon and
his wife (sabella, of 2 Willow Street on the Heights. .John Monas and J. .T.
Gilligan neichborhood huilders who hoth lived at 92 Park Place.

John and Isabella Cordon, with their architect Rohert Dixon, were
responsible for the development of the west end of the block (Nos.11!t-136)
at the end of the 1870s, sicnalizing recovery from the depression of the
mid-seventies. Plans were filed for the three charminc houses at Nos.

114, 116 and 118 in Decemher 1878, and the rest followed in 1879. Neo-Grec
decorative motifs, which are hasically the same throushout the row, are
best studied at these three honses which, after almost a century. retain
all their original features. except for some alterations to the front doors.
Two stories high, they are a full story lower than the houses to the east
and west of them, yet hecause their proportions are so fine they are in

no way dwarfed hy them. Shallow two-sided bays rise the full height of

each house. The delicately incised neo-Grec decorations at the window and

door enframements are still remarkably crisp and the richly detailed

bracketed and paneled roof cornices are typical of the style. These houses

retain their cast iron bhalustrated handrails terminating in imnosing newel

posts and spiky yard railings, as do so many others in this row. Nos. 132

and 134 have fourth story mansard roofs.

John Monas, owner-mason. huilt Nos. 140-1ti in 1888, assisted hy
architect-carpenter J. J Gillican. They were among the last houses to o
up on this block, hut are essentially similar to their neighbors to the
west, except for the more elahorate treatment of their doorways: here,
cornice-slabs are supported on deep curvilinear trackets which were
surmounted by low balustrades with finials. No. 142 still retains fine .
paneled doors.

The last five houses of this hrownstone row, Nos. 1lu6-154. were huilt
by Monas and Gilligan in 18%5. They are also neo-Grec in style, althouch
No. 146 has been altered to provide a hasement entrance. While No. 1%0 \
has the same two-sided hay as the other houses, it was apparently given a
specially desicned front for the original owner, William A. Avis. The
stylized floral bas-relief, employing the popular sunflower motif beneath
the third floor windows, helongs to the new Queen Anne style. Another
noteworthy feature is the foliate decoration at the tep and hottom of the
solid masonry wina-walls of the stoop.

No. 158-160 (No. 156 has heen omitted from the street numhering
system). This 1is a four-story brick anartment house huilt in 1922. The
architect  William C. Winters, adjusted its scale to complement the neich-
boring row houses. Tnterest focuses on the stone doorway with its paneled
pilasters and splayed flat arch with high keystone supnorting the cornice
slab. An interestin~ treatment of the brickwork ornaments the facade.

The corner house, No. 168, is part of a douhle touse described under
No. 62 Seventh Avenue. It was once the home of Hosmer Buckingham Parsons.
general agent and cashier for Wells Fargo & Company and a prominent memher
of the Montauk Club,

LINCOLN PLACE Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues.
NORTH SIDE (Nos. 73-83)

No. 73-83 is the long side of the house descrihed under No. 168 Sixth ‘
Avenue and its rear lot.
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NORTH SIDE (Nos. 85-167)

Mos. 85-(85-95). The church, at the corner of Lincoln Place and Sixth
Avenue, is the sixth Avenue Baptist Church of 1880 (described under No. 171-
175 Sixth Avenue).

(No. 97 is the empty lot hetween the church and No. 99.)

Nos. 99-113 (No. 111 has heen omitted from the street numhering systeml
This row of seven houses was bhuilt in 1879-80 for Tsahella Gordon. the
wife of the builder John Gordon, and was desisned by thejr favorite
architect, Robert Dixon. These brownstones are generally two stories high
and have two-sided hays with delicately incised neo-Grec detail at the
doorways, cornices and window lintels which are "eared" (acroteria at the
ends). The first two houses, Nos. 99 and 101, are distinguished from the
others hy their mansard roofs, described on the oricinal building permits
as "French Roofs". The next two houses, Nos. 103 and 105, had full
shingle-clad third stories added in 1898, The orvicinal cornice line has
heen continued bhelow these third stories with corhels set heneath halconics.
At some of the stoops. the heavy cast iron newel nosts have unusual detail.

Nos. 115-119. These three houses with flush brownstone fronts are
two windows wide and have late [talianate detail. These were the
earliest houses built on this hlockfront and were constructed hy owner-
huilder William Y. Hoover in 1874-75. Nos. 117 and 119 retain their
handsome cast iron balustered handrailings and newel nosts at the stoops
and their yard railings with ~ates. The stoops. at these two honses. lead
vp to arched doorways crowned by low-arched vediments carricl on brackets
The long parlor floor windows at all three houses have stone shelves
beneath them carried on corhel bhlocks and the keystones of the segmental-
arched windows of the rusticated hasements.

Nos. 121-125 were huilt by William Guhbins hy 1870 on land he purchased
in 1875. These three narrow flush-fronted hrownstones were also two
windows wide and more ornate than the three hoises to the west. The
influence of the French neo-Grec style is evident in the brackets suvonorting
the low-arched pediments over the doors and in the design of their roof
cornices. The windows all have molding enframéments and the sills are
carried on tapered corbels. The rusticated hasements have segmental-arched
windows and the halustered cast iron stoon handrailinas are repeated at
the yard railings. No. 125 was for many years the home of Mrs. A. H. Pratt,
sister of Alfred P. Sloan of the General Motors Companv, also a resident
of the neighborhood.

Nos. 127-135. This row of five neo-Grec brownstone houses was buvilt
in 1885-86 by owner-mason William Gubbins and was desiecned by DBrooklyn
architect Charles Werner. The houses are three stories high with full-
height, two-sided bays displaying that neo-Grec ornament so typical of the
northerly Park Slope area. The incised linear detail. hoth horizontal and
vertical. diminishes toward the tops of the hays. A hracketed cornice
with panels crowns the row, reflecting the ancularity of the rays acainst
the skyline. Most of these houses retain their fine cast iron vard
railings with wrought iron cates and their balustered bandrailincs and
massive newel posts surmormted by urns at the stooos. The halustrade with
urns theme is carried at sa~11 <$cnle above the doorways. Three houses
retain their handsome original doors.

(No. 137 has heen omitted from the street numbering system}

No. 139, This picturesque individual town house stands out conspic-
vously between the uniform row howses which flan it on either side. It
was huilt in 1881 for John Condon. a florist at 734 Tifth Avenue.
opposite Greenwood Cemetry. At the left a three-sided hay with a
rectancular three-sided window is crowned hy a picturesgne opyramidal slate
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roof which gives the bay the appearance of a tower. This is balanced at
the richt by a mansard roof at third story level. Althouch this house was
built before some of its retardataire neo-Grec neighhors this brick house
with hrownstone trim, displays classical elements of desian reflecting the
currently vopular Queen Anne style. The small panels, of the entrance
doors and the unusual cut-brick panels with their sunflower motifs helow
the second floor windows, are tyoical Queen Anne features. A leaded elass
transom of intricate desizn annears ahove the entrance doors. The cornice
helow the mansard roof has unusual brackets with miniature Ionic capitals
at the top of each one.

Nos. 141-147. These four neo-Grec houses of 1886, designed hy N. H.
Doherty, are quite similar to those west of No 139, except for the fact
that the apexes of their full-heieht +two-sided bays have flat pilasters
applied to them, features which are carefully reflected hy the hreaks in
their roof cornices, displaying single head-on brackets. No. 143 retains
its original bhalustered cast ivon yard and stoop railinas with massive
newel posts and all have their fine oricinal doors. except for No. 1lu7,
where a hasement entrance has heen provided.

(No. 149 has been omitted from the nresent street numherin< system.)

No. 153 (151-155) is an excentionally fine Romanesque Revival town
house with a spacious yard, erected in 1886-87 for the Morris Buildine
Company. of which William Pheips was oresident. Tn 1896 it was greatly
enlarqed to the rear by its owner, Frank L. Bahbott., whose wife Lydia was
a Pratt. Tt was desicned hy the noted Manhattan architectural firm of
Lamb & Rich. and constructed of brick with brownstone trim hy the Brooklvn
builder Thomas B. Rutan With its deep yard to the east the handsome
east elevation, as well as the front, may he seen to advantave. The strone
asymmetry of its design may hest he seen at the front, where a three-sided
corner bay with peaked roof domjinates the long sweep of the vroofline
which comes down to the top of the second floor windows at the entrance
side. This corner hay is further dramatized hy the rake of a large eable,
on the east side which literally sorin~s upward from the third floor
windowsill of the hay. To lend further interest. a hich chimney, seated
on a lions head corhel at second floor level. extends upward hetween the
corner bay and the large eastern cahble. The detail of the house includes
enormous rough-faced lintels above the first floor openings, visuallv
laced tovether heneath the chimney hy stone lozenges. Brick, stone and
terra cotta have all been used to oreat effect with a fret nattern under
the eaves at the front executed in brick. It is interestine also to note
despite its early date the appearance of classical elements in the desiun,
which may be noted in the columnar treatment of tte third floor of the
corner bay and in the very delicate nedimented dormer to the west of 1it.

Nos. 157-167 is the lono side of the lar~e mansion described under
No. 58-60 Seventh Avenue, now thte Brooklyn Conservatory of Music.

LINCOLN PLACE Between Seventh & Fighth Avenues,
SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 170-252)

No. 170-180 is the long side of the corner house with the extensions
front and rear which include shoos servina the community. 7Tt is described
vnder No. 59 Seventh Avenue as the fivrst of a row of ten houses evected n
1880 by architect-huilder-owner William Flanaran of Rerkeley Place.

Nos. 182-194, This row of seven neo-Grec hrownstones was also
huilt by William Flananan. No. 182 was hnilt first, in 1881, and the rest
of the row to the east was heaqun in 1872, These three -stury hovses. set
above high hasements, have full-heiaht. Lwo-sided hays with cornices just
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ahove the carved lintels of the parlor floor windows. The sesmental-arched
doorways have grooved pilasters sirmounted by brackets. These hrackets g
support rectilinear stone slahs crowned with iron crestings. excepnt at
No. 182 where a carved lintel has been introduced. Nos. 192 and 19U retain
their handsome cast iron handrailinas and newel posts, while hasement
entrances have heen nrovided at Nos. 184 and 186. The animation of the
roof cornices, which follow the nrofiles of the hays, is enhanced by the
use of closely spaced brackets with panels between.

Nos. 186-206. These six hrownstone houses are the work of architect-
builder Thomas Fagan of 2%6 Grand Avenue, Brooklyn. who was an active
develover in the northern part of the Slope in the 1880s and 1890s. He -,
hought the land in 1883 and erected the horses shortly thereafter. They:
make an interesting contrast with the adjoinine Flanagan houses. Nos.
196-206 are much holder in feeling, an effect created not so much from |
their decoration as from the hlunt, angular shave of the two-sided hays
with a full-hei~sht series of pilasters at the anex. The criss-~-cross mothf
and the hrackets of the wooden cornices emphasize the anqularity of the %
bays. The entrances are anproached by high stoops all of which have -
retained their handsome cast iron handrailings and newel posts excepnt Ng.
20t and No. 206 where hasement entrance has heen nrovided. The square-
headed doorways, with grooved pilasters and brackets, sunport cornice slahs
which originally had delicate iron crestings, which may still he seen at
NoS.196, 204 and 206.

(Nos. 208-212 have been omitted from the street numherin< system.)

Nos. 214 is a picturesque Queen Anne house and is a fine example of
an architect-designed house wtich may he comnared with No. 139 Lincoln
Place. Broaoklyn architect Charles Werner desioned No. 214, which was
built for Henry Gaullieur and later tecame the home of Georce Fletcher.
President of the Ashury Park Gas Company. Built in 1883, it has happily
escaped any major changes. There is an interesting contrast in the use of
building materials. with a roush-faced hrownstone hasement and face-hrick
in the stories ahove. A three-sided hay rises from the hasement throuch
the second story. The fine doorway is crowned Ly an ornate cornice with
pediment above the central window. It has stained wglass transoms ahove
the windows. An L-shaped stoon with rough-faced stone wing-walls leads
up to the square-headed front doorway. It is flanked by fluted vilasters,
with richly carved rectangular hrackets ahove. These hrackets, and the
central keystone above the door, suceest a shallow cornice slah. The
windows have snlayed stone lintels with keystones and at the second
floor have unusual tripartite ornaments heneath the sills, consistineg of
three panels. two square with the one at the center a rectancle drovned
down hetween them. They originally displayed low relief carved floral
ornament and the 1long central nanel rests on the keystones of the windows
of the bay heneath them. The third floor, ahove a cornice, has a triple
dormer window ahove the hay crowned by two low windows and a high ornate
pediment. To the left of this window a double dormer window displays a
low bro%en pediment. A handsome roof of scalloped slates rises ahove *
these windows and behind the pedimented dormer ahove the hay.

No. 216, although built in the early 1R80s, was hrought forward to
the lot line when it was altered around 1930 into an avartment house, with
a new Tudor style facade. This four-story buildins of brick bhas a first
floor entrance at the left side enframed with stone. A high heraldic
emblem centered above the door has a drip moldine which is shouldered down
over the stone lintel at either side. The second floor windows have stone
jambs keyed to the brickwork and shallow rectancular lintels ahove them.
The third and fourth floor windows at the right side, are amply enframed
with half-timbering infilled with stucco and crowned by a hiah gahle. A
tall chimney to the richt of this ~able and a receding roof. above the
left-hand window, give the roofline an extromely picluresgne character.
All the windows are mnltinle steel casoments.
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Nos. 218 and 220 were a pair of three-story houses huilt in 1883 ﬁy
owner-huilder E. N. Day, and desizned hy Brooklyn architect M. .J. Morrill.
No vestige of No. 218 is visable from the street today as it was comple?ely
altered and converted to anartments in 1934. Tris apratment house is five
stories high with a licht-colored brick front. 7Tt has naired windows at
the first floor and triple windows ahove at the right-hand side. 1t is

crowned hy a brick parapet. WNo. 220, although altered. retains its original

bay, stoop and roof cornice.

Nos. 222-230. The next five three-story houses were built by Rrooklyn
architect-owner E. B. Stinier in 18R6. Nos. 222-226 are conventional neo-
Grec brownstones with full-height. three-sided bays, while No. 224 has had
its cornice removed and an extra floor added. The cornices are bracketeqﬂ
with small horizontal windows in the fascia, and the entrances have cornice
slabs carried on hrackets with balustrades above. The halustered cast irqn
handrailings and newel posts at the stoop of No. 226 remain. Nos. 228 and
230, although erected hy the same builder, are quite different in some of
their details and in the treatment of the ton floors. The two-story bhays
are crowned by low railings with cast iron finials. Here the introduction
of floral carved ornament in pilasters and panels suggests the influence
of the Renaissance tradition. as do the entrance door enframements with
their floral hrackets supporting cornice slahs with ornate central motifs.
The elliptical arched windows ahove the two-story hays, with their formal
spandrel nanels meeting at the central keystones, suggest a more purely
classical treatment., The stoons. with low wing-walls, have pipe railings
terminating in upright cast iron eriffins used as newel posts.

No. 232. This house was built in 1889 for William Snence, a coal
merchant, and was desiqned by Charles Werner. Originally a thbree and a
half story huildin=z, it has been raised to four. Tn a later alteration,
the front was smooth-stuccoed and a hasement entrance was provided.

No. 234, Althorgh its oricrinal neaked roof was removed to accomodate
a full top story, this house retains many of its fine Romanesgue Revival
features. Tt was built for S. E Brchanan in 1879, from designs hy the
well known architect, William B. Tubhy, who was also architect of the
Charles M. Pratt residence at 2U1 Clinton Avenue. the Library of Pratt
Institute. and the mansion av Mo. 53 Prospect Park West. There is a
subtle contrast in the color of the hrickwor which accents the small
arches of the row of third floor windows. These windows and the front
door are flanked by clusters of dwarf columns. Low-relief foliate carving
decorates the hrackets supporting the handsome, centrally located, second-
story oriel as well as the low stone wins-walls at the front steps.

(Nos. 236-2uU0 have heen omitted from the street numberine system.)
No. 242 is a one-story garage constructed at the rear of No. 252.

No. 252 is the lon- side of the house described under No. 2B Eighth
Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 169-251)

Lining this side of Lincoln Place, hetween the row houses facing
Seventh Avenue and those on Eichth Avenue, there originally were seven
semi-detached, villa-style residences which save a suburhan atmosphere to
this street--now replaced by the Berkeley School complex and three 20th
century apartment houses to the east. Helen Galacan Douclas lived in one
of these villas in her ycouth.

No. 169-179. No. 169, the mansarded huildin~ with stores heneath is
described nnder No. 57 Seventh Avenue. The rear yard has a one-story
addition containing storace space for the Seveulh Aveime sture and another
unit occupied by a store at the easlern end of the lot, No. 179,
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No. 191 (181-203), The Rerkeley "nstitute a private school for girls
established in 1887 retained the architectural firm of Wallker ° Morris
of Manl'attan, to desien their main buildina in 1896. 't is designed in a
modified version of the neo-Tlacohean style of the Eclectic period, which
was in vovue al that time, and is constructed of brick with stone trim.
The huilding is seven windows wide, with rables at each side which have
stone halls at the shoulders. Stone bandcourses and qgloins define
horizontal and vertical divisions. A cemiral doorway surmounted by a hi~h
window with halcony, all elabhorately crimmed with stone. aives importance
to che entrance bay. landsome wroucht 1ron doors adorn the avrched entry.
A high addition fills the lot at the rear, and a new Stairtower has heen
added at the east end of the main huildins., The entrance to the nlayoround
of the school separates the main building from the new cymnasium located
to the east of it (No. 193-203). The oymnasium was built in 1937-38 and
was desicned hy Broohlyn avchitect John Burke. It is a simple functional
structure of brick and has a row of five rectancular windows. set hetween
viers, east of the arched entrance door whiclt is enframed by pilasters
supporting an entablature. There is a sinole window located to the west
of the door in this low entrance section.

(No. 205 has been omitted from the street numhering system,)

No. 209 (207-211). This nine-story hrick apartment house. which
dominates the north side of the street was bhuilt for the Lobart Realty
Company and berun in 192R. Tt was desiened by Manhattan architect Arthur
Loho. The first two floors of No. 209 are faced with limestone and the
doorway, with fluted pilasters and entahlature, reflects 'talian Renaissance
antecedents. Althoueh the doorway is off center, four tiers of douhle
windows rise up symmetrically in the uvper brick section and are crowned
by low arched pediments. The two central tiers bave handsome, bali'stered
terra cotta balconies at thefourth and ei~shth floors, creating a sparkle
of light and shadow on this otherwise {lush-front wall.

No. 225. Lower in hei~ht than its neichlor to the west, this six-
story hrick apartment house is a good examnle of the Federal style so
v pular with architects in the 1920s. 't was hnilt in 1923-24 for Gordon &
Berry and was desicaned by the architectural firm of Cauchey & Evans. The
brickwort is laid up in Flemish hond and extends from a low stone hase to
the underside of the conine at the paramet. All the windows are triple
except at the end bays and at the central tier a“ove the entrance door.
The doorway, crowned hy a "hroken" pediment sunnorted on columns, is a
neo-Georrian feature which is typical of the liherties taken hy architects
when desivunine "Colonial architecture . Neo-Tederal features include the
arches ahove the second floor windows, with their stone fan motifs, and
the stone roundels set hetween the windows at the top floor. Rrick quoins
define the ends of the main front wall.

Mo. 235 is also of hrick and six stories hish. 7t was built in 1937
for Lincoln Plaza Apartments [nc., and was desi~ned by Bronx architect,
Charles Xreymbor~. The first floor is of rusticated hric' work surmonnted
by a narrow stone handcourse. An arched doorwav is flanked hy arched
windows set off Ly columns and crowned by a paneled entahlature, all of
wood. This feature cives a neo-Federal ctraracter to this huildine in
which the steel window sash indicates move nearly the actual date of its
construction,

Nos. 2U01-2°1 is the long side of the hovse descrihed vnder MNo. 26

Eighth Avenue, A one-story rarace and a narrow access passane occupy the
rear lot of this property.
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SOUTH SIDE (No. 25! .

No. 254 is the lons side of the house described vnder No. 27 Eighth
Avenue.

(The narrow end of the corner apartment house, No. 25 Plaza Street.
is outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 253-285)

No. 253-265 is the long side of the Montauk Club, which is deserihed
under No. 18-25 Eichth Avenue.

HONYGOMERY_PLACE

Montgomery Street, named after General Richard Montgomery, the hero
of the Battle of Quebec (177%), was renamed Montcomery Place in 1889. 't
exemplies the oricinal meaning of the word "place" as used in London, and
in a few instrnces in Broo'.lyn Heiahts. as Montgomery Place is oniy one
block long, hesiming at Eichth Avenue and ending at the Park. The vista
is closed at Eighth Avenue by an amber brick six-story "Moderne" apartment
house of the 1940s, "a. very successful termination in a totally different
style", according to the ATA Guide to New York City. On this street it
is relatively close from housfront to housefront, with minimal setbacks to
allow for low stoops. The fronts are aenerally low. with eave or cornice
lines above the third story surmounted in some cases hy low attics, gahles ‘

or large dormer windows. The entire street is said to have been built up

as a sincle real estate venture hy Harvey Murdock bhetween 1887 and 1892.

C. P. H. Gilbert, an outstanding Manhattan architect of the neriod, desicned
twenty of the forty-six houses on this street. The wide variety amone

them was intentional and counteracts the uniformity cenerally associated
with developers' rows.

MONTGOMERY PLACE Between Eichth Avenue & Prospect Park West

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 2-72)
No. 2-6 is the short side of thie covnuer apaviment house described
under No. 143 Eighth Avenue.

No. 10 (8-12) is a four-story hrick apartment hovse with stone trimg}
identical to its neighbor, the corner apartment house of 1910.

it

Nos. 14, 16, 18 These three residences are very picturesque and
hold in character. Visually unified in materials., color and composition,
they have roush-faced random ashlar brownstone on the first story with
brick above arched entrances, second story oriels and steen roof gables
silhouetted at the skyline. Nonetheless, there is considerable variation
in design giving individuality to each of these hasically Romanesgue
Revival houses. These three, and the three houses directly across the
street, Nos. 11, 17 and 19, are the earliest on the hlock. They were all
designed by C. P. H. Gilbert and huilt in 18R7-88. Nos. 14, 16 and 18 were
built for Messrs. Thomas Van Loan, R. Starr and G. A. Price respectively.
Similar in character, it would seem they were intended to set the standavd

for this street. .
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No. 1U is of dar% red brick with a very bhroad low stoop, which leads
up to the doorway, one of two arched oveninzs. the other reing a window
with stone mnllions transom bars and tiny leaded lights. The hrownstone
arches have a distinct stepped profile keyed to the brickwork. Ahove these
arches there is a shallow howed oriel surmounted hy a symmetrical croup
of arched windows with terra cotta dripmolds. A rich foliate band in
terra cotta runs across heneath the sill of the four little windows in
the gabhle.

No. 16 is of lishter red brick with a narrower arched entrance. The
rouch-faced brownstone rises to a point helow the ornamental impost blocks
of the arch. The oriel at the second story, ahove the narlor floor windows,
is carried on rough-faced corbhel hlocks. It is surmounted by a roof deck
with bric! parapet serving a triple window set in a brick-arched recess
with scalloped shingles. The gable crownin~ this hay is detailed in the
Queen Anne manner.

No. 18, of light orange brick, is exceptionally bandsome. Jt has a
broad arched doorway, approached hy a wide stoop. At this house., the
brownstone of the lower floor encompasses the broad smooth corhel supnorting
the three-sided central hay window, The third floor windows have a trinle
central unit with low segmental arch, flanked hy single windows. all
united beneath a continuous dripmolding. At the base of the roof gable
three windows arched with headers share a richly ornamented corhel-sill.
This stepped gahle has three slit windows, with corheling helow and
recalls Dutch precedent.

Nos. 20-28. These five houses form a related group hut variations
in the material, rooflines and decorative detail make each one distinct.
They were constructed by neichhorhood owner-huilders Delaney & Collins in
1897-98., All of them have two-story bhays alternatine three-sided and
howed, in an ABABA sequence, and all hut one retain their L-shaped stoops.
Materials--limestone and brownstone--change in an irrecular pattern. Nos.
24 and 26 bave gahles and scalloped tile roofs ahove the third floor
cornice line. The implication is that prospective owners were given a
choice of options for each house, except for the predetermined shane of
the hays. In aeneral these five houses are much more like conventional
row houses of the period than any other houses on this side of the street.
There seems to he no commitment to one marticular style- some entrance
doors and windows have round arches of Romanesque Revival style over
columns, while others are neo-Renaissance in desien. Rather fine relief
decoration varies from house:;to house: at No. 26, there is a has-relief of
musical symbols ahove the parlor floor windows. A hasement entrance has
heen nrovided at No. 22.

Nos. 30-34 of limestone, terra cotta and off-white Roman hrick, are a
study in crisp neo-Italian Renaissance design and a decided contrast to
their dark-hued Romanesque neizhhors. They were hnilt in 1896 for Georece
R. Bartraux, who lived on Fourth Street. iuvst west of the District. and
were designed by Brooklyn architect. Robtert Dixon. They introduce the
theme, repeated eastward down the streets of a flush-fronted central house
flanked hy those with full-width, three-sided hays. The relatively small
areas of brickwork contrast with the larqge proportion of delicately detailed
terra cotta trim enframing the many rectancular openings. A semi-circular
has-relief panel ahove the front door of the central house, the arched
windows to the left of it and the ornate little window above the doorway
are the only details which hreak the rectilinear uniformity. Straisht
stoops with solid wing-walls and columnar newels lead to the doorways.

Nos. 36-uU0 forms a visvally unified, roughly symmetrical., monumental
composition: a flush-fronted central house with two-story oriel is flauked
by two full-width, bow-fronted houses. These houses were all desiined by
C. P. H. Gilbert and built in 188°.89 fo» Messrs.Chauncey Tves, C. A.
Murphy and Enoch Rutzler respectively. A sincgle steep roof plane runs
across the central house linking it with the cone-shaped roots of the
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bow-fronted end houses which give the effect of towers. The picturesque
red slate roofs, with shingled central dormer window and copper dormers

in the tower roofs at No. 36, are the most remarkahle features of these
houses. Two hattered brick chimneys surmount the ridge of the main roof.
The houses have certain Romanesque Revival details, especially on the first
story, where the rough-~faced random ashlar brownstone of the hasements
runs up to varying heichts between the first floor windows. The. upper
walls are of orange-colored hrick trimmed with rouvgh hrownstone, except for
the two-story oriel of the central house. No. 38. Here, the third floor
has red slate cladding to 7o with its distinctly Queen Anne windows, which
have thirty lights in the upper sash above plate glass helow. Despite
differences in massinz from the adjoihing pair of houses to the east fNos.
42 and 44), this group of three maintains some of the aligmments of windows &
bandcourses., The intaglio band of bhrickwork above the third story windows,
runs unchanged from the bowed front of No. U0 across the flush front of No.
42 at this level.

Nos. 42 and 4i4. This handsome douhle house with paired doorways and
stoops was built for S. 5. Hannah in 188R8-89 and designed by C. P. H.
Gilbert. Like the adjoining residences to the west, they are striking in
color, with variesated ovanve-colored brick and rough-faced stone work at
the first floor and basement. The stvle is modified Romanesque Revival.
Two-story curved bays flankin~ the doorways lend interest to the otherwise
flat facade. The severity of the wall surfaces is relieved hy the intaglio
lines of hricwor at the flat arches of the second and third floor windows,
which recall the Georgian splayed lintel and by the panel in the high blank
attic wall. This panel of ornamental brickwork extends the full-width jof
both houses and, with the deep Italian Renaissance overhane of the roof
carried on beam ends, unifies the pair.

No. 46 was built for A. S. Locke in 188A-89 and was designed by C. P. H.
Gilbert. It is an unusual three-story house of variesated orance-colorecd
Roman brick. Unlike its neighbors, it has a parapet in lieu of an attic
story. The basement is very low, and the window and door openings are .
unusually small, in keeping with the smaller scale of this house. The wide
low door is of sturdy oak. Deep. splayed, segmental arches of hrick
contrast with the relatively small size of the openings they span. The
projecting second story hay window has two casements set above a hroad
deep band of corbeled brickwork. The only decoration is the foliate relief
of the stones flanking the splayed arches of the top floor windows, and
the terra cotta cornice ahove them. A tall hrick parapet ahove this
cornice has a horizontal row of small square openinos and is crowned hy
a coping swept up at the ends to meet square end bhlocks.

No. 48 was built for C. L. Rossiter in 1889-90 and was desiened by
C. P. H. Gilbert., Of colored red brick similar to that of No. 50, it is
a three and one-half story Romanesque Revival house with rough-faced stone
basement extending up to include the sills at the parlor floor windows.
These windows and the doorway are square-headed, with slender bhrownstone
transom bars and heavy rough-faced lintels. There is a handsome wrought
iron grille in the transom ahove the doorway, which is approached by a
narrow hrownstone stoon. The windows of the upper floors are all round-
arched with longated keystones at the second floor and stained glass in
the third floor transoms. A two-story, three-sided bay,.at the right of the
doorway, has a solid brick parapet defining the balcony, which serves two
of the third story round-arched windows. Vertical ribs of brick, set on
corbels, enliven the top of the wall and those in the parapet of the
balcony rise directly from the elon-wated keystones of the arched windows
of the second floor. An unusual roof with Spanish-type tiles of copper,
has two dormer windows with triangular pediments.

No. 50 is a fine three and one-half story Romanesque Revival house
with random, rough-faced limestone at the hasement which extends up to the
parlor floor windowsill. 7t was built for J. Herward in 1889-90 and was
designed by C. P. H. Gilhert. The house is of yellow hrick, with red
brick quoining and trim surroundina the arched openinecs, keyed to the .
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yellow brick of the walls. The doorway is arched and is complemented
arched window of equal width beside it. The window displays a handsome
leaded glass fanlight and the front door, approached by a wide low stoop,
is neo-Colonial. A large three-centered brick arch extends up through the
second and third floors, enframing a brick oriel window at the second
floor which is carried on a wide stone corbel centered between the arches
of the first floor. At the third floor a broad window, with French doors
at the center, fills the arch and opens on a balcony with brick parapet
which, in turn, forms the top of the oriel. A steep roof rises up behind
two dormer windows with high gablets.

No. 52 was built in 1889-90 for C. €. Cummings, who lived on Union
Street, west of the District, and designed by Brooklyn architect T.
Williams. This Romanesgque Revival house is gquite different from its
neighbors, as the front is entirely of brownstone. It is dominated by a
two-story, shallaow curved bay with rough-faced stone, somewhat similar in
size and form to the bay at No. 63, although it is not as prominent and
has a stone parapet with small square openings. Here, the lower two
floors are entirely rough-faced, as are the lintels at the third story.
All openings are rectangular except for a small window above the entrance
which has corbels cutting into the upper corners, a popular Romanesque
Revival device. Crowning the facade is a bold classical cornice, above
which two pedimented dormers peek out., the tops of their windows barely
visible from the opposite sidewalk.

Nos. 5S4 and 56 were designed as a symmetrical pair by C. P. H. Gilbert.
They were built in 1889-90 for Mssrs. Horatio Adams and G. Zollner,
respectively., Set between large three-sided bays extending up two stories.
the houses have paired entrances and stoops. Smooth amber-colored brick
and shallow terra cotta trim give the houses a thin-walled appearance. All
openings--doors and windows--are rectangular, and the rectangularity is
further emphasized by the enframements of terra cotta in foliate pattern.
Above the parlor floor windows the transoms are of stained glass at No. 56.
The lines of the balustrades at the tops of the bays are carried across
the main wall plane, forming a pseudo-parapet pierced by brick arches.
At the third floor, each house has a wide tripartite window, with a
shallow arch above the center sash, and delicate stained glass at No. 56,
and rectangular flanking trahsoms. Above the high eaves, supported on
slender vertical brackets, the roofs have wide central dormers.

No. 58 was built for Herbert Cockshaw in 1889-90 and was designed by
C. P. H, Gilbert. It has fine amber-colored Roman brick with rough-faced
brownstone confined to the low basement. The very sparing use of stone
and terra cotta trim in this house accentuates the fine quality of the
brickwork. The front has a uniform wall plane and is almost perfectly
symmetrical. The entrance door is under one of three identical round
arches, which also define the two parlor floor windows. They have round-
nosed bricks at the jambs emphasizing their simple refinement. At the
peak of each arch is an attenuated keystone carried up to a prominent
second floor windowsill where two broad second floor windows are enframed
by a single band of molded brick. Supporting the third floor windowsill is
an unusual, strongly projecting shelf of corbeled brickwork above which
are two windows under round arches. Beneath the roof cornice a broad
foliate band of terra cotta flanks a central human mask. The sheetmetal
cornice is neo-Classical in style, with closely spaced console brackets
beneath the steeply pitched roof with central dormer.

No. 60 was built in 1889-90 for Thomas Van Loan, a Manhattan merchant,
as his residence and designed by C. P. H. Gilbert. A striking Romanesque
Revival residence, this house makes a strong ending for this row of houses.
The third floor eave~line interrupted by a steep gable at the front with
a two-story-high, round-arch that reproduces in elevation the curve of
the two-story bay below it, increasing the feeling of verticality. A
handsome carved panel separates the two tiers of windows in the arch. The
rough-faced brownstone of the first floor and basement are separated by a
deep, battered stone course below the first floor windowsills. The first
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floor windows are deep set with stone transom bars and stone mullions
dividing the transoms irnto thirds. The small front doorway is enhanced hy
a heavy round arch springing from clusters of dwarf columns on either side.
The upper stories are faced with the same amber-colored Roman brick as the
adjoining row, but the curved bay terminates at mid-height at the second
tloor. The foliate relief pattern in the brownstone triangle at the apex
of the front gable is echoed in sheetmetal on the small dormer window next
to it. A steep slate roof rises up behind them with high corbel-topped
chimney at the apex.

No. 62-72 is the long side of the handsome mansion with rear yard,
described under Na. 28 Prospect Park West.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 1-59)

No. 1. This imposing. free-standing. neo-Federal brick mansion and
its garden are separated from the street by a tall iron fence with red
brick piers. The house of Flemish bond brickwork was built in 1910 for
Mrs. Audley Clarke and was designed by the architectural firm of Mowbray &
Uffinger. It stands above a low marble basement and has an off-center
entrance, enframed by columns supporting a full entablature and approached
by a low flight of marble steps. The first floor windews have brick arches
with blind lunettes beneath marble keystones. An interesting feature of
the windows at the second floor is the introduction of neo-Georgian, splayed
flat arches. A continuous marble bandcourse serves as a sill for third
floor windows, which have diagonally-set marble inserts in the wall
between them. A modillioned sheetmetal cornice, with balustrade above,
crowns the residence (the balusters have been removed). The west
elevation, described under No. 135 Eighth Avenue, has a full-height, swell-
front centered between the end windows of the main wall.

Nos. 11, 17 and 19 (Nos. 13 and 15 have been omitted from the present
street numbering system) These brick and hrownstone houses are unusually
wide and vere all designed by C. P. H. Gilbert for Carcline Murdock,
William F. Brown and Thomas L. Gill, respectively. Erected in 1887-8%,
they are among the earliest on this street. Rough-faced brownstone extends
up to the sill of the second story windows at all three houses, which are
approached by broad low stoops.

No. 11, with its striking Dutch stepped-gable, is the most picturesque
of the three and is basically a handsome example of the late Romanesque
Revival style. It was the residence of Harvey Murdock, the develaper of
Montgomery Place. It has a very wide. bow-shaped, two-story bay, with
a parapet and stone transom bars at all the windows with stained glass
transoms. The wide, rectangular double door has a transom with a heavy
iron screen., The upper floors. in coutrast to the base, are of an amber-
colored, speckled Roman brick. The third floor windows have the small-
paned upper sash so typical of the period. The three windows over the bay
are set beneath deep arches of headers which are linked by a continuous
drip molding. At the eave-line is a massive cornice of rough-faced
brownstone, just helow the red tile roof and the stepped gable with modified
Palladian window. A tiled dormer window with hipped roof is set in the
roof to the left of it. The two side walls at roof level alsc have stepped
gables. Brownstone coping finishes off the steps which lead up to the
chimneys at the apex of the roof.

Nos. 17 and 19, basically Romanesque Revival in style, are more
conventional versions of the style. They have a strong architectural
kinship, seen in the use of similar materials and details: both are
constructed of red brick over brownstone bases and are approached by
gracious stoops with curved wing-walls. No. 17 has a polygonal, two-
story bay, while No. 19 has a second story oriel; both are surmounted by
solid brick parapets. The top story of No. 17 has segmeuntal arched -*
windows with terra cotta drip moldings By contrast. No. 19 has round-
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arched third floor windows and the interest is focused on a large elliptical

arch enframing a three-sided shingled recess. A striking feature of No. 17 is the
steep pediment centered above the bay, with an elaborate Greek fret terra cotta
panel set in the brickwork at its base. A decorative block set into the molding,
which forms the sills of the second floor windows between Nos. 17 and 11, makes
the step down from one house to the other following the slope of the street.

A low parapet extends across the width of Nos. 17 and 19 above their dentiled
roof cornices.

Nos. 21 and 25 (No. 23 has been omitted from the street numbering sys-
tem). This monumental pair of light-colored brownstone was built in 1892. They
were designed in a very original, late version of the Romanesque Revival style by
C.P.H. Gilbert for Charles M. Reed. Treated as a single architectural entity,
the two houses are beautifully unified by their steep tile roof, projecting end
bays, horizontal strip of windows in the wall plane between the bays and by the
wing-walls of low, L-shaped stoops which face each other. The red Spanish tile
roof, with picturesque gables and dormers, swoops down to third floor windowsill
level. Two-tiered dormers, treated in an unusual manner, have balconies at the
top tier, which rest on the roofs of the lower tiers of the dormer windows below.
The unusual strip of six windows, with wide piers between them, supgests the early
work of Frank Lloyd ¥right, while the low-relief ornament and its treatment call
to mind the work of Wright's master Louis Sullivan. The steep gable at No. 25
displays a bull's eye window with square foliate enframement, another unusual
feature. The three-story bay at the other end, at No. 21, is crowned by a small
porch with conical roof. An iron-railed balcony encloses a deck in front of
the porch and the bay beneath, on the side of the bay facing the entrance, has
two charming oval windows one above the other. The linear ornament of this
bay, defining the windows and creating panels, is used in a completely architec-
tonic way. There is an interesting row of animal heads under the eaves at No. 2l.

Wdos. 27-31. These three houses are four stories high with large dormers and
have facades of yellow brick. No. 29 was built in 1904 for James Shaw and as
No., 27 is its twin, it seems probable that it was also built for Shaw in the same
year. MNo. 31 was built much earlier, in 1889, for M.'!. Canda and was designed by
Hornium Bros, yet all three houses are very similar, displaying detail drawn
largely €rum Ronaissance sources. The first floor wall is of rusticated limestone,
smooth and continuous, joining all three houses to form a handscme front to the
street. At the top of the rusticated base, Nos. 29 and 31 have foliate moldings,
while No. 27 has the Greek fret desiqn. The entranceways are recessed, except
at No. 27 which has its left side exposed and has Ionic columns. They are all ap-
proached by low stoops. Above the first floor, each house is quite different,
with interesting variations: a three-sided rectangular bay at No. 27: a wide bow
at No. 29; and a slightly projecting flush bay at Mo, 31. /rnother variation is the
use of three different copper pediments at the dormer windows: triangular at
the wide dormer of No. 27, “broken' scrolls at the individual dormers of No. 29
and an arch at No. 31, centercd above the central double window of its wide dormer.
Narrow courses of cream-colored brick alternate with the yellow brick of the walls
giving the effect of quoins between bays. The windowframes and lintels are of
limestone.

No. 33 (Mo. 35 has been omitted from the street numbering system) is a three-
story late Romanesque Revival house of limestone and red brick. It has a rough-

faced stone base with smooth stones keyed to 1t around the window and door openings.

The keystone over the window represents a girl enframed by a scallop-shell and a
bearded mask appears in the keystone over the door. Rough-faced limestone is keyed
to the brickwork surrounding a two-story arch, which contains an oriel at the sec-
ond story and an arched window at the third. A bracketed and paneled cornice

with dentils crowns the house.

Nos. 37-43. Another prominent architect of the day, George P. Chappell,
desipned the next four houses. They were built in 1890-91 for Messrs. Ford and
Masven and are of limestone at the first floor with tan-colored brick and terra
cotta above. A steep roof comes down to mid-third story level. The houses are
similar, but the end units project slightly and have high peaked roofs and L-shaped
stoons. No. 37 has a pink colosed slate roof, A toextural eontrast is achieved
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at the upper floors where split brick adjoins the smooth, richly ornamented central
bays of terra cotta. A delicate band with swags in low relief appears below the
pointed gables crowning the bays.

No. 45 is a wide three-story limestone and red brick buildine which was
desiened by the important "anhattan architectural firm of Babb, Cook & %illard,
and built for Theodore M. Towl in 1898-99. This fine example of later (lienri IV)
French Renaissance has a rusticated gqranite base up to the first floor windowsills,
including a large L-shaped stoop. The limestone at the first floor has <risp,
hard-edeed rustication keyed into the door and windowframes, and prominent voussoirs
over flat-arched windows. Elaborate consoles support a shallow cornice slab over
the entrance. The windows of the second and third floors are linked by panels
closed at the ends by vertical stone hlocks above console-supnorted cornice slabs
over the second floor windows. Low quard rails are set in the frames of the second
and third floor windows. A well-nroportioned classical limestone cornice and
balustrade crown this handsome buildinsm.

‘lo. 47 was designed by architect R.L. Daus. It was constructed in 1890 for
V. Yoechel. This very distinctive neo-French Renaissance house, veneered in red
sandstone, has a strong verticality throughout leading up to a high pyramidal
roof with handsome gabled dormer. There is a two-story polyponal bay with a
low marapet on top. All the openings are rectancular, with curved corners at the
top and stone transom bars. The transom above the entrance door displays some
fine wrought-iron work. The window above it is related to it visually by the hieh
fini~is flanking the 'oor. hich lead up the fluted corbel beneath the window.
This, in turn, is crowned by a shell-form arch. The central pair of windows at
the third floor is tied vertically to a tall central gabled dormer, with a studding
of fleur-de-lis set in front of the steep pyramidal roof. -

Nos. 49, 51, 53, a row of three-story browvnstones with rough-faced stone base-
ments, were erccted in 1892-93 by the prolific reighborhood builder, !"illiam
Gubbins. They have two-story masonry bays with curved sides and richly ornanented
bandcourses between the windows. All the windows, except those in the bays, are
arched with drip molds. The detail and arched doorways with colonnettes are Roman-
esque Revival in character althoumh the metal roof cornices are more nearly classi-
cal with console brackets, and small panels in the frieze, set one above each
window below. ™o. 53 has a curved two-story bay and has had its cornice removed
where a fourth floor was added at a later date. All the houses are approached by
L-shaned stoops.

Mos, 55-59. These three houses were also built in 1892-93 by ™Milliam Gubbins.
Nf thesc three houses, No. 57 best in'icates the original appearance of the row,
with its small central gable and flanking windows at the fourth floor. Shallow,
curved two-story masonry bays have larre window openings separated by pilasters
at the first floor. Rough-faced stone anpears at bhasement level, reapnearing
again ahove the bay windows. The arched doorwey with colonnettes, and the arch
in the gable at No. 57, are clearly Romanesque Revival in style. Carved foliatc
details aprear beneath the windows of all the bays. %os. 55 and 59 have had full-
height fourth floors added at a later date.

(The long side of the corner apartment house, Mo. 27 Prospect Park West,
is outside the 'istoric District.)

PARK PLAME

Park Place, west of Flatbush Avcnue, was one of the earliest streets in the
Nistoric District to be developed. Building besan in 1869 at the eastern end of
the south side of the street. The last houses to be built, in 1881, were at the
western end of the north side. Park Place was orisinally called Raltic Street and
renamed in 1873, when Prospect Park was larpelv completed.
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Sweepines gently down to Sixth Avenue, where the street is enhancéd hy nouly
planted trees and the majestic spire of St. Augustine’s Church rises to the south-
west, this block, with its rows of three-story hrownstones above hiph stoops,
rctains its late 19th century appearance. TExcellent examples of the late Italia-
nate style may be seen on both the north and south sides of the street. The smooth-
fronted brownstones at Nos. 122-142 and 115-123 are very impressive in appearance,
with hieh basement walls which retain their elegant rustication and, for the most
part, their exceedingly fine, arched doorways. Contrasting with the flat facades
of the Italianate style residences, a mode which persisted in the outlying bor-
ounhs or the city until well into the 1870s, are the angular bays of the slightly
later neo-Grec houses at the western end of the street, reflecting the change in
architectural taste within the short span of a decade. Some houses along the street
have, unfortunately, been altered and two, one on each side, have had their stoops
and ornament removed and have been smooth-stuccoed.

PARK PLACE Between Sixth § Seventh Avenues
_YUTH SINE  (Mos. 90-156)

(The corner house, No. 117 Sixth Avenue, is ocutside the llistoric District.)

No. 90 is the handsome little Italianate stable built for the corner house,
Mo. 117 €ixth Avenue. It has round-arched windows and an entrance door flankine
the central two-story arch for the combination carriage door and hay loft door.
The paneled hay loft door is the original, while the carriage doors have been re-
placed by an overhead-type door of a later date. A neat but attractive cornice,
with widely spaced foliate brackets, has a pancled fascia. This is one of the
few stables in the arca which rctains much of its original appearance.

Nos. 92-98 are good examles of hrounsteacs 'n th2 “ull-blown, ace-Grec style
they have shallow full-height, two-sided bays well defined ’ears” {or acroteria)
at the lintels of the upper floor windows and frcnt door, and incised ornament in
the lintels above all the windows. All retain their balustered cast iron hand-
railines and massive newel posts at the stoops. This row was crected in 1881 by
owner-builder John 'onas who lived at No. 92.

Nos. 100-110. Designed by the well-known Brooklyn architectural firm of
Parfitt Eros, these six houses may well have been the first fully developed cx-
amples of the neo-Grec style in the area. They were constructed in 1377 o€ Nova
Scotia stone, by builder Philip J. Cooty for G.!i. Chapman of Manhattan. !ith full-
height, two-sided bays and bracketed cornices, they established the animated sky-
line followed by their neighbors to the west. Simple pedimented lintels, with
incised ornament, adorn the windows and the semmental-arched doorways have cornice
slahs carried on brackets with iron crestings above them.

Mos. 112-116. Thesc three brownstones, so similar to llos. 92-98, were built
in 1280 for flary 'tagillagan by her husband, architect-builder John ffagilligan.
Tven the roof cornices repeat the high, narrow, evenly spaced brackets of the
adjacent houses at the west.

Nos. 118 and 120. These flush-fronted brownstones with their window frames
surmounted by cornices and handsome, ~rched Jdouble doors crowned by sesmental
arches, carried on brackets above keystones, rcflect the new formality of the French
influence in architecture. They retain their stoon and yard railings. Despite
the difference of their appearance from Mos. 112-116, they were also constructcs)
by Johr ta 1711 -on 1n 1773-85 <or “lary nc1litean.

Yos. 172-130 have a late Italianate character which 1s belied by the 4date,
1871-72. Again they were built by John Magilliran. ™ost notable are their arched
dooruays, similar to those at lMos. 118 and 120 their rusticated basements with
seqmental ~arched windows; the shouldered cornices over their segmental-arched
windous, which are carried on brackets; the deep parlor floor windowsills carried
on console brackets and the arched profiles of the fascias between the brackets
o€ their roof cornices. No. 122 best retnins its original appearance, with 1ts
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128 has had a fourth floor l \

los. 132-142. This row of six late JTtaliannte brownstones was built on land
purchased in April 1868 by real estate developer Daniel 'i. llells, who lived on !
Zaltic Strcet near Seventh Avenue, from builder Robert S. Bussing. They were
crected in the years immediately “ollowina by Flatbush Avenue builder Milliam V.
'i11liamson, who often worked with "ells. These three-story, flush-fronted
brownstones above high basements -- s» de2firitely “t~liom~te 1n their desinn --
are an indication of how retardataire residential architecture was in the
Park Slove area. Characteristic of the style are the rusticated basements with
arched windows and metal corilles; the arched doorways surmounted by segmental-
arched rediments carried on foliate brackets- the windows with their " eyebrow"
or shouldered cornices, also carried on brackects, and their ornate cornices with
widely spaced foliate brackets. WNos. 140 and 142, with* their arched fascias
cchoing the segmental-arched windows below, are very similar to Nos. 118 and 120.

balustered cast iron handrailings and newel posts. Mo,
added retaining its original cornice at a higher level.

'o. 144, which stands well in front of thc row to the west, was built right
un to the lot line. [t is a three-story house for which a basement entrance has
been provided. The front has been smooth-stuccoed. It was built in 1874 by
neighborhood architect-builier S.J. Cootey.

Mo. 146-156 is the lonq side of the corner house, with - one-story shon oceimy -
ine the rear yard, described under No. 8§ Seventh Avenue.

MORTI! SIOL (Nos. 95-133)

(The corner building, No. 115 Sixth Avenuc, is outside the Historic District.)

o, 95 is a vacant lot. .

'os. 97 and 99 are the only houses on this side of the street to have full-
heisht, two-sided bays, similar to those across the street. They are also the only
French neo-Grec brownstones on this side and werc huilt in 1832-83 for John Monas,
who lived at i'o. ©2, across the street, by architect-mason J.J. Gilligan, of the
same address. They differ from the houses opposite in having a full-heaght pilaster
at the apex of each bay and disnlay the characteristic lintels with “ears" (or
acroteria} at the doorway and upper floor windous, which are decorated with
incised carving, as are the flush lintels of the parlor floor windows, The use of
incised decoration, introduced with the neo-Grec style, proved much more economi-
cal for the speculative builder than the rich foliate carvings characteristic of
the Italianate ornament.

ilos. 101-113. This row of seven flush-fronted brownstones was begun in
1872 by neighborhood builder John Gordon in association with Brooklyn builder
Cwen Molan. Gordon had purchased the land for developrment from two large property
owners cn this street, Joseph Chamberlain and Elias J. Beach. These houses are
cuite similer to Nos. 118 and 120 across the street. WMith their windowfranes,
crowned by cornices, and their handsome arched doorways, surmounted by secrental-
arched pediments, they show the influence of Trench formality. Mos. 101 and 103,
{ike the adjoining pair to the west, retain their cast iron balustered handrailings
and claborate newel posts, i1ndicative of the original appearance of the row.
Basement entrances have been provided at llos. 105 and 109. The basement walls are
rusticated and the segmental-arched windows in these walls have snlayed arches with
faceted keystones. The roof cornices, carried on widely spaced console brackets,
have paneled fascias with dinmond-shaped panels at the centers. No. 105 has had
a fourth story added.

Mos. 115-123. These five flush-fronted brownstones were late Italianate in
style. They were erected in 1870-72 by architect-builder John 'fagilligan in
association with Thomas Lowther, the owner of a neighborhood stoncyard. These
houses are quite similar to llos. 122-130, built at the same time by llagilligan on .
the south side of the street They have the same features of desian and detail.
Al11 but Ilo. 121 retain their original balustered cast iron handrailings at their
Stoops.
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Nos. 125-133., Like Nos. 118 and 120, across the street, these five flush-
fronted brownstones reflect the same French influence. No. 131 has a two-sided
bay carried on a pointed cornice slab with brackets above the doorway. Nos,

127 and 133 retain their yard railings with handsome cast iron crestings on top.
They were built in 1874-75 by the neighborhood builder John Gordon.

(The buildings to the cast, including the Carlton Theatre, are all outside
the distoric District.)

PLAZA STREET

Looking out over the earth berm, or artificially created mound of earth,
provided by Nimstcad § Vaux to shield residential Plaza Strcet from the noise
of traffic crossing the Grand Army Plaza, is a row of four residences on the
short blockfront from Flatbush Avenue to Lincoln Place. The other portion of
the blockfront within the District is occupied by the east side of the exception-
ally handsome Montauk Club, at the corner of Lincoln Place.

PLAZA STREET Between Flatbush Avenue § Lincoln Place
WEST SIDE (Nos. 5-19)

(The corner building is outside the Historic DNistrict.)

3
Nos. 5-11. These four limestone residences were constructed in 1901 by !
neighborhood builder Charles G. Peterson, of 603 Seventh Strect, with H
Frederick Tyrrell of Brooklyn as architect. Good examples of the nec-Classical
style, which was at its height at the turn-of-the-century, they are narrow houses,
under nineteen feet wide. They have alternating three-sided and curved full-
height bays, giving a strong effect of verticality to the groun. All have rust}
icated basements and parlor floor walls, and three retain their dignified L-
shaped stoops of varied design. No. 11 has a fine doorway with rusticated ;
voussoirs delineating the semicircular arch, and a console-type keystone sur-
mounted by a ‘broken" pediment, similar to the one over the parlor floor

window of the bay. Handsomely carved panels appear beneath the windows of all
four houscs. Three retain their roof cornices, carried on console brackets,

with a variety of classical motifs in the friezes.

No. 13 is a vacant lot.

'
R TN

Mo. 15-19 is the east side of the 'lontauk Club, described under No. 19-25
Eighth Avenue.

i
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rhis short tree-lined strecet, named for Johannes Theodorus Polhemus, first
minister of the Dutch Refo-med Church on Lone Island, is one of the most attractive
1n the Pistoric District. Developed in the 1890s, the houses provide fine examples
of the late Romanesque Pevival and the neo-French Renaissance styles, as well as
threc very interesting houscs hich vere wite oririnal in their combinations
f stylistic clenents.

PAL'IMIUT PLACL Butween Carroll Street § Garfield Place

EAST SIDE  (Nos. 1-29 and the side of MNo. 231 Garfield Place)

ilo. 1 1s the long side of the corner house described under Mo. 786 Carroll
Street.

Mos. 11-17 (io. 13 has becen omtted from the stroct pumberaine system).
This finc, remarkably unified group of three late Romanesque Revival honses was
erected 1n the mid-1890s by owner builder Gilford P, Bartaux, back-to-back with
Nos. 12-16 Fiske Place, built by him at about the same time. The upper stories
are constructed of smooth Rorman brick, handled in on exceptionally sophisticated
manner, 1bove rouesh-facel stone basements, Stone bandine and foliate carving is
used as an exnressive contrast at the upper stovies. The three-story residences
are symmetrically disposed around the center house, with a varie? treatment of
the sccond story bay windows at the end houses Ho. 11 has a trianqular oable
anl sinele window, whereas “o. 17 has a docuble window divided by a mullion and a
nitched roof resembline stonework. At the parlor floor, horizontal bands form
transom bors. some of which retain their leaded transoms. The center house h-os
a Palledian-type window at the sccond floor, hut carried out in the Romanesque
manner, with heavy masonry mullions and an arch of brick headers terminating in
folinte carving at its basc. The third floor windous arc all arched, with three
at the center house and two at the end houses. The first floors, above the high
basements, arec treated with narrow bands of stonec altcrnatine with wide banis of
brickwork. Above this floor, 1nd serving as lintels for doors and windows, 1s a
wide unifying band of carved foliate desion, interrnpted by the ornate, vertical
keystone of the arched front doorway of No. 15. "eneath the eaves of the root a
textured effect 1s achieved in a hand of Flemish bon! brickwork in which the
headers are 21l recesscd. Carved rafter ends support the eaves and small heads
punctuatce the cornice line between houses. llo. 15 still retains its handsorme
ironwork handrailings at the stoop.

Pos. 19-29. This row of six houses was built in 1897-8 for Dessie Martin and
designed by Brooklyn architect “xcl lledman, who also worked in the Stuyvesant
Heiqhts area. Above the rough-faced high basements, these houses are faced with
smooth-faced stonework, alternating three-sided with curved bays. They are
approached by straight stoons with solid masonry wina-walls surmounted by metal
handrailines. These stoops lead up to doorways which are the principal decorative
features of the row. The ornament is concentrated over the doorways and the parlor
floor windows. Inspired by Ffrench Renaissance desian, it relies for effect on drin
moldinns o¥ various shapes enframing armorial shields and floral ornament, sur-
mounted by arched pediments or scrolls. The houses arc all crowned by a continuous
classical shectmetnl cornice with swaps,

The corner house is described under Mo. 231 Garfield Place.
YEST SIDL (Mos. 2-28)

Mo. 2-6 is the side of the corner house described under Mo. 784 Carroll Strect.

Nos. 8-12 are threoe elepant town houses, quite unusual in their use ®f
architectural elements and ir their originality. They were in the vanguard of
design for 1896, the year they were planned, ond were constructed by owner-archi-
tect Idward Betts of Brooklyn. Generally symmetrical on either side of the
center house, these three-story houses give the visual impression of being a sinale

.
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unit, except for the treatment of the roofs which are differentiated. Built of
limestone, they are unified by rustication at the bascments and first floors. in
contrast to the smooth ashlar of the upper walls. It would be impossihle to assiqn
a definite architectural style to these houses, as 1t is the original handling of
various otherwisc conventional design elements which sives them the great 'style
they nessess. All the first floor window and door lintels are flat with small
arches at the ends. At the two end houses, the very oriciral parlor floor
windows arec actually two-sided bays with stained olas< transoms above. They are
carried on projecting stone sills set on sinrle console brackets. At the upper
floors, central clements dominate the clevations of the end houses, which have
threc-sided bays at the second floors and triple wintows with balconies at the
third. They are crowned by overhanging roofs with exposed beam cnds, whereas

the center house, with a shallow curved bay at the sccond floor, has a hipped
roof sheltering the three windows of the third floor. These windows have a deck
with railine above the curved bay. The fact thot the front doorways are simply
enframod hy rustication and lintels 1s an ecleernt refinement, enhancing the
delicoate detail of the bays and balconies above then.

ilos. 14-24. hesce six houses are late, rather restrained examples of the
Romanesque Revival style. They werce built for R.L. “artin and were designed by
Brooklyn architect J. D. iicAuliffe No. 24 in 18593-94 and MNos. 14-22 in 1894-95.
Flush-fronted and approached by straicht stoops, these houses are varied in their
use of round, segmental and flat-arched openines in an ABCABC pattern and in the
usc of roush-faced as opposed to smooth-faced stonework. The individual sheetmetal
cornices with their swags anl wreaths show the oncomine influence of the new
Classicism,

Ylo. 28 1s the long side of the corner house described under No. 229 Garfield
Place.

PRESTORIT STRITT

President Street is a nleasant residential street., Tractically all the
houses are brownstonc with many full-licicht, tw- and three-sided bays. These
bays, crowncd by bracketed cornices crcate an interestine and animated nrofile
arainst the sky, which 1s scen on both sides of the strcet. The predominating
styles 2re the neo-Crec and a2 modificd classicism, while certain Pomancsque Re-
vival letails nersist in many of the houses. The Nueen Anne style makes its
anpearance in brick houses here and therce. Nonetheless, the overall color derives
from the loneg rows of brownstones

PRECINENT STREET  Petween Scventh & Tichth Avenues

eaUTil SINT (Mos. 3283-888)

{(*lo. 313-820_, Thec Verona apartment housc, !'o. 322, a four-story rnultiple
dwelline and two small Quecn Annc town houses, 'os 924 and ©26, arc all outside
the "istoric District )

“los. 828-844 This rtow of nine brownstoncs was built in 1887 and desisned
by architect €. I'arbison for Patrick Sheradan, who was active in the development
0¥ the Stuvvesant leights arca. Late neo-firec in style, they arc nearly identical,
havving full-heiehe | three-sided bays, high stoops with balustered handroilines and
sm71l bolconies avove the doorways. The bold roof cornices, carried on cloneated
brackets, arc typical of the style, but the Renaissance ornament in the panels
benenth the second story windows of the bays inticntes the latences of the
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desian.,  Clo. 844 was desiencd as a terminus to the row, with its two-sided bav
makine the transition to the houscs adjoining to the east. Basement entrances have
been vrovided at “'o. 834 and 844,

'o. 816 bhuilt in 188Z, and llo. 313, built four years earlier, wecre both
constructed by architect-builder C.F. Burckett, of 812 President Street just west
of the Historic District. The different styles of these two houses represent an
interesting indication of his architcctural development. MNo. 846, the later
house, has a brownstone basement and trim, setting off the red brick wall. The
trim includes bandcourses and colonettes flankine the windows. It has a basement
entrance with cornice slab carried on console brackets. “o. 843, which is neo-
firec in style, also has a basement entrance replacing its stoop. Cherminglv sim-
plified, nco-Grec incised decorative detail appears over the bascment windows and
in the arooves of the window enframements 2t the upner floors. The mansard roof
has a pair of intercsting double dormers above the old cornice line.

"os. 350-868. 1In 1833 owner-architect %illiam Flanagan, of 69 Scventh Avenue,
nlanncd this group of ten three-story houses, with curve-sided bavs rising two
stories above hagh bascments. On some of the houses therc are rough-faced blocks
under the second story windows of the bays, while in others he has used decorated
nancls at the same location. Flanagan added a note of snmeccial interest at ‘os.
356-8066 by crowning some of the neo-firec roof cornices with trianrular pediments
and with low attic windows taking the place of wood panels between the brackets.
fhe two-sided. full-height bay of thc westernmost house is carried forward to nmeet
the alvanced wall plane of the adjoinine housc. Basement entrances have been
provided at three houses the other houses still have their L-shaped stoops of
rouch-faced brownstone.

Mo, 876 (No. 872 has ‘been omitted from the street numberine systcem). Thirty
feet wide, this handsome private dwelline, centered just ahove street level, was
erected by architect-builder C.F. Burckett before 1888, when it became the resadence
of Charles C. ¥nowlton. Custom-built, this Romancsque Revival residence is asvm-
metrical and very substantial lookine. It has a threce-sided, threc-story bay
above a low bascment; the third story of this bay 1s made of sheetmetal and possibly
added, concealing a large arched opening in the wall planc At the first floor,

a round-arched doorway is enhanced by the surroundine rouch-faced stonework, while
a checkerhoard band of stonc enlivens the broad bandcourse separating the first
and second stories of the bay. At the upner stories, the windows have keyved stonc
enframements. An unusual, small stained glass window, at the front of the second
floor bay, has a triangular pediment on brackets.

Mo. 874 was the residence of Charles . Burckett- it was built at approxi-
matcly the same tine as Mo 870. In 1its present form, as remodeled in the first
hal® of the 20th century, 1t was inspired by Tudor architecturc, making use of a
wide ranee of materials: random brickwork, stone and stucco. * nicely proportioned
scomental-arched doorway, at strect level, is of stone and has a drip moldine en-
framine an heraldic emblem centcred above it.

Mos. £76 and 878. This pair of orange-colored, Roman brich residences was
crected in 1889 for Jares C. Jewett, with Brooklyn architect Albert E. “White
as desianer. These two also built an ecight-housc row on lnion Street in the same
year. [Rasically late Romanesque “cvival in stvle, these houses have round and
ellintical-arched openings and random ashlar stone walls at the basement and at the
wing-walls of the high L-shaped stoops. A combination of different textures ap-
pears in the stonework. The sheetmetal pedimented cornices and the second story
oricls display a wealth of Nueen \nne detail. The double entrance doors, set in low
arches, are surrounded by enframements of bull's-eye olass lichts.

No. 8£0-888. A brick apartment housc, built in 1949, stands on the site of the
former Lackenbach mansion. The light color brick of this building, which is
deseribed under 'lo. 100 Fighth Avenue, harmonizes with the brick of 'tos. 876-878
to the west.
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NANTH DL (Mos. 333-395)

(fhe five houses to the west of No. 333 arc outside the Ilistonric District.)

Mos. §33-839. In 1834-35 'nlliam Flanaean, a prolific Park Slone builder,
crected these four houses after purchasing the lond from the !lethodist Lpiscopal
"ospital early in 158&1. The property had originally belonged to the Polhemus
“amily. Thesc brownstones are part of a row of nine extendine to the Seventh
Avenuc corner. They are late examples of neo-Gree style, similar to houses on tie
north side of farroll Strect between Seventh and Fiphth Avenues built by John
“lagilligan a year or two later. The Flanagan houses nlso have full-height, two-
suied bays, with pilasters at the apex of the bays, many rctain balustered hand-
railines and newels at their stoops. Small balustered balconies, set on cornice
slabs vestine on corbels give choracter to the doorwsvs

Nos. 341-849. 1In 1886-87 "eslcy €. Bush, who lived just west of the Pistrict
on St. Tark's Avenue, built these “ive hondsome brownstones. [Rreaking with the
uniformity of the neirchboring nco-Grec row, the architect desioned these houscs
1n an 1ntcrestingly varied co: bination of Romancsque Revival for the lower floors,
with Sueen Anne above. The rouch-faced stonework of the bascements and parlor
floors contrasts with the srooth walls above and with the bays. The unusual
treatnent of the foliate ornament at the doorwnsys is interestinuly reflected in
the corbel blocks of the windows above,which seem literally to srow out of the
wall 1tself. Thesc houses express their individuality in the varied treatment
of their sheetretal roof cornices with three desipgns in an ABCRBA sequence.

The two ‘A houses have richly orramented trianeular pediments simnalizing the
hays below friezes with bosses embellish the metopes. The "B houses have straicht
cornices and small arched niches with shell moti1fs beneath the low parapets,
whaich have small squarc panels. The center housc, ¢ , has the rnost claborate
roofline, with a 'broken scroll pediment and center torch finial above the bay:
the cornice has - fricze with swaes. ° lew ~sreactvith  Jdimimutive  SqUAre
nancls crowns all the roof cornices. Nther unusual feituies inciude the stroisht
stoops with wide landines at the third step. The iron handrailings at the stoops
and the yard railings are lieht and onen, in contrnst to the balustered neo-Grec
yard ratlina at the neichborire housc to the west. A basement entrance has been
provided at "o. 845.

Mo, 851 was built before 1353 anl was desipgned by architect-builder Ldunrd
B. Sturaes, who also built Nos 853-857. 1In spitc of 1ts narrow fifteen-foot
width, "lo. 251 has architectural distinction. Tasically 7omancsque Revival
in style, 1t has neo-Classical overtones. The full-heisht, flush-fronted bav
has excentionally wide sinele windows at the parlor an' sccond floors, with paired
arched ones at the top story. DBandcourses create a strong horizontal definition
at cach floor the onc above the parlor floor window 1s most unusual, with an
over-all pattern of shadow-producing circular motifs cut into the stone. The
doorway has a semi-circular arch with brackcts sumporting a cornice slab which is
extemded horizentally as a cornice across the adjoinine bay. The arched transom
of the entrance door Jisplays intcrestinag stained olass. The roof cornice has
tow attic windows, flanked by pilasters, sct in the fascia board.

Nos. 853-657 were also desipned by Sturges and built in 18383. Of the thrce
houses. ~o. 557 best retains 1ts original appearance. It has a full-height,
polvronal masonry bay crowned by a cornice in which the small windows of the attic
storv have been incorporated in the fascia board. Althouch the house has certain
Jecoretive neo-Grec detnils, the arched entrance, enriched by handsome stone vous-
soirs and the cnframing cornice slab on foliate brackets reflect classical in-
fluence. ©ast iron newels with ariffons terminate the hondrailings at the stoon.
At os. 353 and 855 basement entrances have been provided thev lLiive beer smooth-
stuccocl and fourth floors with metal window sash and a hiagh parapet have bheen
added.

Mos. 859 and 8G1. In 1838 local builder 'fillian !, Dowling crected these tro
duellinas. Ready for occupancy by nril 1839, thesc housas arc comletely dis-
similar, althouch both arc of brownstonc. ilo. 259 has had a bascment entrance
nroviled. ‘the ornamental detail -- esnecially at the full-heisht, »nolvaeonal hay,
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including the pilasters and the trianpuler pediment over the parlor floor window --
gives the housc a nec-Ital:an Renaissance flavor. 1Mo. {861, Dowline's own residence,
has a diermity cnhanced by :ts L-shaped stoop and prominent curved bay, which at

the tor story becomes polygonal in shape. The bascnhent, parlor floor walls, stoop
and yard wall arc all rough-faced. These elements, toccther with the carvel orno-
ment above the parlor floor window and the blind lunette above the doorway, provide
this residence with its basically Ronanesque Revival character.

Mos. 863-867 were erected by builder Edward A. "1ds in 1838-89. They are
three 1denticl brounstones with full-height, threce-sided bays. Petardataire
in style, their cornices show the lincering influence of the neo-Grec style on the
Slope. The pedimented windows with nilasters at the center parlor floor windows
of the bays arc neo-Italian Renaissance in charncter. The roof cornice follows
the profile of the bays, producing an interesting silhouctte against the sky.
Two of these houses preserve their original double doors and at MNo. 867, the small
¢1st iron balustrade above the doorway. The heavy cast iron handrailings of the
stoop, the newel posts and the yard railings ore of unusual design and best
preserved at the same house.

No. 869 (No. 871 has been omitted from the street numbering system). This

striling residence -- unique in the District -- was built in 1885. It was desiencd
in 1 highly individual version of the Romanesauc Pevival stvle by the distincuished
architect, Henrv Ogden Avery, for Stewert L. "oodford. “oodford was a nrominent

nmember of the Montauk Club and at one time ambassador to Spain, and noved to
President Street from No. 67 Cambridge Place in the Clinton I'ill section of
Brooklyn. It 1s an unusually wide house (36'-0'"), with a doorway approached by

a low stoop. Striking in.its simplicity, its broad brick wall surfaces and
symmetrical composition are unusual for this style of architecture. The building
materials have been handled with imagination and sensitivity. The facade, with

1ts varied onenings and two oriels, is beautifully composed. The three wide arches
above the entrance, and the flankine windows, are constructed with radial masonry
units. The brick door and window jambs are given sparkle through the use of square
edged alternatinag with chamfered brick. he window lintels have brick relieving
arches above all the upper floor openings, including the oriels. The broad expanse
of brickwork is an effective foil for the pair of striking oriels at the second
floor. These two-sided vood oriels are bracketed out from the wall on struts and
have ornamental studding at the uprights. Continuous horizontal lintels and sills
of stonc unify the three pairced windows at thaird floovr level. A structurally
exnressive wooden roof cornice has outlookers carried on brick corbels, supporting
a continuous horizontal front member. A sophisticated wrought iron grille and
rlass front door has a pair of peacocks in the Art Deco manner and a simple wroueht
1ron fence encloses the front yard. Since 1964 this house has served as the
residence of the ifissionary Servants of the “tost P'oly Trinity, a Roman Catholic
order dcvotcd to work amona the poor, with headquarters in “ashington, D.C.

jlo. 873 (i'o. 875 has becn omitted from the strect numberins system).
This residence and MNo. 548 across the strcet are the oldest houses on President
Street bLetween Ceventh and [ighth Avenues. Roth wvere crected in 1378. No. 873
was Jdesigned bv ftachlin § Steirer for Francis 0. Affeld. ‘'iis daughter, “'iss
Louise Affeld, a well-known resident of Park Clope, lived here for over ninety
years ond was less than three ycars of age when the fanily moved to this house.
This Victorian brick residence is reminiscent of a2 small suburban villa, despite
the removal 1n 1971 of a wood porch on the east side. It has a 'stick style"
overhang at the front ocable with supporting struts and eloneated wood brackets.
At the anex of the gable there is a decorative jigsaw erille. The small squarve
windows under the deep overhanesing caves all oripinally had exterior wood blinds.
The two-story, tihree-sided bay has a prominent cornice at mid-height and at the
ton. Neneatnh the sills of the parlor floor windows and above those of the seconl
story are decorative panels of toothed brickwork.

i'o. ?77-895, at the cast end of this blockfront, is described under No. 90
Fishth Avenue.
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The imposing neo-Georgian nmansion, The llnity Club, at the southeast corner,
offers a dignified introduction to this fine, tree-lined residential street. An
occasional brick building lends contrast to the nredominatine rows of brownstones.

SAWTY |/TNC (Ylos. 89N-946)

*lo. 890-900 1s the long side of the nmansion described under No. 101 Fiechth
Avenue.

ilos. 902-906. These tall, stately four-story houses, built in the nid-~18R0s,
are typical of the Queen Anne style. Puilt of brick, with brownstone at the
bascnents ard parlor floors, their severity is relieved by the use of ornamental
terra cotta at the upper stories. Their verticality is emphasized by three-
sided bays extendins up to the third stories, surmounted in turn by flush bays
with terra cotta pedinents at the scalloped tile roofs  These triancular pediments
have central details representine the head of Triton above a scallop shell.
Pleasant foils to the austerity of thesc houses are the Jdelicately ornamented
terra cotta and brownstone panels and the bandcourses which embellish the bays.
A bascment entrance has been provided at Mo. 904.

Tos. 208-934. This row of fourteen houscs with rough-faced brownstone base-
ments was bceoun in 1899 by Brooklyrn architect-owner Patrick Sheridan. The houses
arc threc and a half stories above hipgh bosements with lL-shaped stoops, in a style
similar to houses on the south sile of Carroll Street between Seventh and Fighth
\wvenues. Tull-heirht, threc-sided masonry bays are interestinaly varied throueh
the alternating use of convex and flat sides. The roof cornices reflect the
angularaity of the bays below and have a series of low rectangular attic windows
cut in the fascia boards, flanke!l by bold neo-firec brackets. Though not visible
from the street, the roof sweeps ur, behind the cornice, creating a full story
behint these windows. More or less uniform, they sharc certain Romanesque Pe-
vival fenatures, notably the L-shaped stoops leading un to i1dentical entrances
flanked by slender columns with sweening consoles above them supporting cornice
slabs. Some of the walls arc rough-faced and some have rough-faced stonework
under the windows, but most have smooth-faced trim around the windows. At several
houses, basement entrances have hecn nrovided. Laura Jean Libbey ("'rs. Van "fater
Ctilwell) lived at "o. 916. She was the popular author of some eighty novels
with such titles as The Price of a Kiss. Lovers Them Put Strangers Mow and A

Fatal '‘ooing. !ler books sold millions of copies. Ghe died in 1924 and is buried

1n Srecnwood Cerietery.

Mos. 936 and 938. These two houses were probably built in the late 1880s
or early nineties, judeins from their style. They arc similar in width to the ad-
joinine pairs to the cast. The roof cornices disnlay a wealth of ornoment, in-
cludina brackets, dentils, bead and reel moldings and a frieze enriched by vertical
ornament. The stoops have been removed to provide basement entrances.

Mas, 940-942, These two wide Tuaen Annc houses, with survivina traces of
Romanesque detail, nay have been desianed by architect Charles T. Mott, who in
1270 did an alteration for owner L.}, Collignon. Althoush they have been altered,
details remain that relate them to the adjoinine houses, Nos. 944-946, built in
1306: this 1s corroborated by the Robinson Atlas of 1386, these houses and tlos.
944-946 formed a nart of a larscr ensemble which was to have included the site
of Wos. 936 and 933. At Mos. 940 and 942, the pair of rusticated stonc arches of
the parlor floor windows rcpeat the theme of Mo. 944, These arches spring “rom
toothed brickwork bandcourses supported on brick corbels. The paired windows on
the second floors with terra cotta panels beneath are rvepcated at No. 944, Tn-
trences at street level replace the originnl stoops.

lios. 044-946. These two Nueen Anne houses, a part of the adjoining group, on-
joy a subtle asymmetry in their massing. [Peaked aables of unequal size crown the
houses and flank a central, recessed courtyard from which the houses were original-
ly entered, as were Nos. 940-42. “ithin the ecables arc terra cotta shiclds bearing
the date of construction of this pair, 1836 . A nair of wood bhalconies with
paired end brackets at the third floors have handsore wrought iron railings,
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identical in design to that of the central roof deck in the courtyard. !'iide
paired stoops have i1ron handrailings. OQutstanding decorative fecatures arc in-

tricately patterned, terra cotta panels between parlor floor and sccond story

windows and the toothed br:ickwork window surrounds. ‘fost notable is the battered

brickvork flanking the parior floor windows and their stained alass. Risine at

the left corner of No. 946, in the planc of the gable, is a tall chimney, carrying

un to the line of roush-faced stone quoins. Mo. 946 was the home of Carl Tollefson,

a well-known music teacher, famous for his collection of antique musical instru-

nents. It 1s now the Tollefson School of Music.

(The fifteen-story apartment housc at the corner of Prospect Park "est 1s
outside the P'istoric District.)

NAPTH SINE (flos. 897-953)

Mos. 887-905. The long side of this house, also described under !lo. 983 Lighth
Avenuc, has a handsome two-story polygonal bay with iron crestinas. Unlike nmost
of the side walls of other similar houses, the windows herc are grouped close to
the central bay, and above 1t, leaving large unbroken expanses of brick on cither
side,

(Mo. 907 1s an open accessway )

Mos, 909-913. These three houses, built by 1886, are disnified three-story
brownstones with simple wall surfaces. Their intercst depends on the wide angular
bays with large window openings. Above these two-story polygonal bays are low
iron crestings serving as balcony railines. Complementina these balconies are the
rilasters flanking the windows of the top stories sct above the bays. The
modillioned cornices have a dignified simplicity. A bascment entrance has becn

provided at MNo. 913.

Mos. 915 and 917. Thesc two houses were built for Patrick Sheridan, owner- .
architect, of 836 *yrtle Avcnue, Brooklyn, in 1820. Pising above their neichbors
on cither side, these two houses are four stories above high basements. Their
verticality is strongly emphasized by full-heieht bays. The smooth blocks of the
wall vereer are clearly defined. These houses arc forthrioht and robust in ap-
pearance. Imposingly enframed doorways and windows in the wall planes balance the
virorous upward thrust of the bays. Thc doorway at Mo. 917 1s flanked by columns,
above which brackets support a thin cornice slab. The low roush-faced stone yard
walls and the stoop wingwalls are similar to those on the other side of the street
A basenent entrance has been provided at MNo. 915.

(No. 919 has been omitted fron the street numbering system.)

Mlos. 921-941. This long row of eleven three-story brownstone houses is prac-
tically uniforn in appearance. They werc built bv 1886 in a simplified version of
the neo-Grec style, which enjoyed ~reat popularity in the Park Slope area until well
into the 1380s. They are similar to rows of thec same pcriod on President Street
between Seventh and Eighth Avenues, notably llos. 328-948. ilos. 921-941 have tall,
full-heisht. three-sided masonry bays, trianmular pediments over the center parlor
floor windows of most of the bays, high straight stoops and heavily bracketed roo~
cornices. !'andsome cast iron balustercd handrailings at the stoops and yard
rarlinas, many of which remain complete with their massive newcl posts, are typi-
cally neo-Grec. Basement entrances have been provided at Mos. 937 and 941.

Mo. 943 was designed by the architectural firm of Slee § Bryson. It was built
in 1912 by the Gustof A. Johnson Ruilding Company and is a four-story yellow
Lrick apartnent house, entered at street level, with stone trim and classical de-
tail at the entrance. A large central window, to the left of the entrance, has a
stone enframement keyed to the brickwork.

Mos. 945-953. Begun 1n 1900, these five apartment houses of limestone have

paired entrances and stoops excent at MNo. 945. They are four stories high and
have full-height, bow-Irouted bays. DNesigned with a simplified neo-Classical de-
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tail, they lend a quiet dignity in this block of one-family residences.

(Mo. 955 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

(The buildine at the corner of Prospect Park 'lest, 'The 'tadonna Residence ',
is outside the Vistoric Dastrict.)

* * kx %

ST. 'S PLACE

St. John's Place was originally namecd Douglass Strect. In 1870 the scction
east of Fifth Avcnue was renamed St. Johrs Place.

ST. JOHM'C PLACE  Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues
SOUIn SIDE (Mos. 76-86)

Nos. 76-36 are a one-story garage and the long side of the house described
under No. 148 Sixth Avenue.

NARTIE SIRE (Mos. 71-81)
'lo. 71-81 is the long side of the housc described under No. 146 Sixth Avenue.
ST. JOIN'S PLACE Between Sixth & Seventh Avenucs

This street 1s remarkable for its quality of uniformity, with three-story
brownstones with full-height bays facing cach other down both sides of the street.
An the north side the rows are terrminated, at the cast end, by the charming little
St. John's (P.r.) Church and Rectory, with the church set well back from the
street. The equally long rows of brownstoncs on the south side arc terninated by
five town houses of unusual design and the impressive 'femorial Presbyterian Church
with 1ts Chapel and Sunday School which has a frontage of about 135 feet to the
corner of Seventh Avenue. Uith its steeple, pables and high finials, it provaides
a nicturesque termination to the south side of the strect.

eNUTH CINF  (Nos. 88-184, including No. 42-48 Seventh Avenuc)

No. 88-98 is the corner house, with deep back yard, which is described under
No. 155 Sixth Avenue.

(Yes. 100-136 have been omitted from the strect numbering system.)

Nos. 138-162. This long row of thirteen brownstones was built in 1891-92
by veteran Park Slope owner-builder, William Flanasan. The houses, with their
full-height, three-sided bays and jaaged rooflines, still reflect the lingering
influence of the neo-Grec style, althourh the smooth walls, rectangular doorways
and ccitain decorative motifs arc inspired by the classical tradition. The houscs
are all identical, except for a variation in the parlor floor windows: windows
with transor bars and stained plass transoms alternate with windows having none,
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in a generally ABBAA pattern. Bascewment walls and stoopns are rough-faced. A few
have added unusual wrought iron handrailines and yard railings, complete at Mo. 150,
reflecting the revival of wrought iron at the end of the 19th century. This row

is characterized by an absence of decorative detail, except for a carved molding

in the entablature over thc entrance and for the frieze of the bracketed cornice.

An emphasis on horizontality derives from the moldinps above the lintels of each
story,civirg these houses a feelins of comfortable solidity.

Mos. 164-174. These six brownstones are nco-Grec in style with two-sided
masonTy bays extending to the roof cornices, with full-heirht pilasters at the apex
of each bay. The rov was erected in 1986-87 bv builder Thomas F. Green. The houscs
have simple paneled wooden roof cornices with dentils. The cornice slabs above
the doorvays, carried on grooved pilasters and brackets, support miniature balus-
tercdbalconies with typical neo-Grec urn finials which complement the large cast
iron newecls of the handrailinass at the stoops. These have survived intact at Nos.
166 and 168. Tynical inciscd decorations arce found in the second and third
story window lintels of the bays, with carved recessed panels under the parlor
floor windows. In contrast to the row at the west, with its flush-fronted three-
sided bays, the apex of thesc two-sidel bays is further emphasized by thc roof
cornice which follows the nrofiles of the pilasters as well as creating an ansular
nrofile at the roof line.

MNos. 176 and 178. This remarkable pair of Tueen Anne style houses was desioned
by Brooklyn architect R.L. Daus. The houses were built in 1837-88 for two  phy-
sicians, "'tlliam if. Thallon and Cdward Bunker, whose professional emblem, the cadu-
seus, appears in the richly ornamented gable of No. 178. They are of red brick
above brownstone first floors and basements. Smooth and rouch-faced stonework
has becn used for contrast and to accent the details. Being wider, No. 17§
dominates this pair but they share a slate roof with a nicturcsquely arrayed
variety of gables, dormer windows and a tower crowned by a conical roof. The cusped
arch enframement of the dormer window at Mo. 176 is sheltered beneath a stcep eable,
sunported by a pair of interestin~e caryatid brackets. The doorway, crowned by a
fcliate lintel stone, and the parlor floor window, with 1ts wide Gothic arch, are
remintscent of the work of t1lson Eyre of Philadelphia. The two sides of this
trinle window are divided into many small lichts contrasting with the plate glass
central vnit. At Mo 178, a bold asymmetrical elevation displays a tower at the
rieht-hand side interlocked. at its base, with a wide-arched entrance porch at the
left side  The house 1s approached by a low stoop, The upper halves of the narlor
floor and third floor windows are divided into many small lights, typical of the
Mueen Anne style. The whole treatment of the tiered windows, and the gable flanked
by finials crowned by a conical roof, was i1-¢ U Trareh enn1ssance CL.rototyres.

Nos. 180-134 werc built after 1891 by Drooklyn builder *2lliam L. Dowling,
who lived at 361 President Street, in the District. They are brownstone buildings
with ‘ull-height, three-sided masonry bays, similar window alignments and classical
cornices with triglyphs and bosses. The low bascment walls at all three are
rourh-faced and smooth-faced battered stonework. fertain details, however, are
quite different. At Yos. 130-182 the entrance doors arc paired above short stoops
with low stone balustrades. The stceply-pitched drin moldines above these doors are
flanked by vertical ribs set on foliate corbels. The symmetry of this pair gives
almost the imnression of a single housc. Although Romanesaue Revival details
appear 1n each house, they are distinctly diffzrent, notably in the treatment of
the small second storv windows above the doorways. WNo. 184 has arched windows
at the parlor {loor bay supported on boldly carved capitals. mooth, alternating
with rouch-faced, stone blocks form an interesting checkerboard pattern above the
foranesque arches of parlor floor windows and the front doorway. Thesc arches are
sunnorted by engaged columns with robustly carved capitals. The doors of all three
houses are a fine cxample of the multipaneled doors of the Romanesque Revival

period.

The building east of Mo. 184 1s one side of the Memorial Presbyterian Church,
Chapel and Sunday School, described under MNo. 42-4S Seventh Avenue.
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No. 33-91 1s the long side of the gabled house, with aarape in the rear yard,
describul under Mo, 153 Sixth Avenue.

Nos. 93 and 95. Thesce two brownstonces were built by Brooklyn owner-architect
T, Doherty in 1887-88.  They ar. Iater in date and larger than their neighbors
to the cost but are nevertheloss harmonious in scalc and articulation with them.
"ith smooth surfaces. pilasters and the ornamented podiment at the parlor floor
window of ’fo. 95, they show the influence of the nco-Italian Renaissance despite
thear bracketed cornice,typical of an carlicer period. A bascment entrance has been
rrovi.izd at Mo, 93.

(Clo. 97 has been omitted fro~ the strect nueberine system.)

Nos. 89-109. These six houses werce built by Drooklva owner-builder Thomas
Green in 1331-82. They arce narrow houses of brownstonc, not cxceeding 10 feet 8
1nches 1n width, with flush fronts »nd large single parior floor windows. They are
nco-Gree ir style with low pediments over arched doorwavs carricd on strapwork
brackets. 'arrow bands alt.rnat. with wiler stonc courses at the bascment. The
builder, T flectino the slone of the street, dronm & the clevation at everv other
buildine so that the roof cornices arc aligned in nairs. The original neco-firec
balustored handrailinas and squarc-scctioned newel posts of cast iron remain at
Mos. 101, 103 and 107.

Mos. 111 and 113 arc full-blown cxamples of the neo-free stvie built by owner-
builder Thomas Green in 1832.  In contrast to the adjoining row to the west, bhoth
houses feature the typical, full-h.ipht, two-sided masonry bay with pilaster
at the ancx. No. 113 best retains 1ts orieinal appearance with 1ts handsome archad
centrance crowned by a restrained pediment with cars  or acroteria and deep roveal.
Grooved frames surround all of the windows which arce crowned by inciscd lintels
and V-staped corbels sunportine the sills of the parlor floor windows.

Hos. 115-137. Thas row of twelve brownstones was beoun in 1837 by Georee
Il. Fngeman, who was a hotcl nanager and a Concey Island developer-builder. e lived
at 44 “cventh Avenue.  Althoush these nco-Grec houses are only slivhtly wider than
Nos. 99-109, thc design, with a two-sided full-hcight bay with pilaster at the
arcy, e1ves the 1llusion of o larper house. The orieinal doors remain unaltered
at Mo 115. Tlanhcd by pilasturs supportine brackets, the doorways have smnll
balustraded balconics with ond posts dasplavine urns. The roof cornices arc nost
tvpically neo-Grec. ‘lany finc balustoered handrailines at the stoons and yard
ra1linrs reotain. Among the noted residents of this row were Alfred P. Sloan,
Sr., tea merchant, whose son Alfred ™. Sloan, Jr., spent his vouth at Mo, 117 and
went on to become Chairman of the Board of Ganeral “lotors.

The ond house in this row, Mo. 137, nresents an extromely interestine facado,
1in snite of 1ts narrow frontacc. Tt has the usual full-heraht, two-sided bay and
a roctaneular bay rising up two storics ahove the cornicc slab crowning the door-
way alongside of it. &mall lights across the ton and at the sides of the window
facina thi~ street in the rectansular bay are of a type aenerallv associated with
Mucen Anno, althouch the other design clenents arce all neo-Grece. In the carved
pancls insct below the parlor floor windows, faces revnresent ' laughter' and
“tears’  --  the delightful work of an anonvrous 19th contury stone carver. The
nrojcctine rectangular bay scrves the purnosce of terminating the row in the same
planc with the rectory.

Yio. 139, the Rectory of St. JJohn's (P.F.) rhurch, forms an effective ter-
mination for the rows of housus to the west but, nost important, it is part of an
exceptionally attractive cnsemble which includes the church, set well back from the
street in a erassy churchyard. It has the character of an Enrlish country varish
church. The first Church of St. John's was built at the corner of 'ashington ani
Tohinson Streets in 1826. The land for the present church complex was deeded to 1t
Ly the noted philanthropist "illiam I, Dodae and the cornerstone was laid on
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June 15, 1863. The followinp vear, on April 1°, 1370, the street name was chaneed .
from Doualass to St. John's in honor of the church.

Based on stylistic evidence, the rectory anpears to have been built at about
the same time as the church. Both are Victori~n Gothic in style and are built
of roush-faced, random ashlar sandstone with pninted-arch windows and doors. These
arches are, characteristically, composcd of varicolored ‘stone voussoirs. The wide
main gable of the church, facing St. John's Place, includes in its spread scven
slender lancet windows, stepped upwards over a central pointed-arch doorway. The
gable is crowned by a bell-cote. Despite its mansard roof, the rectory is archi-
tecturally quite similar to the church. It has z handsome Gothic porch of
cast iron, facing the yard, and an unusual colonettc set in a chamfered recess
between naired windows at the southcast cormer. pcspite 1ts small size, this
charmine complex of huildincs creates a memorable and lasting impression.

No. 155-165 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, adjoinineo
the church, which is described under 'lo. 40 Seventh Avenue.

ST. Joivrts PLACE  Between “eventh & Fiqhth Avenues

This street sweeps up from Seventh Avenue toward the Grand Army PMlaza with
Grace ('1.I.) Church on the left. The houses on both sides are predominantly
neo-Srec in style, with full-heicht, two-sided bays, and are set back to provide
spaces for small front yards along this tree-lined street.

SAUTHE *TNF (Nos. 172-252)

No. 172 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, which is de-

scribed under ‘lo. 37 Seventh Avenue. .
T'os. 188-196. This row of five brownstones was crected before 1883 by owner

Thomas Fasan, a neighborhood builder who was active in the development of the Nis-

trict. !'eo-fGrec 1n style, these threc-story houses, with their two-sided full-

height bays, have pilasters at the apex of each bay, reflected 1n the profiles of

the bracketed roof cornices. The cornice slabs over the doors are carried on

grooved brackets and are surnounted by criss-cross notterned crestings with orb-

like finials at some of the houses. The fine balustered cast 1iron handrailings at

the stoops and yard railings remain at most of the houses.

Nos. 198-202 are among the earliest neo-Grec brownstones in the area, dating
from 1876  They were erected by Rrooklyn owner-builder, Samuel tlenry. Three-
stories hieh, they have full-heiaht, two-sided bays, like the row to the west.
"ere, however. the second floor sepmental-arched windows have individual frames
crowned by 'eared’ pedimented lintels decorated with incised ornament and there are
no pilasters at the apexes of the bays. The parlor floor windows of the bays have
corbeled lintels decorated with incised ornament. The sesmental-arched doorways
have deep corbels supportine 'eared’’ nedinented lintels and the original cast iron
bolustered handrailines at the stoops remain at Nos. 198 and 200.

Yios. 204-212. This row of five brownstones w~s “eeun in 172 bv thr ~relific
Park Slope developer and builder, "illiam Flanagan. Ouite similar to the threc
earlier houses adjoining, they differ principally in the elaboration of their
doorways where cornice slabs on brackets are crowncd by iron crestings. DMos.
and 212 rctain the handsome balustered cast iron handrailings and newel posts at

204

the stoons. !lo. 204 has a dormer window at the attic floor. A basement entrance
has been provided at Mo. 208 which has been raised one story and has had its front }
smooth-stuccoed. ifayor Gaynor lived at No. 212 in 1890 “efore moving to No. 20

Ticohth Avenue.

I'os. 214-218 were designed in 1879 by the prolific Brooklyn Heights architect
Robert Dixon for owner-builder Thomas Fagan. These Victorian brownstones are
impressive in scale, being sonewhat wider #n’ t-~ller than their neih'ars.
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They have full-height. curve-sided bavs which becore three-sided at the top floor.
Nourh-faced stonework 2t tie Lasement floors and panels under the windows at all
floors contrasts with the smooth wall surfaces. ieavy consoles surmount short
squat columns with transitional canitals at the entrances. The house which best
preserves 1ts original appearance 1s No. 218. Rasewment entrances have becn nro-
vided at tos. 214 and 216.

(Mos. 220 and 222 have been omitted fron the strect numbering systen.)

los. 224 and 226 were built in 1883 by owner-builder ""1lliam .Johnston, who
lived av ™o. 224. They are almost identical to “os. 188-196, to the west, with the
excention of the desion of the iron crestings on the cornice slabs above the door-
ways. Roth houses retain their original cast iron handrailings at the stoops
and their yard railinss.

Nos. 228-240. These seven neo-firec brownstones were built in 1834 for tevel-
oper J'enry Lansdell. They are exce~tionally fine., late examples of this style,
well expressed in the incised decoration and in the unusual carved nanels bencath
the windows. The shallow full-heioht, two-sided bays have orooved nilasters
flankine the windows at every floor. The entrance doorways, with thack cornice
slabs carried on bold Lrackets arc embellished hy iron crestines. The most un-
vsual features oF these houses, however, are their roof cornices, which =2<t ctnl " on
end brackets, 11t te~vy concove woldines ptorie ven 7 plein Triezes, Tunc
tu-tel 1 - v oseries of small ornamental motifs beneath then. The balustered hand-
railines and ornate newel posts remain at ho. 240. Mo. 240 also retains its
oririnal balustered yard railing.

Jio. 252 1s the long side of the corner house, with low addition at the
rear, described under No. 8 Eighth Avenue.

PARTH CIDE (los. 167-217)

Jo. 167-177 is the side of Grace (1.T..) Church, at the corner of Seventh
Avenue, described under No. 31-35 Seventh Avenue. This handsome church originally
had a brownstone spire crowning the corner tower, which was damaced and removed
after the hurricane of 1944.

Mos, 179-193 (lo. 183 has been ormitted from the street numbering system).
These seven houses, superficially so much alike, were built 1n 1880-81 hy two
Parl Stope bullders- John fGordon (“os. 179-185) and "1illiam Gubbins (Nos. 187-193).
S.bbins had nurchased the load fFor development in April 13%0. '"1th their shallou
full-heisht, two-sided bays, these three-story brownstone houses produce a gentle
undulation at the cornice line, hroken only by Mo. 179 where a fourth floor with
a mansard roof has been added. The chief differcace between the work of the two
builders is one of detail Gordon's window enframements at the upper floors are
individual ) crowned with low nediments, whereas those at the Gubbins'houses arc
vertically connected by nilasters creating panels with incised ornament beneath
the windows. Gordon's doors arc surnounted by carved nedirented lintels, while
Gubbins' haove cornice slabs with iron crestinas: cornice slabs also appear over the
second floor windows above the doors. The handsome paneled Jdoors, at No. 187,
are the originals. The cast iron handrailings at the stoops remain at all but two
of the houses.

(Mc. 195 has been omitted from the street numbering syster.)

Tos. 197-217 (ilo. 207 has been onitted from the street nunbering system).
This rew of ten brownstone houses was also built in 1981 by DProoklyn owner-builder
"illiam Gubbins. They are similar to 'los. 179-193, retaining Gubbins' cornice
slabs with iron cresting above the doors, while using the individual upper floor
window enframements, with low pediments, characteristic of Gordon's houses. It
is interestina, 1n cases such as these, to note how freely local builders combined
design elerwents from different buildinues to achieve new results. Bascment
entrances have been provided at Mos. 201, 211, 215 and 217.

(The bhuildines to the east of Vo. 217, extendine to the Tlatbush Avenue corner,
are ovtside the llistoric District.)
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In 1373, just threc years before the nation's Centennial, the section .
of Dutler Street east of Fifth Avenue was renamed Sterling Place. It was
naned after General William Alexander Stirling, born in New York in 1723,
Although he was the titular Farl of Stirling, he allied himself with the
colonials against the 2ritish and, in 1775, was charced with the supervision
o€ the fortification of Mew York and the harbor ‘'e was one of the valiant
commaniers of the American troops during the British attach on the Park ‘
Slone area and 3rooklyn 'leights in Aucust 1776, during the Pevolutionary
“'ar Battle of Long Island.' Although taken prisoner, he was later
exchanced and distinguisiied himself in subsequent battles during the war,
enjoyinr the confidence of ''ashington to an unusual decree.

ﬁIﬁB}ijﬂZ&ﬁEE Between F1fth % Sixth Avenues
ST SINT . (Mos. 66-70)

‘0s. 66-70 is the long side of the corner house, with garages behind
it, -escribed under “o. 123 Sixth Avenue.

STERLIM P1ACF Retween Sixtinr § Scventh Avenues

SAYTIY SIDEL (i'o. 135 Si;th Avenue and Mos. 130-133 Sterlaine Mlace)

The house at the westernmost end of this street is described under
Yo. 135 “1ixth Avenue.

(llos. 80-123 are outside the 'astoric District.) .

“o. 130 1s a handsomc three-storv town house which with its formal
window enframements and pcdimented arched doorway, disnlays the characteris-
tics of the French Second Empire style, also reflected in the elaborate
paneline of the fruat doors and 1n the segmental arches of the basement
windows with keystones. 4 high stoop with solid masonry wing-walls
arproaches the entrance directly. The roof cornice 1s sunnorted on deen end
brackets and on smaller evenly spaced intermediate hrackets.

Yo, 132-138 is a vacant corner lot, Wo. 26 Seventh Avenuec--the site of
a hoise destroved by an airplane crash in 1960.

MARTIE SIDT (Mos. 133-139)

No, 133-139 1s the long sidec of a one-story buildine, described under
Ho. 24 Seventh Avenuc.

STERLIMG PLACT  Tetween Seventh § Tlatbush Avenues '
SAWTH SIDE (Mos. 140-146)

.y

0. 140-144 1s the exceptionally handsome corner house with garage
behind 1t, described under No. 21 Seventh Avenue.
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No. 146. This charming Queen Anne house of 1887 was built for Charles
M. Pied, Esq. The architect was L. B. Vaulk, who also designed the
neighboring row around the corner at Nos. 21-27 Seventh Avenue, built at
the same time. Asymmetrically composed, Ho. 146 is two and one-half stories
high with a steep slate roof. The narrow arched doorway is complemented by
a wide-arched, tripartite parlor floor window, which is quite Romanesque
Revival in character. The second story sheetmetal bay window, with
pedimented arched central window, is surmounted at the third story by a
wide dormer with two windows, terminating in a gable with terra cotta tile
and central floral panel. Above the doorway, a single window and a dormer
with hipped roof enhance the asymmetry. The west side of this house,
facing the rear yard of No. 140-144, has three handsome chimneys with
brickwork expressing the flues within. The front doorway is approached
by a low stoop with win--walls which have unusunl wrousht iron handrailings.

(The buildings to the east of ilo. 146, extending to the intersection
of Flatbush Avenue -re outsilc the 'istoric ‘istrict.)

NORTH SIDE

The only building within the Historic District, on this side of the
street, is the corner house, described under No. 19 Seventh Avenue.

UNION STREET

Union Street, like its neighbor President Street, reflects in its name a
national theme and the sentiment o the nation following the Civil War. It is
a broad street, a main artery leading up to Grand Army Plaza. At the end of the
street, a pair of tall Doric shafts marks the entrance to Prospect Park. They
are the work of the architect John H. Duncan and sculptor Frederick V. Macllonnies.
Row houses, set well back, line the blockfronts between Seventh andEighth Avenues.
Mn the south side of the street, just west of Eighth Avenue and in the park block,
there is a combination of brownstone row houses and apartment houses of the
early 20th century.

UNION STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 820-870)

(The five houses at the western end of the street, west of No. 820 are
outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 820-836 are nine similar brownstones built in 1884-85 as part of
a row which extends to the Seventh Avenue corner.The developer was Park
Slope architect-builder William Flanagan. Though using the same basic
architectural detail on all the houses, Flanagan introduced a flush fromnt
at No. 830, contrasting it with the full-height, two-sided bays of all the
other houses. These houses are designed in the neo-Grec style which he
used so abundantly in his other work. Nos. 828, 830 and 832, although
basically similar to the other houses, show traces of the Queen Anne style:
panels and bosses of floral ornament contrast with the simpler incised
designs of the neo-Grec. The Union Street houses, like those behind them
on President Street, were constructed on land which Flanagan purchased
for development from the Methodist Episcopal Hospital. The shape of these
houses varies slightly in detail from the neo-Grec row which John
Magilligan built at the same time across the street at Hos. $65-887.
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"here the roof cornices are silhouetted against the sky, a stronq staccato
rhythm is most apparent. Several original cast iron balustered stoop and

yard railings remain as well as balustrades of the same material above

the cornice slabs at some of the entrances. Dlasement entrances have been

provided at Nos. 822 and 836.

Nos. 838-844. Built in 1884-85 by architect-builder Edward B.
Sturges, these four brownstones have many of the same neo-Grec design
elements used in the adjoining Flanagan houses. A distinguishing feature,
at Nos. 838 and 840, is tre Queen Anne sunburst motif, which appears at
the top of the pilasters separating the long parlor floor windows and in
the brackets supporting the cornice slabs above the doorways. Although a
basement entrance has been provided at No. 842, the houses all retain the
low cast iron balustrades above the doorways.

Nos. 846-854. These five one-family dwellinss were built in 1902
for owner Bessie L. ilartin, who lived at 24 Polhemus Place in the District,
and were designed by Brooklyn architect Axél Hedman. "ith fronts of light-
colored stone, they represent the taste for the new Classicism at this
period. Only two stories above high brownstone basements and approached
by stoops, they are a full story lower than their neighbors to the west.
They have full-height, curved and polygonal bays in an ABBA sequence, with
a rectangular bay at No. $54  Broad ornamental bandcourses run horizon-
tally beneath the windows, and there is a great variety in the carved
detail on each building. The deep sheetmetal cornices, carried on brackets,
display classical motifs. No. 854, a brownstone, is auite similar in
detail to the rest of the row. It terminates the group with its advancing
rectangular flush-fronted bay. ihen built in 1902, the four windows in
its eastern brick sidewall looked out on the extensive grounds of the
"axwell mansion which stood at the southwest corner of Union Street and
Fighth Avenue until 1923.

Between Nos. 854 and 860 are two vacant lots scparated from the
street by a gate and iron fence.

No. 860 was originally the Victorian Gothic carriage house of the
Maxwell mansion, built of brick and trimmed with stone. It is one of the
few carriage houses in Park Slope. The facade of this two-story building
was altered to its present handsome appearance, in 1923, by architects
Caughey & Evans, of Manhattan, in a style much in character with the
building. A large four-part, leaded window, with transom bar and mullions,
is an attractive feature of this building at the ground floor. The
projecting central bay has a gambrel roof gable, flanked by chimneys
supported on elaborate corbels.

Mo. 862 1s a seven-story apartment house built in 1923, similar to
the adjoining apartment house at No. 78 Eighth Avenue. It was designed
by the architectural firm of Slee § Bryson and occupies a part of the
site of the tlaxwell mansion on Eighth Avenue. BRuilt of red brick, with
precast stone trim, it is Tudor in inspiration Ewinsis is on the impressive
central arched entranceway, surmounted by an claborate heraldic device
set in a panel. At the third floor, a statue of a knight in armor stands
guard in a stone niche above the panel.

No. 870 is thelarge corner apartment house described under No.
73 Fighth Avenue.

JORTH SIDE (Nos. 865-917)

{The corner building and adjoining vacant lot, west of llo. 865, are
ontside the Ilictoric NDistrict.)
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Nos. 865-887. These twelve residences were built in 1884-85 by Park
Slope builder-architect John liag1lligan, who lived at that time just west
of the District on St. 'lark's Avenue. The brownstone row is quite uniform
and straightforward in its neo-Grec design--typical of Magilligan's work
elsewhere in the District. All have full-height, two-sided bays accented
with horizontal bandcourses. The bays have full-height pilasters at their
apexes, incised with conventional neo-Grec ornament. The deep. paneled
roof cornices reflect the profiles of the bays and pilasters at the
skyline. The cornice slabs over most of the main entrances are surmounted
by low cast iron balustrades, in character with the heavy stoop hand-
railings. Basement entrances have been provided at Nos. 869, 873 and 885.

Nos. 889-903. Built in 1859, these eipht brick houses were constructed
for owner James C. Jewett of 42 Seventh Avenue, and were designed by
nerghborhood architect Albert E. Vhite, who also did work for Jewett at
llos. 876 and 878 President Street. These fanciful houses, combining
elements of the Pomanesque Revival and Queen Anne styles, are in sharp
contrast to the rather sedate and conventional neo-Grec houses to the west.
In this highly picturesque octet, the architect used various types of
stone trim and sheetmetal cornices and oriels in an alternating design
pattern. As was the case with his President Strset houses, which these
with the oriels resembie, he made these houses symmetrical at the upper
floors, instead of following the more typical asymmetry generally associated
with the Queen Anne. The flush-fronted houses, best preserved at Nos. 893
and 897, retain the small enframing lights of the center tripartite
windows at the third floors. The high basement walls have an interesting
combination of smooth and rough-faced stonework. The entrances beneath
round arches are accented by drip moldings and are complemented by the
arches of equal size at the adjoining parlor floor windows. The effect
of so many arches at this level provides a continous horizontal rhythm
across the fronts, belying the narrowness of the individual houses. At
the third story windowsill level, the stone string course rests on brick
corbels. A crested effect is achieved by slightly advancing the wall
plane surrounding the central window, above which an ornate sheetmetal
cornice is crowned by a crenellated roof cresting with ball-topped spikes
against the skyline. This bit of medieval whimsy is dainty when compared
vith the high pediments which crown the houses with oriels -~ Queen Anne
in inspiration. The central oriels at the second floors are supported
on central brackets which are carried down between the broad arches at
the parlor floors. The doors are surrounded by small bull's-eye glass
lights, an unusual feature of this style. The entrances of all eight
houses are approached by L-shaped stoops with random ashlar wing-walls.

Nos. 905-913. Finished in 1895, these five houses are basically
Romanesque Revival in style disnlaying certain Queen Anne features. They
were built for owner G.B. Dearing, and Jdesigned by Brooklyn architect
Thomas McMahon, who both lived in the Cobble Hill area. They are built
1n an ABCBA pattern with flush fronts alternating with those which have
shallow curved bays. Romanesque influence is especially apparent in the
two-story curved bays, the arched windows, in the rough-faced masonry at
the basement, and in the wing-walls of the stoops. Fine brick corbelling
beneath the second floor sill-courses of Nos. 907 and 911 and their arched
entranceways with drip moldings are also Romanesque. Another interesting
element has been incorporated in the steep tile roof of ilo. 907, where
delightful little lunette-shaped dormers, high up on the roof, flank the
large central one. The dormers at the other houses, with their high ornate
pediments, are decidedly Queen Anne. The Romanesque therie is carried up
to roof level at No. 909, with 1ts large round arcied window and carved
stone ornament beneath a masonry gable. These houses are especially
picturesque above the cornice line.

No. 917 is the Union Street side of the prominent corner mansion at
Eighth Avenue. It continues the character of the row houses to the west:
here the architect has also combined Roranesque and (Queen Anne elements.
The house is also described under Mo. 70-72 Caghth Avenue.
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SAWUTK SIDE (Nos. 872-902)

This section of Union Street 15 divided almost evenly between three
apartment houses and six adjoining brownstones to the east. The apartment
houses harmonize remarkably well in height with the brownstones. There is,
however, an interesting contrast between the relatively flush facades of
the apartment houses with horizontal roof cornices and the vertical masonry
bays of the houses which produce an animated effect at the skyline.

Ho. 872-880 15 the long side of the corner house described under No.
73 Eighth Avenue.

Mo. 832 (882-8384), 'The Gwendolyn', a four-story apartment house of
Roman brick with rusticated limestone base, was built in 1901 for Hewman
H. Raymond and designed by architect Georne E. Roosen. The symmetrical
facade, flanked by sheetmetal bay windows above the first story, has
a central columnar entrance porch. C(lassical features include console
bracket keystones above the first floor windows and the bold roof cornice
with swags which are tastefully incorporated in this structure.

I'o. 886 is a small apartment house of four stories built by S. B.
Ogden & Co. in 1905-07 for George Tswein. Like its neighbor to the west,
it has a rusticated base, with Roman brick above, and a bold roof cornice
carried on brackets. It is a restrained example of classical design, with
brick quoins delineating the sides and neo-Georgian double keystones at
the window lintels.

No. 888 (888-890), ''The Park View, 1is an apartment house erected
for the Kraslow Building Company and designed in 1922 by ™. T. McCarthy.
It has a well-ordered brick front of English bond with limestone accents.
A cornice slab on horizontally placed console brackets juts out over the
door to form a small canopy.

Nos. 892-902. This dignified row of six brownstones with high stoops
was built in 1887 by Park Slope developer 'illian Flanagan. Nearly identi-
cal with full-height, three-sided bays, they are transitional in design,
illustrating how the neo-Grec gave way to neo-Renaissance influence. Neo-
Grec details are still apparent in the bracketed roof cornices and in the
partially fluted pilasters flanking the windows of the bays, but the
triangular pediments above the central window of the bays and the flanking
panels beneath the second floor windows are neo-Renaissance.

(The six buildings extcndine to the corner of Prospect Park West are
outsiae the Historic District.)
NORT!! SIDE (Mos. 919-927)

Ho. 919-927 is the long side of the corner house described under No.

71 Eighth Avenue.

(The three Luildings and two vacant lots extending to the corner of
Plaza Strcet are outside the {listoric Nistrict.)
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FIRST TO FOURTEENTH STREETS
FIRST STREET
FIRST STREET Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

First Street between Seventh and Cighth Avenues differs in certain respects
from that portion of the street between Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park West. Most
of the houses are relatively more modest than the generally taller, more richly
ornamented residences of the park block. They display a variety of architectural
styles: the neo-Grec, Romanesque Revival and neo-Renaissance all being represented.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 460-520)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenﬁe, to the west of No. 460, is
outside of the Historic District.)

lios. 460-468. These five houses were built for owner I'illiam !Martin and de-
signed by Brooklyn architect Arthur Koch in 1910-11. They are three stories high.
No. 460, planned as a two-family residence, is only two stories, with a high base-
ment and with ornament similar to that of the neighboring houses. It differs from
the other houses in having a prominent, full-height, square bay with side windows
facing the row. The house projects farther toward the street than this row, thus
acting as a visual termination to the group. The limestone faced houses, Nos. 462-
468, form a totally unified row with identical ornamental detail. At the doors,
simple drip moldings, like those which enframe the windows, alternate with elabo-
rately carved crowning motifs consisting of garlands and cartouches. The houses
are three-storied with low stoops, which are unusual in this blockfront. The
facades have full-height curved bays and are crowned by sheet metal cornices with
classical swags. The ornament was inspired by French Renaissance prototypes.

Nos. 470-473. This row of five brick houses, built for owner Cornelius
Donnellow in 1895-96 and designed by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon, is typical of
the late Romanesque Revival. The materials of the houses alternate--white Roman
brick with limestone trim and orange Roman brick with brownstone trim--according to
an ABABA pattern. Like the row to the west, these houses have full-height, curved
bays. The brownstone and limestone at the basements, the L-shaped stoops, and the
window and doorway lintels are roush-faced. The brickwork begins above the parlor
floors and continues to the sheet metal roof cornices, the fascias of which are or-
namented with rows of large scale rosettes. The simple, narrow doorways enframe un-
usually handsome paneled doors with original hardware and metal grilles, unique in
the District.

Nos. 2480-498. This long row of ten brownstones helps to unify this side of the
street. Nos, 480-486 are known to have been erected by Brooklyn owner-architect
John Magilligan in 1891-92. The rest of the row was probably also the work of
“fagilligan. They are very similar to the houses across the street, Nos. 503-509.
Like so many houses in Park Slope, they have full-height, three-sided masonry bays,
which extend from the basement floor to the roof cornice, and L-shaped stoops.
Rough-faced stonework appears at the basements and stoops and in the band courses
beneath the windows of the bays. Stained glass transoms ornament the parlor floor
windows, and some of the stoops retain their original delicate wrought ironwork.
licoden roof cornices with neo-Grec detailing crown these severely rectangular
buildings.

Nos. 500-506. Built by Brooklyn owner-architect Fred Griswold in 1890, this
dignified group of Romanesque Revival brownstones consists of four houses which
are very similar, with only minor variations in the decorative detail. Rough-
faced stone appears at the basement floors and is used again at the second-story
level and for the voussoirs of the arched windows. The tall, arched windows of
the parlor floors have stained glass transoms, while the second floors are domin-
ated by threc-sided oriel windows supported on massive brackets, which rest on
Pilasters with foliate capitals. The arched windows of the top stories echo the
disposition of arches at the parlor stories. The bracketed wooden roof cornices
are retardataire in style; neo-Grec motifs linser on in the incised decoration of
the second story end pilasters and in the band courses beneath the oriel windows.
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No. 508. This house of tan iloman brick with lirmestone basement, stoop and
ornament wos built by Brooklyn owner-architect Charles Peterson in 1895 and is
unique among the houses of the block. 1It has an almost semi-circular masonry
bay which extends to the second story and is crowned by a balustrade. The glass in
the windows of this bay conforms to jtscurvature. The parlor floor windows are
enframed by a Jelicate egg and dart molding and surmounted by carved blocks with
cartouches. The egq and dart moldiny 1s repeated at the base of the balustrade
and at the roof cornice, which is supnorted on carved console brackets. The
entrance doorway is flanked by engaped columns and accords with the over-all neo-
Renaissance theme.

No. 510 1s a lot with a garage located halfway back.

'lo. 520 is the long side of the corner house, described under o. 196 Eirhth
Avennue.

NARTH SINL (ilos. 465-513)

(The houses to the west of No. 465, oricinally built at the samc time, are
outside of the Mistoric District.)

Nos. 465-469A. These four brownstone houses were built in 1884-85 by Brooklyn
owner-orchitects “fartin and Lee. All four houses are raised on high basement
floors and retain their straight. steep entrance stairways, which are ornamented
with handsome iron railings and newel posts of the neo-firec style.

No. 465, like its three neighbors to the east, disnlays typically neo-Grec
fluting and delicately incised linear detail, althouph in a somewhat more restrained
manner. The facade of No. 465 is enlivened by a projectine two-sided bay, which
runs through all three stories of the house. This vertical accent is balanced by
broad, horizontal band courses, which define the floor levels of the house. The
imposing doorway is surmounted by a cornice slab on carved brackets and 1s enframed
by grooved pilasters. A simple, bracketed wooden cornice of the same design as
those at llos. 467-469A crowns the facade. llo. 467, althouch three-storied,
is visually linked to the two-storied houses, !los. 469-469A, by the repetition of
identical ornamental detail. Eared ' pedimental lintels with incised floral ~rna-
ment appear at the windows and doors of these houses ard are very characteristic
of the neo-Grec style, as are the corbels beneath the window frames.

Mos. 471-475A. Built in 1377 for Drooklyn owner feorge “. Richards and de-
sisned by another Brooklynite, architect-carpenter !iiliam *right, these six rather
modest two-story brownstones continue the series of French neo-firec houses which
besins at the west end of the street. The segmental arches of the doorways and
windows differentiate this row from its neighbors. ‘“hile the stoops are straight,
like those of nearly all the houses on this side of the street, they are distinc-
tive in having heavy balustered cast iron handrailings and newel posts, which
are fully nreserved at ilos. 475 and 475A. Arched cornice slabs project above the
doorways, and the lintels have very simple incised linear decoration. Three of the
houses (Mos. 471, 473, 475) retain their neo-Grec entrance doors, and all six
facades are topned by paneled wooden roof cornices supported by folizte brackets.

Nos. 477-501. These fourteen brownstones were the first of a series of stylis-
tically similar houses built at various locations within the Ilistoric District by
the Prooklyn owner-architect Fred J. Griswold. Built between 1387 and 1889,
they are two and one-half stories in height, while the related houses at Nos.
500-506 First Street of 1890, Nos. 283-294 Garfield Place of 1891, and Nos. 173-184
Fichth Avenue of 1893 are three-storied. All the First Street houses by Griswold
display a clear amalgam of Romanesque Revival forms with those of the earlier
French neo-Grec style, while in the later buildings Griswold employed a purer
version of the Romanesque Revival style. The basement floors and straight stoops
of these houses are of rough-faced stonework. The arched parlor floor windows
with stained glass lunettes are enframed by large scale voussoirs, and prominent
keyztones have been let down into the arches of the doorways. At each
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house, pilasters with simple foliate capitals are surmounted by a pair of large
brackets supporting a three-sided oriel, the dominant feature of the upper floors.
Bglow the roof cornices, which continue the shape of the oriels, small rectangular
windows punctuate the fascia, thus providing an attic story. The handrailings,
newel posts, and yard railings are of cast and wrought iron, rather than stone,

and thus they harmonize nicely with the small scale of these charning houses and
with the delicate incised neo-Grec detail of the enframing pilasters of the

second floor. Mo. 485A is unusual; since it is only two bays wide, it has an oriel
with only two sides.

Nos. 503-567(509). Toward the northeast end of the street, Mos. 503-509 form
a row of four brownstones basically similar in design to the houses across the
street, Nos. 480-498. Like them, they are three stories in height with full-
height,three-sided bays. These houses were begun in 1890 for owner John Monas
and were designed by Brooklyn ~rchitect J.J. Gilligan.

No. 513 is the long side of the corner house, described under No. 190 Eighth
Avenue.

FIRST STRFET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park 'lest

First Street between Lighth Avenue and Prospect Park "est, contains many fine
examples of the neo-Renaissance mode, which was one of the popular classical styles
inspired by the highly influential Chicago Exposition of 1893. Each house or
group of houses represents individual variations of this mode. All the original
stoops, most of which are ‘L-shaped, have been preserved, as have the cornices which
are treated in a variety of ways.

SHWTH SIDE (Nos. 522-584)

Ho. 522 is the long side of the cormer building, described under MNo. 18§
Eiehth Avenue.

This entire blockfront was developed by Louis Bonert during the years 1909-10
in accord with desiqns by architects Eisenla and Carlson.

No. 534 is a limestone-faced house, three stories high, with a full-height
square bay and a straight stoop. It was begun in 1909. HNigh relief decoration is
set in panels below the parlor and third floor windows and in semi-circular blind
arches above the parlor floor windows and entrance. The house projects forward
toward the street, and, like many houses 1in the District, is intended to create a
formal beginning to the adjacent row of houses.

Mos. §36-542. These four houses, begun in 1909, are of limestone with three-
story, full-height curved bays and L-shaped stoops. Although the doorways are
quite similar, displaying arched pediments with ornately carved panels, certain
variations in decoration appear in alternation. <Simply enframed parlor floor win-
dows alternate with those having paneled pilasters: the windows above the entrances
are enframed by broken pediments with fluted Ionic pilasters, or by dentiled cor-
nices with smooth pilasters. DPanels and bands of carved ornament adorn the bays.
The roof cornices are beautifully handled, with foliate brackets, dentils and
bands of floral decoration.

tlos. 544-558. 1In this row of eight houses beoun in 1909, the end houses are
faced with brownstone. The rest of the row is faced with limestone, a more typical
material for neo-Renaissance facades of this period. All the houses have L-shaped
stoops and are three stories high with full-heipght bays, the sides of which are
curved. The doorways are flanked by engaged columns supporting entablatures with
alternating detail. These entablatures are either surmounted by curvilinear
ornament or have carved panels. Ather details include diamond-shaped incisions at
parlor floor level, “luting at the second floor and foliate decoration in spandrel
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panels between the floors. Pediments surnount the windows above the doorways. The
bold, neo-Classical sheetmetal roof cornices follow the profiles of the bays.

Nos. 560-566. These four limestone houses, begun in 1909, have full-height
bays, which are rounded at the sides. The parlor floors are rusticated, and
rusticated pilasters, flanking the doorways, support foliate friezes and pediments
with central cartouches. This ornament is combined with glass and wrought iron
doors to create imposingly elaborate entrances. Prominent carved keystones appear
at the third floor level of each house, and segmental pediments surmount the windows
above the doorways. Tall, slender pilasters in the bays extend from the second
to third floors and unify them, and decorative low relief panels appear beneath
all the windows of the bays. As in the neighboring houses, bold classical roof
cornices conforn to the profile of the bays.

No. 568 was begun in 1910, also for owner Louis Bonert, and was designed by
his architects Eisenla and Carlson. It is nearly identical with MNo. 565 on the
opposite side of the street. Four stories high, it has a three-story bay with
curved sides and two-story pilasters extending up through the second and third
stories. Ornamental panels adorn the spaces between the second and third story
windows of the bay. Pilasters also appear at the entrance and at the parlor floor
windows, which have stained glass transoms. The neo-Italian Renaissance ornament
and the limestone facing of this house help to integrate it harmoniously with the
four houses to the west, although it is one story taller.

Nos. 570 and 572. At the east end of First Street are two four-story neo-
Italian Renaissance brownstones which were also built for owner Bonert in 1910
and designed by Eisenla and Carlson. They are built in mirror symmetry. The paired
entrance doors are approached by L-shaped stoops and are flanked by three-story
curved bays, which are ornamented by pilasters and foliate bandcourses. Stained
glass transoms enrich the parlor floor windows. The entablatures above the arched
doorways are supported by grooved pilasters and crowned by curvilinear ornament;
they have end blocks which display carved heads. At the second and third floors,
triangular and scroll pediments surmount the windows above the doorways, while at
the top floor simple segmental-arched windows appear beneath the classical roof
cornices.

No. 584 is the long side of the stone mansion with yard at the end of the
street, described under No. 49 Prospect Park Mest.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 515-567)

No. 515-525 is the long side of the apartment house described under No. 193
Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 527-535. This group of five limestone houses, on the north side,
is unique in Park Slope. No. 527, which is two windows wide, was built in 1910
for owner Louis Bonert. The other four houses, which have three windows, were
begun five years later for the same owner and were designed by architect Fred Y.
Eisenla. These unusual houses have the formal elegance of Pritish Regency archi-
tecture, with details reminiscent of our Federal style. ‘hile the other houses
on this block and in this area have projecting bays, these houses have handsome,
shallow swell-fronts above first floor level, spanning almost the entire width
of each house. The flush ground floors are rusticated. Low granite stoops lead
directly up to the main entrance of the English basements (first floors), and
separate, smaller stoops at the sides lead to the service doors. At the central
entrances are porches, each with two pairs of free-standing columns. These porches
are surmounted by low balustrades extending across the facades of the houses,
following the curves of the swell-fronts. The balustrades, carried on brackets,
and columns are ornamented at their bases by foliate bands and at their ends by
stone urns. The swell-fronts of the upper three stories of these houses are rather
simple and make a pleasant contrast with the ornate English basements. The repi-
tition of round-arched Federal windows with interlacing muntins at the top floor
helps to unify the facades. The modillioned roof cornices conform to the curves of
the swecll-fronts, thus creating a pleasing undulation. The front yards of these
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houses are enclosed by high wrought iron fences, which are very simple, and light

in character.

Mes. 537-545.,
elsewhere in the District.

and they have full-height three-sided bays.

These five houses are a series of brownstones of a type seen
Their basements and L-shaped stoops are rusticated,

Nf severely simple design, with no

carved decoration, the facades are articulated by plain horizontal moldings which

emphasize the divisions of the floors and the forms of the bays.

Handscme stained

glass transoms appear at the windows at parlor floor level.

Nos. 547-553. This row of severely
owner William Flanagan according to 1901
three-story facades of the row alternate
No. 549 and No. 553, are identical, with
and simple detailing. Carved decoration
between the second and third floors, and
and support simple entablatures.

classical limestone houses was built for
designs by architect P.J. Cullen. The
in an ABAB pattern; the type 'B' houses,
full-height, three-sided projecting bays
embellishes the wall surfaces of the bays
engaged Ionic columns flank the entrances

No. 547 and No. 551, type ‘A", have elliptical,

full-height projecting bays and are somewhat more richly ornamented than the type
“B" houses. Broad, fluted, engaged Ionic columns appear at the parlor level of

the bay of No. 547, and a scroll pediment surmounts the entablature of the entrance,
No. 551, once the residence of U.S. Senator Willism M, Calder, a builder in Park
Slope, has a rusticated first floor witl cartouches. A pediment, with central
cartouche, and rusticated pilasters enframe the doorway. In this row there is an
elegant simplicity and a feeling for unity, which is enhanced by the identical
L-shaped stoops and classical cornices with dentils.

Nos. 555 and 557. Owner Irving Levy commissioned architect George Miller
to design this pair of identical three-story limestone houses in 1909. They
have several dramatic and distinguishing features. Engaged columns at the entrances
support elaborate 'broken" arch pediments with bold cartouches inspired by the
Italian Renaissance. Fluted pilasters on each side of the central parlor floor °
windows support foliate console brackets, which, in turn, support balustraded
balconies set in front of the central second floor windows. Bold keystones flanked
by foliate forms are an unusual feature at the principal second floor windows.
Classical cornices crown these houses, and carved ornament, similar to that under
the parlor floor windows, adorns the wing walls of the L-shaped stoops.

Mo. 559. This brownstone is three stories with a high basement. Along with
the three-story house,No. 567, it enframes the taller houses which stand between
them. It was built for owner Mary Conlon and was designed in 1902 by architect
E.D. Earl. The shallow curved bay extends full-height and is reflected in the
classical roof cornice, which conforms to its profile. The L-shaped stoop and
basement are rough-faced. Small panels of ornament are set under the windows
of the bay at the parlor floor, and above these windows a broad band of foliate .
ornament appears. A carved, scrolled pediment surmounts the entablature of the
main entrance. The second and third stories have fluted pilasters between the
windows of the bay, while the pilasters at the third floor are paired and smaller
in scale, contrasting with the rather heavy classical cornice which crowns the
house.

This four-story limestone house was built by owner-builder Peter
It has a curved three-story bay, with handsome engaged columns.
Pilasters appear

No. 561.
Delaney in 1900.
separating the windows at both the parlor and second floors.
between the windows of the bay at the third floor. The low stone balustrade H
surmounting the bay displays an unusual series of pierced circles, which recur
at the front of the L-shaped stoop. The entrance door is set between two engaged
Ionic columns, which support an attractive arched pediment enframing a large .
scalloped shell. The second and third floor windows above the entrance are also,
handsomely enframed. o

563 and 565. These two houses were built for owner-builder Peter )

Delaney in 1901. No. 563, a brownstone, and Mo. 565, a limestone house, are four
stories in height and have similar cornices. MNo. 563 has fluted pilasters at the
first and second floors of its three-story elliptical bay and smooth pilasters

at the third floor. The entrance door is set in an arch at No. 563 and is square-

Nos.

i
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headed at No. 565, but both doors are crowned by entablatures with surmounting
scrolled ornament. The three-story bay with curved sides at No. 565 has fluted
pilasters extending from the second to third story.

No., 567, This three-story brownstone, built by owner-builder Peter Delaney
in 1902, is quite similar to No. 565, although it is only three stories in
height. An ornately enframed window, a richly carved scrolled pediment above the
entablature of the doorway, handsome floral panels in the bay, and the L-shaped
stoop with inverted console-type terminations are the principal decorative features
of this facade.

(The large corner apartment house with yard and courtyard, to the east of No.
567, is outside of the Historic District.)

SECOND STREET
SECOIID STREET Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

This street includes some of Park Slope's most interesting houses, as well
as some inharmonious elements. On the north side, a row of ten unusual houses--
similar to Nos. 485-501 Fourth Street-- more than compensates for an ill-conceived
group of post-llorld 'ar II houses at the east. On the south side, Victorian row-
houses are interrupted by an harmonious six-story apartment house. Some of the
houses have been painted in various colors obscuring their masonry walls and the
harmony of the row. Arranged in related groups of four and five, all of the row
houses on this side of the street are three stories above hiph basements except
the easternmost house, which has a mansard roof, making it one story higher.
Stylistically the facades present an interesting variety--ranging from simple and
severe to robust and imaginative. To attempt to place them in precise stylistic
categ ‘ries would be difficult, however. Except for two houses which are clearly
Romanesque Revival, the houses take elements fron the styles current at the time.

SNUTH SIDE (Nos. 516-576)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, west of No. 516, is outside
of the Historic District.)

Nos. 516 and 516A are a pair of one-story buildings used for commercial
purposes.

Nos. 518-524 were built for owner Henry R. Donnellon in 1893 from designs
by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon. They are basically Romanesque Revival in style
and are similar to No, 513 and Nos. 537-541 on the opposite side of the street.
They-follow an ABBA pattern, with the end houses of tan colored brick and brownstfne.
The center pair are of ivory colored brick and limestone. These houses-are only
eighteen feet wide, two feet narrower than the similar ones across the street. The
narrowness of the fronts and of some of the windows, combined with the verticality
of the bays, give this group a severe look. No. 518 retains its small window
over thc entrance doorway, the others having been enlarged to the same height as’
the other windows. All the houses retain their original detail. MNeo-Classical
roof cornices, with swags set 1n panels, crown the houses. Fine, twisted iron
grilles guard the basement windows. The strength of the whole composition tends
to conceal the careful conversion of No. 520's stoop from L-shaped to straight.

A six-story apartment house, built in 1927-28, (Mo. 526-534) interrupts the
essentially uniform building height on this side, but it does so in an inoffensive
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fashion, since it has been designed with thoughtful attention to detail. The walls

are a tapestry brick in a rich range of colors, laid up in Flemish bond. Details

are of Southern French and Spanish Romanesque origin, and include some harmonious |
buff-colored precast stonework in versions of medieval bas-reliefs and colonnettes. [
At the roof, there is sparing use of green Spanish tile. Perhaps the most thought-

ful element of this design is the placing of the fire escapes back in the recess

of the entrance court, instead of on the street fronts.

The next group, a quintet, Nos. 536-544, was built in 1892-93 and designed by
architect John ''. Dailey for owner Matilda Nilsson. The facades have bold, full-
heizht three-sided bays, and are constructed of rough-faced brick between rough-
faced brownstone bandcourses, which serve as lintels on the upper floors. The
range of rough brickwork and stone, the heavy roof cornices and an over-all brown-
orange tone pgive the group a rather tweedy texture, not unlike much row housing ‘
in Victorian England. The handsome L-shaped stoops and the basements, both of
rough-faced brownstone, add to the bold effect. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 542,

tlos. 546-554, a group of five, was built in 1891 for owner Catherine Hill
from designs by Manhattan architect John E. Dwyer. 'hile the groups to each side
of this one are vigorous in form or texture, this Romanesque Revival row has a
highly disciplined flat quality, relieved throuch the manipulation of shapes,
brick colors , roof silhouettes and fenestration. The fronts of these three-story
houses are arranged in an ABABA pattern. Straight stoops above high basements lead
up to arched doorways. All the houses have very shallow partially rusticated two-
story bays with rounded corners, which are treated almost as appliques on otherwise
flat walls. The projections of the roof cornices are also quite shallow; they gain
interest through the contrast of triangular gables on the "A" units with horizontal
roof-lines on the "B units.

The last row of five houses, Nos. 556-564, also designed by John E. Dwyer for
Catherine tlill, was built 1n 1891. The houses have vigorous facades, set slightly
back from the prevailire line of fronts on the street: No. 556 makes the transition
for this setback with a projected rectangular bay on its west side. High stoops
approach the ample doorways, and, where L-shaped, have handsome carved ornament on
the wing-walls facing the street. The houses were all originally of orange-colored
Roman brick, trimmed with brownstone. The three central houses in the group,

Mos. 558-562, are in an ABA pattern the "“A' units are identical in design and above
the rooflines have steep triangular gables, which have flat sheet-metal fronts '
embossed in foliate patterns and are flanked by swirl-shaped stub terminals. The
windows and doors of all the houses are full-flowered Romanesque Revival, some
round-arched, some square-headed and some grouped with continuous transom bars.

At the second floors of Nos. 558 and 562 triple windows are handsomely enframed by
beautifully carved foliate borders. The rough stone mullions between the windows
are surmounted by three dwarf pilasters separating the transoms of the windows.

The end houses of the group have cornices which are highly unusual and imaginative,
with friezes consisting of tight-packed ranks of miniature Ionic balusters, sup-
ported on rounded corbels. On No. 564, this cornice is surmounted by a fourth-
story, tiled mansard roof with dormer windows crowned by segmental-arched pediments.

Terminating this block is the Church of the Virgin Mary, No. 568-576, which is
described under No. 218 Eighth Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Mos. 507-563)

(The corner apartment house west of No. 507 is outside of the Historic Dis-
trict.) .

Nos. 507 and 509 are identical, symmetrically composed four-story apartment
houses with full-height curved bays flanking central entrances. They are faced ,
with medium-brown speckled brick above smooth stone first floors and are liberally
trimmed with limestone window lintels and sills. Their basic style is neo-Georgian,
with splayed flat arches at the second story, and swagged classical roof cornices,
while the front doors are more reminiscent of Italian Renaissance prototypes.
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Notable in these buildings are the small pairs of stained-glass windows, in the .
flush wall plane, centered at each floor above the entrance doors. 1

Mo. 511 is a single house, three stories high, with a three-sided bay extending
up two stories and crowned by a decorative, low wrought iron railing. It displays
the classicism of the Queen Anne style. The front door, approached by a high
straight stoop, has a deep cornice slab carried on brackets, surmounted by an iron
railing. The basement is faced with smooth stonework alternating with narrow bands
of rough-faced stone. The bold roof cornice is carried on brackets and has a dom-
inant central panel with swag.

Mo. 513 is a late Romanesque Revival house with curved full-height bay,
similar to Mos. 537-541, as well as to Nos. 518-524 across the street, which were
designed by Brogkiyn architect Robert Dixon.

The impressive row of Jate Romanesque Revival houses, Nos. 515-533, is one of
the most picturesque and unusual in the Historic District. The houses were built
in 1394-98 and were the work of several architects, working in the same style,
including Robert Dixon, James Nelson and J.L. Allan. All are two and one-half
stories high, except No. 529, which has an extra story. They all have high L-
shaped stoops leading up to their round-arched doorways. The walls of smooth Roman
brick, in differing earth colors, afford an interesting contrast to the walls of the
rough-faced stone stoops and to the Spanish tile roofs which remain at two of
the houses. At Nos. 517 and 521 the roofs sweep out to form deep eaves supported
on end brackets and rafters. At the other houses, the tops of the walls are
crowned by brick corbeling. Triple windows of alternating designs, are centered
on the steep roofs. Over the first and second story windows are a variety of brick
arches, some round, some segmental, and others three-centered. Many of these
windows retain their stained glass in the arches. Four courses of headers form
and emphasize the arches, and all the openings are trimmed with curved molded
brick. Flanking the arched doorways of Nos. 525 and 527 are carved pilasters with
cornice slabs carried on brackets. .

No. 535 is a single brownstone house of significantly more monumental scale
than its neighbors to the west. Three-storied, with a full-height, curved bay,
it is neo-Classical in style, with engaged Ionic columns at the entrance, and is
a carefully proportioned exercise in town house design.

The three houses at Nos. 537-541 are similar to the houses on the other side
of the street, Nos. 518-524, which were designed by Robert Dixon in 1898. In
color they are arranged in an ABA pattern, the end houses faced with light-colored
Roman brick and limestone, the center one of orange-colored Roman brick and brown-
stone. They have full-height curved bays, topped with neo-Classical sheetmetal
cornices. Above the entrance doors, small decorative windows with stained glass
provide graceful accents.

Mos. 543-549. The sequence of three and four-story houses on this side of
the street is interrupted at this point by a row of four two-story red brick apart-
ments of post-llorld 'ar II vintage, each with a sunken garage and driveway. They
have fifteen-foot setbacks and low rooflines and are entirely different in
character from the neighboring houses, introducing a semi-suburban air to this
part of the street.

Mo. 551 was begun in 1888, making it the oldest house on the block. The
architect was H.S. Thnen of lanhattan, and the owner was llenry Thomas, The three-
story brick front with brownstone trim and base has a masonry parapet in lieu of
a roof cornice. At the center of the second story is a three-sided oriel set
on a corbeled brownstone sill under a brownstone segmental arch. A basement !
entrance has been provided beneath the parlor floor, which is graced by a small
flower-patterned stained-glass window, Stylistically, the house has suggestions of
the Romanesque Revival and the Queen Anne. ;

The easternmost house, No. 553, a brownstone begun in 1894 by owner-architect
Jeremiah Gilligan, is distinguished by a full-height semicircular bay that makes
a strong termination to the street. A garlanded roof cornice and a foliate relief .
frieze at second-story level run around the full curve of the bay. Subtle carving
around the entrance doorway and second-story windows adds relief to otherwise plain

3
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wills  The entrance doors are approached by an L-shaned stoop above a rusticated
basement.

Fo. 555-563, described under Mo. 216 Eishth Avenue, nresents a long brick
sidewall to the street with rectaonpular central bay extending full height. It
has a parage at the rear surmounted by a solarium with Ionic columns.

SICY!D STREFET  Between Tighth Avenue § Prospect DNark 'est

‘tost of this street is lined by two consistent rows of houses. At the south
is a row of variegated materials and colors, with bays of different shanes, and at
tite north 1s a uniform row of limestone houses with curved bays. The general
inpression is one of harmony, dignity and uniform character, on the north side,
facing variety on the south.

eAYT™ SINE  (ilos. 573-660)

No. 582(578-588), the corner apartment house, is described under ‘o. 217
Fiahith Avenue.

Nos. 590-648. (Nos. 602, 618, 630 and 644 have becen onitted from the strect
nirbering system.) This long row of twenty-six houses was besun in 1903 for
William I'. Reynolds, representing the First Construction Compony of Crooklyn, ~nd
was designed by Lenjamin Driesler, a “rooklyn architect. It is an interesting ex-
anple of the quest for variety, while at the same time utilizing certain standards
of form, materials and architectural detail. Althoush at first the row has the ap-
nearance of a series of individually desioned townhouses, a second rlance reveals
certain underlying similarities, with rinor variations of detail intended to
differentiate the houses. First, with regard to form, there is an alternating se-
quence of curved and three-sided bays: in addition, the end houses terminate the
row with nrojectins square bays. Cecond, with resard to materials, tliere are three
basic house types, all built upon brownstone bascments- an all brownstone house, a
brick above brownstone house and an all limestone house. Third, there 1s the con-
sideration of architectural style and details and how they are used relative to
the houses of varyin; materials. The basic similarities of these houses are
found in the uniform use of brownstone basements, Romanesque Revival L-shaned stoops,
and neo-Classical sheetmetal cornices with small round bosses evenly spaced
throughout. The houses are all slishtly stepped down, as 1s noticeable at the
cornices, to follow the slope of the street.

The brownstone end houses, Nos. 590 and 648, have Joorwavs nnd windows with
blind arches, at the first floor. The tvianana of the arches "rc anamented with
#nliat~ carving. At the first and second Tloors of 'lo. 643, the two windows 1in
the wall of the bay facing the street are crowned by an unusual drip molding em-
bracine both windows. 1In both houses the sides of the square bays facino the
doorway have windows. The top loor windows at Mo. 648 repeat the round-arched
theme of the first floor, whereas, in contrast, the windows of the intervenine
floors are square-headed.

The principal windows of the intervening houses, 'os. 592-646, are all square-
headed in the floors between the parlor floor and top floor, except €or No. 624,
where there is an arched window above the entrance. Variety is introduced through
the use of round-arched windows and doors at parlor and top floors in no predict-
able pattern. The houses generally have three stories above high basements, but
there are four stories at Nos. 622-623 and at Wos. 642-640.

The materials are used at randor, and the limestone houses stand out quite
voldly against their more sombre-hued neichbors. The brick above brownstone houscs
lend a note of warmth with their orange-colored brick at the upper floors. The
remaining houses, of brownstone, impart a disnified character to the row.

Architecturally, these houses all belong to the Eclectic period, when a wide
range of styles was 1n use. The distinctive styles are cenerally identifiable at
the first two floors, since the character of the upper floors, with their neo-
Classical cornices 1s generally consistent, except in those few cases where arched
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Romanesque Revival windows have been introduced. These styles appear at random
throughout the row. The predominating stylistic influence 1s that of the Italian
Penaissance, which may be seen at Mos. 590, 608, 616, 628 and 632: the next in order
of predominance is the Victorian Gothic at Nos. 596, and 638, followed by the

French Renaissance at Nos. 594, 626,636 n! 64G an! by the “omonesque Revival at Nos.
593, 620 and 640. The remaining houses handsomely corbine eiements from several
different styles.

No. 650-660 is the larpe cornmer townhouse with rear yard, and 1s described
under No. 61 Prospect Park “est.

MARTII STPE (Mos. 565-649)

The corner apartment house, No. 573(565), is described under No. 215 Eighth
Avenue.

Nos. 589-627 were built as a row for Louis Bonert and were designed by
Eisenla and Carlson. The portion of the row nearest the Park, Nos. 605-627, was
begun first, in 1908, and the rest of the row, Mos. 589-603, was begun in 1909.
No. 627155 feet wider than the twenty-foot width which prevails for the rest of the
row but is stylistically a part of it. By contrast with the houses across the
street, this neo-Italian Renaissance row presents a remarkably uniform appearance.
The houses are all three stories high, with full-height bays set to the left of
the doorways above relatively low basements. They are all approached by L-shaped
stoops, with the exception of the end house, Mo. 589, which has a straight stoop
and a square bay brought forward to meet the building line of the apartment house
to the west. The roof cornices, which follow the nrofiles of the bays, are carried
on console brackets, with dentils, and have sheetnmetal friezes of embossed ornament
below then. At the left side of the bays there are brackets, which make the slicht
roofline transition from higher to lower, following the downward slope of the street
away frorm the park.

A subtle variety has been introduced into the western half of the row,
Nos. 589-603- Wo. 539, with a limestone front, has a square bay- llos. 591, 593, 599
and 601 have limestone fronts with curved bays: and Nos. 595-597 and 603 have
brownstone fronts with three-sided bays. The eastern half of the row, Yos.
605-627, 1s impressive in its uniformity, for all the houses arc of limestone with
curved bays. In Hos. 605-625, the only variation occurs in the enframements of the
doorways, where a low-arched pedinent, above the molding of the door frame, is
alternated with an Italian Renaissance entablature carried on pilasters. Handsome
bands of floral ornament appear in the bays between the first and second floor
windows and individual ornamental panels are set below the three windows at first
and third floors. The large house at the east end of the row, 'lo. 627, has a
wider bay with curved corners and is rusticated at the first floor. The doorway
reneats the theme, with rusticated pilasters supporting the only triangular pedi-
ment in the row. The same pattern of ornament is followed 1n lios. 591-603, but
Ylo. 589 has blind arches filled with ornament above the first floor windows and
door.

(Mo. 67% has been omitted from the strcet numbering system.)

Three handsome individually desipned townhouses adjoin the row to the east.
Mo. 631 1s brought forward and provides an effective termination for the long
row to the west. This remarkably handsome French Reaux Arts residence was besun
for Charles Meads in 1509 and was designed by Brooklyn architect J. Garfield
¥ennedy. It has quoins and.a low rusticated basement, and, like the row it adjoins,
is of limestone. At the first floor, three arches separated by Ionic columns
nrovide openings for the front door at the left and for two casement windows. Glass
tronsoms fill the arches set above arched transom bars. Under the windows are low
balustrades. The columns between the windows are crowned by a low entablature.
fron the center of which springs a richly carved corbel block that receives the
amnlitude of a curved central oriel at the second floor. This oriel is crowned bv
o low balustrade set in front of a «lazed logoia, which has two Ionic colurms and
a1 crussetted enfrarcniert. The wide caves, carticl on three bracketrs, display a

-1n8-

@



pPo-iin
SICOND SIRITT - Between Lishth Avenue & Prosmect Park 'est

series o° evenly spaced beam ends. Refreshirg in this design is the use of windows
as a central motif, leaving wide cxpanses of wall on either side and above them.
The projecting west wall has two small arched windows, which face lown the block
overlookine the front yards of the rou to the west. * high vrought iron yard rail-
in~, vith openwork posts, encloses the areaway.

0. 633 1s a handsore nco-!ederal townhouse altered in the 1920s. Sywmetry
prevails in this red brick building, with white 2ccents of stone provided by
horizontal band courses, window sills, keystones and the columns of a central porch.
This norch shelters the entry and 1s surmounted by a wrought iron railing, at
second floor level, where three full-heipght arched windows signalize the parlor
floor. Ahove these, by contrast, are three small double-hung windows, set just
below a brick paran~t. Intered a little above street level, the porch is flanked,
on either side, by a high wrought iron fence enclosing the areaways.

Mo. 635, a four-story residence built in 1908-09, repeats the central window-
scheme of No. 631 but has an individual style, while using conventional ornament.
Acain it is symmetrical the limestone first floor and 1ts cornice form a basically
horizontal accent, which contrasts with the upsweep of the freestanding columns
flanking the central entrance and supporting a wide,shallow bay window above. The
windows above the oriel are carried up in the same material and are also enframed
by brick walls on either side. Three individual windows at the top floor are
crowned by a cornice and a low sheetmetal balustrade at the roof. A blank sidewall
adjoins the spacious yard of the house next door and forms the visual termination
of the blockfront, since the corner house is set well back from Second Street.

Mo. 649 1s the yard side of the mansion described under No. 53 Prospect Park
est.

vy

THIRD STRFET
THIRD STREET Between Seventh & Fighth Avenues

This wide, tree-lined street has a row of ornate limestone houses with
curved bays on the south side, while the north side 1s dominated by high-stooped
brownstones. An unusual feature here is the long sequence of brownstone retain-
ing wrlls surmounted by low wrought iron fences. A long Tudor style row on the
south side and a trio of neco-Federal houses on the north are absorbed into the dom-
inant rows of houses. This combination of styles creates an atmosphere of dignified
diversity.

SOUTH SIPY.  (Nos. 516-562)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, and the three housesa . jeipvineig,
to the wvest of No. 516, are all outside of the Historic District.)

(Nos. 512-514 have been onitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 516-522 consist of four Tudor style houses of Flemish bond brickwork
built 1n 1929 for owner J.'i. Infanger. The architects were Slee § Bryson of
Rrooklyn. The center houses have paired arched doors in deep reveals, accented with
limestone trim, and the windows of the first two floors all have limestone enframe-
rments keyed to the brickwork. Elliptically arched driveway entrances, with white
keystones and impost blocks, are closed with ornamental wrought iron gates and lead
to garages behind. Pointed pables with limestone copings rise in front of a steep
slate roof, with the taller end gables emphasizine the unity of this row.
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The next eleven houses, los. 524-544, are of limestone and generally alternate
in an ABAB pattern. They were designed in the nec-Italian Renaissance style by
Brooklyn architect Axel S. Iledman and were begun in 1909 by the Morgan Construction
Company. All have curved masonry bays running the full three-story height above
low basements, with square-headed windows throushout. The swell of the bays is
echocd in the roof cornices, imparting a gentle rhythm to the group. Type “"A”
has a square headed door flanked by engaped columns or pilasters supporting an
entablature. Type "B" is more ornate, with a blind arch over the door supported
on pilasters and a cartouche in the tympanum. They are all approached by L-shaped
stoops with carved wing-walls and inverted console brackets. The sheetmetal friczes
of the roof cornices, decorated with swags and foliate ornament at alternate houses,
carry out the stylistic thene.

Mos. 546-560. This row of eight elegant three-story limestone residences was
bequn in 1909. Nos. 546-552 werc designed by E. Carlson for owner Henry A. Bade,
and Nos. 554-560 were built by owner-architects Eisenla and Carlson. They are in-
teresting examples of an amalgam of styles, derived principally from Italian
Renaissance forms. The majority of the basements are of brownstone, and all the
doorways are approached by low, L-shaped limestone stoops with carved ornament.
Nos. 546, 550, and 554 have two-story projecting bays. No. S58 has a shallow bay
beginning at the second story, while No. 560 has an oriel at the second story.

The variety in treatment 1is seen principally in the handsome individually designed
doorways and at the roofs. The doorways are square-headed, round or ogee-arched.
Some are very simply handled, while others are enriched with deccrative carved
enframements or engaged columns. Crenelation appears at Nos. 554 and 560; mini-
roofs with tiles, carried on brackets are at Nos. 546 and 350 and simple bracketed
cornices surmount Nos. 548, 552, S56, and 558,

The south rows of houses end with a single, high, angular brownstone, No. 562,
which is approached by a straight stoop. It has a three-sided bay extending full
height. The house is basically classical in character, with some Romanesque
Revival detail.

(The apartment house 2t the corner of Eighth Avenue, to the east of No. 562,
is outside of the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 509-571)

(The corner apartment house and the three houses adjoining it, to the west of
No. 509, arc all outside of the Historic District.)

No. 509 was built in 1892 by owner-builder Julius Anderson and designed by
architact Lewis Anderson, as part of a four-house row, of which MNo. 509 is the
only one within the boundaries of the Historic District. It is basically late
Romanesque Revival, with retardataire ornamental details from the neo-Grec. The
L-shaped stoop rises to a rectangular doorway crowned by a cornice slab carried on
stone brackets. Square-headed windows are set flat in the flush brownstone wall,
which is varied by rough-faced stone band and sill courses. This house is crowned
by a bracketed, neo-Grec wood cornice.

The next group of five three-story brownstone houses, Nos. 511-519, was begun
by Brooklyn owner-architect E.H. Mowbrey in 1889 and displays an interesting
combination of neo-Grec and Queen Anne detail. The shallow rectangular bays, begin-
ning at the second story, are reflected in the profile of the Queen Anne sheetmetal
roof cornices. The bays are carried on foliate brackets. The deeply recessed
doorways and the arched parlor floor windows, with stained glass fanlights, lend
dionity to these houses. Several of the upper floor windows still retain their
borders of small square lights, so typical of the Queen Anne style. An unusual
feature is the tooling at the joints of the basement stonework.

Mos. 521-529 have the same bay scheme at the upper two floors as the houses to
the west. The windows of the first and second stories and the doorways are seg-

mwental-arched, with graceful stained glass transoms above the doors. Massive
L-shaped <toops qwecep np to the deoiways, puarded by extiaordinary stone ariffons.
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The brackets above the parlor floor windows, supporting the bays, are carved with
fantastic and varied heads. A band of neo-Grec ornarent appears beneath the sills
of the third floor windows, and the cornice is detailed with arches supported on
brackets, typical of the Queen Anne style.

Nos 531-539 are similar to the houses to the west. Slightly projecting bays
appear at the upper two stories. There is carved neo-Grec stonework on the bays and
on the stone corbels which support them. The windows of the first and second
stories and the doorways are segmental-arched. The doorways, which retain their
stained glass transoms, are flanked by Romanesque Revival columns, which support
elongated brackets beneath the cornice slabs. The L-shaped stoops are massive with
solid wing-walls and stone newels with tapered tops. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 533. Beginning with this row, low stone walls topped by wrought
ironwork enclose the front yards through No. 539.

Nos. 541-559, begun 1n 1892 by Brooklyn owner-architect William Flanagan,
consists of ten angular neo-classical houses, with three-sided masonry bays running
full height. The basements and L-shaped stoops are of rough-faced brownstone with
Ronanesque Revival carving. The facades are of smooth ashlar with horizontal
noldinas above the windows. The main decorative elements are the stained glass
transoms above the parlor floor windows in the bays, the carved cornices above
the door frames and the boldly profiled roof cornices.

(Mo 561 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

At the eastern end of the strecet, “os. 563-567 comprise a trio of red brick
and stucco duplexes in an-ABA arrangement and may be characterized as neo-Federal
in style. They were begun in 1913 for Brooklyn owner Charles Neergar:d 2nd .ere
designed by the well-known *lanhattan architect, Aymar Embury II. They have arched
doors and windows with leaded fanlights at the stuccoed first floors. The upper
floors are of red brick, with three-sided sheetmetal oriels at the second floors
of the end buildings. Triple windows are the principal features at the third fioors.
A fourth story attic rises above 1 sheetmetal cornice, and o balustraded parapet
crowns the buildings. Low, straight stoops with wrought iron handrailings lead
up to the entrance doors.

No. 569-571, the corner house, is described under Nc. 234 Eighth Avenue.
THIRD STRLET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park 'est

The character of this sphacious trec-lined street, leading up to the Lion Gate
entrance to Prospect Park, 1s unique in the ihistoric District. On both sides of
the street, residential rows with deep front yards are further set back from the
street by exceptionally wide sidewalks. The north side displays an interesting
combination of late 19th century houses, mostly of limestone, in contrast to the
lone 20th century brick row on the scuth side. The street slopes gently downward
from the Park entrance, and the roof cornices are stepped down to accord with it
The houses present generally flush facades to the street, with only minor projections
producing an overall effect of screnity.

SQUTLI SIDE (Nos. 592-634A)

(The corner apartment house, to the west of Mo. 592, 15 outside of the Historic

District.)

’

(Nos. 586-590 have heen omitted from the street nunbering system.)

Nos. 592-596. These three houses were built as one-family dwellings in
contrast to the prevailing four-story duplexes of the rest of this blockfront. The
houses are arranged 1n an ABA pattern, with projecting two-story bays enframing the
aroup. The brickwork is handled masterfully, with Flemish bond at the first floors,
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and, at the upper floors, dark headers which forn an over-all diamond pattern in the
walls. Recessed pointed arches surmount the doors and windows at the first floor,
while the roof gables are derived from the Jacobean.

Nos. 598-634A is a long row of remarkably uniform two-fanily duplexes, built
in 1910 by the Kings and Uestchester Land Company of Brooklyn. It was designed
by the architectural firm of tiann § lacNeille, which accounts for its unity of ap-
pearance, as does the uniform use of light brown brick. Variety is introduced
through the use of ornamental patterns in darker brick, shallow sheetmetal bay
windows, and the treatment of the roofs. Many of the windows are grouped in mul-
tiples of three or four, and are vari~d by small leaded panes in the transoms.
The simple entrances are approached by low concrete steps flanked by brick wing-
walls with limestone caps. Stylistically, this row is a reflection of the best
English work of the period.

Nos. 598-600 and Nos. 608-610 are identical units, which, like Nos. 592-596,
are crisscrossed by diamond patterns of dark brown projecting brick headers. Both
units were begun in 1910. The first floor door and window openings are made
visually uniform by the surmounting row of blind pointed arches inlaid with blue
tile lozenges. Central yellow tile crosses enliven the facades, which are topped
by simple brick parapets.

Nos. 602-606. These brick houses, also begun in 1910, are very simply de-
tailed and have projecting oriels at the third floor level. Their steep red tile
roofs each have two dormer windows.

Nos. 612-634A. This long portion of the row, begun in 1909, is also of pat-
terned brick. It gains individualitv through the introduction of steep mansard
gables, pierced by dormers and crowne” v finials, at Nos. 616/616A, 622/622A,
and 630/630A. Ornamental sheetmetal parapets unify these dwellings, as do the stone
sills at the first floor windows, and the continuous horizontal stone band courses
above the first floors. Rectilinear bay windows appear at the third floors of
many of these houses replacing conventional triple or quadruple windows.

{The corner apartment building on Prospect Park ™est, to the east of No. 6344,
is outside of the Historic District.)

tMRTH SIDF  (Nos. 581-631)

(The corner apartment house, to the west of Mo. 581, is outside of the Historic
District.)

Nos. 581-601. This impressive rov of ecleven neo-ITtalian Renaissance limestone
residences was begun in 1911 for the Prosar Realty Co. and was designed by the
architectural firm of Eisenla § Carlsor, which was active on other streets within
the District. The low brownstone retaining walls with lom urought iron railings
separating the front yards from the street lend unity to this row. The houses
are symmetrically arranged, making an alternating ABAD sequence. Type A", the
more severe of the two designs, has a rectangular doorway flanked by unfluted Ionic
nilasters supportine an entablature, the cornice of which is extended over the ad-
joining triple window. The type 'A houses have asymmetrically placed windows at
the second and third stories and are ciowned by a modillioned sheetmetal cornice.
Type ''B', which is more ornate, features a richly enframed arched doorway, echoed
by three arched windows at the top floor: 2 small oval stained glass window with
four keystones, at the second floor, draws attention to the doorway below. Crown-
inp the type B houses is a short but steen red tile roof-front, carried on brach-
ets- the ornament consists of heraldic emblems and floral arabesques in panels and
at the window enframements.

Nos. 603-607 is an interesting group of three brick dwellings. It is
basically late Romanesque Revival 1in stvle with some neo-Renaissance details. The
Romanesque Revival features are concentrated at the first and third floors and the
neo-Renaissance detail at the second story. Characteristic of the Romanesque Re-
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vival is the varied color scheme all the houses have gray rougih-faced brick at
basement level, and limestone stoops and trim; Nos. 603 and 607 have gray rough-
faced brick banded horizontally through orange brick at the first floor and have
white terra cotta ornament. HNo. 605 has a green copper oriel at the second floor
The deeply revealed arched second story windows of Nos. 603 and 607 are crowned
py an entablature with ornate cornice. Mo. 605 repeats the Romanesque theme

in its arched doorway and also at the top Floor glazed loggia, where slender
columns with broad corbels support the lintei. At this house, a bold copper roof
cornice carried on console brackets complements the richly ornamented copper oriel,
which is topped with a red tile hipped roof at the second floor. All three houses
have stained glass in the transoms of the second story windows, and all have
straight stoops with carved Romanesque detail.

(i'o. 609 has been omitted from the strect numbering system )

No. 611 was begun 1in 1889 and desinned by Horace G. Knapp for Jose ilaseras.
It is a fine Cueen Anne townhouse, with smooth walls at the parlor floor and brick
at the upper stories. Asymmetrical in design, it is replete vith terra cotta
panels, classical heads, arch spandrels and keystones. Especially interesting
are the arched loggia at the second floor and the small central pediment carried
on pilasters in front of the ornamented roof parapet. In keeping with the style,
all the decorative motifs are derived from a Renaissance vocabulary.

(Ne. 613 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

One of the most imposing houses on the block is No. 615, a carefully scaled
neo-Georgian residence of beige Roman brick accented with limestone; it was begun
by Brooklyn owner-architect Peter J. Collins in 1900. A striking feature of ~this
residence is the second floor P:ll~dianwindow, with shell motif in the blind arch.
This window opens upon a stone baicony with balustrade, supported on deep horizon-
tal foliate console brackets. Above the first floor, the ends of the facade are
defined by Ionic pilasters rising two stories from a Greek fret bandcourse tc a
roof cornice studded with lions' heads. An L-shaped stoop leads up to the simple
rectangular doorway, with 2 handsome Federal style inner doorway.

Nos. 617-631. The street terminates at the cast end with a splendid row of
eight neo-Renaissance houses, with L-shaped carved brownstone stoops and iow rus-
ticated basements. It was designed by Axel S. Hedman in an ABCACDAB sequence for
the Prospect Park West Realty Co. and built in 1910. Type "A'' has a rope molding
around the first floor openings and paired three-sided oriels sct 1nto segmental
arches at the second floor. Type "B' has low-arched openings at the first floor
topped by a cornice supporting a shallow three-sided bay at the secend story,
which, in turn, supports the engaged columns flanking the central third-story
window. Nne of the most charminz features of the row appcars here in the arched
Beaux Arts windows and door of the first floor. The type ‘C*' facade has rectangu-
lar doors and windows and a rusticated parlor floor, from which four fluted Cor-
inthian columns rise two stories to a modillioned metal cornice. Type '"DY, the
only one of its kind in the row, is French Renaissance in inspiration. Above the
seqmental-arched doorway is a foliate panel, which 1s carried cver as a bandcourse
separating the two floors of a shallow curved bay. The roof cornice is carried on
console brackets profiled by dent:ils, an unusual featurec.

(The corner apartment house with deep rear lot, to the east of No. 631, is
outside of the llistoric DPistrict.)
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In contrast to the unified facades and straight cornice lines of the park
bloch, the houses on this street are of various materials and display a wide

varicty of features, includaug picturesque roofs, dorrer windows and a fine circular

tower crowned by A tall octagonal roof terminating the eastern end of the north
side. This variety is indicative of turn-of-the-century eforts to humanize the
urban scene.

ST SIPE (flos. 486-504)

(The Tohn Jay I'igh School with its playprount at the east end, adjoining
"lo. 436 to the west, is outside of the Plistoric Dastrict.)

Mo. 486 1s a four-story limestone apartment housc which is neo-Classical in
style. 1t has an Ionic entrance porch surrounted by a low balustrade, full-
height swell-front bays at either side, and a sheetmctal cornice carried on consocle
brackets, with swags decorating the fascia below it.

i'os. 483-492 consist of threce houses designed as a sroun. They were besun
in 1892 “or Thomas L. Leeming and were designed by the noted architectural firm of
lleins § LaFarce, which won the competition for the Cathedral of St. John the Divine
in lanhattan. The design repnresents the renewed interest in our Colonial heritage
which occurred in the 1890s. The buildines are fieorgian in style and have somewhat
more robust detail than wgs to be found in the earlier Queen ‘nne style. Monethe-
less, there are features reminiscent of the Romanesque Revival: the two-story
bays, the use of Roman brick and the horizontal stone band course above the first
floor windows and doors. The Georgian features are the smell Jdormers with Dbroken’
reciments, the larger gabled dormers, featurin~ Palladian windows, a larpe central
Palladia~ window at the second story of “lo. 490, and the arched doorways with fan
lights. Two small oval windows, each with four lkeystones (at top, botton, and
sules), are placed above the arched doorways and lend emphasis to them. The low
basement is of linestone, and the doors are approached by straight stoops 'nith
stone wing-walls. \ ninor note of asymwctry 1s achieved by the bays at the enils,
curved a2t “Mo. 485 ant three-sidel at Mo. 492.

Nos. 494-504 1s a row of six severely neo-Classical towni.ouses which are of
brick with limestone trim  The off-center entrance doors are enfrared by nilasters
suonortine ornamented entablatures, and all are avnroached by straight stoons with
stone winv-wolls. The triple windows o” the second and third floors have comnon
stone ~nfrarmements, with stone spandrel panels between them. The roof cornices
ith dentils are stepped down at each house and are sunmorted on end brachets.
Variety is achieved through the use of rray brick a1t the two center houses and red
brick at the flanking ones.

(The corner apartment house on Lichth Avenue, to the east of “o. 504, 1s out-
side of the i'istoric Distract.)

ADTH CINE (Tos. 465-513)

N1

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, to the west of “lo. 465, is out-

side of the Mistoric District.)

i'os. 465-473 at the west end of the block are threc wide walk-up apartrent
houses of limestone, begun in 1504 for Thomas Corripan and William ', Johnston ant
designed by Rrooklyn architect Thomas Rennett. These four-story houses are of nco
Tlassical desion and have Ionic porches crowned by balustrades. The fascias of the
sheetmetal roof cornices are decorated with swans. ’'fAth their full-heioht suell-
front bays, these houses provide an undulatine rhythm in contrast to the flush

Faced rows to the east.
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PAURT] STREET  Between Seventh 7 FPi~hth Avenues

dos. 475-483 15 a row of five houses which have a sober charscter 1n contrast
to the more picturesque houses in the eastern half of the biock. They were begun
in 1895 by the owner T 11, “lonhray, a Brooklyn mason, and were designed by Brooklyn
architect ''aiter . Coats  They have flush, basically neo-Ttalian Nenaissance
facades, with small-scale moldines enfraning the triple windows of the first and
sccond floors. By contrast, the three third floor windows at each house are Tonad-
orched and set beneath sheetmetal roof cornices with wreaths and swars., The door-
ways are richly enframed at their upper nortions and are apnroached by high stoons
¥1th monolithic pierced stone wing-walls, Tn this row the two end houses, faced
with brownstone. contrast with the center houses, facerld with a lichi-colorel stone.

*0s. 485-493. This ron of five houses, onanecsque Nevival in charactes, 1. of
an unusual desion, so simplified as to represert a hind of proto-‘loders style.

finilarlv desiened houses anpear on the north side o Secont Street betieen “eventh

anrl Fiehth ‘venues The row was berun 1n 1891 by cwner-architect 2. vaon Graff of
frooklyn. These houses are all of an orance-colored Roman brick similar to that
used on manv other houses 1n the District. The facades are pared down to barest
essentials  without applied ornament, and hove brich arches, which are round,
seomental or elliptical and are formed by concentric rows of brich headers. The
steep roofs, with wide dormer windovs, end alternatelv with shallow corhel t=hles
and witr outswept eaves carried on end brackets. The oricinal Spanish tile roo”
survives at 'lo. 485. The tall straivht stoops with masonry wine-nalls have been
replaced by hasement entrances at 'os. 491 and 493,

Yos. 495-505  This row of five houses was hurlt in 1001 for \llar Pros ,
troollyn ownsr-architects. Those houses are also of oranvc-colored brich an? hove
a pattern of nables alternating with broad shed-roofe.l dorrers, a scherme which was
continucd 1n the row adjoining them to the east "ere the esbles, with stepred
Stdes, are truncated and are surmounted by shectnecal reofs crownel by orpamental
“riezes. lhe oricls beneath them have hinped 100Fs and are carried on corbels
The Jetails are enerally Pomanesaue “evival in style, with brownstone lintels,
corbels and transom bars extending the width of Yos. 497 and 501. The hancsome
originat sinele doors, approached by hiah stoops, renain at !'os. 495 and 50%F,

Vos. 595-511 These four basically Rormanesque Mevival houses, which form o
short hut very coherent row, were buirlt in 1892, alsoc for owner-acchitects Allan
"ros., of Rrooklvn They offer an interestins contrast in both desien and materials
to the row to the west and to 'o. 513, the sinple townhiouse with tower, to the eost
“ide dormers alternste with cables, onc of which still displays 1ts oriviral trinle
window, with an arch above the mullions of the centrol window. ic 507 retains 1ts
orioinal tile roof \11 the houses are of qrav-colored brick with 2lternatine
narrow stone bands of <agoth texture and wide binds of ronnh-facod brich slded
brick lends textural interest at the bascrents and it the eables, where 1t 15 1a1d
in cheyron nattern  The first {lonr windews ave square-healed in the houses vith
dormers anl rrched 1n the gabled houses scveral of the »1ndot s retain their orial-
nal sitanal ~1ass transoms. 1he entrance conTs "re lirectiv anproached by lioe-
Stone stoops with solil wine-walls,

Yo. 515, The last bualding in the hlockfront 1s a sineie town houte n¥ d1s-
tinctive fdesien, a type which often terminates rows  Nesnite 1ts imiaviduality,
Mo. 513 was actually buslt in 1592 hy 1l=n Bros., os a nart of th:2 neichborine
Tow to the vest. Alnost the entire fromt of this Rowanesque Revival house 15 ¢
nosed of one large full-heioht tower, censtructod entircly of brick headers. e
entrance norch and a balcony above are tucked back nto the snace hetween the towor
arl a projecting wine-wall at the west side. The main roof sweeps down nast the
tower to sheiter the second fioor balcony amd has 2 deliaohtful lattle serac:renlar
'ormer set at wid-hezsht. The brick walls are of a enfg orange color, with brawn-
Stone tri~ that 1s quite close in color to the brickwork. Iandsonmely carved bands
0of store form lintels for the first and sccond story windovs of the tower and are
carried out over the entrance porcih ant the balcony above it A similar band of
Stone at *h2 top of the tower is corbielled in sach a2 ranaer as to make the tran-
sition fro 1ts cylindrical shanme to the polvronal shape of the biah tover roof.
This roof 1s of tile and 1s canped by a lov finial. This house 15 an excellent
exarmle of the freedom of “omancsque Revival architecture, a striline asymwetrical
compestition on a relatively narrou lot.
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PS-1D
FOURTH STRELT  Between Seventh & Niachth Avenues

(The corner apartment house on Fighth \venue, to the east of ilo. 513, 1s out-
side of the Historic District.)

FOURTI{ STRTET Retween Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park lest

The unique and effective composition of the park block of Fourth Street re-
sults from the careful handling of the rows lining both sides of the street. These
two opposing rows of three-story residences were desirned by the same architect
over a two year period in the early 1900s. They vary subtly in detail but were sub-
ject to a definite set of design controls. These controls and the amenities they
produce include: setting the houses back fifteen feet from the sidewalk and en-
framing the rows by projecting the end houses, thereby making a smooth transition ro
the neighboring building lines; raising the front yards with limestone retaining
walls, thus minimizing the apparent height of the basements- grouping the houses in-
to units of three with regard to yard and cornice levels, thereby producine an ef-
fect of restful serenity, as opposed to those rows where breaks in height occur at
every house. The generally flush facades of limestone, in the north row, are only
interrupted by a few rectangular oriels and two-story bays and by the curved bay
of the end house as an enframing element. The ornament on both sides of the street,
borrowed from Classical, Romanesque and French Renaissance sources, has a generally
consistent character, and the varied shanes of the openings are repeated in such a
manner as to deemphasize the individual house while lending interest to the rows.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 528-598)

(The corner apartment house on Lighth Avenue, just west of No. 528, is outside
of the !listoric District.) -

Mos. 528-534 are, except for a garage at the back, empty lots. The four town-
houses which stood here were demolished by 1939. To date there are no plans for
these sites, which present a challenge to the area and are a potential asset if
properly developed.

Nos. 536-584. (Nos. 542 and 570 are missine from the street numbering Sys-
tem.) This row of twenty-three houses once included the four houses which were de-
molished to the west (Nos. 528-534). They were begun in 1907 by owner-builder
Arthur Singer and were designed by Brooklyn architect Arthur R. Koch. The archi-
tectural design treats the row in groups of three with the design control advantages
mentioned above. The symmetry of the block front revolves about No. 556 which was
the center house when the row consisted of twenty-seven houses. Two characteris-
tics distinguish this long row from the otherwise similar one facing it. Hori-
zontally banded stonework and rustication extend across the first floor fronts of
several of the houses giving them a bolder relief, and, presumably because of its
lengtih, this row was varied through the use of brownstone, as contrasted with
limestone, for the nine central houses of the original twenty-seven.

The fronts share some interesting features with the houses opposite, such as
copper-clad second floor oriels, bay leaf garlanded arches above some of the first
floor windows and doors, and two-story three-sided bays displaying unusual foliate
ornament set vertically above dwarf pilasters at the second floor. A special
feature, to be found only at the south side of the street, is a series of glazed
third floor loggias consisting of three windows separated by Ryzantine columns
at Nos. 548, 556, 564 and 578. Another special feature is the small Palladian
window set in a handsome rusticated wall at the first floor of No. 556, which was
formerly the center of the row. On this side of the street, the survival of
Romanesque Revival features is indicated by the use of brownstone, the triple
window loggias at the third floors and the more general use of stone transonm
bars at the first floor windows.

No. 586 was begun in 1909 for owner Otto Singer, and was designed by Arthur
R. ¥och, also the architect of the long row built two years earlier to the west of
this house. This imposing limestone faced residence harrionizes with the neigh-
boring row, despite 1ts more elaborate ornamentation. A wealth of French Renais-
sance detail at doorway, roof cornice and bay enlivens the facade, while the two-
story bay effectively terminates the row.
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FOURTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue % Prospect Park “est :
The corner apartment house is described under No. 86 Prospect Park “est.

NOPTIE SIDE  (Nos. 539-597)

(The corner apartment house, to the west of No. 539, is outside of the
Historic District.)

Nos. 533-561 is a row of six four-story neo-Georgian apartment houses,
built in a uniform style from plans of 1905 by Brooklyn architect, Thomas Bennett;
Nos. 539-551 were built for H.B. iay and tos. 557-561 were built for Albert C.
Hessel. They are all approached by low stoops and have porches supported on columns,
some of which are crowned by low balustrades. Sheetmetal cornices carried on cons
sole brackets, with friezes ornamented by swags, are the same for all six apart- |
ments. The facades are enlivened and given rhythmical cadence through the use of
full-height swell-front bays, one on each side of the central entrance porch.

These bays are Federal style in origin, although the buildings are basically
Georgian in their detail. Variety is achieved by treating the four end buildings
with quoins 3nd splayed lintels with keystones; the two central buildings have

simple rectangular lintels except at the top floors. Changes in materials, and

brick colors introduced at random, lend further interest to this otherwise uniform
row. Basically, the houses are of brick, with the exception of MNo. 547, which 1s
all of limestone, and the first floor of No. 551, which is also of limestone.

Nos. 565-597. (No. 581 has bcen omitted from the street numbering system.}
This handsome row of sixteen townhouses was begun in 1908 by owner-builder Otto
Sfinger and was designed by Brooklyn architect Arthur R. Koch, who designed the sim-
ilar row on the opposite side of the street. Like those houses on the south side,
this row also enjoyed the design controls outlined in the introduction. Several
different types of facades are distributed more or less symmetrically about the
center house, No. 583, with the houses to the cast having the front doors on the
left side and those to the west having them on the right. Variations in the de-
sign of the roof cornices lend interest to the row, as do the two-story bays,
oriels and round arches of some of the doors and windows at the first floors,
similar te those across the street. The glazed loggia theme recurs at the second
floors of Mos. 573 and 591, but 1s executed here in the nco-Classical style, with
colunns between the windows displaying Composite capitals. The basement walls
are of rough-faced masonry 1like those across the street, some of them have smooth-
faced flat arches, with splayed stones stepped up at their tops to neet the high
foliate keystones at the center, some of which are crowned by fanciful masques. At
both ends of the row, the last two houses are projected forward, with diagonal
walls, to make the transition to the building lines of the adjoining apartment
houses. This design makes possible deep yards in front of the row of houses. The
end houase to the west, No. 565, is exceptionally narrow (14'-0" wide), but, with
its round-arched door and window at the first floor, makes an effective terminal
feature despite its small size.

an A

(The corner apartment house, east of No. 597, is outside of the Historic
District.)
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FIFTI STRELT

FIFTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park "est

llere the street presents a remarkably uniform quality, despite minor vari-
ations of detail. The north side reflects the enthusiasm for all-white neo-
Classical buildings that was inspired by the Chicago Fair of 1893. The south side
of the street is made up of two rows, with neo-Georgian apartment houses to the
west and Romanesque Revival houses to the east. They display an interesting

range of colors and materials. The two easternmost houses in the rows, on opposite
sides of the street, form a visual link with their similar tower-like bays and pro-

vide effective terminations to the handsome rows.

SNUTII SIDE (Nos. 550-612)

No. 550. This is the long side of the corner apartment house, which is de-
scribed under No. 501 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 564-580 is a row of nine four-family apartments designed to resemble
individually owned town houses. It was built in 1910 for owners Hathan and Leon
N. Levy and was designed by William Debus. The houses are treated in groups of
threes, with the outer two buildings having full-height bays, while the central

building 1s flush-fronted. The style is basically neo-Georgian, with certain ninor

modifications of detail lending interest and cohercnce to the basic scheme, an
ABC, ABC, ABC pattern. All of the houses are brick above limestone basements and
first floors, with low straight stoops approaching the doorways. Type "A" has a
full-height, three-sided bay. There are arched windows 1n the rusticated first
floor; garlanded pediments surmount those of the second floor' and the windows of

the upper stories have keystones. Type "B is flush-faced and has arched pediments

above the doorways and blind-arched windows at the third floor. This is the only
type in the row which has a deeply projecting cornice carried on console brackets.
Type ‘C" has a rusticated first floor and a full-height curved bay with handsomely
enframed and pedimented windows at the second floor. The brickwork is varied from
red at type "C" to buff colored at types ‘A" and "B’ .

No. 582 (No. 582-534) is a four-story apartment house standing on the site of

a two-story brick stzble, which belonged to the Litchfield estate and was demolished
in 1904. The building has limestone quoins and a limestone rusticated first floor,

with brick above. A swell-front bay extends full-height.

Nos. 586-608. This row of twelve three-story Romanesque Revival townhouses
was begun in 1892 for John A. Bliss and was designed by Drooklyn architect Magnus
Dahlander, who also worked in the Stuyvesant Heights area. The design pattern is
quite subtle. Full-height curved bays flank the two central flush-fronted houses
and also terminate the ends of the row. All the intermediate houses are flush-
fronted. This establishes a symmetry, within which the fenestration and details
are varied at random, with each house having its own clearly defined cornice of
individual design. Nos. 526, 594 and 600, with curved full-height bays, are quite
similar to each other 1n design, as are Nos. 588 and 592, with their flush fronts
and regular fenestration. ilos. 590 and 604 are notable for their two very large
arched windows at the top floors, while Nos. 602 and 606 are the antithesis in

design, with four hagh, narrow windows at their top floors and arches at the first.
Horizontal bandcourses, rough-faced stone basements, stone transom bars, and arched

and corbelled windows are among the many Romanesque Revival characteristics of
this row. The masonry includes combinations of rough-faced limestone, brownstone
and Roman brick. Of particular interest 1s the convex rustication used at the
parlor floors of Hos. 588 ard 592, splayed in form at the segmental arches above
the parlor floor windows. No. 608, the end house, although built with the row,
is a variant in design from the other townhouses. At the east wall there is a
handsome shallow bay window crowned by a conical roof. A small garage is located
on the lot adjoining the stoop to the east.

No. 612, the corner house, is described under No. 94 Prospect Park lest. It
has a large open yard behind it, adjoining No. 608.
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FIFTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park "est

NORTH SIDF (Nos. 557-607)

(The corner property, to the west of No. 557, is outside of the Historic
District; it was the site of a six-story elevator apartment house, which was recent-
ly razed.)

Nos. 557-579. This row of twelve interesting townhouses was built in 1903-04
by owner-tuilder Lane § Yeandle and was designed by “anhattan architect Woodruff
Luning. The houses were all designed with tile roofs, some of which have been
replaced by other roofing materials, and high rusticated basements. There is a
wide range of design in this row. Nos. 567, 569 and 579 are quite different from
the rest of the row. These three have Enplish basements, entered at street level,
in contrast to most of the other houses, which have stoops. At Nos. 567, 569
and 579, an arched doorway is emphasized by rusticated stonework and forms a visual
part of the wide three-sided bay which extends upward to provide a balustraded
deck for the fourth story. The bay windows with stone mullions at each floor are
reminiscent of Tudor architecture. The fourth story has a triple window behind the
balustrade placed on the bay. These houses are crowned by low parapets in lieu
of cornices. Flanking the pair of central houses, Nos. 567 and 569, are two neo-
Classical houses, Nos. 565 and 571. They are flush-fronted, with the exception of
centrally placed curve-sided oriels. This house type appears again next to the end
houses, at Nos. 577 and 559, of which No. 559 gaves the best idea of their original
appearance. Set between these neo-Classical houses are two pairs of handsome
brownstones: Nos. 561 and 563, 573 and 575. ™ith their high L-shaped stoops and
bracketed cornices, they seem to belong to an earlier period than this turn-of-the-
century row. However, ‘broken'' pediments above the doorways, and classical swags
under the second floor windows provide the clue to their actual dates. They have
full-height, three-sided bays, reflected at the cornice line. The house at the
western end of the row, No. 557, has a rectangular projecting bay interlocked with
an arched entrance porch. llandsome triple windows in the front of the bay lend
dignity to this neo-Classical house.

Nos. 581-607 is a scverely neo-Classical row of fourteen three-story townhouses
built in 1907-08 by owner-builder Eli Sishop of 20 Halsey Street and designed by
Axel Hedman, a Brooklyn architect who also did work in the Stuyvesant Heights
area. An undulating classical cornice with swags is the reflection of the full-
height bays which appear at every house. 1lalf of the bays are three-sided, the
other half curved, as at Nos. 583, 509, 593, 595, 599, 605 and 607, in a more or
less symmetrical arrangement. A rusticated first floor extends the length of this
limestone row, and all the houses are approached by straight flights of steps
leading 1nto small front terraces, which extend the width of the houses. These
terraces are all surrounded by low walls and are a most inviting feature. The
houses are stepped down at the cornice-line in pairs, and this system of levels
is alsu carried out at the terraces. Ornament has been used sparingly' it is most
to be noted above the first floor door and window heads and in small nanels at the
front face of the three-sided bays, between the second and third floor windows.
The end house, No. 607, has a conical roof surmounting the bay. This tower-like
element provides a visual termination for the row.

No. 607A, on the corner, is one of a row of apartment houses and is described
under Mo. 92 Prospect Park West.
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The general uniformity of this pleasant residential street, with its one-
family dwellings and small apartrent houses, is given interest by round and three-
sided bays and by many high L-shaped stoops. The overall effect is one of bright-
ness, due to the general use of limestone and light-colored brick. The classicism
of these limestone houses is indicative of the influence exerted by the "Sreat
‘hite Tity' , the Chicago Exposition of 1893.

SAUTH “TNE  (Nos. 590-638)

{The lots occupied by St. Saviour's (R.C.)} Church, which is located on the
corner of [Cighth Avenue, and by the adjoining <t. Saviour's School, west of No.
590, are outside of the liistoric District.)

Hos. 590-593. These four-story eight family anartment houses were built in
1904-05 for J. Eupene Ryerson they were designed by Rooklyn architect Thoras
Rennett. The original plans for “o. 598 called for gas lighting--surprising at
this late date. Converted to a convent for St. Saviour's in 1928, %lo. 590 nov re-
veals the pleasant rhythm of 1ts swell-front bays. The norches at the centers of
these buildings have Ionic columns and are surmounted by wrought iron railings.
"heetmetal roof cornices, with console brackets and swags in the friezes, continuc
the neo-Classical theme. %o. 598, on a narrower lot, has a different plan. Small
paired uindows are placed above the doorway at each of the upper floors.

Nos. 600-608 are five neo-Classical three-story residences which were built
for the Prospect Park West Realty Company from 1909 designs by Brooklyn architect
Axel P'edman. The verticality of the full-height curved bays at llos. 600, 602 and
606 1s accented by two-story grooved nilasters- Mos. 604 and 608 have only two-
story bays. Mo. 600, the end house, has a bollly projected bay, which is flush
with the line of the 2partment house to the west. It curves in to meet the line of
the row, which 1s set back to provide front yards. These houses are unified by
a continuous classical cornice, supported on console brackets, and by their brown-
stone basements and l.-shaped stoops. The carved ornarent of the limestone walls
varies from house to house. Of particular note are the bas-relief panels over the

doors and central parlor floor windows and the scallop-shell motif over the entrance

of tlo. 600.

Mos. 610-620 (Mo. 612 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This group of five three-story neco-Classical houses was built at the turn of the
century. They are of limestone, with alternating rounded and three-sided full-
height hays. The deep cornices are striking and make a bold profile asainst the
sky as they follow the lines of the bays. There are carved classical panels sct
in wide bandcourses above the doors and windows of the first floors.

Mos. 624 and 626 (Mos. 622 and 628 have been omitted from the street numbering
system). These houses were built in 1898-99 for Charles G. Peterson. They have
two-story curved bays and basically stem from the "Tonanesque Revival tradition.
'owever, they display an array of neo-Renaissance details in the stone trim set in
light-colored brickwork at the first floor doors and windows, in the Lalusters
above the bay at No. 626, and in the sheetmetal cornices supported on console
brackets. The basements and the wing-walls of the L-shaped stoops are rusticated.

Mo. 630-633 is the large corner house described under ‘lo. 108 Prospect Park
Mest.

P'ORTH SIDE  (los. 543-627)

1'o. 543, the corner apartment house, is described under No. 519 Eighth Avenue.
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SIXTD STRLET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park “est.

Nos. 567 and 573 are two substantial apartment houses built in 1911 fer
Nathan Levy and desiegned by Brooklyn architect .Tacob Debus. The limestoae trim and
red brick used here form a yleasinp combination of materials. loteworthy fe-rures
at these two buildings are the lamc,scrolled, iron brackets supporting the cor-
nices and the decorative iron railings on the fire escapes. Triple windows are
set on either side of the central entrances at the limestone first floors. Similar
windows are tied together vertically by a common limestone enframement at the secul!!
and third floors.

Nos. 575-575A to 583-533A were built in 1910-1911 for two-family occupancy.
This group of five duplexes was buirlt for Nathan and Leo Levy and designed by
architect William Debus, except for Hos. 583-583A, which were built for Cyrus
heims and were designed by Brooklyn avchitect !%,L. Reiser. The row is given
definition by the two end houses. with classical pilasters at the f{irst fiocr
and quoins at the sccond floor. ./t each of the five 'luplexes, separate strect
entrances have been provided at either side, to serve five two family units,
the stoops are low and approach the entrances dircctly. Though severely simnle
in style, these houscs show evidence of the Georeian tradition in the quoins, the
brickwork, and the splayed flat arches above some of the windows. It is alsc ap-
parent in the doruer windows at MMos., 577 and 501.

Mo. 585 1s an eight-family brick apartment house dataing from 1914. It was
built for Isaac Seid and was desiqned by €., “fallman & Son of Brooklyn. ™"ith 1its
Spanish tile rooflet and stone insets in the nparanet, it typifies nuch of the ncw
domestic architecture of the turn of the century.

Nos. 587-593. These four houses were built in 1895-9¢ by owner-builder
Auqustus !urd- two brownstones alternate with two limestone houses. They have
high rusticated basements and L-shaped stoops of brownstone, which, with their
rough-faced stone wins-walls, are derived from the Romanesque Revival style. The
severe full-height, three-sided bays, and the swags in the friezes of the dentiled
sheectmetal roof cornices, are the neo-Classical elements of these transitional
houses.

Mos. 595-609, This row of eight houses, beoun in 1900, was built by owner-
builder John A. Iliss from designs of architect A.E. "hite the houses are late
Romanesque Revival in style. They have alternatine curved and three-sided two-
story bays, and the limestone trim offers a subtle contrast to the yellow brick,
siving the row a mellow effect. The houses with three-sided bavs have stone tran-
som bars at the first floor windows and splayed rock-faced flat arches at those on
the second floors: small elaborately enframed windows are placed above the doorways.
There are arched windows with stone transom bars at the ton floors of alternating
houses, and the roof cornices are varied in an alternatins pattern. The entrance-
ways have columns at each side supportine vertically nlaced console brackets,
which, in turn, support the entablatures -- an unusual feature.

No. 627, the corner house, repeatine the basic design of the one opposite it
on the south side, has a swell-front bay at the back end of a wing which is one
story lower than the rest of the house and faces the rear yard. These houses
produce a handsome gateway effect as one enters the street frorm the mark. This
house is described under No. 107 Prospect Park llest.
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SEVENTH STREET Between Lighth Avenue £ Prospect Park West

The park block of Seventh S5treet contains variously designed houses, which
create a successful ensemble. The south side is remarkable for its groups of hand-
some Flemish Renaissance houses, with striking color variations and picturesque
gables, which create bold profiles against the sky. The north side of the street,
while less flamboyant, is nevertheless interesting. It has rows of sedate brown-
stones with bays, which contrast with a flush-faced row having considerable variety
in its fenestration and detail.

SWTH SIDE (Nos. 550-610)

(St. Saviour's (R.C.) School at the corner of Eiphth Avenue, west of No.
550, is outside of the Historic District.)

Mos. 550-570 is a group of six eight-family neo-Georgian apartment houses.
No. 550 was built for Jacob Friedman and Nos. 554 and 558 for the H.B. 1lill Con-
tracting Co. These three were designed by Brooklyn architect Frank S. Lowe and
begun in 1905. MNos. 562, 566 and 570 were built at about the same time and were
undoubtedly designed by the sane srchitect. All the buildinss are four stories
high and are of brick, above rusticated limestone first floors. They are directly
approached by low stoops set between wing-walls. Full-height swell-front bays
produce an undulating rhythm at the cornice line.

No. 574 is ‘"The Brunswick' , an apartment house which was built at the turn
of the century. It is neo-Renaissance in style, executed in cream-colored brick
with stone trim. A stylish iron marquee shelters the central entranceway at
street level and a two-sided bay, beginning at the second floor, rests on a broad
corbel of carved stone. The limestone enframements of the second story windows
have traditional classical ‘ears’ and are surmounted by arched pediments. The
copper roof cornice is quite deep and has an exquisite patina.

Mos. 576-598 is an interesting row of twelve three-story townhouses arranged
in groups. This row was begun in 1903 for "illiam B. Greenman and designed by the
Manhattan architectural firm of Chappell § Bosworth, agents for architect R. Clarecnce
Rupp. The end houses, two at the west and three at the east, have a sober dignity

that contrasts well with the two elaborately designed central groups of gabled houses,

which, in turn, flank a very simple single house. All the houses in the row are ap-
proached directly, except Nos. 594 and 598, which have L-shaped stoops. Nos. 576
and 578, the flat-roofed houses at the vest end, have arched doors; No. 578 has

an arched window and doorway at the first floor, with square-headed windows above.
Ng. 576 has a full-height, three-sided bay alongside of an arched doorway, while

No. 578 is flush-fronted.  both are rusticated full-height, with brick above lime-
stone. They share a8 simple classical cornice. The two groups of rabled houses,
Nos. 580-584 to the west and MNos. 588-592 to the east, are identical in their

basic elevations, with variations only in the detailing. In these groups of three,
the outer houses have three-sided bays, with parapets at the third floor levels.

The center house of each group has a handsome central oriel at the second floor.
Their style 1s proclaimed by the elaborate Flemish Renaissance gables, which

crown the fronts of the three houses. A strong pattern of horizontal stone band-
courses sets off the Roman brick to advantage. No. 586, the center house set be-
tween these two Flemish groups, makes a strong contrast, with its flat roof and
straightforward neo-Georgian detail. Of the three houses at the eastern end of this
row, Nos. 594 and 598 have three-sided stone bays with broad front faces. These
bays are further emphasized by the pediments which crown them. The central house,
to. 596, has a high stepped gable behind a two-story oriel, topmost section of
which frames a handsome classical scallop shell.

{Mo. 600 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

No. 602 is a deep narrow lot, and No. 610 is the corner apartment house with
rear yard, which is described under No. 118 Prospect Park "est.
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NORTH SIDE  (Nos. 553-627)

(The corner lot at Eighth Avenue, containing a house with garage, to the west
cf No. 553, is outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 553-581. This long row of fifteen flush-fronted townhouses incorporates
designs popular at the turn of the century. It is particularly noteworthy as an
example of how architects, using a few house types and a variety of materials, lent
interest to the cityscape. There are basically four different hcuse designs,
vhich appear at first glance to be intermingled quite at random. Upon closer
insrection, 2 completely symmetrical central core may be discerned, centering
around a pair of houses, Mos. 563 and 565, and extending out at either side to
Mo. 557 on the west and No. 571 on the east. "utside of this core, except in the
case of the two easternmost houses, which are completely different, some of the
four basic house types appear quite at random. Although the basic house designs
are quite distinct, the architect has varied the materials used for them, lending
further interest; limestone and light and dark colored brick have been used for
contrast. The houses are approached by high, straight stoops with limestone
wing-walls, some of which are surmounted by iron handrailings. All of these houses
have limestone basements.

Nos. 563 and 565, the two houses which form the center of the symmetrical
core, have square-headed windows and, at the second floor, twc small three-sided
bay windows set in conventional window openings on corbeled sills. The roofs
display gambrel roof lines with wide hin-roofed dormers, each of which has two
windows. Mo. 565 retains its handsome oriqinal tile roof. On either side of these,
appears a house type which has a strikingly large plate glass, arched window set
next to an arched doorway at the first floor. These Romanesque Revival arches are
ribbed and rest on carved impost blocks. At the second and third floors, triple
windows are crowned by rooflets; the upper one is carried on beam-end outlookers.
Flanking these, in turn, are houses of a severely rectilinear scheme, of brick
above limestone first floors. At No. 559, paired windows are placed next to a door-
way framed by pilasters and an entablature. The centrally located upper floor
windows of Nos. 559 and 569 are triple and share a common limestone enframement;
they have limestone panels between them. 0Nverhanging roof cornices, with long
panels beneath, are carried on end brackets. The two outermost houses of the sym-
metrical inner core, Nos. 557 and S71, are neo-Renaissance in style and have
double windows set under elliptical arches beside arched doorways. These windows
anl doorways ave set in rusticated limestone walls up to impost block level and
have handsome stone voussoirs with keystones forming the arches, interlocked with
the brickwork above them. The windows of the upper floors are enframed by lime-
stone moldings, and the bouses are crowned by dentilled roof cornices carried on
end b.ackets. The two easternnost houses, iios. 579 and 581, which differ in design
from all the others, are very sinilar to each other at the upper floors: they have
three-sided bays carried on corbels at the second floors and triple windows at the
third. Their end-bracketed roof cornices are also quite similar. It is at the first
floors that they differ. wmo. 579 is especially handsome, with a richly ornamented
neo-Renaissance mask set in thetynpanun of the broad window arch. This arch 1s
enframed by evenly spaced blocks set in a molding. The same enframement appears
at the arched doorway, which also has an ornate tympanum. The adjoining house,.
to. 581, has a double window, with small arched pediment centered above the lintel.
The window 1s set to the left of a very ornately enframed doorway. The houses to
the west of the inner core belong tc the basic house types described above but are
placed at random.

Nos. 583-603 is a long row of neo-Grec brownstone houses, with three-sided
bays, built in 1888-89 for owner-architect Charles G. Peterson. The houses are
all approached by high, straight stoops with wrousht iron hand-rail:ngs and slender
cast iron newel posts. In their ornamental roof cornices and door enframements,
they show the influence of the neo-Grec style, even though they belong to a later
period. A compared with their neighbors to the west, they have the appearance .
of dignified disapproving ancestors. Nos. 583-593%, with full-height bays, are two
and one-half stories high. At Nos. 589-593 there are fenestrated attics, where the

¢
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windows are set in the fascia boards bgneath the roof cornices. The engaged columns
at the doorways support lintels with cornices. Above these, the panels beneath the
second-floor windows form a visual continuity with the wide band courses above the
parlor floor windows. HNos. 595-599 are quite similar but are three stories high,
with three-sided bays which extend up to the third stories, at which level they are
crowned with low cast iron crestings.

Nos. 605 and 607 were also built for owner-architect Charles G. Peterson,
but in 1893. In their combination of gray-colored Roman brick and limestone,
smooth and rough-faced, these houses herald the architectural character which the
street was to assume at the turn of the century. The materials, the arched windows,
the stone transom bars and the detail make these bold houses unmistakably Romanesque
Revival in style.

No. 627 is a four-story corner house, described under No. 117 Prospect Park
"lest.

EIGHTil STREET
EIGHTH STREET Between [ighth Avenue § Prospect Park Yest

This street has an airy open character due to the low houses on the south
side. These row houses are, in their details, expressions of the wave of classi-
cism and interest in the Renaissance which swept the country after the Chicago
"orld's Fair of 1893. They are modest versions of this style, designed to fit
the needs of the aspiring middle-class owner. Uith only one exception, the houses
on the south side are of limestone. The north side, by contrast, presents and al-
most solid wall of four-story apartment houses. Their materials consist of light-
colored shades of brick, with limestone trim, which harmonizes with the houses
across the street. Their height is visually minimized by the concentraticn of '
architectural elements and details at pround floor level, whilc their full-height
bays create a wavy undulation at the skyline. Strancely out of place are a pair
of low brick houses of the nineteen twenties, which are lacking i1n urban elegance
and give the blockfront a toothless character. One dark, handsome, brownstcne
apartment house stands proudly among its neighbors. One feels it might have be-
longed on BRoston's Commonwealth Avenue.

SHWTH SINE  (Nos. 502-564)

(The corner apartment house, on Lighth Avenue, west of No. 502, 1s outside
of the [listoric District.)

Nos. 502-524. This row of twelve identical neo-Italian Renaissance houses
was built in 1908-09 for Louis Levy and was designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas
Bennett. It is only two stories high, with full-height curved bays. The smooth
limestone 1s enriched by fluted pilasters between the square-headed windows of the
bays, by the doorways with their enpaged columns supporting ornate entablatures,
and by the carved panels beneath the windows in the bays. High L-shaped stoops
arproach the handsome doorways with wrought iron grilles in the doors. The
houses are crowned by individual sheetmetal roof cornices, which have console
brackets, and a frieze with swags.

built in 1994-05 for Alexander Lyons and Charles Block and was desianed by

Mo. 526 is a two-story red brick townhouse with a three-sided bay. It was .
architect Simeon Eisendrath. It is unique in this row. The linestone quoins give \
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the facade a banded appearance. The richly enframed bull's-eye window over the
doorway, the pedimented window above it, the sidelights and transom at the door
and the elegant urought iron railinps at the stoop and yard produce a cosy neo-
Georgian character, which contrasts with the formal limestone rows on either side
of the house.

Mos. 528-550. This row of twelve two-story townhouses was built in 1902
for William H. Reynolds and was designed by Rrooklyn architect Benjamin Driesler.
Full-height curved bays alternate with three-sided ones, a device which lends
variety and creates a certain rather attractive agitation at the skyline. There
is a pronounced cleavage in this blockfront where No. 526, the darker-colored nec-
Georgian house, separates the two long rows of houses, and it is interesting to
note the subtle differences in these two rows. This row, although neo-Classical
in style, retains in an occasional arched doorway or arched window at the second
floor, a vestigial reminder of the earlier Romanesgue Revival style, an interesting
fact when we consider that it is only three years older than the Renaissance
Tow to the west. ONtherwise it is quite similar to that row, with its ornate
cornices and carved panels beneath the windows. An exception is No. 540, which dis-
plays neo-French Renaissance ogival arches at the parlor floor windows. The end
house, No. 550, exhibits a terminal feature found in many other rows in the Park
Slope area' a square bay carried forward to meet the line of the corner apartment
house.

Nos. 552-564 is a large six story corner apartment house described under Mo.
131 Prospect Park ''est.

NORTH SIDE  (Nos. 511-583) -

(The corner apartment house, on Eighth Avenue, just west of No. 511, is
outside of the Historic Dastrict.)

Mos. 511-537. These eight apartment houses, which were designed for eight-
family occupancy, were begun in 1904 for John 'ilson and were designed by Brooklyn
architect Henry Pohlman. They are four stories high and have full-height swell-
fronts on either side of the entranceways. They have ¥lemish bond buff-colored
brickwork trimmed with limestone above smooth limestone first floors, and their
detail accords well with that of the houses across the street. Basically neo- ;
feorgian in style, they have splayed window lintels with keystones and typical:
modillioned cornices at the second floors. The arched windows with keystones at
the top floors, and the curved cornices above the swcll-fronts give the buildings an
undulating rhythm. Straight low stoops approach the doorways, which are enframed
by pilasters supporting carved entablatures.

No. 541 is an impressive and dignified brownstone apartment house begun in
1905 for J.B. iloecker and also designed by Brooklyn architect llenry Pohlman. It is
also four stories high with swell-fronts on either side of the entranceway, but
it is quite different in character from the row to the west. Here, the first floor
is rusticated and the central second floor windows of the swell-fronts display
handsome triangular pediments with carved tympana. The central windows above these
have arched pediments with carving, and the top floor has arched windows with carved
keystones. The wide central doorway is flanked by Ionic columns supporting a
simple entablature, which, in turn, supports a series of small richly-enframed
stair windows at the floors above it. These windows are set at different levels
from those at the sides. All of these elements give the building an air of elegance
and a sense of verticality, enhanced by a raised section of cornice above the cen-
tral entrance.

Nos. 545 and 547 are two small brick houses linked across a central access-
way by an arch, with wrought iron gates, leadinec to garages. They were built in
1922 for Adele Hoecker and were designed by the !!anhattan architectural firm of
Scott § Prescott. They have Flemish bond brick walls, one-story bays, and low
stoops with stepped brick wing-walls. The second floors have triple windows with
rooflets above them.
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Mos. 553-571 1s a row of Five anartment houses remarkably similar to the row
to the west, although somewhat more ornate. They were built in 1909 for George
F. Deim and were desigsned by Drooklyn architect Arthur ioch. All but one have full-
heioht, swell-fronts on either side of the doorways, echoed by the undulating
rhythm at the skyline. These apartment houses are wider than thosw in the row to
the vest, with the excention of Mo. 571, which was built on the narrower end lot.
It has only one suell-front bay, sct to the left of the doorway. All these build-
ines arc constructed of the samc material and are executed in the same neo-feorsian
style. They were built five years later than the row to the west and have square-
headed winlows, instead of round-arched ones, at the top floors. Thev all have
splaved flat arches with keystones, with swars adorning the keystones at the first
floors. The doorways are arched and have carved ornament in the tympana. They
are flanked by tall, fluted colurns, which extend above the arches to meet the
lines of the cornices crownine the rusticated first floors. These cornices are
carried out over the columns and support a finial centered above each column. The
handsome wrought iron and sglass double doors and the door enframements, including
the ornamental tympavra in the arches and the rusticated voussoirs enfraring them,
all show the influence of French Beaux Arts desion, so prevalent at the turn-of-
the-century., e windows of the stairways, above the doorways, do not alisn with
the windows on either side of them and have been vertically enframed in pairs.
The low bottom window, above the doorway, has been enhanced by flanking scrolls,
which, behind the finials above the columns, create a visual ensemble. Flemish
bond brickwork and a handsome modillioned roof cornice, lend further distinction
to this fine row.

No. 373-583 is a large corner apartment house, described under No. 125
Prospect Park 'lest.

NIIITY, STREET
OIMTIY STREET  Retween Eighth Avenue £ Prospect Park Mest

This wide street, the equal in width of the north-south avenues, has a re-
markable quality of openness, not only Jue to its breadth, but also to the low
row houses on either side of 1t. After one passes the line of hich apartment
houses frenting on the Park, a quality of repose and serenity, enhanced by a gentle
undul ‘tion at the cornice line, becomes evident on this almost purely neo-Classical
street. The light color of the limestone and the uniformity of the facades give a
new turn-of-the-century aspect to this sunny street, a comprehensive feeling of
town-planning is becoming evident here, in contrast to the charning picturesqueness
of some of the streets developed in the 1830s and 1890s, in which diversity was
considered the most desirable quality. Another factor contributing to this uni-
formity was the development of longer and longer rows, as it became evident that
greater economy was achieved in building them. Like thosc on Cighth Ctreet, these
neo-Classical rows reflect the influence of the Chicago Fair of 1393. This street
1s unusual 1n having a teruinal feature at the point where it dead ends at the Park.
Centered at the end of the street, in the Park, is a monument to feneral Lafayette
by Daniel Chester French, with architectural enframement by !lenry Bacon. It was
unveiled in 1917,

SNUTII SIDE  (i'os. 526-572)
(The six two-story houses west of No. 526 are outside of the liistoric Dis-

trict.)

Mos. 526-538. This row of seven houses was built in 1894-85 for T. Kilty and
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was designed by architect Georse W. Oelkus. These three-story, brownstone-fronted
houses have a severely rectilinear quality, with their flush fronts, square-
headed windows and doors and horizontal bandcourses under the windows at each floor.
This dienified severity is relieved by the round-arched openings which occur at

the first floors of Nos. 526 and 534 only, and by the bracketed roof cornices with
paneled fascias of all the houses. High stoops, with wrought iron handrailings,
lead directly to the double entrance doors with

transoms. This is the only row in this blockfront which has fiush facades.

Nos. 540-552. These three-story, multi-fanily, brownstone buildinrs give the
appearance of single-family townhouses. They were built in 1896 for Charles Hart
and were designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas F. Carroll. Their high, straight
stoops lead up to glazed double doors. Here, we again find the alternating curved
and three-sided full-height bays that are so prevalent in this area of the Historic
District. The theme of wide horizontal bands between the windows is continued
here, with carved panels set in the width of the band beneath the second-floor ba
windows. The most notable ornament is to be found at the doorways, where engaged
columns support dentiled entablatures. The roof cornices with modillions and the
richly ornamented friezes are surmounted by very low paneled parapets, an unusual
feature. Many of the elegant iron handrailings and newel posts remain at the
stoons,

Nos. 554-572 is a row of ten houses built in 1902 for Philip Jung and de-
signed by Brooklyn architect Thomas L[neelhardt. They are two stories high and
make a break at roofline with the three-story buildings to the west. leo-Classical
in design, they are remarkably similar to the houses across the street, which were
designed by another architect. The pattern of alternately curved and three-sided
bays is interrupted only at the west end, where the bay is two-sided, with its
wide front carried over to meet the line of the row to the west. The windows are
all square-headed, with the exception of a few which are arched, above the doorways.
Most of the arched windows are simply set in the smooth front walls, but those at
Nos. 554 and 568 have delicate drip moldings carried around the outer profile of
the voussoirs, a reminiscence of the Romanesque Revival. Richly ornamented bas-
relief panels are introduced in the wide bandcourse beneath the second-floor win-
dows of some of the houses. The individual roof cornices are supported by widely-
snaced modillions and have ornamental friezes beneath them. Illigh stoops, alter-
natingly straight or L-shaped, have solid masonry wing-walls.

(The corner buildings at Prospect Park lest, just east of No. 572, are out-
side of the Historic District.)

NORTII SIDE  (Mos. 519-577)

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, just west of No. 519, is outsid-
of the Historic District.)

Nos. 519-543. This row of thirteen identical neo-Italian Renaissance houses
was built in 1908-09 for Louis Levy and was designed by Prooklyn architect Thomas
Bennett. These houses are only two stories high, with full-height curved bays.
The smooth limestone is enriched by fluted pilasters between the square-headed
windows of the bays, by the doorways with their engaged columns supporting ornate
entablatures, and by the carved panels beneath the windows in the bays. High L-
shaped stoops approach the doorways, and the houses are crowned by individual sheet-
metal roof cornices, with swags in the frieze and console brackets for support.
fhese houses are practically identical to those back-to-back to them, Nos. 502-524
Eighth Street, which were built by the same owner and designed by the same archi-
tect.

Nos. 545-567. This row of twelve two-story limestone townhouses was built
in 1902-03 for William H. Reynolds and was designed by Brooklyn architect Benjamin
Driesler. Full-height, curved bays alternate with three-sided ones, a device
which lends variety and produces a rather attractive agitation at the skyline.
This row, although neo-Italian Renaissance in style, retains vestigial reminders of
the earlicr Romanesque Revival style in its occasional arched doorways and arched
second floor windows. The houses have ornate cornices and display carved panels
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and bandcourses beneath some of the windows. No. 553 displays neo-French Renais-
sance ogival arches at the parlor floor windows. These houses were built for the
same owner and designed by the same architect as the ones back-to-back with them,
Nos. 528-550 8th Street. Like them, they were begun in 1902, and only minor dif-
ferences in the ornament prevent their being described as identical.

No. 569-577, the four-story corner apartment house, is described under No.
140 Prospect Park lest.

TENTH STREET
TENTH STREET Between Eighith Avenue & Prospect Park West

This almost unaltered residential block presents an interesting variety
and has its own distinctive character, derived from the overall aspect of many
short rows with flush fronts, punctuated only here and there by rows or houses with
two-story bays. High basements and L-shaped stoops characterize many of the houses.
Some extraordinary yard railings on the south side of the street lend interest
as does the wide variety of architectural detail. Certain of these houses retain
their original paving blocks in the sidewalk, adding character to the street.

SNOUTH SIDE (Nos. 642-708) ‘ .
\

(The three residences and the corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, to the
west of No. 642, are all outside of the Historic District.)

No. 642. This distinctive two-story brownstone house, approached by an L-
shaped stoop, was built by owner-builder Thomas Brown in 1895 and was designed by
Manhattan architect Paul F. Higgs. It is a bold statement of the Romanesque Re-
‘vival. With its full-height, three-sided bay, it displays a combination of stone
textures® rough-faced verticals between the windows and smooth-faced horizontals
above and below them. The doorway with its three-light transom has some interest-
ing carved detail, and the three bands of billet molding at the roof cornice are
unusual, but most expressive of the style. The L-shaped stoop of brownstone, with
its smooth-faced perforated wing-walls, displays some handsome foliate ornament.

Mos. 644-652. These five houses were built in 1887-88 by owner-builder
Thomas Brown. Brooklyn architect Charles lerner designed them. Here, varying
design features are evident above the rather uniform first and second floors-
No. 644 has a mansard roof with pedimented dormer windows; No. 646 has always
had a full third story, quite similar to the floors below; No. 648 has a full third
floor with arched windows and a stepped gable, seemingly of later date; Nos. 650-
652 are twins, with dentiled cornices and dent11ed triangular Ped1ments set above the
two right- hand windows, and with low rectangular windows cut in the fascia boards.
The handsome cast iron railings display a wealth of foliate forms set in gothic
arches,’ and this design continues east to No. 672. .

Nos. 654-664 is a row of six brownstone houses, built by owner-builder

"illiam Brown, and designed by Brooklyn architect W. M. Coots in 1887. These two

and one-half story houses are unified in design and are treated in an unusual man-

ner at the top floor level. The rough-faced stonework of the basement and of the ‘
window lintels, contrasting with the smooth walls, is somewhat similar to that of

the houses to the west. The cornice slab over the doorway, with simulated balcony

above it, is supported on high grooved brackets. The unusual feature of this row .
is the most unconventional top half-story, where a mini-balustrade takes the place
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of a cornice, while low attic windows piercing the fascia have striking sunburst
nanels between them. A higher window at the center is crowned by a dentiled
pediment, the ends of which meet the top of the balustrade. The pediment is crowned
by an acroteria motif. A full top story, with stepped parapet, was a later addition
at No. 654.

Nos. 666-672. These four brownstone houses were also designed by Brooklyn
architect W. M. Coots for owner-builder Milliam Brown, but one year later, in 1888.
They differ from his row to the west only in being three stories high and in
having full top stories which are quite similar to the floors below. Their
dignified rectangularity is enhanced principally by the foliate yard railings and by
the bracketed roof cornices which are broken slightly forward on the left side to
signalize the doorways below them. Basement entrances have been provided at Nos.
666 and 670.

Mo. 674, located almost at the center of the blockfront, is a three-story
individual townhouse built in 1894 for John Thatcher and designed for him by the
well-known Manhattan architect "illiam B. Tubby. With its two-story, three-sided
bay, it interrupts and contrasts with the flush-faced fronts of the rows on either
side of it. A rather severe example of neo-French Renaissance architecture, it
represents a great contrast to Tubby's rather picturesque Romanesque Revival work
on Lincoln Place off Lighth Avenue., Limestone extends to the second story window-
sill, and brick is used for the top two floors. The high, narrow windows of the twc-
story bay accent its verticality. The stone transor bars of the parlor floor win-
dows and doorway, the paneled pilasters flanking the main entrance, and the second
floor arched window keyed to the brickwork, are indicative of the style, although
the roof ccrnice with its dentils and console brackets is more nearly classical in
character. A high L-shaped stoop, with stone scrolls at the bottom, further
enhances the individual character of this house.

Mos. 676-682. These four houses, built in 1888, are perfect examples of the
neo-Grec style. They were designed by Brooklyn architect J.D. Reynolds and were
built by owner-builders J. F. Ransom and P. S. Stevens. The heavy stone lintels
with incised ornament over the main doorways, and the similar but smaller ones
over the windows at first and second floors, are designed in pedimental form and
all have the characteristic Greek "ears'. Crowning these two and one-half story
houses are bold cornices with low windows just beneath them between the deep,
paired brackets. No. 676 has had the attic floor raised to create a full third
story. The overall effect of the houses is complemented by their original wrought
iron yard railings, with curvilinear and foliate forms.

Nos. 684-690. These four houses, built before 1890, form an effective group.
The two center houses display high triancular pediments, while the eastern house,
with pedimented dormer, has a subordinate character. The westernmost house, which
has hed a full-height top floor added, was presumably once similar to the eastern-
most creating a symmetrical group. These brownstones are Romanesque Revival in
style, with rough-faced lintels and impost blocks at the first floors. They have
corbel blocks supporting the window sills at the second floors. The original
stained glass transoms over door and window remain at No. 686. High stoops with
wrought iron railings approach the front doors in one straight run, and the hand-
some yard railings repeat the pointed arch pattern found in the western half of
the blockfront.

Nos. 692-696. These three brownstone hcuses are perfect examples of a
transitional style. Neo-Classical in their smooth-faced stonework, they are never-
theless replete with Romanesque Revival carved ornament, done in a restrained manner
and indicative of their date, 1888. They were built for Thomas Brown, the prin-
cipal developer of this street, and were designed by the noted Brooklyn architec-
tural firm of Parfitt Brothers. Three stories high, they form a fine terminal ac-
cent for this blockfront; their three-sided, two-story bays contrast with the
flush-faced rows of houses to the west. The sheetmetal roof cornices, with their
garlands and tassels, are nec-Classical in detail, while the yard railings,
handrailings and newel posts at the stoops continue the pointed arch foliate pattern
of the houses to the west.
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No. 698-708. This large four-story brick apartment house, with towers at
the corners and an entrance on 10th Street, is described under No. 152 Prospect
Park lest.

NORTH SIDE  (Nos. 631-693)

Nos. 631-641. The four low Romanesque Revival townhouses and the high ad-
joining neo-Classical corner house, although different in appearance, were all
begun in 1894 by owner-builder Thomas Brown, the principal developer of this street.
These houses were designed by architect Paul Higgs. MNo. 631-633, the three-story
corner house on Eighth Avenue, has a smooth stone facade with a full-height, three-
sided bay facing Tenth Street; an L-shaped stoop leads up to the front door. The ‘
Eighth Avenue side is of brick and has another full-heinht three-sided bay at the
rear. The heavy roof cornice, carried on console brackets, extends along both of
these sides. The cnly notable ornament is to be found in the carved blocks support-
ing a small horizontal cornice at the head of the parlor floor windows €acing
Tenth Street. The four Romanesque Revival houses adjoining No. 631-633 to the east
are two and one-half stories high. They have arched openings at the first floors
and, in alternate houses, also at the second floors. The low attic floors have
small square windows set in the fascias of the roof cornices. For variety, Nos.

635 and 639 each have a pair of tiny arched windows in the fascia. Handsome
ornamental panels, above dentiled string coursés, separate the attic windows at
Mos. 637 and 641.

Nos. 643-649 is a row of four late Romanesque Revival houses, built in the
early 1890s. They are all approached by L-shaped stoops with solid masonry wing-
walls and have an alternatine ABAB design pattern. The "A houses, Nos. 643 and
647, have square -headed windows at the top €floors' the "B' houses have arched
windows at the top floors and low arches above paired windows to the left of the
€irst floor arched entrances; semi-engaged colonettes fill the wall spaces beneath
the springs of the arches. All the houses have separate but similar cornices,
with small closely spaced corbels. The principal ornament is to be found in panels
under the first floor windows and in the checkerboard bandcourses beneath the windows
of the upper floors.

Mos. 651-661. These six houses were built in 1890 by owner-builder Thomas
Nrown, with Rrooklyn architect '.%. Coots as designer. They use the same cornices
as the houses to the west, and, like them, are late Romanesque Revival in style.
There 1s an underlying symmetry in this row of three-story brownstones, which,
except for detail, follows a basically ABAANA pattern. The "A' houses have square-
headed openings and smooth-faced walls. The ‘B houses have arched parlor floor
windows and also have arched doorways with deep keystones, which supnort corbeled
shelves sexrving as extensions to the sills of the second floor windows. Above
the spring of the first floor arched openings at the 'B™ houses, a systen of
narrow, rough-faced bandcourses alternates with the smooth stonework and lends
considerable texture and interest to these openings. The houses are all avproached
by high L-shaped stoops with low wrourht iron handrailings.

Nos. 663-667. These three brownstone houses were also built by owner-
builder Thomas Brown, but in 1889. Very sirilar to the rows to the east, they are
three stories high and introduce two-story three-sided bays which contrast with the
flush-fronted rows to the west. They are transitional in style, displaying Roman-
esque Revival elements of design, such as checkerboard panels beneath the narlor
“loor windows, rough-faced voussoirs above them and iron crestinas at the tops of
the bays. Classical elements include the pediments over the doorways, which are
linked visually with the fluted corbels at the sills of the windows above them,
and the swags and dentils at the friezes of the roof cornices.

Nos. 669-681. These seven three-story houses are quite similar to Nos.
663-667, with the exception of certain minor details. They were also begun in 1889
and were constructed by owner-builder Thomas Brown, who retained the Manhattan
architectural firm of lliggs § Rooke to design this row. Here, the two-story, three-
sided bays are also crowned by iron crestings, but the doorways have rough-faced
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stone voussoirs with keystones in lieu of low pediments.

No. 683 is an individual three-story brownstone townhouse built by owner-
builder James McLaren in 1896. Like the rows to the west, it has a classical roof
cornice with swags and a two-story, three-sided bay surmounted by iron crestings.
The ornamented horizontal chamfers at the heads of the first and second floor
windows are reminiscent of the rapidly fading Romanesque Revival, but the dentiled
entablature of the doorway, supported on columns, is classical. An interesting
feature above this entablature is the small panel flanked by scrolls, which is
surmounted by a cornice-slab serving as a sill for the window above. An L-shaped
stoop with stone newel posts approaches this handsome dcorway.

No. 685 is a vacant lot.

Nos. 687-693. This row of four three-story houses was built in 1888 by
owner-builders Assip and Buckley and was designed by Brooklyn architect ¥.M. Coots.
All four of these modified Romanesque Revival houses have two-story, three-sided
bays, which terminate in metal cornices that extend across the width of each facade.
Above this level, a picturesque roofline is created by mansard roofs, large double
dormer windows crowned by peaked roofs, and small single dormer windows above the
doorways. The main entrances to these houses are flanked by delicate colonettes
crowned by sepgmental arches above the doorways. The graceful curve of these arches
is repeated above the central parlor floor windows of the bays, where arched drip
moldings create a rhythmic pattern. The original double doors, with small square
nanels in the lower half and stained glass transoms above, are still intact at
three of the houses. !andsome L-shaped stoops, with striking lunettes in the walls
facing the street, lend eharacter to these fine houses.

(The apartment house to the east of No. 693 is outside of the Historic
District.)

ELEVENTH STREET

ELEVE!TH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park lest

The overall appearance of this attractive street is one of small-scaled
residential buildings well balanced on both sides. There is an interesting con-
trast between rows with flush-fronts and rows with bays. The north side displays
a variety of styles, whereas the south side houses, so similar to those on Ninth
Street, are singularly uniform with the exception of the four-story brick apartment
houses at the eastern end of the block. The houses were built to provide dignified
dwellings for persons of moderate means, and the overall effect they produce is
that of an extremely cohesive neighborhood.

SNUTH SIDE (Nos. 584-646)

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, and the five houses to the west
of No. 584, are all outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 584-614. This long tw-story row of fifteen neo-Italian Renaissance
brownstone houses was begun by owner-builder Thomas F. Martin in 1897, with the ex-
cention of the end houses, Nos, 610 and 612-614, which were begun by him in 1898.
The designer has varied the full-height bays from round to three-sided, but they
do not alternate, as was so often the case. Here, three pairs of three-sided
bay houses appear near the center of the row, alternating with single curved-bay
houses. No. 534, has a two-sided bay extended forward to meet the row of five
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houses to the west of it, as was so often done in the Park Slope area. L-shaped
stoops with low wing-walls, arched ot the bottom, lead up to the doorways. Some
have low iron railings on top of the wing-walls, while others do not. The doorways
have ornamented pilasters supporting deep brackets, which carry the cornice slabs
above carved panels. Carved panels appear beneath all the windows in the bays,

and the sheetmetal roof cornices have dentils above their ornamental friezes.

Aside from these ornamental features, the front walls are all of smooth-faced
stonework. The only vestigial remains of the Romanesque Revival style may be

seen in the rough-faced lintels above the windows., MNo. 612-614 has an alleyway,
east of the house, leading to a garage at the back of the property.

Nos. 618 (616-620) and 624 (622-626) are two similar four-story brick apart-
ment houses of yellowish brick. They were built in 1912 for the Kessan Realty
Company and were designed by Brooklyn architect Axel S. Hedman. At the upper floors,
they have central bays, four windows wide, flanked by end bays with single triply-
divided windows. The arched entranceways have fluted pilasters on either side, and
the buildings are crowned by parapets stepped up above the central bays. The re-
moval of what were probably pitched rooflets, in front of the central parapets,
may still be discerned in the smooth stucco covering at No. 624.

(Nos. 628 and 630 have been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos, 632 and 634 are a pair of very similar apartment houses. No. 632 was
built in 1903 for William H. Johnson and designed by Brooklyn architect George
F. Roosen. Although they are only four stories high, full-height curved bays,
flanking the central entrances, give the facades a pronounced sense of verticality
and height. They have stone-faced first floors, rusticated at No. 632, and are
brick above, with horizontal stoné bandcourses above the windows serving as lintels
at No. 634. Their boldly projected cornices supported on console brackets, with
dentils and ornamental friezes below, and the pedimented doorway at No. 632,
are neo-Classical features. The entrances are approached directly by low stoops.

No. 636. Built as a three-story neo-Federal two-family dwelling in 1920 for
Louis A. Rosenstein, this building was designed by Brooklyn architect M.A. Cantor.
At the right of this all-brick building is an entrance doorway with vertical con-
sole brackets supporting a cornice slab. In the center is a paired window, and to
the left is a driveway entrance closed by a wrought iron gate. Above the first
floor, two tiers of shallow three-sided bay windows occupy most of the front;
they are recessed in openings in the wall and are surmounted by panels with
escutcheons draped with swags. These panels break the top line of the brick
parapet. Interesting brickwork panels between the bays and blind arches above
them enliven this facade.

No. 642-646. This is the entrance side of the four-story corner apartment
house, No. 162-163 Prospect Park West. This brick building was erected for
William Murphy in 1903 and was designed by the architectural firm of Pohlmann §
Patrick. It is remarkable in that the brickwork is laid up through all four
floors in a simulated rustication above a rough-faced stone basement. Horizontal
stone bandcourses are carried through at every floor at windowsill level, and
broader bandcourses at the third and fourth floors serve as impost blocks, for
the window lintels at the third floor and for the arches at the top floor. A
modest cornice, carried on closely-spaced console brackets, crowns the building.
The entrance on Eleventh Street has a shallow porch, supported by colummns and
surmounted by a low balustrade with urns at the corners. An angular corner bay
is complemented by very shallow swell-front bays set near the ends of the two fa-
cades. The narrower Prospect Park West facade is similar in all details to the
one on Eleventh Street, except for having a rusticated limestone facing at the first
floor in lieu of brickwork.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 583-653)

(The four-story brick apartment house on the corner, to the west of No. 583,
is outside of the Historic District.)
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(No. 581 has becn omitted from the street numbering systen.)

Nos. 583-591, a row of five two-story Romanesque Revival houses, was built
before 1898. They form an ABABA pattern. The “B" houses have arched doorways, with
the carved arch supported on triple colonettes at each side. To the left of this
doorway, an unusually wide plate glass arched window with keystone provides a
dramatic accent. At the second floor, above the doorway, a small pseudo-balcony,
flanked by scrolls, is set directly beneath a single second-story window. The roof
cornice, typical of all those in the row, is supported on closely-spaced console
brackets, with foliate ornament in the frieze below it. An unusual feature of the
cornice is the end bracket separating each house, as it is carried up well above
the cornice line and capped with a small arched section. The 'A" houses have
square-headed windows. The mullions and jambs of those at the first floor display
carved Jonic scroll motifs at top and bottom. As at the "B' houses, the doorways
have small balconies zhove them; here they rest on heavy lintel blocks, which, in
turn, are supported by narrow end brackets. There is also an interesting frond-
like carving at each end of the rough-faced second-fioor window lintels. High
stoops with rough-faced stone sidewalls are surmounted by low iron railings,
except at No. S587.

Nos. 593-603. Contrasting with the flush-fronted row to the west, this two-
story row, with full-height, shallow, three-sided bays, was erected in 1889. It
was built by owner-builder '/illiam Brown, the developer of some of Tenth Street,
including the houses directly behind these, which were designed for him by Brooklyn
architect Y. M. Coots, alsc the designer of this tow. These six houses, with square-
headed openings, have oripginal details, which do not specifically relate to any one
style: the stilted, rough-faced stone work, which includes the flat arches of first
and second floor windows;' the triangular pediments above the doorways, carried on
shallow brackets; and the unusual bracketed cornice with fan-shaped and diagonal
ornament in its panels. This row again repeats the handsome iron yard railings with
Gothic arch and floral design so conspicuous onthe south side of Tenth Street.

High straight stoops, with wrought iron handrailings, lead up to the doorways of
this interesting row.

Nos. 605-611. These four rectilinear flush-fronted brownstone houses,
reminiscent of the neo-Grec style, were built in 1891 by owner-builder F. 0.
Peterson. The heavy enframements of the windows to the left of the front doors
are two stories in height, giving the suggestion of bays. Straight stoops with
iron handrailings lead up to double doors, which are sheltered by thin cornice
slabs carried on pilasters with brackets. Small incised rosettes and other
carvings appear at the window lintels. l!o. 607 retains its original paneled wocod
doors, glazed at thc top. The delicate roof cornices of these houses are most un-
usual, and although the detail is actually neo-Grec, it lacks the bold quality we
generally associate with that style. The yard railings at these houses have close-
ly spaced fleur de lys finials.

Nos. 613-623. Although these brownstone houses are only two stories high,
like their flush-fronted neighbors to the west, they appear higher, due to the
verticality of their three-sided, full-height bays. (No. 621, with a curved bay, is
the only exception.) They were built in 1892-93 for Charles G. Peterson. Their
bold, dentiled cornices, supported on closely-spaced brackets, and their smooth-
faced stonework are neo-Classical in character. However, as is often the case in
the Park Slope area, the lower portions of the houses display lingering traces of
the Romanesque Revival. Here, these include the rough-faced masonry stoops and
bands of stonework beneath the parlor floor windows. Nos. 621 and 623 have
handsome stained glass transoms above the parlor floor windows.

No. 625. This three-story, Romanesque Revival housc cf li-estone was built in
the late 1890s and was occupied by John D. Datherdato. Except for the fact that it
has an L-shaped stoop, its basement and first two floors are almost exactly similar
to those at No. 621 in the row to the west. The curved bay is only two stories
high, but this house is surmounted by a handsome third floor with arched windows.

It is crowned by a classical roof cornice, which is also remarkably similar to
those in the row to the west.

(No. 627 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)
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Nos. 629-639. This row of six Romanesque Revival houses was begun in 1901
for Thomas C. Van Pelt and was designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. The
houses are set above terraces with L-shaped stoops, and a rhythmical continuity
is achieved by the series of arched openings,separated by pilasters, at the first
floor. A projecting stone transom bar runs continuously through all the arches
and provides a cap for the intermediate pilasters. Rough-faced stone bandcourses
serve as lintels for the second floor windows, giving further unity to the row.
The classical cornice, not unlike those of the houses to the west, persists here.
The first floor is of rough-faced stonework, laid up in narrow bands above the arches
of the windows; the upper floors are of Poman brick.

(No. 641 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

No. 643-653 is a four-story corner apartment house of brick, with an entrance
on Eleventh Street, described under 161 Prospect Park West.

T"ELFTHF STRFET
TWELFTH STREET  Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park 'lest

Like Eleventh Street, this street is almost level between Prospect Park West
and Eighth Avenue, starting its westward slope on the far side of the Avenue. It
is primarily a street of three-and four-story apartment houses, except on the
south side, which has a long row of two-story family residences. ‘any of the
streets in the southern part of Park Slope have apartment houses at the eastern or
Park end of the street. Some of these are quite interesting architecturally,
having a distinctly European character. A good example here is '"'The “aldorf', at
the southwest corner of Prospect Park lWest and Twelfth Street. Since William
Musgrave Calder (1869-1945) was the designer and developer of so many of the
houses on this street, it is interesting to note that he started his career as
a carpenter's apprentice, studying nights at Cooper Union, and that he became
Commissioner of Buildings for the Borough of Brooklyn (1902-03), the New York
State Representative to Congress (1905-15) and U.S. Senator (1917-23). His
father, Alexander G. Calder, developed practically all of the major residential
Tows on Thirteenth Street.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 464-528)

No. 468 (464-472) is a four-story brick apartment house, entered on Twelfth
Street, which is described under No. 1201 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 474-482 are a row of five apartment houses, built in 1899-1900 for
James Jack, and designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. Although they are
only four stories high, their full-height curved bays, flanking the central entrances
vive the appearance of great verticality and height. The facades of Nos. 478-482
are of buff-colored brick, with horizontal stone bandcourses serving as impost
blocks for all the window lintels, while Nos. 474 and 476 are of gray brick. The
boldly projecting, curved roof cornices supported on conscle brackets, with dentils
and ornamental friezes below, echo the curved bays and thus enhance the undulating
rhythm which characterizes these facades. The entrances are all approached by low
stoops with masonry wing-walls. The building at the eastern end of the row, Mo.
482, is considerably narrower than the others and has only one curved bay, which is
located to the right of the entrance. These apartment houses are remarkably
similar to Nos. 632 and 634 on Eleventh Street.
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Nos. 484-514. This long row of sixteen farily residences was built for
James Jack. It was constructed by Brooklyn architect-builder "illiam if. Calder.
Mos. 424-514, nearest the park, were begun in 1898, while Nos. 484-492, to the
west of them, were begun the following year. These small but dignified stone-faced
houses are all two stories high and have three-sided and curved full-height bays,
which are varied in no particular pattern. They are basically neo-Italian
Renaissance in style, distinguished by the stone-carving of the pilasters and en-
tablatures of their entrance doorways and by the ornamental panels under the windows
The parlor floor windows of the bays, a few of which are round-arched, are divided
by pilasters, which represent a wide range of orders, at many of the houses. There
is variety, but no discernable pattern, in the facing materials® brownstone, lime-
stone and greenstone. Reminders of the rapidly fading Romanesque Revival style
are still to be found in the arched second floor windows above the doorways of
some of the houses, as well as in the arched doorways and those converted to
windows at Mos. 496, 500, 506 and 510. Those flanked by slender colonettes, Nos.
436 and 502, and that at No. 494, with stilted top enframement carried on an orna-
mental bandcourse, are also reminders. The roof cornices are non-continuous and
are expressive of the individual houses, with frieze dcsigns of swags at the
three-sided bays and foliate ornament at the curved bays. The 1898 houses are
approached by L-shaped stoops, whereas those built in 1899 have straight stoops.
Rasement entrances have been provided at Nos. 500, 504 and S506.

Nos. 516 and 518 are two brick apartment houses which are quite similar to
Nos. 474-482, at the western end of the street, except that they are three stories
hish and have slightly different doorways. They were berun in 1902 for John Wilson
and were designed by the architectural firm of Pohlman & Partrich.

No. 524 (520-528), "The Yaldorf', is a four-story apartment house with
rusticated limestone first floor and basement. It was built in 1903 for J. Niebel
and was designed by architect-builder M. Pasquale Forte. It is neo-Ttalian
"enaissance in style and has quite a continental flavor. Its handsome entrance
porch with paired columns and its frieze at the roof cornice, interrupted by terra
cotta cartouches, are manifestations of the style. It also bears the numbers
170-171 Prosmect Park West.

HORTH SIDE  (Nos. 467-527)

No. 467-471 is a four-story brick apartment house with corner tower and with
store at ground floor, described under Mo. 1123 Eighth Avenue.

No. 473-477. (No. 475 has been omitted from the street nurmbering system.)
This is a one-story store occupying the former rear yard of No. 1123 Eighth
Avenue.

Nos. 479-485 is a row of four brick apartment houses built by owner-builder
“illiam M. Calder in 1901 and designed for haim by architect Thomas Bennett. These
four-story brick buildings, with full-height curved bays, are quite similar to the
apartment houses on the south side, Nos. 474-482, built for James Jack and also
designed by Bennett. They differ principally in that the stone bandcourses are
aligned with the window lintels and that the top floor windows have stilted seg-
mental arches of rough-faced stone with the impost blocks forming a bandcourse.
The frieze of the roof cornice displays curvilinear ornament.

Nos. 487-491. These three two-family brick apartment houses were built for
E. J. Norris in 1892 and were designed by Brooklyn architect A. V. B. Norris.
Nnly three stories high, they are conspicuously low in this blockfront and are
approached by low stoops. The arched entranceways, with rough-faced stonework
crowned by drip moldings and keystones, are reminiscent of Romanesque Revival
prototypes- the splayed flat arches of the windows, also with keystones, and the
dentiled roof cornices are more nearly derived from Georgian prototypes. The blind

single windows nbove the entrances are unusual but maintain the symmetry of these
facades.
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Nos. 493-501. These five eirht-fanily apartment houses, like Nos. 479-485,
were built in 1901 by owner-builder Willian '1. Calder with Brooklyn architect
Thomas Bennett. They are strikingly similar to them, with the exception that,
here, the windows at the top floor have a simple horizontal stone bandcourse serving
as window lintels. The boldly projecting neo-Classical cornices have been removed
at Nos. 497, 499 and 501, exposing the underlying brickwork, which has been capped
by a thin line of coping.

Nos. 503-505 and 507-509 are two broad-fronted yellowish brick apartment
houses, frur stories high. They are the newest buildings in the blockfront, having
been built in 1915-16 for the Alivon Realty Company, and were designed by Brooklyn
architect W. T, McCarthy. Each building has sixteen apartments. The ground floors,

with their broad arched doorways, limestone bases, and balusters beneath the windows,

have an air of comservatism. They contrast with the merely playful character of the
upper floors, where tiers of triple windows, at each side, are flanked by brick
pilasters and crowned by gables, in a manner generally reminiscent of French
Contemporary work. Since these two buildings sit right up to the front lot line,
they have a very prominent position as seen along the blockfront.

Ros. 511 and 513 are a pair of four-story apartment houses which are
remarkably similar to Nos. 474-482, on the south side, the first of this
type to be built on this street. Omne of them, No. 513, was built in 1900-01 by
the same architect, Thomas Bennett, for a different owner, Thomas Van Pelt;
No. 511 was begun in 1903 for William H. Johnson and was designed by George Roosen
of Brooklyn. It is interesting to note how certain building types, such as this
oue, with its fuli-height pair of curved bays, became so popular with owners and
architects that they did not hesitate to make almost literal copies from the origi-
nals, Here, the only major differences from those originals are in the limestone
first floors and in the details of the doorways. The difference in appearance
between these two buildings is primarily due to the use of light, orange colored
brick at No. 511 and brown brick at No. 513, the introduction of rustication at the
first floor of Mo. 511, and certain minor differences at the window lintels.

Nos. 515-519. These three two-story townhouses are conspicuously the lowest
buildings on this blockfront but corresnond in height to the long row across the
street. Despite the remarkable similarity of these three houses, the two nearest
the Park, Nos. 517 and 519, were built first, in 1898-99, for George F. Cranford.
They were designed, like so many of the apartment houses on this street, by Thomas
Bennett. No. 515 was not built until 1910, for owner James Mason, and was designed
by Brooklyn architect Benjamin F. Hudson. Nos. 517 and 519 have full-height,
three-sided bays; there is a curved bay at No. 515. In spirit they are neo-
Classicz2l, with roof cornices carried on console brackets, and with pedimented
doorways at two of the houses. They are all approached by L-shaped stoops with
masonry wing-walls. The arched windows in the parlor floor bay at No. 517 and the
square-headed doorway with engaged columns at Mo. 519 are design elements seen in
earlier houses built in the District.

No. 521-523 is a four-story brick apartment house, with limestone enframe-
ments at the first floor. It projects further toward the street than Nos. 515-519
and has two full-height, three-sided bays set on either side of a central doorway.
The easternmost bay is further advanced to make the transition to the line of the
corner apartment house, which stands up to the lot line on 12th Street. Imn its
severe rectangularity and in the detail at the cornice, this building is generally
neo-Classical, with the exception of the stilted segmental-arched window lintels
at the top floor.

No. 525-527, a four-story brick apartment house, has an entrance at No. 525
but is also entered at No. 166 Prospect Park "West. It is described under No.
166-169 Prospect Park lest.
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This block is remarkable for its feeling of openness and for its character
as a distinct neighborhood it 1s one of the few streets in the area which is lined
on both sides by low, two-story houses, most of which retain their original
function as one-family residences. All the houses on both sides of the street have
curved or three-sided full-height bays, in varying arrangements, giving them a
rhythmical undulation at the cornice line. With a few exceptions at the ends of the
street, these rows of late 19th century neo-Classical and neo-Renaissance residences
were developed by Alexander G. Calder, father of Brooklyn architect-builder William
Musgrave Calder, who had developed so much of Twelfth Street and ilos. 490-502 on
this street.

SOUTH SIDE  (Nos. 450-512)

These rows of basically neo-Classical houses have many features 1n common
and extend along the entire length of the block. Survivals from the Romanesque
Revival are the bands of rough-faced stonework beneath the parlor floor windows.

By contrast, all the houses have classical cornices, carried on console brackets,
and many have swags in their friezes. All of the houses but Nos. 504-506 have
straight stoops, and all retain their fine original iron handrailings and yard
railings. Three types of stone facing are used 1n these rows, including limestone,
brownstone and redstone; however, except in one of the rows, their use is quite at
random. '

No. 450-458 is the site occupied by the John W. Kimball Scheol (P.S. No. 107).
This three-story, brick building, with playgrounds on both sides and to the east,
is described under No. 1301-1323 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 460 and 462. These brownstones were built as a pair in 1897-98 by owner-
carpenter Alexander G. Calder and were designed by architect William *. Calder.
No. 460 has a full-height, terminal, two-sided bay, typical of the end buildinas
of the rows in the Park Slope area. It is neo-Italian Renaissance in certain of
its details; its mate, No. 462, with full-height, curved bay, is more nearly ueo-
Classical in its simplicity.

Mos. 464-482 form a row of ten houses with smooth wall surfaces and simply
enframed doorways; the houses are very similar to Nos. 460 and 462. They were
built for Alexander G. Calder in 1896 and were designed by his son, Park Slope
architect-builder Villiam M. Calder. The only exceptions to the rather severe
neo-Classicism of this row are the doorways of Nos. 464, 470 and 478, which have
Frencn Renaissance ornament at their upper halves. If house No. 464 were omitted
from this row, an interesting symmetry would appear in an AABAAABAA pattern, in
which the "'A" houses have three-sided bays and the “B" houses have curved bays.
There is also a pattern of symmetry in the facing stone used, whether brownstone,
redstone or limestone.

Nos. 484-488. This little group of three brownstone houses has a three-sided
bay house flanked by curved bay houses. They were begun in 1897 for Alexander G.
Calder, with his son, William M. Calder, as architect-builder. The flanking houses
are basically neo-Classical in style, while the center house, No. 486, echoes the
neo-Italian Renaissance design to be found acress the street at Nos. 461-475.

Nos. 490-502 is a row of seven neo-Classical townhouses with alternating
curved and three-sided bays. They were built in 1896-97 by owner-architect-
builder William M. Calder. Here he has repeated the French Renaissance theme in
the detail of the doorways of the curved bay houses. The house types are in regu-
lar alternation.

Nos. 504 and 506 are a symmetrical pair of houses with full-height, curved
bays: the entrances are paired together. Built in the 1890s, they are neo-Italian
Renaissance in detail. At their arched doorways are bold console bracket keystones
supporting the corbels beneath the windows of the second floor. There are pilasters
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at the parlor floor windows, beneath which are handsome bands of foliate ornamént.

No. 508-512 is the large four-story corner apartment house, which has an'
entrance on Thirteenth Street and is described under Mo. 179 Prospect Park "lest.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 449-511)

All these houses are two stories high, with full-height bays, and are crowned
by uniform cornices with varying details. The stoops are straight or L-shaped and
many have their original handrailings. As on the south side of the street, the
facing materials include brownstone, redstone and limestone. Members of the Calder
family are again prominent as the developers, as they were on the south siae of the
street.

No. 451 (449-"53) is a four-story brick apartment house, entered on 13th
Street. It is described under No. 1215 Eighth Avenue.

Mos. 455-459. These three houses may have been built a few years later than
the rest of the rows on this street, as the easternmost of the three has a bay
which has been swept forward in a curve to meet the two-sided texrminal bay of the
westernmost house of the adjoining row. All the bays are full-height. The curved
one at No. 455 and the three-sided one at No. 457 are both set to the left of the
doorways, leaving the doorways of Nos. 457 and 459 paired. In their overall detail,
these three houses are basically neo-Italian Renaissance, while their rough-faced
stone window arches and ‘L-shaped stoops hark back to Romanesque Revival precedent,

Mos. 461-475. This row of ei~ht neo-Italian Renaissance houses was begun in
June, 1897 for Alexander G. Calder by his son, architect-builder William M. Calder.
No. 461 was treated as a typical Park Slope end-type house with two-sided bay. If
we disregard No. 461 in this row, an interesting symmetry appears with an ABAAABA .
pattern, in which the “A" house has a three-sided bay and the "B" house a curved
bay. The two end houses, Nos. 461 and 475, are of brownstone, and the intervening
houses are of limestone. At the richly enframed doorways of the houses with
thrce-sided bays, are pilasters, supporting entablatures with cornices crownedéby
small arches at their centers. This arch theme is repeated, at even smaller scale,
above the central parlor floor windows of these houses. The curved bay houses;
although simpler, have the door heads carried up to meet carved corbels, which
support the sills of the windows above the doorways. The carved panels beneath the
second floor windows of all these houses are further evidence of the Renaissance
character of the ornmament. On both types of houses, the roof cornices are supported
on console brackets: the friezes of the A" houses have foliate ornament and those
at the ''B" houses have swags, further emphasizing the underlying symmetry of the
TOW, §

Nos. 477-491, Like the adjoining row to the west, this row of eight houses
was begun in March, 1897, for Alexunder Calder by his son, architect-builder Williar
“i. Calder. An alternating pattern of curved and three-sided full-height bays
creates a flowing rhythm at the cornice line, but herc swags appear on the friézes
of the houses with three-sided bays and foliate ornament on those with curved bays.
The Italian Renaissance influence is again evident in the detail of the doorways,
the more elaborate ones appearing at the houses with three-sided bays. Carved§
panels again appear beneath the second floor windows. It is of interest to note
that, although only two months intervened between the time of construction of this
row and the row to the west, a small increase was reflected in the cost per ho@se
in the later ones to the west. kq

Pttt

Hos. 493-503. Different in appearance from the rows to the west, princiy
pally due to deep brackets at the roof cornices, these six houses were built in
1895-96 for K. M. Hallum and were designed by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon.%
All of them have three-sided bays and an alternating use of materials, limestoﬁé
and brownstone, to lend interest. Engaged Corinthian columns of the entranceways
support vertical console brackets, which, in turn, carry the cornice-slabs above .

carved lintels--neo-Italian Renaissance in style. Basement entrances have been
4
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provided at Nos. 493 and 497. There are carvel panels beneath the first floor
windows, and beneath the second floor windows are delicately incised panels, which
are neo-Grec in style. The roof cornices display neo-Classical swags., The rouszh-
faced stone voussoirs of the flat arches above the second floor windows, and the
rough-faced stone basement and stoop walls are surviving elements from the Roman-
esque Revival.

Mo. 505-511 is the four-story corner apartment house, entered from Thirteenth
Street and described under 170 Prospect Park 'est.

FOURTEENTI! STREET
FOURTEFNTH STREET Between Lighth Avenue & Prospect Park “est

Fourteenth Street is the southernmost east-west street in the !listoric Dis-
trict, Like Thirteenth Street it has a neichborhood character due to the long
tows of two-story dwellings facinan each other. It 1s only at the eastern end of
this street that three and four-story multiple dwellings make their appearance, and
these have a character which enhances the blockfronts. It differs from Thirteenth
Street in that all the one-family residences are flush-fronted. This produces a
reposeful, uniform cornice line against the sky. Stylistically, there is consider-
able variation, ranging from the Romanesaue Revival to the neo-Classical and neo-
Renaissance, It is also interesting to note that,in general. this street was bullt
up several years before Twelfth and Thirteenth Streets, a fact which may be attri-
buted to its proximity to the more commercial circle at the southwest corner of
the park, where Prospect Park West and Fifteenth Street intersect, {now Bartel
Pritchard Square).

SOUTH SIDE (MNos. 446-494)

ost of the one-family houses on this side of the street have high, straighc
stoops and retain theirr original metal handrailings and yard ratlings. Brown-
stone, brick and limestone fronts appear quite at random except in the row at
the western end, where the materials are symmetrically arranged, and in the two-
family houses at the eastern end, which have bays and are all of limestone.
Except for the eastern row, the cornices are the same height but have different
ornament in accordance with the varying styles of the rows. :

(The four apartment houses, west of lNo. 446, are cutside of the listoric
District.)

Hos. 446-454 1s a row of five late Romanesque Revival style houses built in
1394-95 for Christopher C. Firth. Although they belong basically to the same
style, each has a distinguishable modifying characteristic: Mo. 446 has a handsome
two-story oriel of sheetmetal, with an intricate design embossed in its panels
and in the pseudo-corbel beneath it- No. 448, although influenced basically by the
Romanesque Revival, displays the influence of the neo-Italian Renaissance in the
enframement of its paired parlor floor windows 1o, 450 also shows Romanesque in-
fluence and has a strikingly broad parlor floor window, with heavy lintel carried
on paired colonettes- No. 452 has the conventional Romanesque arched openings at
the first floor, complemented by a checkerboard pattern in the stonework above the
front door' and No. 454 has, at the second floor, an interesting modified Palladian
window, which is Romanesque in its heavy treatment. A symmetry of materials ¥
is introduced here, with one central limestone house flanked on either side by
brownstones.
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Mo. 456 is a brownstone house which was built in 1893 by George Morgan for
Agnes Morgan and was designed by architect Albert Ullrich. This example of late
Romanesque Revival architecture is quite striking when we consider that this was
the very yvear of the classicizine 'forld's Fair in Chicago. It should also be noted
that, except for its cornice, it is practically identical to Nos. 475 and 485 on
the north side of the street. l'ere, at the first floor, the stonework between
the segmental-arched windows and doorway consists of long narrow stones of comvex
profile. The stones between the deep voussoirs are all carried up to a thin
horizontal bandcourse, which forms the sills for the second-floor windows. By
contrast, the second €loor stonework is smooth ashlar, except for the common drip
molding which crowns all three windows. The unusual cornice has deep brackets,
with evenly spaced small squares between them.

No. 458 was begun in 1892 for F. Kilug and was designed by Brooklyn architect
John Koller. It 1s even more retardataire than Mo. 456, and, except for its
dentiled and foliate cornice, is a neo-Grec design, with incised linear ornament
at the window lintels and at tye eared’ door lintel carried on srooved brackets.

Nos. 460-464. These three houses, having bracketed cornices in common,
were built in the 1890s, like their neighbors on either side. They all display
characteristics of the late Romanesque Revival, and, except for their door enframe-
ments, are extremely simple in design. They achieve variety principally through
their use of materials, with a dark colored brick at No. 460, brownstone at MNo.
462 and 2 molded brick at MNo. 464.

Nos. 466 and 468. This pair of houses was built in 1892 by Brooklyn owner-
carpenter-architect "illiam Hawkins. These houses are of brownstone and have
similar roof cornices, with paired sunbursts in the fascias between brackets._

Some of the houses in the longer row to the east, built by the same owner, are
quite similar and have identical cornices. In their use of materials, they reflect
the late Romanesque Revival tradition.

Nos. 470-480. These six houses, of late Romanesque Revival design, are of
alternating brick and brownstone, and, to further emphasize this difference in
materials, the brownstone houses have sunburst cornices similar to those at Nos.
466 and 468. They were berun in 1892 by owner-carpenter-architect Milliam Hawkins,
who lived across the street at iHo. 449. At most of the doorways, cornice-slabs are
carried on brackets above pilasters. That of MNo. 472 is an exception, as it is
carried on paired colonettes, which, in turn, are supported on corbels set at
mid-height of the doorway- llo. 480 has an entablature carried on pilasters. The
molded brick used at lio. 475 represents an attennt to introduce a new material and
texture. VYo. 470 is narrower than the other houses in this row and, conseauently,
has naired windows to the right of the doorway.

I'os. 482-494. The most striking features to be noted in this row of seven
two-family dwellings are the alternatine curved and three-sided bays. the low
L-shaped stoops and the limestone fronts. These houses were besun in 1908 for the
Prosvect Mark "'est Realty Torpany (Morris Levy, President) and were desiomed by
Brooklyn architect Axel lledman who also designed buildinss in the Stuyvesant
'eights area. In style, the details show the influence of the French Renaissance.
The alternating bays and corresponding cornice lines of these three-story buildings
introduce the only rhythmical flow in this otherwise straight-lined blockfront.

(The Sanders ‘oving Picture Theatre, east of No. 494, 1s outside of the lis-
toric District.)

YARTEY SIDE  (Mos. 437-495)

This blockfront, except for the two apartment houses at the eastern end,
has a low-lyineg character due to the nreronderance of two-story houses. Except
for the cabled Nueen \nne row near the center, the houses belone basically to the
Poranesgue Revival tradition and again have a remarkably uniform cornice line.
All but one of these houses have straisht stoops, and most of them retain their
fine original iron handrailings, at the stoops, and their yard railines. The ma-
terials are basically brick and brownstone.
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‘ No. 437 is a playground south of the John “. Kimball School (P.S. 107).

Hos. 441-449, This row was built in 1890 by %rooklyn owner-carpenter-
architect William ''awkins, who lived at ilo. 449. These five houses, and Mos.
467-471, were the first to go up on this street. They are of brick and have
brownstone trim. consisting of rough-faced flat arches at the first floor and base-
ment, and lintels at the second. ''ith their bracketed cornices, they were built
very much in the local vernacular, with a sugsestion of Moranesque Revival influence
in the rough-faced character of the brownstone trim.

No. 451 was built in 1891 by owner-carpenter "illiam ['awkins, with I'.B.
Hawkins as architect. This house is quite similar to the row to the west, but has,
above the doorway, a neo-Grec lintel carried on small prooved brackets. It also
has a different roof cornice, with nore widely spaced brackets, and the whole
house is slightly taller than the row it resembles.

Nos. 453-461. These five houses were built in 1891 for ‘‘rs. G. F. Deatty
anl were designed by Brooklyn architect G. F. Beatty. They are quite interesting
architecturally, having only one larse window opening alongside each doorway;
these window openings are subdivided with various arrangerents of nullions and, iIn
most cases, transon bars. The cornice, with frankly projecting rafter ends, is
set above an unusual frieze which is formed by a nattern of alternating licht
and dark brick headers. In style they are a very free version of late Romanesque
Revival., A slender cornice crowns the rouch-faced brovmstone first floor;
it becomes the cornice slab at the doorways, where 1t is carried on shallow orna-
mented stone brackets. The upper floors, by contrast, are of molded brick, with
horizontal bands of smooth brick set between every third course. The carved stone
lintels above the parlor floor windows provide further ornawentation. There is an
interesting range of brick colors. with orange at Mos. 453, 455 and 461, and gray
at .los. 457 and 459.

horizontal blockfront, these five houses were desierned in the Tueen Anne style.

| The row was built for Christopher C. Firth in 1390-91 and was desiened by
"rooklyn architect ''. 7. Tait. These brick houses are symmetrically arrancged,
naking an ABABA pattern. hLigh gables face the street at Nos. 465 and 469, the
B “ouses, while the 'A houses are kept lower with paranets, seen in original
form at No. 471. The gabled B houses have round-arched entranceways and wide

‘ sepmental-arched parlor windows, with central mullions and stained glass above
the transom bars. The designs of the eables reflect the Flemish Renaissance in-
fluence. llo. 465 has its original sea-wave cresting above the scalloped slate roof
behind the gable and has dirinutive auoins of molded brick defining its width. The
arches of all the windows in the row have rouch-faced stone voussoirs. The curvi-
linear ironwork of the handrailings at the stoops and the lotticework of the yard
railinvs are notable.

‘ Nos. 463-471. Creating the one picturesque note in this otherwise severely

Mo. 473 was begun for owner Christopher C. Firth 1in 1392. It is the only
house on this side of the street with an L-shaped stoop and three stories. The
third story is an addition the house was probably once crowned by a cornice
at the termination of the rough-faced stonework of the wall. In style, this painted
brownstone 1s a modified version of French Penaissance desien, as may be seen at
the doorway and in the richly carved band of stonework above it, extending the width
o€ the house. 9Drip molcinags crown the wide frames of smooth stonework at the
second flqor windows.

Nos. 475-487. This row of seven houses 1s the longest on the blockfront.
Tt has two and one-half story, stone-faced houses. They were built in the early
1380s, and Mos. 475 and 485 in this row are almost identical to “o. 456 across the
street, which was built in 1893. They are retardataire in retaining many elements
of Romanesque Revival design at this date. The most strikins feature of these
houses is to be found in the fascia boards below the roof cornices: each of these
has three small rectanoular windows, separated by short stubby piers which are
carried on corbels and appear to support the cornice. Nos. 475 and 4£5 have de-
. tails which are fully described under Mo. 456 and include segmental-arched openings

at the first floors, and bold voussoirs. ‘o. 477 has arched openings -t the first
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floor and, at the second floor, a remarkable triple window, set under an arch with
a flat top. Capping the wide enframement of this window, is a drip molding,

which ends, at its base, in impost blocks of unusual design. Beside the arched
doorway of No. 479 is an arched double window with flattened top section: the two
square-headed windows at the second floor are embraced by a wide drip molding
terminated on carved bosses. No. 481 has arched openines at first and second
floors, and Nos. 483 and 487 have square-headed windows and doorways.

No. 489 is a four-story neo-Classical apartment house of brick, with lime-
stone at the first floor. It was built in 1904 by William ;1. Calder, who had
developed so much of Twelfth Street and it was designed by Brooklyn architect
Thomas Bennett. The front facade consists of two wide, swell-front bays. These
enframe a narrow, central stair tower above an entrance porch that has Ionic
columns and is surmounted by a low balustrade. This central section is carried up
above the cornice line. The top floor is given emphasis through the introduction
of round-arched windows. At the bold roof cornice, carried on console brackets, is
a frieze with swags,

No. 491-495 is a large four-story corner apartment house of brick, which is
described under Ho. 186 Prospect Park West. It is entered fron Fourteenth Street.
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STATEIENT BY THE COMMMISSION

The Landmarks Preservation Commission recognizes that the needs of the
churches in the Park Slope !listoric District may change in the years ahead.
By this designation it is not intended to freeze the properties of those churches
in their present state for all time and thus prevent future appropriate alterations
needed by the churches for all their buildingss. The Cormission believes it has
the obligation and, indeed, it has the desire to cooperate with owners in
Fistoric Districts who may wish to make changes in their properties to meet their
current and future needs. This attitude reflects the Commission's endorsement
of the view that Landmarks are often successfully preserved through active and
beneficial use.

The Landmarks Preservation Law contains many provisions relating to ghanges
in {iistoric Districts. The Commission is already working with owners who wish to
make changes in their properties and has given many approvals. In this connection
the Commission wishes to state at this time that it recognizes that the churches 1n
the Park Slope Historic District may want to erect new buildings on their grounds
in the future. The Commission recognizes that the churches may also wish to make
exterior alterations to their existing buildinrs. The Commission looks forward
to working with the representatives of these churches when they desire to erect
new buildings on their grounds or to make exterior alterations on their existing
buildings.

FIWIG AJD DESIGNATINNS

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture and
other features of this atea, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that
the Park Slope Historic District contains buildings and other improvements which
have a special character and special historical and aesthetic interest and value
and which represent one or more periods or styles of architecture typical of cne
or more eras in the history of New York City and which cause this area, by reason
of these factors, to constitute a distinct section of the City.

The Commission further finds that, among :ts important qualities, the
Park Slope {listoric District is one of the most beautifully situated residential
neighborhoods in the City, that its history and development is closely related
to that of the adjacent Prospect Park, that it is almost exclusively residential
in character with minimal inroads by commerce, that it retains an aura of the past
to an extent which is unusual in New York, that the wide sunny avenues and tree-
lined streets, with houses of relatively uniform height punctuated by church spires,
provide a living illustration of the 19th century characterization of Brooklyn
as "a city of homes and churches,' that the major development of the District
within a relatively brief span of some five decades, fron the Civil Yar period
to Yorld War I, produced a special quality of homogeneity and regularity reflecting
the desire of developers, builders and architects to achieve coherence and dignity
in planning, that this development was a reflection of the social and cultural
aspirations of its residents, that the houses, churches and other structures
nrovide, in microcosm, a cross-section of the important trends in American archi-
tecture of the time, that the styles include principally- late Italianate, French
Second Empire, neo-Grec, Victorian Gothic, Oueen Anne and exceptionally notable
examples of Romanesque Revival houses, the finest in the City and among the most
outstanding in the country; followed by the neo-Renaissance, neo-Classical, neo-
Federal and neo-Georgian, representing the last great wave of development of the
District. after the turn-of-the-century- and, finally, that because of its distin-
guished architecture and its special character as a carefully planned, homogeneous
community, it is an outstanding Historic District within the City which continues
to attract new residents,

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 8-A of the Administrative Code of the City of New
York, the Landmarks Preservation Cormission designates as an Historic District the
Park Slope Historic District, Borough of Brooklyn, containing the property bounded
by the southern property line of 446 through 494 14th Street, the eastern property
line of 494 14th Street, 14th Street, Prospect Park West, 10th Street, the eastern
and noxthern propesrty Tines of 6a3 10th Strect, part of the northern property line
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of 691 10th Street, the eastern property line of 572 Sth Street, Sth Street,
Prospect Park Vest, 4th Street, the eastern property lines of 597 4th Street, the
eastern property line of 634 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the eastern property line of
631 3rd Street, the southern property lines of 646 and 643 2nd Street and of 65
Prospect Park Mest, Prospect Park “est, lst Street, the eastern property line of
567 lst Street, part of the southern and the eastern property lines of 316 Garfield
Place, fiarfield Place, the eastern property line of 323 Garfield Place, part of
the southern property line of 54 ilontgomery Place, the southern property lines of
56 through 60 !fontgomery Place and of 32 Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West,
"ontgomery Place, part of the eastern property line of 59 Montgomery Place, the
southern property line of 25 Prospect Park lMest, Prospect Park West, part of the
northern property line of i3 Prospect Park 'est, the eastern property line of 946
President Street, President Street, the eastern property line of 953 President
Street, the northern property lines of 953 through 947 President Street, the
northern and part of the western property lines of 945 President Street, the
northern property line of 943 President Street, part of the eastern and the
northern property lines of 941 President Street, the northern property lines of
939 through 933 President Street, the castern property line of 902 Union Street,
Union Street, the eastern property lines of 71 through 63 8th Avenue, the southern
property lines of 264 through 276 Berkeley Place, the eastern property line of 276
Berkeley Place, Berkeley Place, the eastern property lines of 49 through 27 8th
Avenue, Lincoln Place, Plaza Street, the northern property line of S Plaza Street,
8th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the eastern property line of 217 St. Johns Place, the
northern property lines of 217 through 179 St. Johns Place, part of the northern
property line of 31-35 7th Avenue, the eastern property line of 29 7th Avenue, the
eastern property line of 146 Sterling Place, Sterling Place, the eastern property
lines of 19 through 13 7th Avenue, the northern property line of 13 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, Park Place, the eastern property line of 133 Park Place, the northern
property lines of 133 through 95 Park Place, the western property line of 95 Park
Place, Park Place, the western and part of the northern property lines of the
stable (90 Park Place), the southern property line of the stable (90 Park Place),
part of the western property line of 92 Park Place, the southern property lines of
92 through 144 Park Place, the western property lines of 18 through 24 7th Avenue,
Sterling Place, the western property line of 130 Sterling Place, the western prop-
erty line of 34 7th Avenue, part of the northern property line of 139 St. Johns
Place, the northern property lines of 137 throush 93 St. Johns Place, the eastern
property lines of 143 through 135 6th Avenue, Sterling Place, the western property
lines of 128 through 146 6th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the western property lines
of 148 through 168 6th Avenue, Lincoln Place, 6th Avenue, Berkeley Place, the
western property lines of 188 through 192-A 6th Avenue, the southern property

line of 192-A 6th Avenue, 6th Avenue, the southern property line of 199 6th Avenue,
part of the western and the southern property lines of 100 Berkeley Place, the
southern property lines of 102 through 156 Berkeley Place, part of the southern
property line of 158 Berkeley Place, the southern property line of 86 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, the southern property line of 87 7th Avenue, the western property

line of 865 Union Street, Union Street, the western and part of the southern prop-
erty lines of 820 Union Street, the western pronerty line of 833 President Street,
Presiaent Street, the western property line of 828 President Street, the western
property line of 749 Carroll Street, Carroll Street, the western property line of
776 Carroll Street, the western property lines of 8 through 22 Polhemus Place,
part of the northern and the western property lines of 24 Polhemus Place, the
western property line of 219 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the western and part
of the southern property lines of 214 Garfield Place, the western property line of
465 1st Street, lst Street, the western property line of 460 lst Street, part of
the northern and the western property lines of 507 2nd Street, 2nd Street, the
western property line of 516A-516 2nd Street, the western property line of 509 3rd
Street, 3rd Street, the western property line of 516 3rd Street, the western prop-
erty line'of 465 4th Street, 4th Street, the western property line of 486 4th
Street, the southern property lines of 486 through 504 4th Street, the eastern
property line of 504 4th Street, 4th Street, the eastern and part of the northern
property lines of 513 4th Street, the eastern property line of 562 3rd Street,

3rd Street, 8th Avenue, the southern property line of 225-227 8th Avenue, the
western property line of 581 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the western property line

of 592 3rd Street, the northern and western property lines of 539 4th Street,

4th Street, the western property line of 528 4th Street, the western property

line of 557 5th Street, 5th Street, 8th Avenue, 6th Street, the western property
line of 590 6th Street, part of the northern property line of 571 7th Street, the
northern property lines of 569 through S53 Seventh Street, the western property
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line of 553 7th Street, 7th Street, the western property line of 550 7th Street,
the western property line of 511 8th Street, 8th Street, the western property
line of 502 8th Street, the western property line of 519 9th Street, 9th Street,
the western property line of 526 9th Street, part of the western property line of
643 10th Street, the northern rrorerty lines of 641 through 631-633 10th Street,
8th Avenue, 10th Street, the western and part of the southern property lines of
642 10th Street, the western property line of 583 11th Street, llth Street, the
western property line of 584 1l1th Street, part of the northern property line of
479 12th Street, the northern property line of 1113 8th Avenue, 8th Avenue,

14th Street, the western property line of 446 14 Street.
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par. 3, line 3,
par. 4, line 1,
par. 3. line 8.
par. 4, line 8,
par. 6, line §,
par. 1, line §,
par. 5, 1line 10,
par. 2, line 6,
par. 5, line 13,
par. 4, linel,
par. 4, line 1,
par. 1, line 11,
par. 2, line 4,
par. 2, line 6,
par. 3, line 6,
par. 2, line 6,
par. 4, line 2,
par. 6, 1line 10,
par. 2, line 2,
par. 3, line 2,
par. 7, line 3,
par. S5, line 3,
par. 1, 1line 10,
par. 4, line 12,
par. 3, line 5,
par. 3, line 4,
par. 4, line 3,
par. 4, line 1,
par. 2, line 1,
par. 4, 1line 2,
par. S, line 6,
par. 1, linel,
par. 5, line 4,
par. 3, line 6,
par. 3, line 5,
par. 2, line 4.
par. 3, line 8,
par. 4, line 4,
par. 6, line 6,
par. 4, line 2,
par. 4, line 11,
par. 7, line 2,
par. 1, line 1,
par. 3, 1line 2,
par. 4, line 8,
par. 1, line 1,
par. 2, linel,

4, line 11,
par. 2, line 6,
1, line 9,

par. 1, line 9,

par 8§, line 5,
ney line *
par. 1, line 2,
par. 4, line 15,
par. 3, lJine 16,

read Fagan...instead of Fagen.

Ter' scanl, L ingtas” - Qoheal.

read ashlar...instead ot sghlar

read is...instead of are.

read served as the...instead of served the.

read symbolical...instead of symbolica.

read supported...instead of support,

read combination...instead of co bination.

read design...instead of deisgn.

read two...instead of tho.

read No. 32...instead of (No. 32).

read handsome...instead of handso,

read Parfitt...instead of Farfitt,

read framements;...instead of framements,

read pediments, in this house of 1900,...instead of
pediments a,

read 1860s. ... instead of 1362.

read Thomas H. ...instead of Thomas A.

read panels...instead of panel

read 1887-88...instead of 1187-88.

read 52-54...instead of 52-52.

read Doherty...instead of Dougherty.

read 921-941...instead of 927-941.

read reflect...instead of presage

read Colonial feature...instead of Colonial Revival
feature.

read Sloan, Jr,...instead of Sloane,.

read Pohlman...instead of Pohlmann.

read Delaney...instead of Delany

read northwest...instead of northeast.

read J.H, ...instead of N.H.

read neo-Federal...instead of Federal

read street, ...instead of streets.

read complemented by an...instead of complemented.
read eave-line is interrupted...instead of eave-line
interrupted.

read and is approached...instead of and approached.
read Bros. Yet...instead of Bros yet.

read Renaissance style has...instead of Renaissance
has.

read up to the...instead of up the.

read Philip I. Cootey...instead of Philip J.Cooty.
read 828-844...instead of 8§23-948.

read Donnellon...instéad of Donnellow

read designs...instead of designs,.

read Mowbray...instead of !owbrey.

read house (No. 588-598)...instead of house.

read Brooklyn...instead of Rooklyn.

read harmonize...instead of harmonizes.

read those...instead of thosw.

read four-story apartment...instead of four-story
brick apartment.

read fleur-de-1lis...instead of fleur de lys.

read more...instead of merely.

read who later developed...instead of who had
developed.

read and also developed Nos. 490-502...instead of
and Nos. 490-502.

read colums at...instead of columns of

ron? Tmorec» ™, Chappell...instead of George W.
read Lavrence . 7)., .irstn~1 of Vaulk

read marshes...instead of niarches.

rend redefined...instend of redfined.
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